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Chapter 2L—Debentures

Part 2L .1—Requirement for trust deed and trustee

283AA Requirement for trust deed and trustee

(1) Before abody:

() makes an offer of debenturesin thisjurisdiction that needs
disclosure to investors under Chapter 6D, or does not need
disclosure to investors under Chapter 6D because of
subsection 708(14) (disclosure document exclusion for
debenture roll overs); or

(b) makes an offer of debenturesin thisjurisdiction or elsewhere
as consideration for the acquisition of securities under an
off-market takeover bid; or

(c) issues debenturesin thisjurisdiction or elsewhere under a
compromise or arrangement under Part 5.1 approved at a
meeting held as aresult of an order under subsection 411(1)
or (1A);

regardless of where any resulting issue, sale or transfer occurs, the
body must enter into atrust deed that complies with section 283AB
and appoint atrustee that complies with section 283AC.

Note: For rules about when an offer of debentures will need disclosure to
investors under Chapter 6D, see sections 706, 707 and 708.

(2) The body may revoke the trust deed after it has repaid all amounts
payable under the debentures in accordance with the debentures
terms and the trust deed.

(3) The body must comply with this Chapter.

Note: Sections 168 and 601CZB require aregister of debenture holdersto be
set up and kept.

283AB Trust deed

Thetrust deed must provide that the following are held in trust by
the trustee for the benefit of the debenture holders:
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Chapter 2L Debentures
Part 2L.1 Requirement for trust deed and trustee

Section 283AC

(a) theright to enforce the borrower’s duty to repay;
(b) any charge or security for repayment;
(c) theright to enforce any other duties that the borrower and
any guarantor have under:
(i) theterms of the debentures; or
(ii) the provisions of the trust deed or this Chapter.

Note: For information about the duties that the borrower and any guarantor
body have under this Chapter, see sections 283BB to 283CE.

283AC Who can beatrustee

Who can be trustee

(1) Thetrustee must be:
(a) the Public Trustee of any State or Territory; or
(b) abody corporate authorised by alaw of any State or
Territory to take in its own name a grant of probate of the
will, or letters of administration of the estate, of a deceased
person; or
(c) abody corporate registered under the Life Insurance Act
1995; or
(d) an Australian ADI; or
(e) abody corporate, al of whose shares are held beneficially by
abody corporate or bodies corporate of the kind referred to
in paragraph (b), (c) or (d) if that body or those bodies:
(i) areliablefor all of the liabilities incurred, or to be
incurred, by the trustee as trustee; or
(if) have subscribed for and beneficially hold sharesin the
trustee and there is an uncalled liability of at |east
$500,000 in respect of those shares that can only be
called up if the trustee becomes an
externally-administered body corporate (see
section 254N); or
(f) abody corporate approved by ASIC (see section 283GB).

Note: Section 283BD provides that if the borrower becomes aware that the
trustee cannot be a trustee, the trustee must be replaced.
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Debentures Chapter 2L
Requirement for trust deed and trustee Part 2L.1

Section 283AD

Circumstances in which a person cannot be trustee

(2) A person may only be appointed or act as trustee (except to the
extent provided for by section 283AD) if the appointment or acting
will not result in aconflict of interest or duty. This subsectionis
not intended to affect any rule of law or equity.

283AD Existing trustee continuesto act until new trustee takes office

An existing trustee continues to act as the trustee until a new
trustee is appointed and has taken office as trustee, despite any rule
of law or equity to the contrary.

Note: This section applies even if the existing trustee resigns.
283AE Replacement of trustee

Related party of existing trustee may be appointed as a new trustee

(1) Inaddition to any other powers of appointment under the terms of
the debentures or provisions of the trust deed, the borrower may
appoint a body corporate that is related to the existing trustee as
trustee in place of the existing trustee if:

(a) the body corporate can be atrustee under section 283AC; and

(b) the existing trustee consents in writing to the appointment.
The appointment has effect despite any terms of the debentures or
provisions of the trust deed.

Appointment by Court

(2) The Court may:

(a) appoint a person who may be atrustee under section 283AC
as trustee on the application of the borrower, a debenture
holder or ASIC if:

(i) atrustee has not been validly appointed; or
(ii) thetrustee has ceased to exist; or

(b) terminate the existing trustee’ s appointment and appoint a
person who may be a trustee under section 283AC astrustee
in the existing trustee’ s place on the application of the
borrower, the existing trustee, a debenture holder or ASIC if:
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Chapter 2L Debentures
Part 2L.1 Requirement for trust deed and trustee

Section 283AE

(i) the existing trustee cannot be trustee under
section 283AC; or

(ii) the existing trustee fails, or refuses, to act.
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Debentures Chapter 2L
Duties of borrower Part 2L.2

Section 283BA

Part 2L .2—Duties of borrower

283BA Duties of borrower

A borrower that is required to enter into atrust deed under
section 283AA has the duties imposed by this Part.

283BB General duties

The borrower must:

(a) carry on and conduct its businessin a proper and efficient
manner; and
(b) provide acopy of the trust deed to:
(i) adebenture holder; or
(ii) thetrustee;
if they request a copy; and
(c) makeall of itsfinancial and other records available for
inspection by:
(i) thetrustee; or
(ii) an officer or employee of the trustee authorised by the
trustee to carry out the inspection; or
(iii) aregistered company auditor appointed by the trustee to
carry out the inspection;
and give them any information, explanations or other
assistance that they require about matters relating to those
records.

Note: The borrower aso has a duty to call ameeting of debenture holdersin
certain circumstances (see section 283EA).

283BC Duty to notify ASIC of name of trustee

The borrower must lodge with ASIC anotice of the name of a
trustee within 14 days after they are appointed. The notice must be
in the prescribed form.
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Chapter 2L Debentures
Part 2L.2 Duties of borrower

Section 283BD

283BD Duty toreplacetrustee

The borrower must take all reasonabl e steps to replace the trustee
under section 283AE as soon as practicable after the borrower
becomes aware that the trustee:

() has ceased to exist; or

(b) has not been validly appointed; or

(c) cannot be atrustee under section 283AC; or
(d) hasfailed or refused to act as trustee.

283BE Duty to inform trustee about charges

If the borrower creates a charge, it must:

(@) givethetrustee written details of the charge within 21 days
after it is created; and

(b) if the total amount to be advanced on the security of the
chargeisindeterminate and the advances are not merged in a
current account with bankers, trade creditors or anyone
else—give the trustee written details of the amount of each
advance within 7 days after it is made.

Note: If the advances are merged in a current account the borrower must
give the trustee the details in the quarterly report (see subsection
283BF(4)).

283BF Duty to givetrusteeand ASIC quarterly reports

Quarterly reports

(1) Within 1 month after the end of each quarter, the borrower must:
(a) givethetrustee aquarterly report that sets out the
information required by subsections (4), (5) and (6); and
(b) lodge acopy of the report with ASIC (see section 351).

First quarter

(2) Thefirst quarter isthe period of 3 months ending on aday fixed by
the borrower, by written notice to the trustee. The day must be less
than 6 months after the first issue of a debenture under the trust
deed.
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Subsequent quarters

(3) Each of the subsequent quarters are periods of 3 months. The
trustee may allow a particular quarter to be a period of lessthan 3
monthsif the trustee is satisfied that special circumstances justify
doing so.

Content of quarterly report

(4) Thereport for aquarter must include details of:

(a) any failure by the borrower and each guarantor to comply
with the terms of the debentures or the provisions of the trust
deed or this Chapter during the quarter; and

(b) any event that has happened during the quarter that has
caused, or could cause, 1 or more of the following:

(i) any amount deposited or lent under the debentures to
become immediately payable;

(ii) the debenturesto become immediately enforceable;
(iii) any other right or remedy under the terms of the

debenture or provisions of the trust deed to become
immediately enforceable; and
(c) any circumstances that have occurred during the quarter that
materially prejudice:
(i) the borrower, any of its subsidiaries, or any of the
guarantors; or

(ii) any security or charge included in or created by the
debentures or the trust deed; and

(d) any substantial change in the nature of the business of the
borrower, any of its subsidiaries, or any of the guarantors that
has occurred during the quarter; and

(e) any of the following events that happened in the quarter:

(i) the appointment of a guarantor;

(i) the cessation of liability of a guarantor body for the
payment of the whole or part of the money for which it
was liable under the guarantee;

(iif) achange of name of a guarantor (if this happens, the
report must also disclose the guarantor’ s new name);
and
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(f) the net amount outstanding on any advances at the end of the
quarter if the borrower has created a charge where:
(i) thetotal amount to be advanced on the security of the
charge isindeterminate; and
(ii) the advances are merged in a current account with
bankers, trade creditors or anyone else; and
(g) any other matters that may materially prejudice any security
or the interests of the debenture holders.

Note: Paragraph (f)—the borrower has a duty to inform the trustee about
charges as they are created (see section 283BE).

(5) If the borrower has deposited money with, or lent money to, a
related body corporate during the quarter, the report must also
include details of:

(a) thetota of the money deposited with, or lent to, the related
body corporate during the quarter (see subsection (7)); and
(b) thetotal amount of money owing to the borrower at the end
of the quarter in respect of the deposits or loans to the related
body corporate.
Disregard any amount that the borrower deposits with an ADI in
the normal course of the borrower’ s business.

(6) If the borrower has assumed aliability of arelated body corporate
during the quarter, the report must also include details of the extent
of the liability assumed during the quarter and the extent of the
liability as at the end of the quarter.

(7) For the purposes of subsections (5) and (6), the report:

(a) must distinguish between deposits, |oans and assumptions of
liability that are secured and those that are unsecured; and

(b) may exclude any deposit, loan or assumption of liability on
behalf of the related body corporate if it has:

(i) guaranteed the repayment of the debentures of the
borrower; and

(ii) secured the guarantee by a charge over al of its
property in favour of the trustee.

Formalities

(8) The report must:
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Section 283BG

() be made in accordance with aresolution of the directors; and
(b) specify the date on which the report is made.

283BG Exceptions

Sections 283BE and 283BF do not apply in respect of the borrower
while:

(a) itisunder external administration; or

(b) areceiver, or areceiver and manager, of property of the
borrower has been appointed and has not ceased to act under
that appointment.

283BH How debentures may be described

(1) The borrower may describe or refer to the debenturesin:
(a) any disclosurein relation to the offer of the debentures; or

(b) any other document constituting or relating to the offer of the
debentures; or

(c) the debenturesthemselves,
only in accordance with the following table:

How debentures may be described

Item Description When description may be used

1 mortgage debenture only if the circumstances set out in
subsection (2) are satisfied

2 debenture only if the circumstances set out in
subsection (2) or (3) are satisfied

3 unsecured note or in any other case

unsecured deposit note

When debentures can be called mortgage debentures or debentures

(2) The borrower may describe or refer to the debentures as:
(a) mortgage debentures; or
(b) debentures;
if:

(c) therepayment of all money that has been, or may be,
deposited or lent under the debentures is secured by afirst

Corporations Act 2001 9



Chapter 2L Debentures
Part 2L.2 Duties of borrower

Section 283BI

(d)

(€)

mortgage given to the trustee over land vested in the
borrower or in any of the guarantors; and

the mortgage has been registered, or is a registrable mortgage
that has been lodged for registration, in accordance with the
law relating to the registration of mortgages of land in the
place where the land is situated; and

the total amount of that money and of all other liabilities (if
any) secured by the mortgage of that land ranking equally
with the liability to repay that money does not exceed 60% of
the value of the borrower’s or guarantor’ sinterest in that land
as shown in the valuation included in the disclosure
document for the debentures.

When debentures can be called debentures

(3) The borrower may describe or refer to the debentures as debentures

if:
@

(b)

the repayment of all money that has been, or may be,
deposited or lent under the debentures has been secured by a
chargein favour of the trustee over the whole or any part of
the tangible property of the borrower or of any of the
guarantors; and

the tangible property that constitutes the security for the
chargeis sufficient and is reasonably likely to be sufficient to
meet the liability for the repayment of all such money and all
other liabilities that:

(i) have been or may be incurred; and

(ii) rank in priority to, or equally with, that liability.

283BI Offencesfor failureto comply with statutory duties

The borrower commits an offenceiif it intentionally or recklessly
contravenes section 283BB, 283BC, 283BD, 283BE, 283BF or
283EA.
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Part 2L .3—Duties of guarantor

283CA Dutiesof guarantor

If aborrower is required to enter into atrust deed under
section 283AA in relation to debentures, a guarantor in respect of
the debentures has the duties imposed by this Part.

283CB General duties

The guarantor must:
(&) carry on and conduct its businessin a proper and efficient
manner; and
(b) make all of itsfinancial and other records available for
inspection by:
(i) thetrustee; or
(ii) an officer or employee of the trustee authorised by the
trustee to carry out the inspection; or
(iii) aregistered company auditor appointed by the trustee to
carry out the inspection;
and give them any information, explanations or other
assistance that they require about matters relating to those
records.

283CC Duty to inform trustee about charges

If the guarantor creates a charge, it must:

(@) givethetrustee written details of the charge within 21 days
after it is created; and

(b) if the total amount to be advanced on the security of the
charge isindeterminate, give the trustee written details of :

(i) the amount of each advance made within 7 days after it
is made; or
(ii) where the advances are merged in a current account
with bankers, trade creditors or anyone el se—the net
amount outstanding on the advances at the end of every
3 months.
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Section 283CD

283CD Exceptions

Section 283CC does not apply in respect of the guarantor while:
(a) itisunder external administration; or

(b) areceiver, or areceiver and manager, of property of the
guarantor has been appointed and has not ceased to act under
that appointment.

283CE Offencesfor failureto comply with statutory duties

The guarantor commits an offenceif it intentionally or recklessly
contravenes paragraph 283CB(b) or section 283CC.
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Section 283DA

Part 2L .4—Trustee

283DA Trustee sduties

The trustee of atrust deed entered into under section 283AA must;

@

(b)

(©)

(d)
(€)

(f)

(9

exercise reasonabl e diligence to ascertain whether the
property of the borrower and of each guarantor that is or
should be available (whether by way of security or
otherwise) will be sufficient to repay the amount deposited or
lent when it becomes due; and
exercise reasonabl e diligence to ascertain whether the
borrower or any guarantor has committed any breach of:
(i) theterms of the debentures; or
(ii) the provisions of the trust deed or this Chapter; and
do everything in its power to ensure that the borrower or a
guarantor remedies any breach known to the trustee of:
(i) any term of the debentures; or
(if) any provision of the trust deed or this Chapter;
unless the trustee is satisfied that the breach will not
materially prejudice the debenture holders' interests or any
security for the debentures; and

ensure that the borrower and each guarantor complies with
Part 2K to the extent that it applies to the debentures; and

notify ASIC as soon as practicableif:
(i) the borrower has not complied with section 283BE,
283BF or subsection 318(1) or (4); or
(if) aguarantor has not complied with section 283CC; and
notify ASIC and the borrower as soon as practicable if the
trustee discovers that it cannot be a trustee under
section 283AC; and
give the debenture holders a statement explaining the effect
of any proposal that the borrower submits to the debenture
holders before any meeting that:
(i) the Court calsin relation to a scheme under subsection
411(1) or (1A); or
(i) thetrustee calls under subsection 283EB(1); and
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(h) comply with any directions given to it at a debenture holders
meeting referred to in section 283EA, 283EB or 283EC
unless:

(i) thetrusteeis of the opinion that the direction is
inconsistent with the terms of the debentures or the
provisions of the trust deed or this Act or is otherwise
objectionable; and

(if) has either obtained, or isin the process of obtaining, an
order from the Court under section 283HA setting aside
or varying the direction; and

(i) apply to the Court for an order under section 283HB if the
borrower requestsit to do so.

Note 1: Paragraph (g)—Section 411 relates to compromises and arrangements.

Note 2: Section 283DC deals with indemnification in respect of atrustee’'s
liability to the debenture holders.

283DB Exemptions and indemnifications of trustee from liability

(1) A term of adebenture, provision of atrust deed or aterm of a
contract with holders of debentures secured by atrust deed, isvoid
in so far as the term or provision would have the effect of:

(d) exempting atrustee from liability for breach of
section 283DA for failure to show the degree of care and
diligence required of it astrustee; or
(b) indemnifying the trustee against that liability;
unless the term or provision:

(c) releasesthe trustee from liability for something done or
omitted to be done before the release is given; or

(d) enables a meeting of debenture holders to approve the release
of the trustee from liability for something done or omitted to
be done before the release is given.

(2) For the purposes of paragraph (1)(d):

() areleaseisapproved if the debenture holders who vote for
the resolution hold 75% of the nominal value of the
debentures held by all the debenture holders who attend the
meeting and vote on the resolution; and

(b) adebenture holder attends the meeting and votes on the
resolution if:
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(i) they attend the meeting in person and vote on the
resol ution; or

(ii) if proxies are permitted—they are represented at the
meeting by a proxy and the proxy votes on the
resolution.

283DC Indemnity

Thetrustee is not liable for anything done or omitted to be donein
accordance with a direction given to it by the debenture holders at
any meeting called under section 283EA, 283EB or 283 EC.
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Part 2L .5—Meetings of debenture holders

283EA Borrower’sduty to call meeting

Duty to call meeting

(1) The borrower must call a meeting of debenture holders if:

(a) debenture holders who together hold 10% or more of the
nominal value of the issued debentures to which the trust
relates direct the borrower to do so; and

(b) thedirection isgiven to the borrower inwriting at its
registered office; and

(c) the purpose of the meeting isto:

(i) consider the financial statements that were laid before
the last AGM of the borrower; or

(ii) givethetrustee directionsin relation to the exercise of
any of its powers.

Note: The trustee usually must comply with any directions given to it by the
debenture holders at the meeting (see paragraph 283DA (h)).

Duty to give notification of meeting

(2) If the borrower isrequired to call a meeting, it must give notice of
the time and place of the meeting to:

(a) thetrustee; and
(b) the borrower’s auditor; and

(c) each of the debenture holders whose names are entered on
the register of debenture holders.

Notice to joint holders of a debenture must be given to the joint
holder named first in the register of debenture holders.

(3) The borrower may give the notice to a debenture holder:
(a) personally; or
(b) by sending it by post to the address for the debenture holder
in the register of debenture holders; or

(c) by sending it to the fax number or electronic address (if any)
nominated by the debenture holder; or
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Section 283EB

(d) by any other means that the trust deed or the terms of the
debentures permit.

Note: A defect in the notice may not invalidate a meeting (see section 1322).

When notice by post or faxis given

(4) A notice of meeting sent to a debenture holder is taken to be given:
() 3daysafter it is posted, if it is posted; or
(b) onthebusinessday after it issent, if it issent by fax or other
electronic means;

unless the trust deed or the terms of the debentures provide
otherwise.

283EB Trustee's power to call meeting

Trustee may call meeting in event of breach

(1) If the borrower or a guarantor fails to remedy any breach of the
terms of the debentures or provisions of the trust deed or this
Chapter when required by the trustee, the trustee may:

(a) call ameeting of debenture holders; and

(b) inform the debenture holders of the failure at the meeting;
and

(c) submit proposals for protection of the debenture holders
interests to the meeting; and

(d) ask for directions from the debenture holdersin relation to
the matter.

Trustee may appoint person to chair meeting

(2) Thetrustee may appoint a person to chair a meeting of debenture
holders called under subsection (1). If the trustee does not exercise
this power, the debenture holders present at the meeting may
appoint a person to chair the meeting.

283EC Court may order meeting

(1) Without limiting section 283HA or 283HB, the Court may make an
order under either of those sections for a meeting of all or any of
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the debenture holders to be held to give directions to the trustee.
The order may direct the trustee to:
(a) place before the debenture holders any information
concerning their interests; and
(b) place before the debenture holders any proposals to protect
their interests that the Court directs or the trustee considers
appropriate; and
(c) obtain the debenture holders' directions concerning the
protection of their interests.

(2) The meeting isto be held and conducted in the manner the Court
directs. The trustee may appoint a person to chair the meeting. If
the trustee does not exercise this power, the debenture holders
present at the meeting may appoint a person to chair the meeting.
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Part 2L.6—Civil liability

283F Civil liability for contravening this Chapter

(1) A person who suffersloss or damage because a person contravenes

aprovision of this Chapter may recover the amount of the loss or
damage from:

(a) the person who contravened the provision; or
(b) aperson involved in the contravention.

Thisis so even if the person did not commit, and was not involved
in, the contravention.

(2) An action under subsection (1) may begin at any time within 6
years after the day on which the cause of action arose.

(3) This Part does not affect any liability that a person has under any
other law.
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Part 2L.7—ASI C powers

283GA ASIC’'spower to exempt and modify

(1) ASIC may:
(a) exempt a person from a provision of this Chapter; or

(b) declare that this Chapter appliesto a person as if specified
provisions were omitted, modified or varied as specified in
the declaration.

(2) The exemption or declaration may do all or any of the following:
(a) apply to al or specified provisions of this Chapter;
(b) apply to all persons, specified persons, or a specified class of
persons;

(c) relateto all debentures, specified debentures or a specified
class of debentures;

(d) relateto any other matter generally or as specified.

(3) An exemption may apply unconditionally or subject to specified
conditions. A person to whom a condition specified in an
exemption applies must comply with the condition. The Court may
order the person to comply with the condition in a specified way.
Only ASIC may apply to the Court for the order.

(4) The exemption or declaration must be in writing and ASIC must
publish notice of it in the Gazette.

(5) For the purposes of this section, the provisions of this Chapter
include:

(a) regulations made for the purposes of this Chapter; and

(b) definitionsin this Act or the regulations as they apply to
referencesin:

(i) this Chapter; or
(i) regulations made for the purposes of this Chapter; and
(c) theold Division 12 of Part 11.2 transitionals.

20
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283GB ASIC may approve body corporateto be trustee

(1) ASIC may approve abody corporate in writing to be a trustee for
the purposes of paragraph 283AC(1)(f). The approval may allow
the body corporate to act as trustee:

(a) inany circumstances; or
(b) inrelation to a particular borrower or particular class of
borrower; or
(c) inrelation to a particular trust deed;
and may be given subject to conditions.

(2) ASIC must publish notice of the approval in the Gazette.
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Part 2L .8—Court

283HA General Court power to give directions and deter mine

guestions

If the trustee applies to the Court for any direction in relation to the
performance of the trustee’ s functions or to determine any question
in relation to the interests of the debenture holders, the Court may
give any direction and make any declaration or determination in
relation to the matter that the Court considers appropriate. The
Court may also make ancillary or consequential orders.

Note: Under this section, the Court may order a meeting of debenture
holders to be held, see section 283EC.

283HB Specific Court powers

(1) If thetrustee or ASIC appliesto the Court, the Court may make

any or all of the following orders:

(a) an order staying an action or other civil proceedings before a
court by or against the borrower or aguarantor body;

(b) an order restraining the borrower from paying any money to
the debenture holders or any holders of any other class of
debentures,

(c) an order that any security for the debentures be enforceable
immediately or at the time the Court directs (even if the
debentures are irredeemable or redeemable only on the
happening of a contingency);

(d) an order appointing areceiver of any property constituting
security for the debentures;

(e) an order restricting advertising by the borrower for deposits
or loans;

(f) an order restricting borrowing by the borrower;

(g) any other order that the Court considers appropriate to
protect the interests of existing or prospective debenture
holders.

22
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Section 283HB

(2) Indeciding whether to make an order under subsection (1), the
Court must have regard to:

(a) the ability of the borrower and each guarantor to repay the
amount deposited or lent as and when it becomes due; and

(b) any contravention of section 283GA by the borrower; and
(c) theinterests of the borrower’s members and creditors; and
(d) theinterests of the members of each of the guarantors.

Note: The Court may order a meeting of debenture holdersto be held (see
section 283EC).
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Part 2L .9—L ocation of other debenture provisions

283l Signpost to other debenture provisions

There are other rules relating to debentures in paragraph 124(1)(b)
and section 563AAA.
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Chapter 2M—Financial reports and audit

Part 2M.1—Overview

285 Overview of obligationsunder this Chapter

Obligations under this Chapter

(1) Under this Chapter, all companies, registered schemes and
disclosing entities must keep financial records (see sections
286-291)—and some must prepare financial reports (see
sections 292-323D). All those that have to prepare financial reports
have to prepare them annually; disclosing entities have to prepare
half-year financial reports as well. The following table sets out
what isinvolved in annual financial reporting:

Annual financial reporting

steps sections comments
1 preparefinancial report s. 295 The financial report
includes:

« financial statements
» disclosures and notes
« directors' declaration.

2  preparedirectors report  s. 298 The report has both agenera
component (s. 299) and a
specific component (s. 300).
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Annual financial reporting

steps

sections

comments

3 havethefinancial report
audited and obtain
auditor’ s report

s. 301, 307, 308

A small proprietary company
preparing a financial report
in response to a shareholder
direction under s. 293 only
has to have an audit if the
direction asksfor it.

Under s. 312, officers must
assist the auditor in the
conduct of the audit.

ASIC may use its exemption
powers under s. 340 and 341
to relieve large proprietary
companies from the audit
requirements in appropriate
cases (s. 342(2) and (3)).

4 sendthefinancial report, s. 314 A concise financial report
directors’ report and may be sent to members
auditor’ s report to instead of the full financial
members statements (s. 314(1)-(2)).

For deadline see s.
315(1)-(4).

5 lodge the financia s. 319 For deadline see s. 319(3).
report, directors’ report Companies that have the
and auditor’s report with benefit of the grandfathering
ASIC in the relevant Part 10.1

transitionals do not have to
lodge.

6 [publiccompaniesonly] s 317 For the AGM deadline see s.

lay financial report,
directors’ report and
auditor’ s report before
AGM

250N.

Application to disclosing entities

(2) This Chapter coversall disclosing entities:

(@) incorporated or formed in Australia (whether or not
incorporated or formed in this jurisdiction); and

(b) whether or not they are companies or registered schemes.

26
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Application to registered schemes

(3) For the purposes of applying this Chapter to a registered scheme:
(a) the scheme’s responsible entity is responsible for the
performance of obligationsin respect of the scheme; and
(b) thedirectors and officers of the responsible entity are taken
to be the directors and officers of the scheme; and
(c) the debtsincurred in operating the scheme are taken to be the
debts of the scheme.
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Part 2M .2—Financial records

286 Obligation to keep financial records

(1) A company, registered scheme or disclosing entity must keep
written financial records that:

(a) correctly record and explain its transactions and financial
position and performance; and

(b) would enable true and fair financial statements to be prepared
and audited.

The obligation to keep financial records of transactions extends to
transactions undertaken as trustee.

Note: Section 9 defines financial records.

Period for which records must be retained

(2) Thefinancial records must be retained for 7 years after the
transactions covered by the records are completed.

287 Languagerequirements

(1) Thefinancial records may be kept in any language.

(2) AnEnglish trandation of financial records not kept in English must
be made available within areasonabl e time to a person who:
(a) isentitled to inspect the records; and
(b) asksfor the English tranglation.

288 Physical format

If financial records are kept in electronic form, they must be
convertible into hard copy. Hard copy must be made available
within areasonable time to a person who is entitled to inspect the
records.
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289 Placewhererecordsare kept

(1) A company, registered scheme or disclosing entity may decide
where to keep the financia records.

Records kept outside this jurisdiction

(2) If financial records about particular matters are kept outside this
jurisdiction, sufficient written information about those matters
must be kept in this jurisdiction to enable true and fair financial
statements to be prepared. The company, registered scheme or
disclosing entity must give ASIC written notice in the prescribed
form of the place where the information is kept.

(3) ASIC may direct acompany, registered scheme or disclosing entity
to produce specified financia records that are kept outside this
jurisdiction.

(4) Thedirection must:

(a) beinwriting; and
(b) specify aplacein thisjurisdiction where the records are to be

produced (the place must be reasonable in the
circumstances); and

(c) specify aday (at least 14 days after the direction is given) by
which the records are to be produced.

290 Director access

Personal access

(1) A director of acompany, registered scheme or disclosing entity has
aright of accessto the financial records at all reasonable times.

Court order for inspection on director’s behalf

(2) On application by a director, the Court may authorise a person to
inspect the financial records on the director’ s behalf.

(3) A person authorised to inspect records may make copies of the
records unless the Court orders otherwise.
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(4) The Court may make any other ordersit consider appropriate,
including either or both of the following:

(a) an order limiting the use that a person who inspects the
records may make of information obtained during the
inspection;

(b) an order limiting the right of a person who inspects the
records to make copies in accordance with subsection (3).

291 Signpoststo other relevant provisions

The following table sets out other provisionsthat are relevant to
access to financial records.

Other provisionsrelevant to accessto financial records

1  section 247A

members

A member may apply to the Court for an order to
inspect the records.

auditor

2  section 310 The auditor has aright of access to the records.
controllers
3  section431 A controller of acorporation’s property (for example,

areceiver or receiver and manager) has aright of
access to the records.

4 sections 28 to 39 of
the ASIC Act

ASIC

ASIC has power to inspect the records. It also has
power under subsection 289(3) of this Act to call for
the production of financial records kept outside this
jurisdiction.
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Part 2M .3—Financial reporting
Division 1—Annual financial reportsand directors reports

292 Who hasto prepare annual financial reportsand directors
reports

(1) A financial report and adirectors report must be prepared for each
financial year by:
(a) all disclosing entities; and
(b) all public companies; and
(c) al large proprietary companies, and
(d) all registered schemes.
Note: This Chapter only applies to disclosing entities incorporated or formed
in Australia (see subsection 285(2)).
(2) A small proprietary company has to prepare the financial report
and directors' report only if:
(a) itisdirected to do so under section 293 or 294; or

(b) it was controlled by aforeign company for all or part of the
year and it is nhot consolidated for that period in financia
statements for that year lodged with ASIC by:

(i) aregistered foreign company; or

(ii) acompany, registered scheme or disclosing entity.
Therest of this Part does not apply to any other small proprietary
company.

293 Small proprietary company—shareholder direction

(1) Shareholderswith at least 5% of the votesin a small proprietary
company may give the company a direction to:
(a) prepare afinancial report and directors’ report for afinancial
year; and
(b) send them to all shareholders.

(2) Thedirection must be:
(@) signed by the shareholders giving the direction; and
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(b) made no later than 12 months after the end of the financial
year concerned.

(3) Thedirection may specify al or any of the following:

(a) that the financial report does not have to comply with some
or al of the accounting standards;

(b) that adirectors' report or a part of that report need not be
prepared;

(c) that the financial report isto be audited.

294 Small proprietary company—ASI C direction

(1) ASIC may giveasmall proprietary company adirection to comply
with requirements of this Division and Divisions 3, 4, 5and 6 for a
financia year.

(2) Thedirection may be general or may specify the particular
reguirements that the company isto comply with.

(3) Thedirection must specify the date by which the documents have
to be prepared, sent or lodged. The date must be a reasonable one
in view of the nature of the direction.

(4) Thedirection must:
(8) be madeinwriting; and
(b) specify the financial year concerned; and

(c) be made no later than 6 years after the end of that financial
year.

295 Contents of annual financial report

Basic contents

(1) Thefinancia report for afinancial year consists of:
(a) thefinancia statementsfor the year; and
(b) the notesto the financia statements; and
(c) thedirectors declaration about the statements and notes.

Financial statements

(2) Thefinancia statements for the year are:
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(a) aprofit and loss statement for the year; and
(b) abalance sheet as at the end of the year; and
(c) astatement of cash flows for the year; and

(d) if required by the accounting standards—a consolidated
profit and loss statement, balance sheet and statement of cash
flows.

Notes to financial statements

(3) The notesto the financial statements are:
(a) disclosures required by the regulations; and
(b) notesrequired by the accounting standards; and

(c) any other information necessary to give atrue and fair view
(see section 297).

Directors declaration

(4) Thedirectors declaration is a declaration by the directors:

(a) that the financial statements, and the notes referred to in
paragraph (3)(b), comply with the accounting standards; and

(b) that the financial statements and notes give atrue and fair
view (see section 297); and

(c) whether, in the directors opinion, there are reasonable
grounds to believe that the company, registered scheme or
disclosing entity will be able to pay its debts as and when
they become due and payable; and

(d) whether, in the directors’ opinion, the financial statement and
notes are in accordance with this Act, including:
(i) section 296 (compliance with accounting standards);
and
(i) section 297 (true and fair view).
Note: See paragraph 285(3)(c) for the reference to the debts of a registered
scheme.
(5) The declaration must:
(@) be made in accordance with aresolution of the directors; and
(b) specify the date on which the declaration is made; and
(c) besigned by adirector.
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296 Compliance with accounting standards and regulations

(1) Thefinancia report for afinancial year must comply with the
accounting standards. However, a small proprietary company’s
report does not have to comply with particular accounting
standardsiif:

(a) thereport is prepared in response to a shareholder direction
under section 293; and

(b) the direction specifies that the report does not have to comply
with those accounting standards.

(2) Thefinancial report must comply with any further requirementsin
the regulations.

297 Trueand fair view

The financial statements and notes for afinancial year must give a
true and fair view of:
(a) thefinancia position and performance of the company,
registered scheme or disclosing entity; and

(b) if consolidated financial statements are required—the
financial position and performance of the consolidated entity.

This section does not affect the obligation under section 296 for a
financial report to comply with accounting standards.

Note: If the financial statements and notes prepared in compliance with the
accounting standards would not give atrue and fair view, additional
information must be included in the notes to the financial statements
under paragraph 295(3)(c).

298 Annual directors report

(1) The company, registered scheme or disclosing entity must prepare
adirectors' report for each financial year. The report must include:
() the general information required by section 299; and
(b) the specific information required by section 300.

(2) The report must:
() be made in accordance with aresolution of the directors; and
(b) specify the date on which the report is made; and
(c) besigned by adirector.
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(3) A small proprietary company does not have to comply with
subsection (1) for afinancia year if:
(a) itispreparing financial statements for that year in response to
a shareholder direction under section 293; and

(b) thedirection specified that adirectors' report need not be
prepared.

299 Annual directors report—general information

General information about operations and activities

(1) Thedirectors report for afinancial year must:

(a) contain areview of operations during the year of the entity
reported on and the results of those operations; and

(b) give details of any significant changesin the entity’ s state of
affairs during the year; and

(c) statetheentity’s principal activities during the year and any
significant changes in the nature of those activities during the
year; and

(d) givedetailsof any matter or circumstance that has arisen
since the end of the year that has significantly affected, or
may significantly affect:

(i) the entity’s operations in future financial years; or
(i) theresults of those operations in future financial years,
or

(iif) the entity’s state of affairsin future financial years; and

(e) refer tolikely developmentsin the entity’s operationsin
future financial years and the expected results of those
operations; and

(f) if the entity’ s operations are subject to any particular and
significant environmental regulation under alaw of the
Commonwealth or of a State or Territory—give details of the
entity’s performance in relation to environmental regulation.

(2) Theentity reported onis:
(@) the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity (if
consolidated financial statements are not required); or

(b) the consolidated entity (if consolidated financial statements
arerequired).
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Prejudicial information need not be disclosed

(3) Thereport may omit material that would otherwise be included
under paragraph (1)(e) if it islikely to result in unreasonable
prejudice to:

(a) the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity; or

(b) if consolidated financial statements are required—the
consolidated entity or any entity (including the company,
registered scheme or disclosing entity) that is part of the
consolidated entity.

If material is omitted, the report must say so.

300 Annual directors report—specific information

(1) Thedirectors' report for afinancial year must include details of:

(a) dividends or distributions paid to members during the year;
and

(b) dividends or distributions recommended or declared for
payment to members, but not paid, during the year; and

(c) the name of each person who has been a director of the
company, registered scheme or disclosing entity at any time
during or since the end of the year and the period for which
they were adirector; and

(d) optionsthat are:

(i) granted over unissued shares or unissued interests
during or since the end of the year; and
(ii) granted to any of the directors or any of the 5 most
highly remunerated officers of the company; and

(iif) granted to them as part of their remuneration;
(see subsections (3), (4) and (5)); and

(e) unissued shares or interests under option as at the day the
report is made (see subsections (3) and (6)); and

(f) sharesor interestsissued during or since the end of the year
as aresult of the exercise of an option over unissued shares
or interests (see subsections (3) and (7)); and

(g) indemnities given and insurance premiums paid during or
since the end of the year for a person who is or has been an
officer or auditor (see subsections (8) and (9)).
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Public companies, listed companies and registered schemes must
include additional information under subsections (10), (11), (12)
and (13).

(2) Detailsdo not have to be included in the directors' report under
this section if they are included in the company’ s financial report
for the financial year.

(3) Paragraphs (1)(d), (e) and (f) cover:
(a) options over unissued shares and interests of the company,
registered scheme or disclosing entity; and

(b) if consolidated financial statements are required—aoptions
over unissued shares and interests of any controlled entity
that is a company, registered scheme or disclosing entity.

Options details

(5) The details of an option granted are;
(a) the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity granting
the option; and
(b) the name of the person to whom the option is granted; and
(c) the number and class of shares or interests over which the
option is granted.

(6) The details of unissued shares or interests under option are:

(@) the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity that will
issue shares or interests when the options are exercised; and

(b) the number and classes of those shares or interests; and

(c) theissue price, or the method of determining the issue price,
of those shares or interests; and

(d) the expiry date of the options; and

(e) any rights that option holders have under the options to
participate in any share issue or interest issue of the
company, registered scheme or disclosing entity or of any
other body corporate or registered scheme.

Shares or interestsissued as a result of exercise of option

(7) Thedetails of shares or interestsissued as aresult of the exercise
of an option are;
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(a) the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity issuing
the shares or interests; and

(b) the number of shares or interests issued; and

(c) if the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity has
different classes of shares or interests—the class to which
each of those shares or interests belongs; and

(d) the amount unpaid on each of those shares or interests; and

(e) the amount paid, or agreed to be considered as paid, on each
of those shares or interests.

Indemnities and insurance premiums for officers or auditors

(8) The report for a company must include details of:;

(a) any indemnity that is given to acurrent or former officer or
auditor against aliability and that is covered by subsection
199A(2) or (3), or any relevant agreement under which an
officer or auditor may be given an indemnity of that kind;
and

(b) any premium that is paid, or agreed to be paid, for insurance
against a current or former officer’s or auditor’ s liability for
legal costs.

Note: Sections 199A and 199B contain general prohibitions against giving
certain indemnities and paying certain insurance premiums. This

subsection requires transactions that are exceptions to these
prohibitions to be reported.

(9) The detailsrequired under subsection (8) are:

(@) for an officer—their name or the class of officer to which
they belong or belonged; and

(b) for an auditor—their name; and

(c) the nature of theliahility; and

(d) for an indemnity given—the amount the company paid and
any other action the company took to indemnify the officer or
auditor; and

(e) for an agreement to indemnify—the amount that the relevant
agreement requires the company to pay and any other action
the relevant agreement requires the company to taketo
indemnify the officer or auditor; and

(f) for an insurance premium—the amount of the premium.
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The report need not give details of the nature of the liability
covered by, or the amount of the premium payable under, a
contract of insurance to the extent that disclosure of those detailsis
prohibited by the insurance contract.

Soecial rulesfor public companies

(10) Thereport for a public company that is not a wholly-owned
subsidiary of another company must also include details of:
(a) each director’s qualifications, experience and special
responsibilities; and
(b) the number of meetings of the board of directors held during
the year and each director’ s attendance at those meetings,
and
(c) the number of meetings of each board committee held during
the year and each director’ s attendance at those meetings.

Special rulesfor listed companies

(11) Thereport for alisted company must also include the following
details for each director:

(a) their relevant interests in shares of the company or arelated
body corporate;

(b) their relevant interestsin debentures of, or interestsin a
registered scheme made available by, the company or a
related body corporate;

(c) their rights or options over sharesin, debentures of or
interests in aregistered scheme made available by, the
company or arelated body corporate;

(d) contracts:

(i) towhich the director isa party or under which the
director is entitled to a benefit; and

(i) that confer aright to call for or deliver sharesin, or
debentures of or interestsin aregistered scheme made
available by the company or arelated body corporate.

Note: Directors must also disclose interests of these kinds to the ASX under
section 205G as they are acquired.
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Soecial rules for listed registered schemes

(12) Thereport for aregistered scheme whose interests are quoted on a
stock market of a securities exchange must also include the
following details for each director of the company that isthe
responsible entity for the scheme:

(a) their relevant interestsin interests in the scheme;
(b) their rights or options over interests in the scheme;

(c) contractsto which the director is a party or under which the
director is entitled to a benefit and that confer aright to call
for or deliver interestsin the scheme.

Special rules for registered schemes

(13) Thereport for aregistered scheme must also include details of:
(a) thefeespaid to the responsible entity and its associates out of
scheme property during the financia year; and
(b) the number of interests in the scheme held by the responsible
entity or its associates as at the end of the financial year; and
(c) interestsin the scheme issued during the financial year; and
(d) withdrawals from the scheme during the financial year; and

(e) thevaue of the scheme's assets as at the end of the financial
year, and the basis for the valuation; and

(f) the number of interests in the scheme as at the end of the
financial year.

Proceedings on behalf of a company

(14) Thereport for acompany must also include the following details of
any application for leave under section 237 made in respect of the
company:

(a) the applicant’s name; and
(b) astatement whether leave was granted.

(15) Thereport for acompany must also include the following detail s of
any proceedings that a person has brought or intervened in on
behalf of the company with leave under section 237:

(a) the person’sname;
(b) the names of the parties to the proceedings;
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(c) sufficient information to enable members to understand the
nature and status of the proceedings (including the cause of
action and any orders made by the court).

300A Annual directors' report—specific information to be provided
by listed companies

(1) Thedirectors report for afinancial year for acompany must also
include:

(a) discussion of board policy for determining the nature and
amount of emoluments of board members and senior
executives of the company; and

(b) discussion of the relationship between such policy and the
company’ s performance; and

(c) details of the nature and amount of each element of the
emolument of each director and each of the 5 named officers
of the company receiving the highest emolument.

(2) This section applies only to acompany that isincluded in an
official list of the Exchange.

(3) This section applies despite anything in the company’s
constitution.

301 Audit of annual financial report

(1) A company, registered scheme or disclosing entity must have the
financial report for afinancial year audited in accordance with
Division 3 and obtain an auditor’ s report.

(2) A small proprietary company’s financial report for afinancial year
does not have to be audited if:
(a) thereport is prepared in response to a direction under
section 293; and

(b) thedirection did not ask for the financial report to be audited.
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Division 2—Half-year financial report and directors
report

302 Disclosing entity must prepar e half-year financial report and
directors report

A disclosing entity must:
(@) prepare afinancial report and directors’ report for each
half-year; and
(b) have the financial report audited or reviewed in accordance
with Division 3 and obtain an auditor’ s report; and

(c) lodgethefinancia report, the directors’ report and the
auditor’ s report on the financia report with ASIC;

unless the entity is not a disclosing entity when lodgment is due.

Note1l:  This Chapter only appliesto disclosing entitiesincorporated or formed
in Australia (see subsection 285(2)).

Note 2: See section 320 for the time for lodgment with ASIC.

Note 3: Subsection 318(4) requires disclosing entities that are borrowersin
relation to debentures to also report to the trustee for debenture
holders.

303 Contents of half-year financial report

Basic contents

(1) Thefinancial report for a half-year consists of:
(a) thefinancia statements for the half-year; and
(b) the notesto the financia statements; and
(c) thedirectors declaration about the statements and notes.

Financial statements

(2) Thefinancia statements for the half-year are:
(8) except where paragraph (b) applies:
(i) aprofit and loss statement for the half-year; and
(if) abalance sheet as at the end of the half-year; and
(iii) astatement of cash flows for the half-year; and
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(b) if required by the accounting standards—a consolidated

profit and loss statement, balance sheet and statement of cash
flows.

Notes to financial statements

(3) The notesto the financial statements are:
(a) disclosures required by the regulations; and
(b) notesrequired by the accounting standards; and

(c) any other information necessary to give atrue and fair view
(see section 305).

Directors declaration

(4) Thedirectors declaration is a declaration by the directors:

(a) that the financial statements, and the notes referred to in
paragraph (3)(b), comply with the accounting standards; and

(b) that the financial statements and notes give atrue and fair
view (see section 305); and

(c) whether, in the directors opinion, there are reasonable
grounds to believe that the disclosing entity will be able to
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

See paragraph 285(3)(c) for the reference to the debts of a disclosing
entity that is aregistered scheme.

Note:

(5) The declaration must:

(a) be made in accordance with aresolution of the directors; and

(b) specify the day on which the declaration is made; and
(c) besigned by adirector.

304 Compliance with accounting standards and regulations

The financia report for a half-year must comply with the

accounting standards and any further requirementsin the
regulations.

305 Trueand fair view

The financial statements and notes for a half-year must give atrue
and fair view of:
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(a) thefinancia position and performance of the disclosing
entity; or
(b) if consolidated financial statements are required—the
financial position and performance of the consolidated entity.
This section does not affect the obligation under section 304 for
financial reports to comply with accounting standards.
Note: If the financial statements prepared in compliance with the accounting
standards would not give atrue and fair view, additional information

must be included in the notes to the financial statements under
paragraph 303(3)(c).

306 Half-year directors report

The directors of the disclosing entity must prepare a directors
report for each half-year that consists of:
(a) areview of the entity’s operations during the half-year and
the results of those operations; and
(b) the name of each person who has been a director of the
disclosing entity at any time during or since the end of the
half-year and the period for which they were a director.
If consolidated financial statements are required, the review under
paragraph (a) must cover the consolidated entity.
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Division 3—Audit and auditor’sreport

307 Audit

An auditor who conducts an audit of the financial report for a
financial year or half-year must form an opinion about:
(a) whether the financial report isin accordance with this Act,
including:
(i) section 296 or 304 (compliance with accounting
standards); and
(i) section 297 or 305 (true and fair view); and
(b) whether the auditor has been given all information,

explanation and assistance necessary for the conduct of the
audit; and
(c) whether the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity

has kept financial records sufficient to enable a financial
report to be prepared and audited; and

(d) whether the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity
has kept other records and registers as required by this Act.

308 Auditor’sreport on annual financial report

(1) Anauditor who audits the financia report for afinancial year must
report to members on whether the auditor is of the opinion that the
financial report isin accordance with this Act, including:

(a) section 296 (compliance with accounting standards); and
(b) section 297 (true and fair view).
If not of that opinion, the auditor’ s report must say why.

(2) If the auditor is of the opinion that the financial report does not
comply with an accounting standard, the auditor’ s report must, to
the extent it is practicable to do so, quantify the effect that
non-compliance has on the financial report. If it is not practicable
to quantify the effect fully, the report must say why.

(3) Theauditor’s report must describe:
(a) any defect or irregularity in the financia report; and
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(b) any deficiency, failure or shortcoming in respect of the
matters referred to in paragraph 307(b), (c) or (d).

(4) Thereport must specify the date on which it is made.

309 Auditor’sreport on half-year financial report

Audit of financial report

(1) An auditor who audits the financial report for a half-year must
report to members on whether the auditor is of the opinion that the
financial report isin accordance with this Act, including:

(a) section 304 (compliance with accounting standards); and
(b) section 305 (true and fair view).
If not of that opinion, the auditor’ s report must say why.

(2) If theauditor is of the opinion that the financial report does not
comply with an accounting standard, the auditor’ s report must, to
the extent that it is practicable to do so, quantify the effect that
non-compliance has on the financial report. If it is not practicable
to quantify the effect fully, the report must say why.

(3) Theauditor’s report must describe:
() any defect or irregularity in the financial report; and
(b) any deficiency, failure or shortcoming in respect of the
matters referred to in paragraph 307(b), (c) or (d).

Review of financial report

(4) An auditor who reviews the financial report for a half-year must
report to members on whether the auditor became aware of any
matter in the course of the review that makes the auditor believe
that the financial report does not comply with Division 2.

(5) A report under subsection (4) must:
(a) describe any matter referred to in subsection (4); and

(b) say why that matter makes the auditor believe that the
financial report does not comply with Division 2.
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Report to specify day made

(6) A report under subsection (1) or (4) must specify the date on which
itis made.

310 Auditor’s power to obtain information
The auditor:

(@) hasaright of access at all reasonable times to the books of
the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity; and
(b) may require any officer to give the auditor information,
explanations or other assistance for the purposes of the audit
or review.
A request under paragraph (b) must be a reasonable one.

311 Reportingto ASIC

The auditor conducting an audit or review must, as soon as
possible, notify ASIC in writing if the auditor:

(a) has reasonable grounds to suspect that a contravention of this
Act has occurred; and

(b) believesthat the contravention has not been or will not be
adequately dealt with by commenting on it in the auditor’s
report or bringing it to the attention of the directors.

Note:

Section 1289 gives an auditor qualified privilege for anotification to
ASIC under this section.

312 Assisting auditor

An officer of acompany, registered scheme or disclosing entity
must:

(a) alow the auditor access to the books of the company, scheme
or entity; and

(b) give the auditor any information, explanation or assistance
required under section 310.

Note: Books include registers and documents generally (not only the

accounting “books"): see the definition of booksin section 9.
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313 Special provisionson audit of debentureissuersand guarantors

Auditor to give trustee for debenture holders copies of reports,
certificates etc.

(1) Theauditor of aborrower in relation to debentures must give the
trustee for debenture holders:

(a) acopy of any report, certificate or other document that the
auditor must give the borrower or its members under this
Act, the debentures or the trust deed; and

(b) acopy of any document that accompaniesit.

The copies must be given within 7 days after the auditor givesthe
originasto the borrower or its members.

Auditor to report on matters prejudicial to debenture holders
interests

(2) Theauditor of aborrower, or guarantor, in relation to debentures
must give the borrower or guarantor a written report about any
matter that:

(a) the auditor became aware of in conducting the audit or
review; and

(b) inthe auditor’sopinion, isor islikely to be prejudicial to the
interests of debenture holders; and

(c) inthe auditor’s opinion, isrelevant to the exercise of the
powers of the trustee for debenture holders, or the
performance of the trustee’ s duties, under this Act or the trust
deed.

The auditor must give a copy of the report to the trustee for

debenture holders. The report and the copy must be given within 7
days after the auditor becomes aware of the matter.
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Division 4—Annual financial reporting to members
314 Annual financial reporting to members

Full or concise report to members

(1) A company, registered scheme or disclosing entity must report to
members for afinancial year by either:

(a) sending members copies of:
(i) thefinancia report for the year; and

(if) thedirectors report for the year (see sections 298-300);
and

(iii) the auditor’ s report on the financial report; or

(b) sending members a concise report for the year that complies
with subsection (2).

Concise report

(2) A concisereport for afinancial year consists of:

(a) aconcisefinancial report for the year drawn up in accordance
with accounting standards made for the purposes of this
paragraph; and

(b) thedirectors report for the year (see sections 298-300); and

(c) astatement by the auditor:

(i) that the financial report has been audited; and
(if) whether, in the auditor’ s opinion, the concise financial
report complies with the accounting standards made for
the purposes of paragraph (a); and
(d) acopy of any qualification in, and of any statements included
in the emphasis of matter section of, the auditor’ s report on
the financial report; and
(e) astatement that the report is a concise report and that the full
financial report and auditor’ s report will be sent to the
member free of charge if the member asks for them.

(3) If the accounting standards made for the purposes of

paragraph (2)(a) require a discussion and analysisto beincluded in
aconcise financia report:
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(a) the auditor must report on whether the discussion and
analysis complies with the requirements that the accounting
standards lay down for the discussion and analysis; and

(b) the auditor does not otherwise need to audit the statements
made in the discussion and analysis.

315 Deadlinefor reporting to members

(D

()

©)

(4)

Public companies and disclosing entities that are not registered
schemes

A public company, or adisclosing entity that is not aregistered
scheme, must report to members under section 314 by the earlier
of:

() 21 days before the next AGM after the end of the financial
year; or
(b) 4 months after the end of the financia year.
Note: For the deadline for holding an AGM, see section 250N.

Small proprietary companies (shareholder direction under
section 293)

If a shareholder direction is given to asmall proprietary company
under section 293 after the end of the financial year, the company
must report to members under section 314 by the later of:

(@) 2 months after the date on which the direction is given; and
(b) 4 months after the end of the financia year.

Registered schemes

A registered scheme must report to members under section 314
within 3 months after the end of the financial year.

Other proprietary companies

A proprietary company that is not covered by subsection (1) or (2)
must report to members under section 314 within 4 months after
the end of the financial year.
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316 Member’'schoicesfor annual financial infor mation

(1) A member may request the company, registered scheme or
disclosing entity:
() not to send them the material required by section 314; or

(b) to send them afull financial report and the directors report
and auditor’ s report.

A request may be a standing request or for a particular financial
year. The member is not entitled to areport for afinancial year

earlier than the one before the financial year in which the request is
made.

(2) Thetimefor complying with arequest under paragraph (1)(b) is.
(a) 7 days after the request is received; or

(b) the deadline for reporting under section 315;
whichever islater.

(3) A full financial report, directors’ report and auditor’ s report are to
be sent free of charge unless the member has already received a
copy of them free of charge.

317 Consideration of reportsat AGM

The directors of a public company that is required to hold an AGM
must lay before the AGM:

(a) thefinancial report; and
(b) thedirectors’ report; and
(c) the auditor’s report;
for the last financial year that ended before the AGM.

Note 1: If the company’sfirst AGM is held before the end of itsfirst financial
year, there will be no reportsto lay before the meeting.

Note2: A public company that has only 1 member is not required to hold an
AGM (see section 250N).

318 Additional reporting by debentureissuers
(1) A company or disclosing entity that was a borrower in relation to

debentures at the end of afinancial year must give a copy of the
annual financial report, directors' report and auditor’ s report to the
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trustee for debenture holders by the deadline for the financial year
set by section 315.

(2) A debenture holder may ask the company or disclosing entity that
issued the debenture for copies of:

(a) thelast reports sent to members under section 314; or

(b) thefull financia report and the directors’ report and auditor’s
report for the last financial year.

(3) The company or entity must give the debenture holder the copies
as soon as practicable after the request and free of charge.

(4) A disclosing entity that was a borrower in relation to debentures at
the end of a half-year must give a copy of the half-year financial
report, directors' report and auditor’ s report to the trustee for
debenture holders within 75 days after the end of the half-year.
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Division 5—L odging reportswith ASIC

319 Lodgment of annual reportswith ASIC

(1) A company, registered scheme or disclosing entity that has to
prepare or obtain areport for afinancial year under Division 1
must lodge the report with ASIC. This obligation extendsto a
concise report sent to members under section 314.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply to a small proprietary company that
prepares areport in response to a shareholder direction under
section 293 or an ASIC direction under section 294.

(3) Thetimefor lodgment is:
(a) within 3 months after the end of the financial year for a
disclosing entity or registered scheme; and

(b) within 4 months after the end of the financia year for anyone
else

(5) A company that has the benefit of subsection (4) must lodge with
ASIC notice of any of the following events:

(a) theresignation or retirement of the company’s auditor;
(b) the appointment of anew auditor (including details of the
new auditor).

The notice must be lodged within 14 days after the resignation,
retirement or appointment.

(6) For the purposes of paragraph (4)(d), the deadline for reporting to
membersis:
(a) for afinancial year ending after 1 July 1998—the deadline
for reporting to members under section 315; and

(b) for an earlier financial year—the deadline for that year within
the meaning of the old Corporations Law for a State or

Territory in thisjurisdiction asin force immediately before
1 July 1998.
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320 Lodgment of half-year reportswith ASIC

A disclosing entity that has to prepare or obtain areport for a
half-year under Division 2 must |odge the report with ASIC within
75 days after the end of the half-year.

321 ASIC power to requirelodgment

(1) ASIC may give acompany, registered scheme or disclosing entity
adirection to lodge with ASIC a copy of reports prepared or
obtained by it under Division 1 or 2.

(2) Thedirection must:
(@) be madein writing; and
(b) specify the period or periods concerned; and
(c) be made no later than 6 years after the end of the period or
periods; and
(d) specify the date by which the documents have to be lodged.

The date specified under paragraph (d) must be at |east 14 days
after the date on which the direction is given.

322 Relodgment if financial statementsor directors reports
amended after lodgment

(1) If afinancial report or directors’ report is amended after itis
lodged with ASIC, the company, registered scheme or disclosing
entity must:

(a) lodge the amended report with ASIC within 14 days after the
amendment; and

(b) give acopy of the amended report free of chargeto any
member who asks for it.

(2) If theamendment isamaterial one, the company, registered
scheme or disclosing entity must also notify members as soon as
practicable of:

(a) the nature of the amendment; and

(b) their right to obtain a copy of the amended report under
subsection (1).
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Division 6—Special provisions about consolidated financial
statements

323 Directorsand officers of controlled entity to give infor mation

If acompany, registered scheme or disclosing entity has to prepare
consolidated financial statements, a director or officer of a
controlled entity must give the company, registered scheme or
disclosing entity all information requested that is necessary to

prepare the consolidated financial statements and the notes to those
statements.

323A Auditor’s power to obtain information from controlled entity

(1) An auditor who audits or reviews afinancial report that includes
consolidated financial statements:
(a) hasaright of access at all reasonable times to the books of
any controlled entity; and
(b) may require any officer of the entity to give the auditor
information, explanations or other assistance for the purposes
of the audit or review.

A reguest under paragraph (b) must be a reasonabl e one.

(2) Theinformation, explanations or other assistance required under
paragraph (1)(b) isto be given at the expense of the company,
registered scheme or disclosing entity whose financia report is
being audited or reviewed.

323B Controlled entity to assist auditor

If acompany, registered scheme or disclosing entity has to prepare
afinancial report that includes consolidated financial statements,
an officer or auditor of a controlled entity must:

(a) alow the auditor for the company, scheme or entity accessto
the controlled entity’ s books; and

(b) give the auditor any information, explanation or assistance
required under section 323A.
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323C Application of Division to entity that has ceased to be
controlled

Sections 323, 323A and 323B apply to the preparation or audit of a
financial report that covers a controlled entity even if the entity is
no longer controlled by the company, registered scheme or
disclosing entity whose financial report is being prepared or
audited.
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Division 7—Financial yearsand half-years

323D Financial yearsand half-years

(D

)

©)

(4)

First financial year

Thefirst financial year for a company, registered scheme or
disclosing entity starts on the day on which it is registered or
incorporated. It lasts for 12 months or the period (not longer than
18 months) determined by the directors.

Financial years after first year

Subject to subsection (4), subsequent financial years must:
(a) start at the end of the previous financial year; and
(b) be 12 monthslong.

The directors may determine that the financial year isto be shorter
or longer (but not by more than 7 days).

Synchronisation of financial years where consolidated financial
statements are required

A company, registered scheme or disclosing entity that has to
prepare consolidated financial statements must do whatever is
necessary to ensure that the financial years of the consolidated
entities are synchronised with its own financial years. It must
achieve this synchronisation by the end of 12 months after the
situation that calls for consolidation arises.

To facilitate this synchronisation, the financial year for a controlled
entity may be extended or shortened. The extended financial year
cannot be longer than 18 months.

Half-years

(5) A half-year for acompany, registered scheme or disclosing entity

isthe first 6 months of afinancial year. The directors may
determine that the half-year is to be shorter or longer (but not by
more than 7 days).
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Division 8—Disclosure by listed companies of information
filed overseas

323DA Listed companiesto disclose information filed over seas

(1) A company that discloses information to, or as required by:

(8) the Securities and Exchange Commission of the United
States of America; or

(b) the New York Stock Exchange; or
(c) aprescribed securities exchange in aforeign country;

must disclose that information in English to the Exchange on the
next business day after doing so.

(2) This section applies only to acompany that isincluded in an
official list of the Exchange.

(3) Thissection applies despite anything in the company’s
constitution.
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Part 2M .4—Appointment and removal of auditors
Division 1—Companies

324 Qualifications of auditors

(1) Subject to this section, a person must not:

(a) consent to be appointed as auditor of a company;

(b) act as auditor of a company; or

(c) prepare areport required by this Act to be prepared by a
registered company auditor or by an auditor of a company;

if:

(d) the person is not aregistered company auditor;

(e) the person, or abody corporate in which the person has a
substantia holding, owes more than $5,000 to the company,
to arelated body corporate or to an entity that the company
controls; or

(f) except where the company is a proprietary company, the
person:

(i) isan officer of the company; or
(if) isapartner, employer or employee of an officer of the
company; or

(iii) isapartner or employee of an employee of an officer of
the company.

(2) Subject to this section, afirm must not:

(a) consent to be appointed as auditor of a company; or
(b) act asauditor of acompany; or
(c) prepare areport required by this Act to be prepared by a

registered company auditor or by an auditor of a company;
unless:

(d) at least 1 member of the firm is aregistered company auditor
who is ordinarily resident in Australia; and

(e) the business name under which the firmis carrying on
businessis registered under alaw of a State or Territory
relating to the registration of business names or areturnin
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the prescribed form has been lodged showing, in relation to
each member of the firm, the member’ s full name and
address as at the time when the firm so consents, acts or
prepares areport; and
(f) no member of the firm, and no body corporate in which a
member of the firm has a substantial holding, owes more
than $5,000 to the company, to arelated body corporate or to
an entity that the company controls; and
(g) except where the company is a proprietary company, no
member of thefirmis:
(i) an officer of the company; or
(ii) apartner, employer or employee of an officer of the
company; or
(iif) apartner or employee of an employee of an officer of
the company; and
(h) except where the company is a proprietary company, no
officer of the company receives any remuneration from the
firm for acting as a consultant to it on accounting or auditing
matters.

(3) For the purposes of paragraphs (1)(e) and (2)(f), disregard a debt
owed by anatural person to a body corporate or entity if:
() the body corporate or entity is:
(i) anAustralian ADI; or

(ii) abody corporate registered under the Life Insurance Act
1995; and

(b) the debt arose because of aloan that the body corporate or
entity made to the person in the ordinary course of its
ordinary business; and

(c) the person used the amount of the loan to pay the whole or
part of the purchase price of premises that the person uses as
their principal place of residence.

(4) For the purposes of subsections (1) and (2), a person is taken to be
an officer of acompany if:
(a) the personisan officer of arelated body corporate or of an
entity that the company controls; or
(b) except where ASIC, if it thinksfit in the circumstances of the
case, directs that this paragraph is not apply in relation to the
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person in relation to the company—the person has, at any
time within the immediately preceding period of 12 months,
been an officer or promoter of the company, of arelated body
corporate or of an entity that the company controlled at that
time.

(5) For the purposes of this section, aperson is not taken to be an
officer of acompany by reason only of being or having been the
liquidator of that company, of arelated body corporate or of an
entity that that company controls or has controlled.

(6) For the purposes of this section, a person is not taken to be an
officer of acompany merely because of one or more of the
following:

(@) having been appointed as auditor of the company, of arelated
body corporate or of an entity that the company controls or
has controlled;

(b) having been appointed, for any purpose relating to taxation,
as public officer of abody corporate, an unincorporated body
or atrust estate;

(c) being or having been authorised to accept, on behalf of the
company, arelated body corporate or an entity that the
company controls or has controlled, service of process or
notices.

(7) The appointment of afirm as auditor of a company istaken to be
an appointment of all persons who are members of the firm and are
registered company auditors, whether resident in Australia or not,
at the date of the appointment.

(8) Where afirm that has been appointed as auditor of a company is
reconstituted by reason of the death, retirement or withdrawal of a
member or members or by reason of the admission of a new
member or new members, or both:

(a) aperson who was taken under subsection (7) to be an auditor
of the company and who has so retired or withdrawn from
the firm as previously constituted is taken to have resigned as
auditor of the company as from the day of hisor her
retirement or withdrawal but, unless that person was the only
member of the firm who was a registered company auditor
and, after the retirement or withdrawal of that person, thereis
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9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

no member of the firm who is a registered company auditor,
section 329 does not apply to that resignation; and

(b) aperson who isaregistered company auditor and who is so
admitted to the firm is taken to have been appointed as an
auditor of the company as from the day of hisor her
admission; and

(c) thereconstitution of the firm does not affect the appointment
of the continuing members of the firm who are registered
company auditors as auditors of the company;

but nothing in this subsection affects the operation of
subsection (2).

Except as provided by subsection (8), the appointment of the
members of afirm as auditors of a company that is taken by
subsection (7) to have been made by reason of the appointment of
the firm as auditor of the company is not affected by the
dissolution of the firm.

A report or notice that purports to be made or given by afirm
appointed as auditor of acompany is not taken to be duly made or
given unlessit issigned in the firm name and in his or her own
name by a member of the firm who is a registered company
auditor.

Without limiting the generality of section 1311, if, in contravention
of this section, a firm consents to be appointed, or acts as, auditor
of acompany or prepares areport required by this Act to be
prepared by an auditor of a company, each member of the firmis
guilty of an offence.

Whereit is, in the opinion of ASIC, impracticable for a proprietary
company to obtain the services of aregistered company auditor as
auditor of the company by reason of the place where the company
carries on business, a person who is, in the opinion of ASIC,
suitably qualified or experienced and is approved by ASIC for the
purposes of this Act in relation to the audit of the company’s
financial reports may be appointed as auditor of the company,
subject to such terms and conditions as are specified in the
approval.

A person appointed in accordance with subsection (12) is, in
relation to the auditing of the company’s financial reports (if any),

62

Corporations Act 2001



Financial reports and audit Chapter 2M
Appointment and removal of auditors Part 2M .4
Companies Division 1

Section 325

but subject to the terms and conditions of the approval under that
subsection, taken to be aregistered company auditor and the
provisions of this Act apply, with the necessary modifications, in
relation to the person accordingly.

(14) Where a person approved by ASIC under subsection (12) is acting
as auditor of acompany, ASIC may at any time, by noticein
writing given to the company:

() amend, revoke or vary the terms and conditions of its
approval; or

(b) terminate the appointment of that person as auditor of the
company.

(15) A notice under subsection (14) terminating the appointment of a
person as auditor of a company takes effect asif, on the date on
which the notice is received by the company, the company had
received from the person notice of the person’ sresignation as
auditor taking effect from that date.

(16) A person must not:

(a) if the person has been appointed auditor of a company—
knowingly disqualify himself or herself while the
appointment continues from acting as auditor of the
company; or

(b) if the person isamember of afirm that has been appointed
auditor of a company—knowingly disqualify the firm while
the appointment continues from acting as auditor of the
company.

325 Appointment of auditor by proprietary company
The directors of a proprietary company may appoint an auditor for
the company if an auditor has not been appointed by the company
in general meeting.

327 Appointment of auditors

(1A) Only subsections (6) to (10) of this section apply to a proprietary
company.
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(D)

)

©)

(4)

)

(6)

()

Within 1 month after the day on which acompany is incorporated,
the directors of the company must appoint, unless the company at a
general meeting has appointed, a person or persons, afirm or firms,
or aperson or persons and afirm or firms, as auditor or auditors of
the company.

A person or firm appointed as auditor of a company under
subsection (1) holds office, subject to this Part, until the first
annual general meeting of the company.

A company must:

(a) atitsfirst annual general meeting, appoint a person or
persons, afirm or firms, or a person or persons and a firm or
firms, as auditor or auditors of the company; and

(b) at each subsequent annual general meeting, if thereisa
vacancy in the office of auditor of the company, appoint a
person or persons, afirm or firms, or a person or persons and
afirm or firms, to fill the vacancy.

A person or firm appointed as auditor under subsection (3) holds
office until death or removal or resignation from officein
accordance with section 329 or until ceasing to be capable of
acting as auditor by reason of subsection 324(1) or (2).

If:

(a) avacancy occursin the office of auditor of the company
(other than avacancy caused by the removal of an auditor
from office); and

(b) thereisno surviving or continuing auditor of the company;

the directors must, within 1 month after the vacancy occurs,
appoint a person or persons, afirm or firms, or a person or persons
or afirm or firms, to fill the vacancy unless the company at a
general meeting has appointed a person or persons, a firm or firms,
or aperson or persons and afirm or firms, to fill the vacancy.

While avacancy in the office of auditor continues, the surviving or
continuing auditor or auditors (if any) may act.

A company or the directors of a company must not appoint a
person or firm as auditor of the company unless that person or firm
has, before the appointment, consented by notice in writing given
to the company or to the directors to act as auditor and has not
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withdrawn his, her or its consent by notice in writing given to the
company or to the directors.

(8) A notice under subsection (7) given by afirm must be signed in the
firm name and in his or her own name by a member of the firm
who is aregistered company auditor.

(9) If acompany appoints a person or firm as auditor of acompany in
contravention of subsection (7), the purported appointment does
not have any effect and the company and any officer of the
company who isin default are each guilty of an offence.

(10) Where an auditor of acompany is removed from office at a general
meeting in accordance with section 329:

(a) the company may at that meeting (without adjournment), by
aresolution passed by amajority of not less than
three-quarters of such members of the company as, being
entitled so to do, vote in person or, where proxies are
alowed, by proxy, forthwith appoint as auditor or auditors a
person or persons, afirm or firms, or a person or persons and
afirm or firms, to whom or which has been sent a copy of the
notice of nomination in accordance with subsection 328(3);
or

(b) if such aresolution isnot passed or, by reason only that such
acopy of the notice of homination has not been sent to a
person, could not be passed, the meeting may be adjourned to
aday not earlier than 20 days and not later than 30 days after
the day of the meeting and the company may, at the
adjourned meeting, by ordinary resolution appoint as auditor
or auditors a person or persons, afirm or firms, or a person or
persons and afirm or firms, notice of whose nomination for
appointment as auditor has been received by the company
from a member of the company at least 14 clear days before
the day to which the meeting is adjourned.

(11) Where, after the removal from office of an auditor of a company,
the company fails to appoint an auditor under subsection (10), the
company must, within the period of 7 days commencing on the day
of the failure, giveto ASIC notice of the failure, and, subject to
subsection (12), ASIC:
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(12)

(13)

(14)

(15

(a) inacase where the company, before the end of that period,
givesto ASIC notice of the failure—must, upon receiving the
notice; or

(b) inany other case:

(i) may, at any time after the end of that period and before
ASIC receives from the company notice of the failure;
and

(ii) if the company, after the end of that period, givesto
ASIC notice of the failure—must, upon receiving the
notice;
appoint as auditor or auditors of the company a person or persons,
afirmor firms, or a person or persons and a firm or firms, who or
which consents or consent to be so appointed.

Where, after the removal from office of an auditor of a company,
the company failsto appoint an auditor under subsection (10),
ASIC must not appoint an auditor of the company under
subsection (11):

(@) inany case—if there is another auditor of the company
whom ASIC believes to be able to carry out the
responsibilities of auditor alone and who agrees to continue
as auditor; or

(c) inacasewhere, at the end of the period of 7 days
commencing on the day of the failure, the company has not
given to ASIC notice of the failure—if ASIC has, at any time
after the end of that period, already appointed an auditor of
the company under subsection (11).

Subject to subsection (11), if acompany does not appoint an
auditor when required by this Act to do so, ASIC may, on the
application in writing of a member of the company, appoint as
auditor or auditors of the company a person or persons, afirm or
firms, or a person or persons and afirm or firms, who or which
consents or consent to be so appointed.

A person or firm appointed as auditor of a company under
subsection (5), (10), (11) or (13) holds office, subject to this Part,
until the next annual general meeting of the company.

Notwithstanding subsection (4), a person or firm who holds the
office of auditor of acompany that begins to be controlled by a
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corporation must, unless the person or firm sooner vacates that
office, retire at the annual general meeting of the company next
held after it begins to be controlled by the corporation but, subject
to this Part, is eligible for re-appointment.

(16) If adirector of acompany failsto take all reasonable stepsto
comply with, or to secure compliance with, subsection (1) or (5),
he or sheis guilty of an offence.

328 Nomination of auditors

(1) Subject to this section, acompany is not entitled to appoint a
person or afirm as auditor of the company at its annual general
meeting, not being a meeting at which an auditor is removed from
office, unless notice in writing of his, her or its nomination as
auditor was given to the company by a member of the company:

(a) before the meeting was convened; or
(b) not lessthan 21 days before the meeting.

(2) If acompany purports to appoint a person or firm as auditor of the
company in contravention of subsection (1), the purported
appointment is of no effect and the company and any officer of the
company who isin default are each guilty of an offence.

(3) Where natice of nomination of a person or firm for appointment as
auditor of acompany is received by the company, whether for
appointment at a meeting or an adjourned meeting referred to in
subsection 327(10) or at an annual general meeting, the company
must:

() not lessthan 7 days before the meeting; or
(b) at the time notice of the meeting is given;

send a copy of the natice of nomination to each person or firm
nominated, to each auditor of the company and to each person
entitled to receive notice of general meetings of the company.

329 Removal and resignation of auditors

(1) Anauditor of acompany may be removed from office by
resolution of the company at a general meeting of which notice
under subsection (1A) has been given, but not otherwise.
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(1A)

)

©)

(4)

()

(6)

Notice of intention to move the resolution must be given to the
company at least 2 months before the meeting isto be held.
However, if the company calls a meeting after the notice of
intention is given under this subsection, the meeting may pass the
resolution even though the meeting is held less than 2 months after
the notice of intention is given.

Note: Short notice of the meeting cannot be given for this resolution (see
subsection 249H(4)).

Where notice under subsection (1A) of aresolution to remove an
auditor is received by a company, it must as soon as possible send
acopy of the notice to the auditor and lodge a copy of the notice.

Within 7 days after receiving a copy of the notice, the auditor may
make representations in writing, not exceeding a reasonabl e length,
to the company and request that, before the meeting at which the
resolution isto be considered, a copy of the representations be sent
by the company at its expense to every member of the company to
whom notice of the meeting is sent.

Unless ASIC on the application of the company otherwise orders,
the company must send a copy of the representations in accordance
with the auditor’ s request, and the auditor may, without prejudice
to his or her right to be heard orally or, where afirm is the auditor,
to have amember of the firm heard orally on its behalf, require that
the representations be read out at the meeting.

An auditor of acompany may, by notice in writing given to the
company, resign as auditor of the company if:

(a) the auditor has, by notice in writing given to ASIC, applied
for consent to the resignation and stated the reasons for the
application and, at or about the same time as the notice was
given to ASIC, notified the company in writing of the
application to ASIC; and

(b) the consent of ASIC has been given.

ASIC must, as soon as practicable after receiving a notice from an
auditor under subsection (5), notify the auditor and the company
whether it consents to the resignation of the auditor.
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(7) A statement made by an auditor in an application to ASIC under

(8

9)

(10)

(11)

subsection (5) or in answer to an inquiry by ASIC relating to the
reasons for the application:
(a) isnot admissiblein evidencein any civil or criminal
proceedings against the auditor; and
(b) may not be made the ground of a prosecution, action or suit
against the auditor;

and a certificate by ASIC that the statement was made in the
application or in the answer to the inquiry by ASIC is conclusive
evidence that the statement was so made.

Subject to subsection (9), the resignation of an auditor takes effect:
(a) ontheday (if any) specified for the purpose in the notice of
resignation; or
(b) on the day on which ASIC givesits consent to the
resignation; or
(c) ontheday (if any) fixed by ASIC for the purpose;
whichever last occurs.

Theresignation of an auditor of a proprietary company does not
reguire the consent of ASIC under subsection (5), and takes effect:
(@) ontheday (if any) specified for the purpose in the notice of

resignation; or
(b) onthe day on which the notice is received by the company;
whichever isthe |ater.

Where on the retirement or withdrawal from afirm of a member
the firm will no longer be capable, by reason of the provisions of
paragraph 324(2)(d) of acting as auditor of a company, the member
so retiring or withdrawing is (if not disqualified from acting as
auditor of the company) taken to be the auditor of the company
until he or she obtains the consent of ASIC to his or her retirement
or withdrawal.

Within 14 days after:
(a) theremoval from office of an auditor of a company; or
(b) thereceipt of anotice of resignation from an auditor of a
company;
the company must:
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(c) lodge with ASIC anotice of the removal or resignation in the
prescribed form; and

(d) wherethereisatrustee for the holders of debentures of the
company—give to the trustee a copy of the notice lodged
with ASIC.

330 Effect of winding up on office of auditor

An auditor of acompany ceases to hold officeif:

(a) aspecial resolution is passed for the voluntary winding up of
the company; or

(b) in acaseto which paragraph (a) does not apply—an order is
made by the Court for the winding up of the company.

331 Feesand expenses of auditors

The reasonable fees and expenses of an auditor of a company are
payable by the company.
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Division 2—Registered schemes

331AA Qualifications of auditors

(1) Subject to this section, a person must not:

(a) consent to be appointed as auditor of aregistered scheme; or
(b) act as auditor of aregistered scheme; or
(c) prepare areport required by this Act to be prepared by a

registered company auditor or by an auditor of aregistered
scheme;

if:
(d) the person is not aregistered company auditor; or
(e) the person, or abody corporate in which the person has a

substantial holding, owes more than $5,000 to the scheme's

responsible entity, to arelated body corporate or to an entity
that the responsible entity controls; or

() the person:
(i) isan officer of the responsible entity; or

(ii) isapartner, employer or employee of an officer of the
responsible entity; or

(iii) isapartner or employee of an employee of an officer of
the responsible entity.

(2) Subject to this section, afirm must not:

() consent to be appointed as auditor of aregistered scheme; or
(b) act as auditor of aregistered scheme; or

(c) prepare areport required by this Act to be prepared by a

registered company auditor or by an auditor of aregistered
scheme;

unless:

(d) at least 1 member of the firm is aregistered company auditor
who is ordinarily resident in Australia; and

(e) the business name under which the firmis carrying on
businessis registered under alaw of a State or Territory
relating to the registration of business names or areturnin
the prescribed form has been lodged showing, in relation to
each member of the firm, the member’ s full name and
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address as at the time when the firm so consents, acts or
prepares areport; and
(f) no member of the firm, and no body corporate in which a
member of the firm has a substantial holding, owes more
than $5,000 to the scheme’ s responsible entity or to an entity
that the responsible entity controls; and
(g) no member of thefirmis:
(i) an officer of the responsible entity; or
(ii) apartner, employer or employee of an officer of the
responsible entity; or
(iii) apartner or employee of an employee of an officer of
the responsible entity; and
(h) no officer of the responsible entity receives any remuneration
from the firm for acting as a consultant to it on accounting or
auditing matters.

(3) Subsections 324(3), (4), (5) and (6) apply in relation to aregistered
scheme asiif:
(a) those subsections were part of this section; and

(b) referencesin those subsectionsto a company were instead
references to the registered scheme' s responsible entity.

(4) Subsections 324(7), (8), (9), (10), (11) and (16) apply in relation to
aregistered scheme asif:
(a) those subsections were part of this subsection; and

(b) referencesin those subsections to a company were instead
references to the registered scheme.

331AB Appointment of auditors

(1) Within 1 month after the day on which aregistered schemeis
registered, the responsible entity must appoint a person or persons,
afirm or firms, or a person or persons and afirm or firms, as
auditor or auditors of the scheme.

(2) Within 1 month after avacancy occursin the office of auditor of a
registered scheme, if thereis no surviving or continuing auditor of
the scheme, the responsible entity must appoint a person or
persons, afirm or firms, or a person or persons and a firm or firms,
to fill the vacancy.
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(3) While avacancy in the office of auditor of aregistered scheme
continues, the surviving or continuing auditor or auditors (if any)
may act.

(4) Theresponsible entity of aregistered scheme must not appoint a
person or firm as auditor of the scheme unless that person or firm
has, before the appointment, consented to act as auditor by notice
in writing given to the responsible entity and has not withdrawn
that consent by notice in writing given to the responsible entity.

(5) A notice given by afirm under subsection (4) isto be signed by a
member of the firm who is aregistered company auditor:

(@ inthefirm's name; and
(b) inthe member’s name.

(6) If the responsible entity of a registered scheme appoints a person or
firm as auditor of the scheme in contravention of subsection (4),
the purported appointment does not have any effect and the
responsible entity, and any officer of the responsible entity who is
in default, are each guilty of an offence.

(7) If theresponsible entity of aregistered scheme does not appoint an
auditor when required by this Act to do so, ASIC may, on
application in writing by a member of the scheme, appoint as
auditor or auditors of the scheme a person or persons, afirm or
firms, or a person or persons and afirm or firms. An appointment
can only be made with the consent of the person or firm concerned.

(8) If adirector of the responsible entity of aregistered scheme failsto
take all reasonable steps to secure compliance with subsection (1)
or (2), the director is guilty of an offence.

331AC Removal and resignation of auditors

(1) Theresponsible entity of aregistered scheme may, with ASIC's
consent, remove the auditor of the scheme from office.

(2) Anauditor of aregistered scheme may, by notice in writing given
to the responsible entity, resign as auditor of the schemeiif:

(@) the auditor:
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©)

(4)

©®)

(6)

(7)

(i) has, by notice in writing given to ASIC, applied for
consent to the resignation and stated the reasons for the
application; and

(if) has, at or about the same time as giving the notice to
ASIC, given the responsible entity notice in writing of
the application to ASIC; and

(b) ASIC has given its consent.

As soon as practicable after ASIC receives a notice from an auditor
under subsection (2), ASIC must notify the auditor, and the
responsible entity of the registered scheme, whether it consents to
the resignation.

A statement made by an auditor in an application to ASIC under
subsection (2) or in answer to an inquiry by ASIC relating to the
reasons for the application:
(a) isnot admissiblein evidencein any civil or criminal
proceedings against the auditor; and
(b) must not be made the ground of a prosecution, action or suit
against the auditor.
A certificate by the ASIC that the statement was made in the
application or in answer to the inquiry by ASIC is conclusive
evidence that the statement was so made.

The resignation of an auditor takes effect:
(@) ontheday (if any) specified for the purpose in the notice of
resignation; or
(b) onthe day on which ASIC givesits consent to the
resignation; or
(c) ontheday (if any) fixed by ASIC for the purpose;
whichever occurs last.

If, on the retirement or withdrawal of a member of afirm, the firm
will no longer be capable of acting as auditor of aregistered
scheme because of paragraph 331AA(2)(d), the member is (if not
disqualified from acting as auditor of the scheme) taken to be the
auditor of the scheme until he or she obtains the consent of ASIC
to his or her retirement or withdrawal.

Within 14 days after:
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(&) theremoval from office of an auditor of aregistered scheme;
or

(b) thereceipt of anotice of resignation from an auditor of a
registered scheme;

the responsible entity must lodge with ASIC a natice of the
removal or resignation in the prescribed form.

331AD Effect of winding up an office of auditor

An auditor of aregistered scheme ceases to hold officeif:

(a) the scheme’s constitution provides that the scheme isto be
wound up at a specified time, in specified circumstances or
on the happening of a specified event, and that timeis
reached, those circumstances occur or that event occurs; or

(b) the members pass aresolution directing the responsible entity
to wind up the scheme; or

(c) the Court makes an order directing the responsible entity to
wind up the scheme; or

(d) the members pass a resolution to remove the responsible
entity but do not, at the same meeting, pass a resolution
choosing a company to be the new responsible entity that
consents to becoming the scheme’ s responsible entity.

331AE Feesand expenses of auditors

The reasonable fees and expenses of an auditor of aregistered
scheme are payable by the responsible entity.
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Part 2M .5—Accounting standards

334 Accounting standards

AASB’s power to make accounting standards

(1) The AASB may make accounting standards for the purposes of this
Act. The standards must be in writing and must not be inconsistent
with this Act or the regulations.

(2) A standard made under subsection (1) is a disallowable instrument
for the purposes of section 46A of the Acts Interpretation Act 1901.

Note: Section 5C provides that the Acts Interpretation Act 1901 (asin force
on 1 November 2000) appliesto this Act.
(4) An accounting standard applies to:
(a) periodsending after the commencement of the standard; or

(b) periods ending, or starting, on or after alater date specified in
the standard.

(5) A company, registered scheme or disclosing entity may elect to
apply the accounting standard to an earlier period unless the
standard says otherwise. The election must be made in writing by
the directors.

335 Equity accounting

This Chapter (and, in particular, the provisions on consolidation of
financial statements) does not prevent accounting standards from
incorporating equity accounting principles.

337 Interpretation of accounting standards

In interpreting an accounting standard, unless the contrary
intention appears:
(a) expressions used in the standard have the same meaning as
they have in this Chapter; and

(b) the provisions of Part 1.2 apply asif the standard’s
provisions were provisions of this Chapter.
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339 Evidence of text of accounting standard

(1) Thissection appliesto adocument that purports to be published by
or on behalf of the AASB or ASIC and to set out the text of:

() aspecified standard asin force at a specified time under
section 334; or

(b) aspecified provision of a standard of that kind.
It also appliesto a copy of adocument of that kind.

(2) In the absence of evidence to the contrary, a document to which
this section appliesis proof in proceedings under this Act that:
(a) the specified standard wasin force at that time under that
section; and
(b) thetext set out in the document is the text of the standard
referred to in paragraph (1)(a) or the provision referred toin
paragraph (1)(b).
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340 ASIC’spower to make specific exemption orders

(1) On an application made in accordance with subsection (3) in
relation to a company, registered scheme or disclosing entity,
ASIC may make an order in writing relieving any of the following
from all or specified requirements of Parts 2M.2, 2M.3 and 2M .4:

(@) thedirectors;
(b) the company, scheme or entity;
(c) the auditor.

Note: For the criteria for making orders under this section, see section 342.

(2) The order may:
(a) be expressed to be subject to conditions; and
(b) beindefinite or limited to a specified period.

(3) The application must be:
(a) authorised by aresolution of the directors; and
(b) inwriting and signed by adirector; and
(c) lodged with ASIC.

(4) ASIC must give the applicant written notice of the making,
revocation or suspension of the order.

341 ASIC’spower to makeclassorders

(1) ASIC may make an order in writing in respect of a specified class
of companies, registered schemes or disclosing entities, relieving
any of the following from all or specified requirements of
Parts 2M.2, 2M.3 and 2M .4:

(a) directors,

(b) the companies, registered schemes or disclosing entities
themselves,

(c) auditors of the companies, registered schemes or disclosing
entities.

Note: For the criteria for making orders under this section, see section 342.
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(2) The order may:
(a) be expressed to be subject to conditions; and
(b) beindefinite or limited to a specified period.

(3) Notice of the making, revocation or suspension of the order must
be published in the Gazette.

342 Criteriafor specific exemption ordersand classorders

(1) To make an order under section 340 or 341, ASIC must be satisfied
that complying with the relevant requirements of Parts 2M.2, 2M.3
and 2M .4 would:

(a) make the financial report or other reports misleading; or
(b) beinappropriate in the circumstances; or
(c) impose unreasonable burdens.

(2) Indeciding for the purposes of subsection (1) whether the audit
requirements for a proprietary company, or aclass of proprietary
companies, would impose an unreasonable burden on the company
or companies, ASIC isto have regard to:

() the expected costs of complying with the audit requirements;
and

(b) the expected benefits of having the company or companies
comply with the audit requirements; and

(c) any practical difficulties that the company or companies face
in complying effectively with the audit requirements (in
particular, any difficulties that arise because afinancial year
isthefirst one for which the audit requirements apply or
because the company or companies are likely to move
frequently between the small and large proprietary company
categories from one financial year to another); and

(d) any unusual aspects of the operation of the company or
companies during the financial year concerned; and

(e) any other matters that ASIC considers relevant.

(3) In assessing expected benefits under subsection (2), ASIC isto
take account of:

(a) the number of creditors and potentia creditors; and
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(b) the position of creditors and potential creditors (in particular,
their ability to independently obtain financial information
about the company or companies); and

(c) the nature and extent of the liabilities of the company or
companies.

343 Madification by regulations

The regulations may modify the operation of this Chapter in
relation to:
(a) aspecified company, registered scheme or disclosing entity;
or
(b) al companies, registered schemes or disclosing entities of a
specified kind.
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Part 2M.7—Sanctions for contr aventions of
Chapter

344 Contravention of Part 2M .2 or 2M .3

(1) A director of acompany, registered scheme or disclosing entity
contravenes this section if they fail to take al reasonable stepsto
comply with, or to secure compliance with, Part 2M.2 or 2M.3.

Note: This section isacivil penalty provision (see section 1317E).

(2) A person commits an offence if they contravene subsection (1) and
the contravention is dishonest.

() Subsection (1) does not apply to section 310, 312, 323A or 323B.

(4) This section does not affect the application of the provisions of
Part 2M.2 or 2M.3 to a director as an officer.
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Chapter 2N—Annual return and lodgments

with ASIC

Part 2N.1—Annual returns

345 Deadlinefor lodging annual return

)

)

©)

(4)

Companies

A company must lodge an annual return with the ASIC by
31 January each year, unless ASIC and the company agreeto a
different lodgment date (see subsection (3)).

Responsible entities of registered schemes

The responsible entity of aregistered scheme must lodge an annual
return for the scheme with ASIC. The return for a scheme must be
lodged within 3 months after the end of the scheme’s financial year
unless ASIC and the responsible entity agree to a different
lodgment date (see subsection (3)).

Agreed lodgment date

ASIC and the company or ASIC and the responsible entity may
agree to adifferent lodgment date. The agreement must bein
writing and may cover 1 or more years. The annual return must be
lodged by the agreed date.

Company’ s obligation to lodge some notices ceases on lodgment of
annual return

A company’ s obligation to lodge a notice under section 142, 146,
242 or 254X, ceases when:

(@) the company lodges an annual return; and

(b) the annua return sets out the information required by the
notice.
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This subsection does not affect the company’ s liability for late

lodgment fees incurred before the annual return islodged or

continuing offences committed before that time.

Note: ASIC has apractice of sending out partly completed annual returns.
The partly completed return may be used to comply with the

obligation to lodge an annual return by correcting any information in
it that is not accurate, completing the rest and lodging it with ASIC.

346 Solvency resolution—companies

(1) Within 1 month before the annual return is lodged, the directors of
a company must resolve whether, in their opinion, there are
reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay
its debts as and when they become due and payable.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply to a company that has lodged a
financial report of the company with ASIC under Chapter 2M
within 12 months before the annual return is lodged.

347 Lodging annual return with ASIC

An annual return may be lodged with ASIC:

(& inwriting in the form approved by ASIC and signed in
accordance with section 351; or

(b) eectronically in accordance with section 352.

348 Contents of annual return—companies

A company’s annual return must contain the information set out in
the following table, current as at the date when the annual returnis
signed or authenticated. It must also contain any other information
required by the regulations.

Contents of annual return—companies [operative table]
1 ACN

2  name

3  address of registered office

4 addressof principal place of

businessin thisjurisdiction
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Contents of annual retur n—companies

[operative tabl€e]

¢ name and address

5 eachdirector and company
secretary * date and place of birth.
The address must be the person’s usual
residential address. However, if the person
is entitled to have an alternative address
under subsection 205D(2), the annual
return may contain that address.
6  issued shares The classes into which the shares are
divided and for each class of share issued:
« the number of sharesin the class
« the total amount paid up for the class
« the total amount unpaid for the class.
7  optionsgranted The number of unissued sharesin each
class that are subject to options.
8  al members (if company has 20 * the names and addresses of the members
or fewer members) If the company has a share capital:
OR * the total number of sharesin each class
. held by each of them
the top 20 membersin each class whether or not the shares are fully paid
(if company has more than 20 o
members) * unless the_company isalisted
K . corporation—whether or not the shares
The requirement to list the top 20 are beneficially owned.
g;er:]n;fn; ﬁ%ﬁeréoégﬁlpg/to a If 2 or more membersin the top 20
membersin a class of shares each hold the
guarantee.
same number of shares, the company must
include the details set out above for each
of them.
9  company solvency Statement whether the directors have
Not necessary if company lodged ~ "esolved within the last month under
afinancial report with ASIC section 346 that, in their opinion, there are
within last 12 months. reasonable grounds to believe that the
company will be able to pay its debts as
o and when they become due and payable.
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Contents of annual return—companies [operative table]
10 ultimate holding company ¢ name
either:
* itsACN or ARBN if registered in this
jurisdiction
OR

* the place at which it was incorporated or
formed if not registered in this
jurisdiction.

Note: If the detailsreferred to in items 3, 4, 5 and 6 change after the annual
return is lodged, the company must notify ASIC of the change (see
section 142 (registered office), section 146 (principal place of
business), section 205B (director and company secretary) and
section 254X (issued shares)).

349 Contents of annual return—registered schemes

An annual return for aregistered scheme must contain the
information set out in the following table, current as at the date
when the annual return is signed or authenticated. It must also
contain any other information required by the regulations.

Contents of annual return—registered schemes [operative tabl€]

1  registration number of scheme

2 name of scheme
3 nameand ACN of the

responsible entity

4 issuedinterestsin amanaged The classes into which the interests are
investment scheme divided and for each class of interest issued:
Only if the scheme is a unit * the number of interestsin the class
trust. * the total amount paid up for the class

* the total amount unpaid for the class.

5  issuedinterestsinamanaged  * @description of the nature of the interests
investment scheme (for example, interest in alimited
partnership, right to participate in a
timesharing scheme)

* the number of those interests
* the total amount paid for those interests
_ * the total amount unpaid for those interests.

Only if 4 does not apply.
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Contents of annual return—registered schemes [operative tabl€]

6 optionsgranted * the number of unissued managed investment
interests that are subject to options

* for each of the classes of intereststhat is

subject to options—the average exercise
price.

7  dlinterest holders (if scheme  * thenames and addresses of the interest

has 20 or fewer interest
holders)

OR

the top 20 interest holdersin

each class (if scheme has more
than 20 interest holders)

holders

* the total number of interestsin each class
held by each of them

* whether or not the interests are fully paid.

If 2 or moreinterest holdersin the top 20
interest holdersin a class each hold the same
number of interests, the responsible entity
must include the details set out above for each
of them.
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Part 2N.2—L odgmentswith ASIC

350 Formsfor documentsto belodged with ASIC

A document that this Act requires to be lodged withthe ASIC in a
prescribed form must be:

(8 if aform for the document is prescribed in the regul ations—
in the prescribed form; or

(b) if aform for the document is not prescribed in regulations but
the ASIC has approved aform for the document—in the
approved form.

351 Signing documentslodged with ASIC

(1) A document lodged with ASIC in writing by, or on behalf of, a
body or aregistered scheme must be signed by a director or
secretary of the body or of the responsible entity of the registered
scheme. If the body is aforeign company, it may be signed by:

(a) itslocal agent; or
(b) if the local agent isa company—a director or secretary of the
company.

(2) Anindividual who lodges a document with ASIC in writing must
sign it.

(3) The person’s name must be printed next to the signature.

352 Documentslodged with ASIC electronically

(1) A document may be lodged with ASIC electronicaly only if:

(&) ASIC and the person seeking to lodge it (either on their own
behalf or as agent) have agreed, in writing, that it may be
lodged electronically; or

(b) ASIC has approved, in writing, the electronic lodgment of
documents of that kind.

The document is taken to be lodged with ASIC if it islodged in
accordance with the agreement or approval (including any
requirements of the agreement or approval as to authentication).
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(2) Any agreement or approva must provide for asigned copy of the
document to be held by the person lodging the document and for
the person to make the signed copy of the document available to
the ASIC if required.
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Chapter 5—External administration

Part 5.1—Arrangements and reconstructions

410 Interpretation

A referencein this Part, in relation to a Part 5.1 body, to the
directorsis areference to the directors of the body or any one or
more of them.

411 Administration of compromises etc.

(1) Where acompromise or arrangement is proposed between a
Part 5.1 body and its creditors or any class of them or between a
Part 5.1 body and its members or any class of them, the Court may,
on the application in a summary way of the body or of any creditor
or member of the body, or, in the case of abody being wound up,
of the liquidator, order a meeting or meetings of the creditors or
class of creditors or of the members of the body or class of
members to be convened in such manner, and to be held in such
place or places (in thisjurisdiction or elsewhere), as the Court
directs and, where the Court makes such an order, the Court may
approve the explanatory statement required by paragraph 412(1)(a)
to accompany notices of the meeting or meetings.

(1A) Where:
(d) acompromise or arrangement is proposed:

(i) between 30 or more Part 5.1 bodies that are
wholly-owned subsidiaries of a holding company and
the creditors or a class of the creditors of each of those
subsidiaries; and

(ii) between the holding company and the creditors or a
class of the creditors of the holding company; and
(b) the proposed compromise or arrangement in relation to each
subsidiary includes aterm that orders will be sought under
section 413 transferring the whole of the undertaking and of
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(1B)

(1C)

the property and liabilities of the subsidiary to the holding
company; and
(c) the Court is satisfied, on the application in a summary way:
(i) of the holding company or of acreditor of the holding
company; or
(it) if the holding company is being wound up—of the
liquidator;
that the number of meetings that would be required between
creditorsin order to consider the proposed compromises or
arrangements would be so great as to result in a significant
impediment to the timely and effective consideration by
those creditors of the terms of the compromises or
arrangements,

the Court may order a meeting or meetings, on a consolidated
basis, of the creditors of the holding company and of each of the
subsidiaries or of such class or classes of those creditors as the
Court determines and, where the Court makes such an order, the
Court may approve the explanatory statement required by
paragraph 412(1)(a) to accompany notices of the meeting or
meetings.

Where:

(@) there are fewer than 30 wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
holding company but the matters referred to in
paragraphs (1A)(b) and (c) are satisfied; and
(b) the Court considers that circumstances exist that would
justify its doing so;
the Court may make an order under subsection (1A) in relation to
the proposed compromise or arrangement.

Where an order is made under subsection (1A) inrelationto a
proposed compromise or arrangement, the succeeding provisions
of this Part apply to the compromise or arrangement asiif:
(@) referencesin this Part to a company included referencesto all
of the Part 5.1 bodies to which the order relates; and
(b) referencesin this Part to creditors of a company included
references to the creditors of all the Part 5.1 bodies to which
the order relates; and
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(c) referencesin this Part to aclass of the creditors of a company
were references to the relevant class of creditors of all of the
Part 5.1 bodies to which the order relates.

(2) The Court must not make an order pursuant to an application under
subsection (1) or (1A) unless:
(a) 14 days notice of the hearing of the application, or such
lesser period of notice as the Court or ASIC permits, has
been givento ASIC; and

(b) the Court is satisfied that ASIC has had a reasonable
opportunity:

(i) to examine the terms of the proposed compromise or
arrangement to which the application relates and a draft
explanatory statement relating to the proposed
compromise or arrangement; and

(ii) to make submissions to the Court in relation to the
proposed compromise or arrangement and the draft
explanatory statement.

(3) Insubsection (2), draft explanatory statement, in relation to a
proposed compromise or arrangement between a body and its
creditors or any class of them or between a body and its members
or any class of them, means a statement:

(a) explaining the effect of the proposed compromise or
arrangement and, in particular, stating any material interests
of the directors of the body, whether as directors, as members
or creditors of the body or otherwise, and the effect on those
interests of the proposed compromise or arrangement in so
far asthat effect is different from the effect on the like
interests of other persons; and

(b) setting out such information asis prescribed and any other
information that is material to the making of a decision by a
creditor or member of the body whether or not to agree to the
proposed compromise or arrangement, being information that
is within the knowledge of the directors of the body and has
not previously been disclosed to the creditors or members of
the body.

(3A) In considering whether to make an order under subsection (1) or
(1A) for ameeting to be held outside this jurisdiction, the Court
must have regard to where the creditors or members, or the
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creditors or members included in the class concerned, as the case
requires, reside.

(4) A compromise or arrangement is binding on the creditors, or on a
class of creditors, or on the members, or on a class of members, as
the case may be, of the body and on the body or, if the body isin
the course of being wound up, on the liquidator and contributories
of the body, if, and only if:

(a) at ameeting convened in accordance with an order of the
Court under subsection (1) or (1A):

(i)

(i)

in the case of a compromise or arrangement between a
body and its creditors or a class of creditors—the
compromise or arrangement is agreed to by amajority
in number of the creditors, or of the creditorsincluded
in that class of creditors, present and voting, either in
person or by proxy, being a majority whose debts or
claims against the company amount in the aggregate to
at least 75% of the total amount of the debts and claims
of the creditors present and voting in person or by
proxy, or of the creditorsincluded in that class present
and voting in person or by proxy, as the case may be;
and
in the case of a compromise or arrangement between a
body and its members or a class of members—a
resolution in favour of the compromise or arrangement
is.
(A) passed by amajority in number of the members,
or membersin that class, present and voting
(either in person or by proxy); and
(B) if the body has a share capital—passed by 75%
of the votes cast on the resolution; and

(b) itisapproved by order of the Court.

(5) Wherethe Court orders 2 or more meetings of creditors or of a
class of creditors, or 2 or more meetings of members or of aclass
of members, to be held in relation to the proposed compromise or
arrangement:

(a) inthe case of meetings of creditors—the meetingsis, for the
purposes of subsection (4), taken together to constitute a
single meeting and the votes in favour of the proposed
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compromise or arrangement cast at each of the meetings are
to be aggregated, and the votes against the proposed
compromise or arrangement cast at each of the meetings are
to be aggregated, accordingly; or

(b) in the case of meetings of members—the meetingsis, for the
purposes of subsection (4), taken together to constitute a
single meeting and the votes in favour of the proposed
compromise or arrangement cast at each of the meetingsisto
be aggregated, and the votes against the proposed
compromise or arrangement cast at each of the meetingsisto
be aggregated, accordingly.

(6) The Court may grant its approval to a compromise or arrangement
subject to such alterations or conditions as it thinks just.

(7) Except with the leave of the Court, a person must not be appointed
to administer, and must not administer, a compromise or
arrangement approved under this Act between abody and its
creditors or any class of them or between a body and its members
or any class of them, whether by the terms of that compromise or
arrangement or pursuant to a power given by the terms of a
compromise or arrangement, if the person:

(a) isamortgagee of any property of the body; or

(b) isan auditor or an officer of the body; or

(c) isan officer of abody corporate that is a mortgagee of
property of the body; or

(d) isnot aregistered liquidator; or

(e) isan officer of abody corporate related to the body; or

(f) unless ASIC directsin writing that this paragraph does not
apply in relation to the person in relation to the body—has at

any time within the last 12 months been an officer or
promoter of the body or of arelated body corporate.

(8) Paragraph (7)(d) does not apply in relation to a body corporate
authorised by or under alaw of a State or Territory in this
jurisdiction to administer the compromise or arrangement
concerned.

(8A) Subsection (7) does not disqualify a person from administering a
compromise or arrangement under an appointment validly made
before 1 January 1991.
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9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

Where a person is or persons are appointed by, or under a power
given by, the terms of a compromise or arrangement, to administer
the compromise or arrangement:
(a) section 425, subsections 427(2) and (4) and sections 428, 432
and 434 apply in relation to that person or those persons asiif:

(i) the appointment of the person or persons to administer
the compromise or arrangement were an appointment of
the person or persons as areceiver and manager, or as
receivers and managers, of property of the body; and

(ii) areferencein any of those sections or subsectionsto a
receiver, or to areceiver of property, of a corporation
were areference to that person or to those persons; and

(b) section 536 appliesin relation to that person or those persons
asif:

(i) the appointment of the person or persons to administer
the compromise or arrangement were an appointment of
the person or persons as aliquidator of the body; and

(if) areferencein that section to aliquidator were a
reference to that person or to those persons.

An order of the Court made for the purposes of paragraph (4)(b)
does not have any effect until an office copy of the order islodged
with ASIC, and upon being so lodged, the order takes effect, or is
taken to have taken effect, on and from the date of lodgment or
such earlier date as the Court determines and specifiesin the order.

Subject to subsection (12), a copy of every order of the Court made
for the purposes of paragraph (4)(b) must be annexed to every copy
of the consgtitution of the body issued after the order has been

made.

The Court may, by order, exempt a body from compliance with
subsection (11) or determine the period during which the body
must comply with that subsection.

Where a compromise or arrangement referred to in subsection (1)
or (1A) (whether or not for the purposes of or in connection with a
scheme for the reconstruction of abody or bodies or the

amal gamation of any 2 or more bodies) has been proposed, the
directors of the body must:
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(14)

(15

(16)

17

(a) if ameeting of the members of the body by resolution so
directs—instruct such accountants or solicitors or both as are
named in the resolution to report on the proposals and send
their report or reports to the directors as soon as practicable;
and

(b) if areport or reportsis or are obtained pursuant to
paragraph (a)—make the report or reports available at the
registered office of the body for inspection by the
shareholders and creditors of the body at least 7 days before
the day of the meeting ordered by the Court to be convened
as provided in subsection (1) or (1A), asthe case may be.

If default is made in complying with subsection (11), the body
contravenes this subsection.

If default is made in complying with subsection (13), each director
of the body contravenes this subsection.

Where no order has been made or resolution passed for the
winding up of aPart 5.1 body and a compromise or arrangement
has been proposed between the body and its creditors or any class
of them, the Court may, in addition to exercising any of its other
powers, on the application in a summary way of the body or of any
member or creditor of the body, restrain further proceedingsin any
action or other civil proceeding against the body except by leave of
the Court and subject to such terms as the Court imposes.

The Court must not approve a compromise or arrangement under
this section unless:

(a) itissatisfied that the compromise or arrangement has not
been proposed for the purpose of enabling any person to
avoid the operation of any of the provisions of Chapter 6; or

(b) thereis produced to the Court a statement in writing by ASIC
stating that ASIC has no objection to the compromise or
arrangement;

but the Court need not approve a compromise or arrangement
merely because a statement by ASIC stating that ASIC has no
objection to the compromise or arrangement has been produced to
the Court as mentioned in paragraph (b).
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412 Information asto compromisewith creditors

(1) Where ameeting is convened under section 411, the body must:

(a) with every notice convening the meeting that is sent to a
creditor or member, send a statement (in this section called
the explanatory statement):

(i) explaining the effect of the compromise or arrangement
and, in particular, stating any material interests of the
directors, whether as directors, as members or creditors
of the body or otherwise, and the effect on those
interests of the compromise or arrangement in so far as
that effect is different from the effect on the like
interests of other persons; and

(ii) setting out such information asis prescribed and any
other information that is material to the making of a
decision by a creditor or member whether or not to
agree to the compromise or arrangement, being
information that is within the knowledge of the directors
and has not previously been disclosed to the creditors or
members; and

(b) in every notice convening the meeting that is given by
advertisement, include either a copy of the explanatory
statement or a natification of the place at which and the
manner in which creditors or members entitled to attend the
meeting may obtain copies of the explanatory statement.

(2) Inthe case of acreditor whose debt does not exceed $200,
paragraph (1)(a) does not apply unless the Court otherwise orders
but the notice convening the meeting that is sent to such a creditor
must specify a place at which a copy of the explanatory statement
can be obtained on request and, where the creditor makes such a
reguest, the body must as soon as practicable comply with the
request.

(3) Where the compromise or arrangement affects the rights of
debenture holders, the explanatory statement must specify any
material interests of the trustees for the debenture holders, whether
as such trustees, as members or creditors of the body or otherwise,
and the effect on those interests of the compromise or arrangement
in so far asthat effect is different from the effect on the like
interests of other persons.
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(4)

()

(6)

(7)

(8

(9)

(10)

Where a notice given by advertisement includes a notification that
copies of the explanatory statement can be obtained in a particular
manner, every creditor or member entitled to attend the meeting
must, on making application in that matter, be furnished by the
body free of charge with a copy of the explanatory statement.

Each person who is adirector or trustee for debenture holders must
give notice to the body of such matters relating to the person as are
required to beincluded in the explanatory statement.

In the case of a compromise or arrangement that is not, or does not
include, a compromise or arrangement between a Part 5.1 body and
its creditors or any class of them, the body must not send out an
explanatory statement pursuant to subsection (1) unless a copy of
that statement has been registered by ASIC.

Where an explanatory statement sent out under subsection (1) is
not required by subsection (6) to be registered by ASIC, the Court
must not make an order approving the compromise or arrangement
unlessit is satisfied that ASIC has had a reasonable opportunity to
examine the explanatory statement and to make submissions to the
Court in relation to that statement.

Where a copy of an explanatory statement is lodged with ASIC for
registration under subsection (6), ASIC must not register the copy
of the statement unless the statement appears to comply with this
Act and ASIC is of the opinion that the statement does not contain
any matter that isfalsein amateria particular or materially
misleading in the form or context in which it appears.

Where a body contravenes this section, a person involved in the
contravention contravenes this subsection.

It is a defence to a prosecution for a contravention of this section if

it is proved that the contravention was due to the failure of a person
(other than the defendant), being a director of the body or atrustee

for debenture holders of the body, to supply for the purposes of the
explanatory statement particulars of the person’s interests.
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413 Provisionsfor facilitating reconstruction and amalgamation of

Part 5.1 bodies

(1) Where an application is made to the Court under this Part for the

approval of acompromise or arrangement and it is shown to the
Court that the compromise or arrangement has been proposed for
the purposes of, or in connection with, a scheme for the
reconstruction of a Part 5.1 body or Part 5.1 bodies or the

amal gamation of 2 or more Part 5.1 bodies and that, under the
scheme, the whole or any part of the undertaking or of the property
of abody concerned in the scheme (in this section called the
transferor body) isto be transferred to a company (in this section
called the transferee company), the Court may, either by the order
approving the compromise or arrangement or by alater order,
provide for al or any of the following matters:

(a) thetransfer to the transferee company of the whole or a part
of the undertaking and of the property or liabilities of the
transferor body;

(b) theallotting or appropriation by the transferee company of
shares, debentures, policies or other interests in that company
that, under the compromise or arrangement, are to be alotted
or appropriated by that company to or for any person;

(c) the continuation by or against the transferee company of any
legal proceedings pending by or against the transferor body;

(d) if the transferor body is a company—the deregistration by
ASIC, without winding up, of the transferor body;

(e) the provision to be made for any persons who, within such
time and in such manner as the Court directs, dissent from
the compromise or arrangement;

(f) thetransfer or allotment of any interest in property to any
person concerned in the compromise or arrangement;

(g) suchincidental, consequential and supplemental matters as
are necessary to ensure that the reconstruction or
amalgamation is fully and effectively carried out.

(2) Where an order made under this section provides for the transfer of

property or liabilities, then, by virtue of the order, that property is
transferred to and vests in, and those liabilities are transferred to
and become the liabilities of, the transferee company, free, in the
case of any particular property if the order so directs, from any
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©)

(4)

chargethat is, by virtue of the compromise or arrangement, to
cease to have effect.

Where an order is made under this section, each body to which the
order relates must, within 14 days after the making of the order,
lodge with ASIC an office copy of the order.

In this section:

liabilities includes duties of any description, including duties that
are of apersonal character or are incapable under the general law
of being assigned or performed vicarioudly.

property includes rights and powers of any description, including
rights and powers that are of a personal character and are incapable
under the general law of being assigned or performed vicariously.

414 Acquisition of shares of shareholder s dissenting from scheme or

(D

)

contract approved by majority

In this section;

dissenting shareholder, in relation to a scheme or contract, means
ashareholder who has not assented to the scheme or contract or
who has failed to transfer his, her or its shares in accordance with
the scheme or contract.

excluded shares, in relation to a scheme or contract involving a
transfer to a person of sharesin aclass of shares in a company,
means shares in that class that, when the offer relating to the
scheme or contract is made, are held by:

(a) inany case—the person or a nominee of the person; or
(b) if the personisabody corporate—a subsidiary of the body.

Where a scheme or contract (not being a scheme or contract arising
out of the making of offers under a takeover bid) involving a
transfer of sharesin aclass of sharesin acompany (in this section
called the transferor company) to a person (in this section called
the transferee) has, within 4 months after the making of the offer
relating to the scheme or contract by the transferee, been approved
by members holding sharesin that class carrying at |east 90% of
the votes attached to sharesin that class (other than excluded
shares), the transferee may, within 2 months after the offer has
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been so approved, give notice as prescribed to a dissenting
shareholder that the transferee wishes to acquire the shares held by
that shareholder.

(3) Where such anaticeis given, then, unless the Court orders
otherwise on an application by a dissenting shareholder made
within one month after the day on which the notice was given or
within 14 days after a statement is supplied under subsection (7) to
adissenting shareholder, whichever isthe later, the transfereeis
entitled and bound, subject to this section, to acquire those shares
on the terms on which, under the scheme or contract, the shares of
the approving shareholders are to be transferred to the transferee.

(4) Where alternative terms were offered to the approving
shareholders, the dissenting shareholder is entitled to elect not later
than the end of one month after the date on which the noticeis
given under subsection (2) or 14 days after a statement is supplied
under subsection (7), whichever isthe later, which of those terms
he, she or it prefers and, if he, she or it fails to make the election
within the time allowed by this subsection, the transferee may,
unless the Court otherwise orders, determine which of those terms
isto apply to the acquisition of the shares of the dissenting
shareholder.

(5) Despite subsections (3) and (4), if the number of votes attached to
the excluded shares is more than 10% of the votes attached to the
excluded shares and the shares (other than excluded shares) to be
transferred under the scheme or contract, those subsections do not

apply unless:
(a) thetransferee offersthe same termsto all holders of the
shares (other than excluded shares) to be transferred under
the scheme or contract; and

(b) the holders who approve the scheme or contract hold shares
to which are attached at least 90% of the votes attached to the
shares (other than excluded shares) to be transferred under
the scheme or contract and are also at least 75% in number of
the holders of those shares.

(6) For the purposes of paragraph (5)(b), 2 or more persons registered
as holding shares jointly are to be counted as one person.
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(7) When anoticeis given under subsection (2), the dissenting
shareholder may, by written notice given to the transferee within
one month after the day on which the notice was given under
subsection (2), ask for a statement in writing of the names and
addresses of all other dissenting shareholders as shown in the
register of members.

(8) Where anoticeis given under subsection (7), the transferee must
comply with it.

(9) Where, under a scheme or contract referred to in subsection (2), the
transferee becomes beneficialy entitled to sharesin the transferor
company which, together with any other sharesin the transferor
company to which the transferee or, where the transferee is a body
corporate, a body corporate related to the transferee is beneficially
entitled, have attached to them at least 90% of the votes attached to
the shares included in the class of shares concerned, then:

(a) the transferee must, within one month after the date on which
he, she or it becomes beneficially entitled to those shares
(unlessin relation to the scheme or contract he, she or it has
aready complied with this requirement), give notice of the
fact as prescribed to the holders of the remaining shares
included in that class who, when the notice was given, had
not assented to the scheme or contract or been given notice
by the transferee under subsection (2); and

(b) such aholder may, within 3 months after the giving of the
notice to him, her or it by notice to the transferee, require the
transferee to acquire his, her or its share and, where
aternative terms were offered to the approving sharehol ders,
elect which of those terms he, she or it will accept.

(10) Where a shareholder gives notice under paragraph (9)(b) with
respect to his, her or its shares, the transferee is entitled and bound
to acquire those shares:

(a) on the terms on which under the scheme or contract the
shares of the approving sharehol ders were transferred to him,
her or it and, where alternative terms were offered to those
shareholders, on the terms for which the shareholder has
elected, or where he, she or it has not so el ected, for
whichever of the terms the transferee determines; or
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(b) on such other terms as are agreed or as the Court, on the
application of the transferee or of the shareholder, thinks fit
to order.

(11) Subsections (12) and (13) apply where a notice has been given
under subsection (1) unless the Court, on an application made by
the dissenting shareholder, orders to the contrary.

(12) The transferee must, within 14 days after:

(a) the end of one month after the day on which the notice was
given; or

(b) the end of 14 days after a statement under subsection (7) is
supplied; or

(c) if an application has been made to the Court by a dissenting
shareholder—the application is disposed of;

whichever last happens:

(d) send acopy of the notice to the transferor company together
with an instrument of transfer that relates to the shares that
the transferee is entitled to acquire under this section and is
executed, on the shareholder’ s behalf, by a person appointed
by the transferee and, on the transferee’ s own behalf, by the
transferee; and

(e) pay, dlot or transfer to the transferor company the
consideration for the shares.

(13) When the transferee has complied with subsection (12), the
transferor company must register the transferee as the holder of the
shares.

(14) All sumsreceived by the transferor company under this section
must be paid into a separate bank account and those sums, and any
other consideration so received, must be held by that company in
trust for the several persons entitled to the sharesin respect of
which they were respectively received.

(15) Where asum or other property received by a company under this
section has been held in trust by the company for a person for at
least 2 years (whether or not that period began before the
commencement of this Act), the company must, before the end of
10 years after the day on which the sum was paid, or the
consideration was allotted or transferred, to the company, pay the

102 Corporations Act 2001



External administration Chapter 5
Arrangements and reconstructions Part 5.1

Section 415

sum or transfer the consideration, and any accretionsto it and any
property that may become substituted for it or for part of it, to
ASIC to be dealt with under Part 9.7.

415 Notification of appointment of scheme manager and power of
Court torequirereport

(1) Within 14 days after being appointed to administer a compromise
or arrangement approved under this Part, a person must lodge a
notice in writing of the appointment.

(2) Where an application is made to the Court under this Part in
relation to a proposed compromise or arrangement, the Court may:
(a) before making any order on the application, require ASIC or
another person specified by the Court to give to the Court a
report as to the terms of the compromise or arrangement or of
the scheme for the purposes of or in connection with which
the compromise or arrangement has been proposed, the
conduct of the officers of the body or bodies concerned and
any other matters that, in the opinion of ASIC or that person,
ought to be brought to the attention of the Court;
(b) in deciding the application, have regard to anything
contained in the report; and
(c) make such order or orders as to the payment of the costs of
preparing and giving the report as the Court thinks fit.
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Part 5.2—Receivers, and other controllers, of

property of corporations

416 Definitions

In this Part, unless the contrary intention appears:

officer, in relation to a registered foreign company, includes alocal
agent of the foreign company.

property, in relation to a corporation, means property:
(@) inthe case of acompany—in Australia or outside Australia;
or
(b) inthe case of aregistered foreign company—in this
jurisdiction or an external Territory; or
(c) inthe case of aregistrable Australian body—in this
jurisdiction but outside the body’ s place of origin.

receiver, in relation to property of acorporation, includes a
receiver and manager.

417 Application of Part

Except so far as the contrary intention appears in this Part or

Part 11.2, this Part appliesin relation to areceiver of property of a
corporation who is appointed after 1 January 1991, even if the
appointment arose out of atransaction entered into, or an act or
thing done, before 1 January 1991.

418 Personsnot to act asreceivers

(1) A personisnot qualified to be appointed, and must not act, as

receiver of property of a corporation if the person:
(a) isamortgagee of property of the corporation; or
(b) isan auditor or an officer of the corporation; or

(c) isan officer of abody corporate that is a mortgagee of
property of the corporation; or

(d) isnot aregistered liquidator; or
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(e) isan officer of abody corporate related to the corporation; or

(f) unless ASIC directsin writing that this paragraph does not
apply in relation to the person in relation to the corporation—
has at any time within the last 12 months been an officer or
promoter of the corporation or of arelated body corporate.

(2) Insubsection (1):

officer, in relation to abody corporate, does not include a receiver,
appointed under an instrument whether before or after the
commencement of this Act.

(3) Paragraph (1)(d) does not apply in relation to a body corporate
authorised by or under alaw of the Commonwealth, of a State or of
aTerritory to act as receiver of property of the corporation
concerned.

418A Court may declare whether controller isvalidly acting

(1) Wherethereisdoubt, on a specific ground, about:
(@) whether a purported appointment of a person, after 23 June
1993, as receiver of property of acorporation isvalid; or
(b) whether a person who has entered into possession, or
assumed control, of property of a corporation after 23 June
1993 did so validly under the terms of a charge on that
property;
the person, the corporation or any of the corporation’s creditors
may apply to the Court for an order under subsection (2).

(2) On an application, the Court may make an order declaring whether
or not:
(a) the purported appointment was valid; or

(b) the person entered into possession, or assumed control,
validly under the terms of the charge;

as the case may be, on the ground specified in the application or on
some other ground.

419 Liability of controller

(1) A receiver, or any other authorised person, who, whether as agent
for the corporation concerned or not, enters into possession or

Corporations Act 2001 105



Chapter 5 External administration
Part 5.2 Receivers, and other controllers, of property of corporations

Section 419A

assumes control of any property of a corporation for the purpose of
enforcing any charge is, notwithstanding any agreement to the
contrary, but without prejudice to the person’ srights against the
corporation or any other person, liable for debts incurred by the
person in the course of the receivership, possession or control for
services rendered, goods purchased or property hired, leased, used
or occupied.

(2) Subsection (1) does not constitute the person entitled to the charge
amortgagee in possession.

(3) Where:
() aperson (in this subsection called the controller) entersinto

possession or assumes control of property of a corporation;
and

(b) the controller purports to have been properly appointed as a
receiver in respect of that property under a power contained
in an instrument, but has not been properly so appointed; and

(c) civil proceedingsin an Australian court arise out of an act
alleged to have been done by the controller;

the court may, if it is satisfied that the controller believed on
reasonabl e grounds that the controller had been properly so
appointed, order that:

(d) the controller be relieved in whole or in part of aliability that
the controller has incurred but would not have incurred if the
controller had been properly so appointed; and

(e) aperson who purported to appoint the controller as receiver
be liable in respect of an act, matter or thing in so far asthe
controller has been relieved under paragraph (d) of liability
in respect of that act, matter or thing.

419A Liability of controller under pre-existing agreement about
property used by corporation

(1) Thissection appliesif:

(a) under an agreement made before the control day in relation to
acontroller of property of a corporation, the corporation
continues after that day to use or occupy, or to bein
possession of, property (the third party property) of which
someone else is the owner or lessor; and
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(b) the controller is controller of the third party property.

(2) Subject to subsections (4) and (7), the controller isliable for so
much of the rent or other amounts payable by the corporation
under the agreement as is attributable to a period:

(a) that begins more than 7 days after the control day; and
(b) throughout which:

(i) the corporation continues to use or accupy, or to bein
possession of, the third party property; and
(ii) the controller is controller of the third party property.

(3) Within 7 days after the control day, the controller may give to the
owner or lessor a notice that specifies the third party property and
states that the controller does not propose to exercise rightsin
relation to that property as controller of the property, whether on
behalf of the corporation or anyone el se.

(4) Despite subsection (2), the controller is not liable for so much of
the rent or other amounts payable by the corporation under the
agreement as is attributable to a period during which a notice under
subsection (3) isin force, but such a notice does not affect a
liability of the corporation.

(5) A notice under subsection (3) ceases to have effect if:
(a) the controller revokesit by writing given to the owner or
lessor; or
(b) the controller exercises, or purportsto exercise, aright in
relation to the third party property as controller of the
property, whether on behalf of the corporation or anyone
else

(6) For the purposes of subsection (5), the controller does not exercise,
or purport to exercise, aright as mentioned in paragraph (5)(b)
merely because the controller continuesto be in possession, or to
have control, of the third party property, unless the controller:

(a) also usesthe property; or
(b) assertsaright, as against the owner or lessor, so to continue.
(7) Subsection (2) does not apply in so far as acourt, by order, excuses

the controller from liability, but an order does not affect aliability
of the corporation.
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(8)

The controller is not taken because of subsection (2):
(a) to have adopted the agreement; or

(b) to beliable under the agreement otherwise than as mentioned
in subsection (2).

420 Powers of receiver

(D

)

Subject to this section, areceiver of property of a corporation has
power to do, in Australia and elsewhere, all things necessary or
convenient to be done for or in connection with, or asincidental to,
the attainment of the objectives for which the receiver was
appointed.

Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), but subject to any
provision of the court order by which, or the instrument under
which, the receiver was appointed, being a provision that limits the
receiver’'s powersin any way, areceiver of property of a
corporation has, in addition to any powers conferred by that order
or instrument, as the case may be, or by any other law, power, for
the purpose of attaining the objectives for which the receiver was
appointed:

(a) to enter into possession and take control of property of the
corporation in accordance with the terms of that order or
instrument; and

(b) to lease, let on hire or dispose of property of the corporation;
and

(c) to grant options over property of the corporation on such
conditions as the receiver thinksfit; and

(d) to borrow money on the security of property of the
corporation; and

(e) toinsure property of the corporation; and

(f) torepair, renew or enlarge property of the corporation; and

(g) to convert property of the corporation into money; and

(h) to carry on any business of the corporation; and

()) totake onlease or on hire, or to acquire, any property
necessary or convenient in connection with the carrying on of
a business of the corporation; and
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(k) to execute any document, bring or defend any proceedings or
do any other act or thing in the name of and on behalf of the
corporation; and

(m) to draw, accept, make and indorse a bill of exchange or
promissory note; and

(n) to use ased of the corporation; and

(o) to engage or discharge employees on behalf of the
corporation; and

(p) to appoint a solicitor, accountant or other professionally
qualified person to assist the receiver; and

(g) to appoint an agent to do any business that the receiver is
unable to do, or that it is unreasonable to expect the receiver
to do, in person; and

(r) where adebt or liahility is owed to the corporation—to prove
the debt or liability in a bankruptcy, insolvency or winding
up and, in connection therewith, to receive dividends and to
assent to a proposal for a composition or a scheme of
arrangement; and

(s) if thereceiver was appointed under an instrument that created
acharge on uncalled share capital of the corporation:

(i) to make acall in the name of the corporation for the
payment of money unpaid on the corporation’s shares;
or

(if) on giving a proper indemnity to aliquidator of the
corporation—to make acall in the liquidator’ s name for
the payment of money unpaid on the corporation’s
shares; and

(t) to enforce payment of any call that is due and unpaid,
whether the calls were made by the receiver or otherwise;
and

(u) to make or defend an application for the winding up of the
corporation; and

(w) to refer to arbitration any question affecting the corporation.

(3) The conferring by this section on areceiver of powersin relation to
property of a corporation does not affect any rightsin relation to
that property of any other person other than the corporation.

(4) Inthissection, areference, in relation to areceiver, to property of a
corporation is, unless the contrary intention appears, areferenceto
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the property of the corporation in relation to which the receiver
was appointed.

420A Controller’sduty of carein exercising power of sale

(1) Inexercising apower of salein respect of property of a
corporation, a controller must take al reasonable care to sell the
property for:

(@ if, whenitissold, it has a market value—not less than that
market value; or

(b) otherwise—the best price that is reasonably obtainable,
having regard to the circumstances existing when the
property is sold.

(2) Nothing in subsection (1) limits the generality of anythingin
section 180, 181, 182, 183 or 184.

420B Court may authorise managing controller to dispose of
property despite prior charge

(1) Onthe application of a managing controller of property of a
corporation, the Court may by order authorise the controller to sell,
or to dispose of in some other specified way, specified property of
the corporation, even though it is subject to a charge (in this
section called the prior charge) that has priority over acharge (in
this section called the controller’s charge) on that property that the
controller isenforcing.

(2) However, the Court may only make an order if satisfied that:

(a) apart from the existence of the prior charge, the controller
would have power to sell, or to so dispose of, the property;
and

(b) the controller has taken all reasonable steps to obtain the
consent of the holder of the prior charge to the sale or
disposal, but has not obtained that consent; and

(c) saeor disposal of the property under the order isin the best
interests of the corporation’s creditors and of the corporation;
and
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(d) saleor disposal of the property under the order will not
unreasonably prejudice the rights or interests of the holder of
the prior charge.

(3) The Court isto have regard to the need to protect adequately the
rights and interests of the holder of the prior charge.

(4) If the property would be sold or disposed of together with other
property that is subject to the controller’s charge, the Court may
have regard to:

(a) the amount (if any) by which it is reasonable to expect that
the net proceeds of selling or disposing of that other property
otherwise than together with the first-mentioned property
would be less than so much of the net proceeds of selling or
disposing of all the property together as would be attributable
to that other property; and

(b) the amount (if any) by which it is reasonable to expect that
the net proceeds of selling or disposing of the first-mentioned
property otherwise than together with the other property
would be greater than so much of the net proceeds of selling
or disposing of all the property together as would be
attributable to the first-mentioned property.

(5) Nothing in subsection (3) or (4) limits the matters to which the
Court may have regard for the purposes of subsection (2).

(6) An order may be made subject to conditions, for example (but
without limitation):
(a) acondition that:
(i) the net proceeds of the sale or disposal; and
(ii) the net proceeds of the sale or disposal of such other
property (if any) asis specified in the condition and is
subject to the controller’s charge;
or a specified part of those net proceeds, be applied in
payment of specified amounts secured by the prior charge; or

(b) acondition that the controller apply a specified amount in
payment of specified amounts secured by the prior charge.
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420C Receiver’s power to carry on cor poration’s business during
winding up

(1) A receiver of property of a corporation that is being wound up
may:

(a) with the written approval of the corporation’ s liquidator or
with the approval of the Court, carry on the corporation’s
business either generally or as otherwise specified in the
approval; and

(b) dowhatever is necessarily incidental to carrying on that
business under paragraph (a).

(2) Subsection (1) does not:
(a) affect apower that the receiver has otherwise than under that
subsection; or
(b) empower the receiver to do an act that he or she would not
have power to do if the corporation were not being wound

up.
(3) A receiver of property of acorporation who carries on the
corporation’ s business under subsection (1) does so:
() asagent for the corporation; and
(b) inhisor her capacity as receiver of property of the
corporation.

(4) The consequences of subsection (3) include, but are not limited to,
the following:

(a) for the purposes of subsection 419(1), adebt that the receiver
incursin carrying on the business as mentioned in
subsection (3) of this section isincurred in the course of the
receivership;

(b) adebt or liability that the receiver incursin so carrying on the
businessis not a cost, charge or expense of the winding up.

421 Controller’sdutiesin relation to bank accounts and financial
records

(1) A controller of property of a corporation must:

(a) open and maintain an account, with an Australian ADI,
bearing:
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(i) the controller’s own name; and
(i) inthe case of areceiver of the property—the title
“receiver”; and
(iii) otherwise—thetitle “controller”; and
(iv) the corporation’s name;
or 2 or more such accounts; and
(b) within 3 business days after money of the corporation comes
under the control of the controller, pay that money into such
an account that the controller maintains; and
(c) ensure that no such account that the controller maintains
contains money other than money of the corporation that
comes under the control of the controller; and
(d) keep such financial records as correctly record and explain
all transactions that the controller entersinto asthe
controller.

(2) Any director, creditor or member of a corporation may, unlessthe
Court otherwise orders, personally or by an agent, inspect records
kept by acontroller of property of the corporation for the purposes

of paragraph (1)(d).

421A Managing controller to report within 2 months about
cor poration’s affairs

(1) A managing controller of property of a corporation must prepare a
report about the corporation’s affairs that is in the prescribed form
and is made up to aday not later than 30 days before the day when
itisprepared.

(2) The managing controller must prepare and lodge the report within
2 months after the control day.

(3) Assoon as practicable, and in any event within 14 days, after
lodging the report, the managing controller must cause to be
published in a national newspaper, or in each State or Territory in a
daily newspaper that circulates generally in that State or Territory,
anotice stating:

(a) that the report has been prepared; and
(b) that a person can, on paying the prescribed fee, inspect the
report at specified offices of ASIC.
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(4) If, in the managing controller’s opinion, it would seriously
prejudice:
(a) the corporation’ sinterests; or

(b) the achievement of the objectives for which the controller
was appointed, or entered into possession or assumed control
of property of the corporation, as the case requires;

if particular information that the controller would otherwise
include in the report were made available to the public, the
controller need not include the information in the report.

(5) If the managing controller omits information from the report as
permitted by subsection (4), the controller must include instead a
notice:

(a) stating that certain information has been omitted from the
report; and

(b) summarising what the information is about, but without
disclosing the information itself.

422 Reportsby receiver

(1) If it appearsto the receiver of property of a corporation that:

(a) apast or present officer, or amember, of the corporation may
have been guilty of an offence in relation to the corporation;
or

(b) aperson who has taken part in the formation, promotion,
administration, management or winding up of the
corporation:

(i) may have misapplied or retained, or may have become
liable or accountable for, any money or property
(whether the property isin Australia or elsewhere) of
the corporation; or

(if) may have been guilty of any negligence, default, breach
of duty or breach of trust in relation to the corporation;
the receiver must:

(c) lodge as soon as practicable a report about the matter; and

(d) giveto ASIC such information, and such access to and
facilities for inspecting and taking copies of any documents,
as ASIC requires.
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(2) Thereceiver may aso lodge further reports specifying any other
matter that, in the receiver’ sopinion, it is desirable to bring to the
notice of ASIC.

(3) If it appearsto the Court:

(a) that apast or present officer, or amember, of acorporationin
respect of property of which areceiver has been appointed
has been guilty of an offence under alaw referred to in
paragraph (1)(a) in relation to the corporation; or

(b) that a person who has taken part in the formation, promotion,
administration, management or winding up of a corporation
in respect of property of which areceiver has been appointed
has engaged in conduct referred to in paragraph (1)(b) in
relation to the corporation;

and that the receiver has not lodged a report about the matter, the
Court may, on the application of a person interested in the
appointment of the receiver, direct the receiver to lodge such a
report.

423 Supervision of controller

() If:

(a) it appearsto the Court or to ASIC that a controller of
property of a corporation has not faithfully performed, or is
not faithfully performing, the controller’s functions or has
not observed, or is not observing, arequirement of:

(i) inthe case of areceiver—the order by which, or the
instrument under which, the receiver was appointed; or
(ii) otherwise—an instrument under which the controller
entered into possession, or took control, of that
property; or
(i) inany case—the Court; or
(iv) inany case—this Act, the regulations or the rules; or

(b) aperson complains to the Court or to ASIC about an act or
omission of acontroller of property of acorporation in
connection with performing or exercising any of the
controller’ s functions and powers,

the Court or ASIC, as the case may be, may inquire into the matter
and, where the Court or ASIC so inquires, the Court may take such
action asit thinks fit.
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(2) ASIC may report to the Court any matter that in itsopinionisa
misfeasance, neglect or omission on the part of a controller of
property of a corporation and the Court may order the controller to
make good any loss that the estate of the corporation has sustained
thereby and may make such other order or orders as it thinksfit.

(3) The Court may at any time:

(a) require acontroller of property of acorporation to answer
guestions about the performance or exercise of any of the
controller’s functions and powers as controller; or

(b) examine a person about the performance or exercise by such
acontroller of any of the controller’s functions and powers as
controller; or

(c) direct an investigation to be made of such a controller’s
books.

424 Controller may apply to Court

(1) A controller of property of a corporation may apply to the Court
for directionsin relation to any matter arising in connection with
the performance or exercise of any of the controller’s functions and
powers as controller.

(2) Inthe case of areceiver of property of a corporation, subsection (1)

appliesonly if the receiver was appointed under a power contained
in an instrument.

425 Court’s power to fix receiver’sremuneration

(1) The Court may by order fix the amount to be paid by way of
remuneration to any person who, under a power contained in an
instrument, has been appointed as receiver of property of a
corporation.

(2) The power of the Court to make an order under this section:
(a) extendsto fixing the remuneration for any period before the
making of the order or the application for the order; and
(b) isexercisable even if the receiver has died, or ceased to act,

before the making of the order or the application for the
order; and
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(c) if thereceiver has been paid or has retained for the receiver’s
remuneration for any period before the making of the order
any amount in excess of that fixed for that period—extends
to requiring the receiver or the receiver’s persona
representatives to account for the excess or such part of the
excess asis specified in the order.

(3) The power conferred by paragraph (2)(c) must not be exercised in
respect of any period before the making of the application for the
order unless, in the opinion of the Court, there are special
circumstances making it proper for the power to be so exercised.

(4) The Court may from time to time vary or amend an order under
this section.

(5) An order under this section may be made, varied or amended on
the application of:

(a) aliquidator of the corporation; or

(b) an administrator of the corporation; or

(c) an administrator of a deed of company arrangement executed
by the corporation; or

(d) ASIC.

(6) An order under this section may be varied or amended on the
application of the receiver concerned.

(7) An order under this section may be made, varied or amended only
as provided in subsections (5) and (6).

426 Controller has qualified privilegein certain cases

A controller of property of acorporation has qualified privilegein
respect of:
() amatter contained in areport that the controller lodges under
section 421A or 422; or
(b) acomment that the controller makes under paragraph
429(2)(c).
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427 Notification of mattersrelating to controller

(1) A person who obtains an order for the appointment of areceiver of
property of a corporation, or who appoints such areceiver under a
power contained in an instrument, must:

(@) within 7 days after obtaining the order or making the
appointment, lodge notice that the order has been obtained,
or that the appointment has been made, as the case may be;
and

(b) within 21 days after obtaining the order or making the
appointment, cause notice that the order has been obtained,
or that the appointment has been made, as the case may be, to
be published in the Gazette.

(1A) A person who appoints another person to enter into possession, or
take control, of property of a corporation (whether or not as agent
for the corporation) for the purpose of enforcing a charge otherwise
than as receiver of that property must:

(a) within 7 days after making the appointment, lodge notice of
the appointment; and

(b) within 21 days after making the appointment, cause notice of
the appointment to be published in the Gazette.

(1B) A person who entersinto possession, or takes control, as
mentioned in subsection (1A) must:
(a) within 7 days after so entering into possession or taking
control, lodge notice that the person has done so; and
(b) within 21 days after so entering into possession or taking
control, cause to be published in the Gazette notice that the
person has done so;
unless another person:
(c) appointed the first-mentioned person so to enter into
possession or take control; and
(d) complieswith subsection (1A) in relation to the appointment.

(2) Within 14 days after becoming a controller of property of a
corporation, a person must lodge naotice in the prescribed form of
the address of the person’s office.
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(3) A controller of property of a corporation must, within 14 days after
achange in the situation of the controller’s office, lodge noticein
the prescribed form of the change.

(4) A person who ceases to be a controller of property of a corporation
must:

(a) within 7 days after so ceasing, lodge notice that the person
has so ceased; and

(b) within 21 days after so ceasing, cause notice that the person
has so ceased to be published in the Gazette.

428 Statement that receiver appointed or other controller acting

(1) Where areceiver of property (whether in or outside this
jurisdiction or in or outside Australia) of a corporation has been
appointed, the corporation must set out, in every public document,
and in every negotiable instrument, of the corporation, after the
name of the corporation where it first appears, a statement that a
receiver, or areceiver and manager, as the case requires, has been
appointed.

(2) Wherethereisacontroller (other than areceiver) of property
(whether in Australia or elsewhere) of a corporation, the
corporation must set out, in every public document, and in every
negotiable instrument, of the corporation, after the corporation’s
name where it first appears, a statement that a controller is acting.

429 Officerstoreport to controller about corporation’s affairs

(1) Inthissection:

reporting officer, in relation to a corporation in respect of property
of which a person is controller, means a person who was:

(a) inthe case of acompany or registrable Australian body—a
director or secretary of the company or registrable Australian
body; or

(b) inthe case of aforeign company—alocal agent of the
foreign company;
on the control day.

(2) Where aperson becomes a controller of property of a corporation:
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(a) the person must serve on the corporation as soon as
practicable notice that the person is a controller of property
of the corporation; and

(b) within 14 days after the corporation receives the notice, the
reporting officers must make out and submit to the person a
report in the prescribed form about the affairs of the
corporation as at the control day; and

(c) the person must, within one month after receipt of the report:

(i) lodge a copy of the report and a notice setting out any
comments the person seesfit to make relating to the
report or, if the person does not see fit to make any
comment, a notice stating that the person does not see
fit to make any comment; and

(if) send to the corporation a copy of the notice lodged in
accordance with subparagraph (i); and
(ii1) if the person became a controller of the property:

(A) because of an appointment as receiver of the
property that was made by or on behalf of the
holder of debentures of the corporation; or

(B) by entering into possession, or taking control,
of the property for the purpose of enforcing a
charge securing such debentures,

and there are trustees for the holders of those
debentures—send to those trustees a copy of the report
and a copy of the notice lodged under subparagraph (i).

(3) Where natice has been served on a corporation under
paragraph (2)(a), the reporting officers may apply to the controller
or to the Court to extend the period within which the report isto be
submitted and:

(a) if application is made to the controller—if the controller
believes that there are specia reasons for so doing, the
controller may, by notice in writing given to the reporting
officers, extend that period until a specified day; and

(b) if application is made to the Court—if the Court believes that
there are special reasons for so doing, the Court may, by
order, extend that period until a specified day.

(4) Assoon as practicable after granting an extension under
paragraph (3)(a), the controller must lodge a copy of the notice.
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(5) Assoon as practicable after the Court grants an extension under
paragraph (3)(b), the reporting officers must lodge a copy of the
order.

(6) Subsections (2), (3) and (4) do not apply in a case where a person
becomes a controller of property of a corporation:
(a) to act with an existing controller of property of the
corporation; or
(b) in place of acontroller of such property who has died or
ceased to be a controller of such property.

(6A) However, if subsection (2) appliesin a case where a controller of
property of a corporation dies, or ceases to be a controller of
property of the corporation, before subsection (2) isfully complied
with, then:

(a) thereferencesin paragraphs (2)(b) and (c) to the person; and
(b) thereferencesin subsections (3) and (4) to the controller;

include references to the controller’ s successor and to any
continuing controller.

(7) Where acorporation is being wound up, this section (including
subsection (6A)) and section 430 apply even if the controller and
the liquidator are the same person, but with any necessary
modifications arising from that fact.

430 Controller may requirereports

(1) A controller of property of acorporation may, by notice given to
the person or persons, require one or more personsincluded in one
or more of the following classes of persons to make out as required
by the notice, verify by a statement in writing in the prescribed
form, and submit to the controller, areport, containing such
information as is specified in the notice as to the affairs of the
corporation or as to such of those affairs as are specified in the
notice, as at a date specified in the notice:

(a) personswho are or have been officers of the corporation;

(b) where the corporation was incorporated within one year
before the control day—persons who have taken part in the
formation of the corporation;
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(c) personswho are employed by the corporation or have been
so employed within one year before the control day and are,
in the opinion of the controller, capable of giving the
information required;

(d) personswho are, or have been within one year before the
control day, officers of, or employed by, a corporation that is,
or within that year was, an officer of the corporation.

(2) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), a notice under
that subsection may specify the information that the controller
reguires as to affairs of the corporation by reference to information
that this Act requires to be included in any other report, statement
or notice under this Act.

(3) A person making areport and verifying it as required by
subsection (1) must, subject to the regulations, be alowed, and
must be paid by the controller (or the controller’ s successor) out of
the controller’ s receipts, such costs and expenses incurred in and
about the preparation and making of the report and the verification
of the report as the controller (or the controller’ s successor)
considers reasonable.

(4) A person must comply with a regquirement made under
subsection (1).

(5) A referencein this section to the controller’s successor includes a
reference to a continuing controller.

431 Controller may inspect books

A controller of property of a corporation isentitled to inspect at
any reasonable time any books of the corporation that relate to that
property and a person must not fail to allow the controller to
inspect such books at such atime.

432 Lodging controller’saccounts

(1) A controller of property of acorporation must lodge an account:
(a) within one month after the end of:
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(i) 6 months, or such shorter period as the controller
determines, after the day when the controller became a
controller of property of the corporation; and

(i) each subsequent period of 6 months throughout which
the controller isacontroller of property of the
corporation; and

(b) within one month after the controller ceases to be a controller
of property of the corporation.

(1A) Anaccount must be in the prescribed form and show:
(a) the controller’s receipts and payments during:

(i) inthe case of an account under paragraph (1)(a)—the 6
months or shorter period, as the case requires; or
(ii) inthe case of an account under paragraph (1)(b)—the
period beginning at the end of the period to which the
last account related, or on the control day, as the case
requires, and ending on the day when the controller so
ceased; and
(b) except in the case of an account lodged under
subparagraph (1)(a)(i)—the respective aggregates of the
controller’ s receipts and payments since the control day; and
(c) inthe case of:

(i) areceiver appointed under a power contained in an
instrument; or
(ii) anyone else who isin possession, or has control, of
property of the corporation for the purpose of enforcing
acharge;
the following:
(iii) the amount (if any) owing under that instrument or
charge:

(A) inthe case of an account lodged under
subparagraph (1)(a)(i)—at the end of the
control day and at the end of the period to
which the account relates; or

(B) otherwise—at the end of the period to which
the account relates;

(iv) thecontroller’s estimate of the total value, at the end of
the period to which the account relates, of the property
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of the corporation that is subject to the instrument or
charge.

(2) ASIC may, of itsown motion or on the application of the
corporation or a creditor of the corporation, cause the accounts
lodged in accordance with subsection (1) to be audited by a
registered company auditor appointed by ASIC and, for the
purpose of the audit, the controller must furnish the auditor with
such books and information as the auditor requires.

(3) Where ASIC causes the accounts to be audited on the request of
the corporation or a creditor, ASIC may require the corporation or
creditor, as the case may be, to give security for the payment of the
cost of the audit.

(4) The costs of an audit under subsection (2) must be fixed by ASIC
and ASIC may if it thinks fit make an order declaring that, for the
purposes of subsection 419(1), those costs are taken to be a debt
incurred by the controller as mentioned in subsection 419(1) and,
where such an order is made, the controller isliable accordingly.

(5) A person must comply with arequirement made under this section.

433 Payment of certain debts, out of property subject to floating
charge, in priority to claimsunder charge

(2) Thissection applies where:

(a) areceiver isappointed on behalf of the holders of any
debentures of acompany or registered body that are secured
by afloating charge, or possession istaken or control is
assumed, by or on behalf of the holders of any debentures of
acompany or registered body, of any property comprised in
or subject to afloating charge; and

(b) at the date of the appointment or of the taking of possession
or assumption of control (in this section called the relevant
date):

(i) the company or registered body has not commenced to
be wound up voluntarily; and

(ii) the company or registered body has not been ordered to
be wound up by the Couirt.
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©)

(4)

©)

(6)

In the case of acompany, the receiver or other person taking
possession or assuming control of property of the company must
pay, out of the property coming into his, her or its hands, the
following debts or amountsin priority to any claim for principal or
interest in respect of the debentures:

(@) first, any amount that in awinding up is payablein priority to
unsecured debts pursuant to section 562;

(b) next, if an auditor of the company had applied to ASIC under
subsection 329(6) for consent to his, her or itsresignation as
auditor and ASIC had refused that consent before the
relevant date—the reasonabl e fees and expenses of the
auditor incurred during the period beginning on the day of
the refusal and ending on the relevant date;

(c) subject to subsections (6) and (7), next, any debt or amount
that in awinding up is payablein priority to other unsecured
debts pursuant to paragraph 556(1)(e), (g) or (h) or
section 560.

In the case of aregistered body, the receiver or other person taking
possession or assuming control of property of the registered body
must pay, out of the property of the registered body coming into
his, her or its hands, the following debts or amountsin priority to
any claim for principal or interest in respect of the debentures:
(a) first, any amount that in awinding up is payablein priority to
unsecured debts pursuant to section 562;
(b) next, any debt or amount that in awinding up is payablein
priority to other unsecured debts pursuant to paragraph
556(1)(e), (g) or (h) or section 560.

The receiver or other person taking possession or assuming control
of property must pay debts and amounts payable pursuant to
paragraph (3)(c) or (4)(b) in the same order of priority asis
prescribed by Division 6 of Part 5.6 in respect of those debts and
amounts.

In the case of acompany, if an auditor of the company had applied
to ASIC under subsection 329(6) for consent to his, her or its
resignation as auditor and ASIC had, before the relevant date,
refused that consent, a receiver must, when property comes to the
receiver's hands, before paying any debt or amount referred to in
paragraph (3)(c), make provision out of that property for the
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reasonable fees and expenses of the auditor incurred after the
relevant date but before the date on which the property comesinto
the receiver’ s hands, being fees and expensesin respect of which
provision has not already been made under this subsection.

(7) If an auditor of the company appliesto ASIC under subsection

329(6) for consent to his, her or itsresignation as auditor and, after
the relevant date, ASIC refuses that consent, the receiver must, in
relation to property that comes into the receiver’ s hands after the
refusal, before paying any debt or amount referred to in

paragraph (3)(c), make provision out of that property for the
reasonabl e fees and expenses of the auditor incurred after the
refusal and before the date on which the property comes into the
receiver’s hands, being fees and expenses in respect of which
provision has not already been made under this subsection.

(8) A receiver must make provision in respect of reasonable fees and

expenses of an auditor in respect of a particular period as required
by subsection (6) or (7) whether or not the auditor has made a
claim for fees and expenses for that period, but where the auditor
has not made a claim, the receiver may estimate the reasonable fees
and expenses of the auditor for that period and make provision in
accordance with the estimate.

(9) For the purposes of this section, the referencesin Division 6 of

Part 5.6 to the relevant date are to be read as references to the date
of the appointment of the receiver, or of possession being taken or
control being assumed, as the case may be.

434 Enforcing controller’sduty to makereturns

(1) If acontroller of property of acorporation:

(8 who has made default in making or lodging any return,
account or other document or in giving any notice required
by law fails to make good the default within 14 days after the
service on the controller, by any member or creditor of the
corporation or trustee for debenture holders, of a notice
requiring the controller to do so; or

(b) who has become a controller of property of the corporation
otherwise than by being appointed areceiver of such
property by acourt and who has, after being required at any
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time by the liquidator of the corporation so to do, failed to
render proper accounts of, and to vouch, the controller’s
receipts and payments and to pay over to the liquidator the
amount properly payable to the liquidator;

the Court may make an order directing the controller to make good
the default within such time as is specified in the order.

(2) An application under subsection (1) may be made:
(a) if paragraph (1)(a) applies—by a member or creditor of the
corporation or by atrustee for debenture holders; and
(b) if paragraph (1)(b) applies—by the liquidator of the
corporation.

434A Court may remove controller for misconduct

Where, on the application of a corporation, the Court is satisfied
that a controller of property of the corporation has been guilty of
misconduct in connection with performing or exercising any of the
controller’s functions and powers, the Court may order that, on and
after a specified day, the controller cease to act as receiver or give
up possession or control, as the case requires, of property of the
corporation.

434B Court may remove redundant controller

(1) The Court may order that, on and after a specified day, a controller
of property of acorporation:
(a) ceaseto act asreceiver, or give up possession or control, as
the case requires, of property of the corporation; or

(b) act asreceiver, or continue in possession or control, asthe
case requires, only of specified property of the corporation.

(2) However, the Court may only make an order under subsection (1)
if satisfied that the objectives for which the controller was
appointed, or entered into possession or took control of property of
the corporation, as the case requires, have been achieved, so far as
is reasonably practicable, except in relation to any property
specified in the order under paragraph (1)(b).

(3) For the purposes of subsection (2), the Court must have regard to:
(@) the corporation’sinterests; and
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(b) theinterests of the holder of the charge that the controller is
enforcing; and

(c) theinterests of the corporation’s other creditors; and
(d) any other relevant matter.

(4) The Court may only make an order under subsection (1) on the
application of aliquidator appointed for the purposes of winding
up the corporation in insolvency.

(5) An order under subsection (1) may also prohibit the holder of the
charge from doing any or al of the following, except with the
leave of the Court:

(a) appointing a person as receiver of property of the corporation
under a power contained in an instrument relating to the
charge;

(b) entering into possession, or taking control, of such property
for the purpose of enforcing the charge;

(c) appointing a person so to enter into possession or take control
(whether as agent for the chargee or for the corporation).

434C Effect of sections 434A and 434B

(1) Except as expressy provided in section 434A or 434B, an order
under that section does not affect a charge on property of a
corporation.

(2) Nothing in section 434A or 434B limits any other power of the
Court to remove, or otherwise deal with, a controller of property of
acorporation (for example, the Court’ s powers under section 423).
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Part 5.3A—Administration of a company’s affairs
with a view to executing a deed of company
arrangement

Divison 1—Preliminary

435A Object of Part

The abject of this Part isto provide for the business, property and
affairs of an insolvent company to be administered in away that:

(@) maximises the chances of the company, or as much as
possible of its business, continuing in existence; or

(b) if it isnot possible for the company or its businessto
continue in existence—results in a better return for the
company’s creditors and members than would result from an
immediate winding up of the company.

435B Definitions
In this Part, unless the contrary intention appears.

receiver includes areceiver and manager.

435C When administration begins and ends

(1) The administration of a company:
(a) beginswhen an administrator of the company is appointed
under section 436A, 436B or 436C; and
(b) ends on the happening of whichever event of akind referred
to in subsection (2) or (3) happensfirst after the
administration begins.

(2) The normal outcome of the administration of a company is that:
() adeed of company arrangement is executed by both the
company and the deed’ s administrator; or
(b) the company’s creditors resolve under paragraph 439C(b)
that the administration should end; or
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(c) the company’s creditors resolve under paragraph 439C(c)
that the company be wound up.

(3) However, the administration of a company may also end because:

() the Court orders, under section 447A or otherwise, that the
administration isto end, for example, because the Court is
satisfied that the company is solvent; or

(b) the convening period, as fixed by subsection 439A(5), for a
meeting of the company’s creditors ends:

(i) without the meeting being convened in accordance with
section 439A; and

(ii) without an application being made for the Court to
extend under subsection 439A(6) the convening period
for the meeting; or

(c) an application for the Court to extend under subsection
439A(6) the convening period for such a meeting isfinally
determined or otherwise disposed of otherwise than by the
Court extending the convening period; or

(d) the convening period, as extended under subsection 439A(6),
for such a meeting ends without the meeting being convened
in accordance with section 439A; or

(e) such ameeting convened under section 439A ends (whether
or not it was earlier adjourned) without a resolution under
section 439C being passed at the meeting; or

(f) the company contravenes subsection 444B(2) by failing to
execute a proposed deed of company arrangement; or

(g) the Court appoints aprovisiona liquidator of the company,
or orders that the company be wound up.

(4) During the administration of a company, the company is taken to
be under administration.
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Division 2—Appointment of administrator and first
meeting of creditors

436A Company may appoint administrator if board thinksit isor
will become insolvent

(1) A company may, by writing, appoint an administrator of the
company if the board has resolved to the effect that:
(@) inthe opinion of the directors voting for the resolution, the
company isinsolvent, or islikely to become insolvent at
some future time; and

(b) an administrator of the company should be appointed.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply to a company that is already being
wound up.

436B Liquidator may appoint administrator

(1) A liquidator or provisional liquidator of a company may by writing
appoint an administrator of the company if he or she thinks that the
company isinsolvent, or islikely to become insolvent at some
future time.

(2) With the leave of the Court, aliquidator or provisional liquidator of
acompany may appoint himself or herself under subsection (1).

(3) Subsection (2) has effect subject to Division 14.

436C Chargee may appoint administrator

(1) A personwho isentitled to enforce a charge on the whole, or
substantially the whole, of a company’s property may by writing
appoint an administrator of the company if the charge has become,
and is still, enforceable.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply to a company that is already being
wound up.

Corporations Act 2001 131



Chapter 5 External administration

Part 5.3A Administration of a company’s affairs with aview to executing a deed of
company arrangement

Division 2 Appointment of administrator and first meeting of creditors

Section 436D

436D Company already under administration

An administrator cannot be appointed under section 436A, 436B or
436C if the company is already under administration.

436E Purpose and timing of first meeting of creditors

(1) Theadministrator of acompany under administration must
convene a meeting of the company’s creditorsin order to
determine:

(@) whether to appoint a committee of creditors; and
(b) if so, who are to be the committee’ s members.

(2) The meeting must be held within 5 business days after the
administration begins.

(3) The administrator must convene the meeting by:

(&) giving written notice of the meeting to as many of the
company’ s creditors as reasonably practicable; and
(b) causing notice of the meeting to be published:
(i) inanational newspaper; or
(ii) ineach State or Territory in which the company hasits
registered office or carries on business, in adaily

newspaper that circulates generaly in that State or
Territory;

at least 2 business days before the meeting.

(4) At the meeting, the company’s creditors may also, by resolution:
(&) remove the administrator from office; and
(b) appoint someone else as administrator of the company.

436F Functions of committee of creditors

(1) Thefunctions of a committee of creditors of a company under
administration are:

(a) to consult with the administrator about matters relating to the
administration; and
(b) to receive and consider reports by the administrator.
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(2) A committee cannot give directions to the administrator, except as
provided in subsection (3).

(3) Asand when acommittee reasonably requires, the administrator
must report to the committee about matters relating to the
administration.

436G Membership of committee

A person can be a member of a committee of creditors of a
company under administration if, and only if, he or sheis:

(a) acreditor of the company; or

(b) the attorney of such a creditor because of a general power of
attorney; or

(c) authorised in writing by such a creditor to be such a member.
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Division 3—Administrator assumes control of company’s
affairs

437A Role of administrator

(1) While acompany isunder administration, the administrator:

(a) has control of the company’s business, property and affairs;
and

(b) may carry on that business and manage that property and
those affairs; and

(c) may terminate or dispose of al or part of that business, and
may dispose of any of that property; and

(d) may perform any function, and exercise any power, that the
company or any of its officers could perform or exercise if
the company were not under administration.

(2) Nothing in subsection (1) limits the generality of anything elsein
it.
437B Administrator actsascompany’sagent

When performing afunction, or exercising a power, as
administrator of a company under administration, the administrator
istaken to be acting as the company’ s agent.

437C Powers of other officers suspended

(1) While acompany isunder administration, a person (other than the
administrator) cannot perform or exercise, and must not purport to
perform or exercise, afunction or power as an officer of the
company, except with the administrator’ s written approval.

(2) Subsection (1) does not remove an officer of a company from his
or her office.

(3) Section 437D does not limit the generality of subsection (1) of this
section.

(4) Inthissection:
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officer, in relation to a company under administration, includes:
() areceiver who is not also a manager; and
(b) areceiver and manager appointed by a court; and

(c) aliquidator or provisional liquidator appointed by the Court
before the administration began.

(5) However, aperson isnot an officer of a company for the purposes
of this section merely because he or she is an employee of the
company.

437D Only administrator can deal with company’s property

(1) This section applies where:
(&) acompany under administration purports to enter into; or
(b) aperson purportsto enter into, on behalf of a company under
administration;
atransaction or dealing affecting property of the company.

(2) Thetransaction or dealing isvoid unless:
(@) the administrator entered into it on the company’ s behalf; or
(b) the administrator consented to it in writing before it was
entered into; or
(c) it was entered into under an order of the Court.

(3) Subsection (2) does not apply to a payment made:
() by an Australian ADI out of an account kept by the company
with the ADI; and
(b) ingood faith and in the ordinary course of the ADI’ s banking
business; and
(c) after the administration began and on or before the day on
which:

(i) the administrator givesto the ADI (under subsection
450A(3) or otherwise) written notice of the appointment
that began the administration; or

(ii) the administrator complies with paragraph 450A (1)(b)
in relation to that appointment;
whichever happens first.
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(4) Subsection (2) has effect subject to an order that the Court makes
after the purported transaction or dealing.

(5) If, because of subsection (2), the transaction or dealing is void, or
would be void apart from subsection (4), an officer of the company
who:

(a) purported to enter into the transaction or dealing on the
company’s behalf; or
(b) wasin any other way, by act or omission, directly or
indirectly, knowingly concerned in, or party to, the
transaction or dealing;
contravenes this subsection.

437E Order for compensation wher e officer involved in void
transaction

(1) Where:

(a) acourt finds a person guilty of an offence constituted by a
contravention of subsection 437D(5) (including such an
offence that is taken to have been committed because of
section 5 of the Crimes Act 1914); and

(b) the court is satisfied that the company or another person has
suffered loss or damage because of the act or omission
constituting the offence;

the court may (whether or not it imposes a penalty) order the

first-mentioned person to pay compensation to the company or

other person, as the case may be, of such amount as the order

specifies.

Note: Section 73A defines when a court is taken to find a person guilty of an
offence.

(2) An order under subsection (1) may be enforced asif it were a
judgment of the court.

(3) The power of a court under section 1318 to relieve a person from
liability as mentioned in that section extendsto relieving a person
from liability to be ordered under this section to pay compensation.
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437F Effect of administration on company’s members

A transfer of sharesin a company, or an ateration in the status of
members of a company, that is made during the administration of
the company is void except so far as the Court otherwise orders.
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Division 4—Administrator investigates company’s affairs

438A Administrator to investigate affairs and consider possible
cour ses of action

As soon as practicable after the administration of a company
begins, the administrator must:
(a) investigate the company’ s business, property, affairs and
financial circumstances; and
(b) form an opinion about each of the following matters:

(i) whether it would be in the interests of the company’s
creditors for the company to execute a deed of company
arrangement;

(ii) whether it would bein the creditors' interests for the
administration to end;

(iif) whether it would be in the creditors’ interests for the
company to be wound up.

438B Directorsto help administrator

(1) Assoon as practicable after the administration of a company
begins, each director must:

(a) deliver to the administrator all books in the director’s
possession that relate to the company, other than books that
the director is entitled, as against the company and the
administrator, to retain; and

(b) if the director knows where other books relating to the
company are—tell the administrator where those books are.

(2) Within 7 days after the administration of a company begins or such
longer period as the administrator allows, the directors must giveto
the administrator a statement about the company’ s business,
property, affairs and financial circumstances.

(3) A director of acompany under administration must:
(a) attend on the administrator at such times; and
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(b) givethe administrator such information about the company’s
business, property, affairs and financia circumstances,

as the administrator reasonably requires.

(4) A person must not, without reasonable excuse, fail to comply with
subsection (1), (2) or (3).

438C Administrator’srightsto company’s books

(1) A personisnot entitled, as against the administrator of a company
under administration:

(a) toretain possession of books of the company; or
(b) to claim or enforce alien on such books;
but such alien is not otherwise prejudiced.

(2) Paragraph (1)(a) does not apply in relation to books of which a
secured creditor of the company is entitled to possession otherwise
than because of alien, but the administrator is entitled to inspect,
and make copies of, such books at any reasonable time.

(3) The administrator of a company under administration may giveto a
person awritten notice requiring the person to deliver to the
administrator, as specified in the natice, books so specified that are
in the person’s possession.

(4) A notice under subsection (3) must specify a period of at least 3
business days as the period within which the notice must be
complied with.

(5) A person must comply with anotice under subsection (3) except so
far asthe person is entitled, as against the company and the
administrator, to retain possession of the books.

438D Reportsby administrator

(1) If it appearsto the administrator of a company under
administration that:
(a) apast or present officer, or amember, of the company may
have been guilty of an offence in relation to the company; or
(b) aperson who has taken part in the formation, promotion,
administration, management or winding up of the company:
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(i) may have misapplied or retained, or may have become
liable or accountable for, money or property (in
Australia or elsewhere) of the company; or

(ii) may have been guilty of negligence, default, breach of
duty or breach of trust in relation to the company;
the administrator must:
(c) lodge areport about the matter as soon as practicable; and
(d) give ASIC such information, and such accessto and facilities

for inspecting and taking copies of documents, as ASIC
requires.

(2) The administrator may also lodge further reports specifying any
other matter that, in hisor her opinion, it is desirable to bring to
ASIC’snotice.

(3) If it appearsto the Court:

(a) that apast or present officer, or amember, of a company
under administration has been guilty of an offencein relation
to the company; or

(b) that a person who has taken part in the formation, promotion,
administration, management or winding up of a company
under administration has engaged in conduct of akind
referred to in paragraph (1)(b) in relation to the company;

and that the administrator has not lodged a report about the matter,
the Court may, on the application of an interested person, direct the
administrator to lodge such areport.
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Division 5—M eeting of creditors decides company’s future

439A Administrator to convene meeting and inform creditors

(1) Theadministrator of a company under administration must
convene ameeting of the company’s creditors within the
convening period as fixed by subsection (5) or extended under
subsection (6).

Note: For body corporate representatives’ powers at a meeting of the
company’s creditors, see section 250D.

(2) The meeting must be held within 5 business days after the end of
the convening period.

(3) The administrator must convene the meeting by:
(@) giving written notice of the meeting to as many of the
company’s creditors as reasonably practicable; and
(b) causing notice of the meeting to be published:
(i) inanational newspaper; or
(ii) ineach State or Territory in which the company hasits
registered office or carries on business, in adaily
newspaper that circulates generally in that State or
Territory;
at least 5 business days before the meeting.

(4) The notice given to a creditor under paragraph (3)(a) must be
accompanied by a copy of:
(@) areport by the administrator about the company’ s business,
property, affairs and financial circumstances; and
(b) astatement setting out the administrator’s opinion about each
of the following matters:
(i) whether it would be in the creditors’ interests for the
company to execute a deed of company arrangement;
(ii) whether it would bein the creditors’ interests for the
administration to end;
(iif) whether it would be in the creditors’ interests for the
company to be wound up;
and his or her reasons for those opinions; and
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(c) if adeed of company arrangement is proposed—a statement
setting out details of the proposed deed.

(5) The convening period is:

(a) if the administration begins on aday that isin December, or
isless than 28 days before Good Friday—the period of 28
days beginning on that day; or

(b) otherwise—the period of 21 days beginning on the day when
the administration begins.

(6) The Court may extend the convening period on an application
made within the period referred to in paragraph (5)(a) or (b), asthe
case requires.

439B Conduct of meeting

(1) At ameeting convened under section 439A, the administrator isto
preside.

(2) A meeting convened under section 439A may be adjourned from
time to time, but cannot be adjourned to aday that is more than 60
days after thefirst day on which the meeting was held, even if no
resolution under section 439C has been passed at the meeting.

439C What creditors may decide

At ameeting convened under section 439A, the creditors may
resolve:

(a) that the company execute adeed of company arrangement
specified in the resolution (even if it differs from the
proposed deed (if any) details of which accompanied the
notice of meeting); or

(b) that the administration should end; or

(c) that the company be wound up.
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Division 6—Protection of company’s property during
administration

440A Winding up company

(1) A company under administration cannot be wound up voluntarily,
except as provided by section 446A.

(2) The Court isto adjourn the hearing of an application for an order to
wind up acompany if the company is under administration and the
Court is satisfied that it isin the interests of the company’s
creditors for the company to continue under administration rather
than be wound up.

(3) The Court is not to appoint a provisional liquidator of a company if
the company is under administration and the Court is satisfied that
it isin the interests of the company’ s creditors for the company to
continue under administration rather than have a provisional
liquidator appointed.

440B Charge unenforceable

During the administration of a company, a person cannot enforce a
charge on property of the company, except:

(a) with the administrator’ s written consent; or

(b) with the leave of the Couirt.

440C Owner or lessor cannot recover property used by company

During the administration of a company, the owner or lessor of
property that is used or occupied by, or isin the possession of, the
company cannot take possession of the property or otherwise
recover it, except:

(a) with the administrator’ s written consent; or

(b) with the leave of the Court.
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440D Stay of proceedings

(1) During the administration of a company, a proceeding in a court
against the company or in relation to any of its property cannot be
begun or proceeded with, except:

(@) with the administrator’ s written consent; or

(b) with the leave of the Court and in accordance with such
terms (if any) as the Court imposes.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply to:
(a) acriminal proceeding; or
(b) aprescribed proceeding.

440E Administrator not liablein damagesfor refusing consent

A company’s administrator is not liable to an action or other
proceeding for damages in respect of arefusal to give an approval
or consent for the purposes of this Division.

440F Suspension of enfor cement process

During the administration of a company, no enforcement processin
relation to property of the company can be begun or proceeded
with, except:

(a) with the leave of the Court; and

(b) in accordance with such terms (if any) as the Court imposes.

440G Dutiesof court officer in relation to property of company

(1) Thissection applies where an officer of acourt (in this section
called the court officer), being:

(a) asheriff; or
(b) theregistrar or other appropriate officer of the court;

receives written notice of the fact that a company is under
administration.

(2) During the administration, the court officer cannot:

(a) take action to sell property of the company under a process of
execution; or
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(b) pay to aperson (other than the administrator):
(i) proceeds of selling property of the company (at any
time) under a process of execution; or
(ii) money of the company seized (at any time) under a
process of execution; or
(iif) money paid (at any time) to avoid seizure or sale of
property of the company under a process of execution;
or
(c) takeaction in relation to the attachment of a debt due to the
company; or
(d) pay to aperson (other than the administrator) money received
because of the attachment of such a debt.

(3) The court officer must deliver to the administrator any property of
the company that is in the court officer’s possession under a
process of execution (whenever begun).

(4) The court officer must pay to the administrator all proceeds or
money of akind referred to in paragraph (2)(b) or (d) that:
(a) arein the court officer’s possession; or
(b) have been paid into the court and have not since been paid
out.

(5) The costs of the execution or attachment are afirst charge on
property delivered under subsection (3) or proceeds or money paid
under subsection (4).

(6) Inorder to give effect to a charge under subsection (5) on proceeds
or money, the court officer may retain, on behalf of the person
entitled to the charge, so much of the proceeds or money as the
court officer thinks necessary.

(7) The Court may, if itis satisfied that it is appropriate to do so,
permit the court officer to take action, or to make a payment, that
subsection (2) would otherwise prevent.

(8) A person who buys property in good faith under a sale under a
process of execution gets a good title to the property as against the
company and the administrator, despite anything else in this
section.
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440H Lispendenstaken to exist

(1) Thissection has effect only for the purposes of alaw about the
effect of alis pendens on purchasers or mortgagees.

(2) During the administration of a company, an application to wind up
the company istaken to be pending.

(3) An application that is taken because of subsection (2) to be
pending constitutes a lis pendens.

440J Administration not to trigger liability of director or relative
under guarantee of company’sliability

(1) During the administration of a company:
(@) aguarantee of aliability of the company cannot be enforced,
as against:
(i) adirector of the company who is anatural person; or
(ii) aspouse, de facto spouse or relative of such adirector;
and
(b) without limiting paragraph (a), a proceeding in relation to
such a guarantee cannot be begun against such a director,
spouse, de facto spouse or relative;
except with the leave of the Court and in accordance with such
terms (if any) as the Court imposes.

(2) While subsection (1) prevents a person (the creditor) from:
(@) enforcing as against another person (the guarantor) a
guarantee of aliability of acompany; or
(b) beginning a proceeding against another person (the
guarantor) in relation to such a guarantee;
section 1323 appliesin relation to the creditor and the guarantor as
if:
(c) acivil proceeding against the guarantor had begun under this
Act; and
(d) the creditor were the only person of akind referred to in that
section as an aggrieved person.

Note: Under section 1323 the Court can make a range of orders to ensure
that a person can meet the person’s liabilities.
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(3) The effect that section 1323 has because of a particular application
of subsection (2) is additiona to, and does not prejudice, the effect
the section otherwise has.

(4) Inthissection:

guarantee, in relation to aliability of a company, includes a
relevant agreement (as defined in section 9) because of which a
person other than the company has incurred, or may incur, whether
jointly with the company or otherwise, aliability in respect of the
liability of the company.

liability means a debt, liability or other obligation.
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Division 7—Rights of chargee, owner or lessor

441A Wher e char gee acts before or during decision period

(1) This section applies where:
(@) thewhole, or substantially the whole, of the property of a
company under administration is subject to a charge; and

(b) before or during the decision period, the chargee enforced the
chargeinrelation to all property of the company subject to
the charge, whether or not the charge was enforced in the
same way in relation to all that property.

(2) Thissection also applies where:
(&) acompany isunder administration; and
(b) the same person isthe chargeein relation to each of 2 or
more charges on property of the company; and

(c) the property of the company (in this subsection called the
charged property) subject to the respective charges together
constitutes the whole, or substantialy the whole, of the
company’s property; and

(d) before or during the decision period, the chargee enforced the
chargesin relation to all the charged property:

(i) whether or not the charges were enforced in the same
way in relation to all the charged property; and

(ii) whether or not any of the charges was enforced in the
same way in relation to all the property of the company
subject to that charge; and

(iif) inso far asthe charges were enforced in relation to
property of the company in away referred to in
paragraph (a), (b) or (d) of the definition of enforcein
section 9—whether or not the same person was
appointed in respect of al of the last-mentioned

property.
(3) Nothing in section 437C or 440B, or in an order under subsection

444F(2), prevents any of the following from enforcing the charge,
or any of the charges:

(@) the chargee;
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(b) areceiver or person appointed as mentioned in paragraph (a),
(b) or (d) of the definition of enforce in section 9 as that
definition appliesin relation to the charge, or any of the
charges (even if appointed after the decision period).

(4) Section 437D does not apply in relation to a transaction or dealing
that affects property of the company and is entered into by:
(a) the chargee; or
(b) areceiver or person of akind referred to in paragraph (3)(b)
of this section;
in the performance or exercise of afunction or power as chargee,
or as such areceiver or person, as the case may be.

441B Where enfor cement of char ge begins before administration

(1) Thissection appliesif, before the beginning of the administration
of acompany, achargee, receiver or other person:
(8) entered into possession, or assumed control, of property of
the company; or
(b) entered into an agreement to sell such property; or
(c) made arrangements for such property to be offered for sale
by public auction; or
(d) publicly invited tenders for the purchase of such property; or
(e) exercised any other power in relation to such property;
for the purpose of enforcing a charge on that property.

(2) Nothing in section 437C or 440B prevents the chargee, receiver or
other person from enforcing the charge in relation to that property.

(3) Section 437D does not apply in relation to atransaction or dealing
that affects that property and is entered into:
(a) inthe exercise of apower of the chargee as chargee; or
(b) inthe performance or exercise of afunction or power of the
receiver or other person;

as the case may be.
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441C Charge on perishable property

(1) This section applies where perishable property of a company under
administration is subject to a charge.

(2) Nothing in section 437C or 440B prevents:
(a) the chargee; or
(b) areceiver or person appointed (at any time) as mentioned in
paragraph (a), (b) or (d) of the definition of enforcein
section 9;
from enforcing the charge, so far asit is a charge on perishable
property.

(3) Section 437D does not apply in relation to a transaction or dealing
that affects perishable property of the company and is entered into
by:

(a) the chargee; or
(b) areceiver or person appointed (at any time) as mentioned in
paragraph (a), (b) or (d) of the definition of enforcein
section 9;
in the performance or exercise of afunction or power as chargee,
or as such areceiver or person, as the case may be.

441D Court may limit powersof chargee etc. in relation to charged
property

(1) Thissection appliesif:

(a) for the purpose of enforcing a charge on property of a
company, the chargee, or areceiver or other person, does an
act of akind referred to in a paragraph of subsection
441B(1); and

(b) the company is under administration when the chargee,
receiver or other person does the act, or the company |ater
begins to be under administration;

but does not apply in a case where section 441A applies.

(2) On application by the administrator, the Court may order the
chargee, receiver or other person not to perform specified
functions, or exercise specified powers, except as permitted by the
order.
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(3) The Court may only make an order if satisfied that what the
administrator proposes to do during the administration will
adequately protect the chargee’ sinterests.

(4) Anorder may only be made, and only has effect, during the
administration.

(5) An order has effect despite sections 441B and 441C.

441E Giving anotice under a charge

Nothing in section 437C or 440B prevents a person from giving a
notice under the provisions of acharge.

441F Whererecovery of property begins before administration

(1) Thissection appliesif, before the beginning of the administration
of acompany, areceiver or other person:
(a) entered into possession, or assumed control, of property used
or occupied by, or in the possession of, the company; or
(b) exercised any other power in relation to such property;
for the purpose of enforcing aright of the owner or lessor of the
property to take possession of the property or otherwise recover it.

(2) Nothing in section 437C or 440C prevents the receiver or other
person from performing a function, or exercising a power, in
relation to the property.

(3) Section 437D does not apply in relation to atransaction or dealing
that affects the property and is entered into in the performance or
exercise of afunction or power of the receiver or other person.

441G Recovering perishable property

(1) Nothing in section 437C or 440C prevents a person from taking
possession of, or otherwise recovering, perishable property.

(2) Section 437D does not apply in relation to a transaction or dealing
that affects perishable property and is entered into for the purpose
of enforcing aright of the owner or lessor of the property to take
possession of the property or otherwise recover it.
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441H Court may limit powersof receiver etc. in relation to property
used by company

(1) Thissection appliesif:

(a) for the purpose of enforcing aright of the owner or lessor of
property used or occupied by, or in the possession of, a
company to take possession of the property or otherwise
recover it, a person:

(i) entersinto possession, or assumes control, of the
property; or

(ii) exercises any other power in relation to the property;
and

(b) the company is under administration when the person does
so, or the company later begins to be under administration.

(2) On application by the administrator, the Court may order the
person not to perform specified functions, or exercise specified
powers, in relation to the property, except as permitted by the
order.

(3) The Court may only make an order if satisfied that what the
administrator proposes to do during the administration will
adequately protect the interests of the owner or lessor.

(4) An order may only be made, and only has effect, during the
administration.

(5) An order has effect despite sections 441F and 441G.
441J Giving a notice under an agreement about property
Nothing in section 437C or 440C prevents a person from giving a

notice to a company under an agreement relating to property that is
used or occupied by, or isin the possession of, the company.

441K Effect of Division

Except as expressly provided, nothing in this Division limits the
generdlity of anything elseinit.
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Division 8—Powers of administrator

442A Additional powers of administrator

Without limiting section 437A, the administrator of a company
under administration has power to do any of the following:
(a) remove from office adirector of the company;
(b) appoint a person as such a director, whether to fill avacancy
or not;
(c) execute adocument, bring or defend proceedings, or do
anything else, in the company’ s name and on its behalf;
(d) whatever elseis necessary for the purposes of this Part.

442B Dealing with property subject to a floating charge that has
crystallised

(1) Thissection applies where a charge on property of a company
under administration was a floating charge when created but has
since become a fixed or specific charge.

(2) Subject to sections 442C and 442D, the administrator may desal
with any of that property asif the charge were till afloating
charge.

442C When administrator may dispose of encumbered property

(1) The administrator of a company under administration or of a deed
of company arrangement must not dispose of:
(8) property of the company that is subject to a charge; or
(b) property that isused or occupied by, or isin the possession
of, the company but of which someone else is the owner or
lessor.

(2) Subsection (1) does not prevent a disposal:
(a) inthe ordinary course of the company’s business; or
(b) with the written consent of the chargee, owner or lessor, as
the case may be; or
(c) with the leave of the Court.
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(3) The Court may only give leave under paragraph (2)(c) if satisfied
that arrangements have been made to protect adequately the
interests of the chargee, owner or lessor, as the case may be.

442D Administrator’s power s subject to power s of chargee, receiver
etc.

(1) Where section 441A applies, the administrator’ s functions and
powers are subject to the functions and powers of a person as:
(@) the chargee; or
(b) areceiver or person of akind referred to in paragraph
441A(3)(b) (even if appointed after the decision period).

(2) Where section 441C applies, then, so far as concerns perishable
property of the company, the administrator’s functions and powers
are subject to the functions and powers of a person as.

(a) the chargee; or

(b) areceiver or person appointed (at any time) as mentioned in
paragraph (a), (b) or (d) of the definition of enforcein
section 9.

(3) Where section 441B, 441F or 441G applies, then, so far as
concerns the property referred to in subsection 441B(1), 441F(1) or
441G(1), the administrator’ s functions and powers are subject to
the functions and powers of the chargee, receiver or other person.

442E Administrator has qualified privilege

A person who is or has been the administrator of a company under
administration has qualified privilege in respect of a statement that
he or she has made, whether orally or in writing, in the course of
performing or exercising any of hisor her functions and powers as
administrator of the company.

442F Protection of personsdealing with administrator

(1) Sections 128 and 129 apply in relation to a company under
administration asif:
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(a) areferencein those sections to the company, or to an officer
of the company, included areference to the administrator;
and

(b) areferencein those sections to an assumption referred to in
section 129 included a reference to an assumption that the
administrator is:

(i) acting within his or her functions and powers as
administrator; and
(ii) inparticular, is complying with this Act.

(2) The effect that sections 128 and 129 have because of subsection (1)
of this section is additional to, and does not prejudice, the effect
that sections 128 and 129 otherwise have in relation to a company
under administration.
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Division 9—Administrator’sliability and indemnity for
debts of administration

Subdivision A—L iability

443A General debts

(1) The administrator of acompany under administration is liable for
debts he or she incurs, in the performance or exercise, or purported
performance or exercise, of any of his or her functions and powers
as administrator, for:

(a) servicesrendered; or
(b) goods bought; or
(c) property hired, leased, used or occupied.

(2) Subsection (1) has effect despite any agreement to the contrary, but
without prejudice to the administrator’ s rights against the company
or anyone else.

443B Paymentsfor property used or occupied by, or in the
possession of, the company

(1) Thissection appliesif, under an agreement made before the
administration of a company began, the company continuesto use
or occupy, or to be in possession of, property of which someone
elseisthe owner or lessor.

(2) Subject to this section, the administrator is liable for so much of
the rent or other amounts payable by the company under the
agreement as is attributable to a period:

(a) that begins more than 7 days after the administration began;
and

(b) throughout which:

(i) the company continues to use or occupy, or to bein
possession of, the property; and
(i) the administration continues.
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©)

(4)

()

(6)

(7)

(8)

9)

Within 7 days after the beginning of the administration, the
administrator may give to the owner or lessor a notice that
specifies the property and states that the company does not propose
to exercise rightsin relation to the property.

Despite subsection (2), the administrator is not liable for so much
of the rent or other amounts payable by the company under the
agreement as is attributable to a period during which anotice under
subsection (3) isin force, but such a notice does not affect a
liability of the company.

A notice under subsection (3) ceases to have effect if:
(8) the administrator revokesit by writing given to the owner or
lessor; or
(b) the company exercises, or purportsto exercise, arightin
relation to the property.

For the purposes of subsection (5), the company does not exercise,
or purport to exercise, aright in relation to the property merely
because the company continues to occupy, or to be in possession
of, the property, unless the company:

(a) aso usesthe property; or

(b) assertsaright, as against the owner or lessor, so to continue.

Subsection (2) does not apply in relation to so much of aperiod as
elapses after:
() areceiver of the property is appointed; or
(b) achargee appoints an agent, under the provisions of a charge
on the property, to enter into possession, or to assume
control, of the property; or

(c) achargee takes possession, or assumes control, of the
property under the provisions of a charge on the property;

but this subsection does not affect aliability of the company.

Subsection (2) does not apply in so far asa court, by order, excuses
the administrator from liability, but an order does not affect a
liability of the company.

The administrator is not taken because of subsection (2):
() to have adopted the agreement; or
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(b) to beliable under the agreement otherwise than as mentioned
in subsection (2).

443BA Certain taxation liabilities

(1) The administrator of a company isliableto pay to the
Commissioner of Taxation:
(a) each amount payable under a remittance provision because of
a deduction made by the administrator; and

(b) without limiting paragraph (a), so much of each amount
payable under a remittance provision because of a deduction
made by the company during the administration as equals so
much of the deduction asis attributable to a period
throughout which the administration continued;

even if the amount became payable after the end of the
administration.

(2) Inthissection:

remittance provision means any of the following provisions of the
Income Tax Assessment Act 1936:

(a) section 221F (except subsection 221F(12)) or section 221G
(except subsection 221G(4A));

(b) subsection 221YHDC(2);
(c) subsection 221YHZD(1) or (1A);
(d) subsection 221Y N(1);

and any of the provisions of Subdivision 16-B in Schedule 1 to the
Taxation Administration Act 1953.

unpaid amount, in relation to an estimate, has the same meaning
asin Division 8 of Part VI of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936.

443C Administrator not otherwiseliable for company’s debts

The administrator of a company under administration is not liable
for the company’ s debts except under this Subdivision.
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Subdivision B—Indemnity

443D Right of indemnity

The administrator of acompany under administration is entitled to
be indemnified out of the company’s property for:

(a) debtsfor which the administrator isliable under Subdivision
A or aremittance provision as defined in subsection
443BA(3); and

(b) hisor her remuneration as fixed under section 449E.

443E Right of indemnity has priority over other debts

(1) Subject to section 556, aright of indemnity under section 443D has
priority over:
(a) all the company’s unsecured debts; and
(b) subject to subsections (2) and (3) of this section, debts of the
company secured by afloating charge on property of the
company.

(2) Where:
(a) debtsof acompany under administration are secured by a
floating charge on property of the company; and
(b) before the beginning of the administration, the chargee:

(i) appointed areceiver of property of the company under a
power contained in an instrument relating to the charge;
or

(ii) obtained an order for the appointment of areceiver of
property of the company for the purpose of enforcing
the charge; or

(i) entered into possession, or assumed control, of property
of the company for that purpose; or

(iv) appointed a person so to enter into possession or assume
control (whether as agent for the chargee or for the
company); and
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Section 443F

(c) thereceiver or personistill in office, or the chargeeis still
in possession or control of the property;
the right of indemnity of the administrator under section 443D does
not have priority over those debts, except so far as the chargee
agrees.

(3) Where:
(a) debtsof acompany under administration are secured by a
floating charge on property of the company; and

(b) during the administration, the chargee, consistently with this
Part:

(i) appointsareceiver of property of the company under a
power contained in an instrument relating to the charge;
or

(ii) obtainsan order for the appointment of areceiver of
property of the company for the purpose of enforcing
the charge; or

(i) entersinto possession, or assumes control, of property
of the company for that purpose; or
(iv) appoints a person so to enter iNto POSsession or assume
control (whether as agent for the chargee or for the
company);
the right of indemnity of the administrator under section 443D has
priority over those debtsonly in so far asit isaright of indemnity
for debts incurred, or remuneration accruing, before written notice
of the appointment, or of the entering into possession or assuming
of control, as the case may be, was given to the administrator.

443F Lien to secureindemnity

(1) Tosecurearight of indemnity under section 443D, the
administrator has a lien on the company’ s property.

(2) A lien under subsection (1) has priority over acharge only in so far
astheright of indemnity under section 443D has priority over
debts secured by the charge.
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Division 10—Execution and effect of deed of company
arrangement

444A Effect of creditors resolution

(1) This section applies where, at a meeting convened under
section 439A, acompany’ s creditors resolve that the company
execute a deed of company arrangement.

(2) The administrator of the company isto be the administrator of the
deed, unlessthe creditors, by resolution passed at the meeting,
appoint someone €l se to be administrator of the deed.

(3) The administrator of the deed must prepare an instrument setting
out the terms of the deed.

(4) Theinstrument must also specify the following:

(@) the administrator of the deed;

(b) the property of the company (whether or not already owned
by the company when it executes the deed) that isto be
availableto pay creditors claims;

(c) the nature and duration of any moratorium period for which
the deed provides;

(d) towhat extent the company isto be released from its debts;

(e) the conditions (if any) for the deed to come into operation;

(f) the conditions (if any) for the deed to continue in operation;

(g) the circumstances in which the deed terminates;

(h) the order in which proceeds of realising the property referred
to in paragraph (b) are to be distributed among creditors
bound by the deed;

(i) the day (not later than the day when the administration
began) on or before which claims must have arisen if they are
to be admissible under the deed.

(5) Theinstrument istaken to include the prescribed provisions, except
so far asit provides otherwise.
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444B Execution of deed

(1) This section applies where an instrument is prepared under
section 444A.

(2) The company must execute the instrument within:
(a) 21 days after the end of the meeting of creditors; or

(b) such further period as the Court allows on an application
made within those 21 days.

(3) The board of the company may, by resolution, authorise the
instrument to be executed by or on behalf of the company.

(4) Subsection (3) has effect despite section 437C, but does not limit
the functions and powers of the administrator of the company.

(5) The administrator of the deed must execute the instrument before,
or as soon as practicable after, the company executesiit.

(6) When executed by both the company and the deed’ s administrator,
the instrument becomes a deed of company arrangement.

(7) Division 12 provides for consequences of the company
contravening subsection (2).

444C Creditor etc. not to act inconsistently with deed beforeits
execution

(1) Where, at a meeting convened under section 439A, acompany’s
creditors resolve that the company execute a deed of company
arrangement, this section applies until:

(a) the deed is executed by both the company and the deed’ s
administrator; or

(b) the period within which subsection 444B(2) requires the
company to execute the deed ends,

whichever happens sooner.

(2) Insofar asaperson would be bound by the deed if it had aready
been so executed, the person:

(a8 must not do anything inconsistent with the deed, except with
the leave of the Court; and
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(b) issubject to section 444E.

444D Effect of deed on creditors

(1) A deed of company arrangement binds all creditors of the
company, so far as concerns claims arising on or before the day
specified in the deed under paragraph 444A (4)(i).

(2) Subsection (1) does not prevent a secured creditor from realising or
otherwise dealing with the security, except so far as:
(a) the deed so providesin relation to a secured creditor who
voted in favour of the resolution of creditors because of
which the company executed the deed; or

(b) the Court orders under subsection 444F(2).

(3) Subsection (1) does not affect aright that an owner or lessor of
property hasin relation to that property, except so far as.
(a) the deed so providesin relation to an owner or lessor of
property who voted in favour of the resolution of creditors
because of which the company executed the deed; or

(b) the Court orders under subsection 444F(4).

444E Protection of company’s property from persons bound by deed

(1) Until adeed of company arrangement terminates, this section
applies to a person bound by the deed.

(2) The person cannot:
(&) make an application for an order to wind up the company; or
(b) proceed with such an application made before the deed
became binding on the person.

(3) The person cannot:

(a) begin or proceed with a proceeding against the company or in
relation to any of its property; or

(b) begin or proceed with enforcement processin relation to
property of the company;

except:
(c) with the leave of the Court; and
(d) in accordance with such terms (if any) as the Court imposes.
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(4) Insubsection (3):

property, in relation to the company, includes property used or
occupied by, or in the possession of, the company.

444F Court may limit rights of secured creditor or owner or lessor

(1) Thissection applies where:
(a) itisproposed that a company execute a deed of company
arrangement; or
(b) acompany has executed such a deed.

(2) Subject to subsection 441A(3), the Court may order a secured
creditor of the company not to realise or otherwise deal with the
security, except as permitted by the order.

(8) The Court may only make an order under subsection (2) if satisfied
that:

(a) for the creditor to realise or otherwise deal with the security
would have a material adverse effect on achieving the
purposes of the deed; and

(b) having regard to:
(i) theterms of the deed; and
(ii) theterms of the order; and
(iif) any other relevant matter;
the creditor’ sinterests will be adequately protected.

(4) The Court may order the owner or lessor of property that is used or
occupied by, or isin the possession of, the company not to take
possession of the property or otherwise recover it.

(5) The Court may only make an order under subsection (4) if satisfied
that:

(a) for the owner or lessor to take possession of the property or
otherwise recover it would have a material adverse effect on
achieving the purposes of the deed; and

(b) having regard to:
(i) theterms of the deed; and
(ii) theterms of the order; and
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(iif) any other relevant matter;
the interests of the owner or lessor will be adequately
protected.

(6) An order under this section may be made subject to conditions.

(7) An order under this section may only be made on the application
of:
(a) if paragraph (1)(a) applies—the administrator of the
company; or
(b) if paragraph (1)(b) applies—the deed’ s administrator.

444G Effect of deed on company, officersand members

A deed of company arrangement also binds:
(&) the company; and
(b) its officers and members; and
(c) the deed’s administrator.

444H Extent of release of company’s debts

A deed of company arrangement releases the company from a debt
only in so far as:

(@) the deed providesfor the release; and

(b) the creditor concerned is bound by the deed.
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Division 11—Variation, ter mination and avoidance of deed

445A Variation of deed by creditors

A deed of company arrangement may be varied by aresolution

passed at a meeting of the company’ s creditors convened under
section 445F, but only if the variation is not materially different
from a proposed variation set out in the notice of the meeting.

445B Court may cancel variation

(1) Where adeed of company arrangement is varied under
section 445A, a creditor of the company may apply to the Court for
an order cancelling the variation.

(2) On an application, the Court:

(&) may make an order cancelling the variation, or confirming it,
either wholly or in part, on such conditions (if any) asthe
order specifies; and

(b) may make such other orders asit thinks appropriate.

445C When deed terminates

A deed of company arrangement terminates when:
() the Court makes under section 445D an order terminating the
deed; or
(b) the company’s creditors pass a resolution terminating the
deed at a meeting that was convened under section 445F by a
notice setting out the proposed resolution; or

(c) if the deed specifies circumstancesin whichitisto
terminate—those circumstances exist;

whichever happensfirst.

445D When Court may terminate deed

(1) The Court may make an order terminating a deed of company
arrangement if satisfied that:
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(a) information about the company’s business, property, affairs
or financial circumstances that:
(i) wasfaseor misleading; and
(ii) can reasonably be expected to have been material to
creditors of the company in deciding whether to votein
favour of the resolution that the company execute the
deed;
was given to the administrator of the company or to such
creditors; or

(b) suchinformation was contained in areport or statement
under subsection 439A(4) that accompanied a notice of the
meeting at which the resolution was passed; or

(c) therewas an omission from such areport or statement and
the omission can reasonably be expected to have been
material to such creditorsin so deciding; or

(d) there has been a material contravention of the deed by a
person bound by the deed; or

(e) effect cannot be given to the deed without injustice or undue
delay; or

(f) the deed or aprovision of it is, an act or omission done or
made under the deed was, or an act or omission proposed to
be so done or made would be:

(i) oppressive or unfairly prejudicial to, or unfairly
discriminatory against, one or more such creditors; or

(ii) contrary to the interests of the creditors of the company
asawhole; or

(g) the deed should be terminated for some other reason.

(2) An order may be made on the application of:
(a) acreditor of the company; or
(b) the company; or
(c) any other interested person.

445E Creditors may terminate deed and resolve that company be
wound up

Where:
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(a) at ameeting convened under section 445F, the company’s
creditors pass a resolution terminating the deed; and

(b) the notice of the meeting set out a proposed resolution that
the company be wound up;

the creditors may aso resolve at the meeting that the company be
wound up.

445F Meeting of creditorsto consider proposed variation or
termination of deed

(1) The administrator of a deed of company arrangement:
(@) may at any time convene a meeting of the company’s
creditors; and
(b) must convene such ameeting if so requested in writing by
creditors the value of whose claims against the company is
not less than 10% of the value of all the creditors' claims
against the company.

(2) A meeting under this section must be convened by the deed's
administrator:
(&) giving written notice of the meeting to as many of the
company’s creditors as reasonable practicable; and
(b) causing notice of the meeting to be published:
(i) inanational newspaper; or
(ii) ineach State or Territory in which the company hasits
registered office or carries on business, in adaily
newspaper that circulates generaly in that State or
Territory;
at least 5 business days before the meeting.

(3) The natice given to a creditor under paragraph (2)(a) must:

(a) set out each resolution (if any) under section 445A or
paragraph 445C(b) that the deed’ s administrator proposes
that the meeting vote on; and

(b) if the meeting is convened under paragraph (1)(b) of this
section—set out each proposed resolution under
section 445A or paragraph 445C(b) that is set out in the
request.
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(4) At ameeting convened under this section, the deed’ s administrator
isto preside.

(5) A meeting convened under this section may be adjourned from
timeto time.

445G When Court may void or validate deed

(1) Wherethere isdoubt, on a specific ground, whether a deed of
company arrangement was entered into in accordance with this
Part or complies with this Part, the administrator of the deed, a
member or creditor of the company, or ASIC, may apply to the
Court for an order under this section.

(2) On an application, the Court may make an order declaring the
deed, or aprovision of it, to be void or not to be void, as the case
requires, on the ground specified in the application or some other
ground.

(3) On an application, the Court may declare the deed, or a provision
of it, to be valid, despite a contravention of aprovision of this Part,
if the Court is satisfied that:

(@) the provision was substantially complied with; and
(b) noinjusticewill result for anyone bound by the deed if the
contravention is disregarded.

(4) Where the Court declares a provision of adeed of company
arrangement to be void, the Court may by order vary the deed, but
only with the consent of the deed’ s administrator.

445H Effect of termination or avoidance

The termination or avoidance, in whole or in part, of adeed of
company arrangement does not affect the previous operation of the
deed.
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Division 12—Transition to creditors' voluntary winding up

446A Administrator becomesliquidator in certain cases

(1) Thissection appliesif:

(a) the creditors of a company under administration resolve at a
particular time under paragraph 439C(c) that the company be
wound up; or

(b) acompany under administration contravenes subsection
444B(2) at aparticular time; or

(c) at ameeting convened under section 445F, a company’s
creditors:

(i) passaresolution terminating a deed of company
arrangement executed by the company; and

(ii) asoresolve at a particular time under section 445E that
the company be wound up.

(2) The company istaken:
(a) to have passed, at the time referred to in paragraph (1)(a) or
(b) or subparagraph (1)(c)(ii), as the case may be, a special
resolution under section 491 that the company be wound up
voluntarily; and

(b) to have done so without a declaration having been made and
lodged under section 494.

(3) Section 497 istaken to have been complied with in relation to the
winding up.

(4) For the purposes of subsection 499(1):
(a) the company is taken to have nominated:
(i) if paragraph (1)(a) or (b) of this section applies—the
administrator of the company; or
(it) if paragraph (1)(c) of this section applies—the
administrator of the deed;
to beliquidator for the purposes of the winding up; and
(b) the creditors are taken not to have so nominated anyone.

(5) Theliquidator must:
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(a) within 7 days after the day on which the company is taken to
have passed the resolution, lodge a written notice stating that
the company is taken because of this section to have passed
such aresolution and specifying that day; and

(b) cause anotice of that kind to be published, within 21 days
after that day:

(i) inanational newspaper; or

(ii) ineach State or Territory in which the company hasits
registered office or carries on business, in adaily
newspaper that circulates generally in that State or
Territory.

(6) Section 482 appliesin relation to the winding up asif it werea
winding up in insolvency or by the Court.
Note: Section 482 empowers the Court to stay or terminate awinding up and
give consequential directions.

(7) An application under section 482 as applying because of
subsection (6) may be made:

(a) despite subsection 499(4), by the company pursuant to a
resolution of the board; or

(b) by theliquidator; or
(c) by acreditor; or
(d) by acontributory.

446B Regulations may provide for transition in other cases

(1) Theregulations may prescribe cases where:
() acompany under administration; or
(b) acompany that has executed a deed of company arrangement
(even if the deed has terminated);

istaken to have passed a special resolution under section 491 that
the company be wound up voluntarily.

(2) Theregulations may provide for Part 5.5 to apply with prescribed
maodifications in cases prescribed for the purposes of
subsection (1).

Corporations Act 2001 171



Chapter 5 External administration

Part 5.3A Administration of a company’s affairs with aview to executing a deed of
company arrangement

Division 12 Transition to creditors’ voluntary winding up

Section 446B

(3) Without limiting subsection (2), the regulations may provide, in
relation to such cases, for matters of a kind provided for by any of
subsections 446A(2) to (7), inclusive.

(4) Regulationsin force for the purposes of this section have effect
accordingly.
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Division 13—Powers of Court

447A General power to makeorders

(1) The Court may make such order asit thinks appropriate about how
this Part is to operate in relation to a particular company.

(2) For example, if the Court is satisfied that the administration of a
company should end:
() because the company is solvent; or
(b) because provisions of this Part are being abused; or
(c) for some other reason;

the Court may order under subsection (1) that the administration is
to end.

(3) An order may be made subject to conditions.

(4) Anorder may be made on the application of:
(&) the company; or
(b) acreditor of the company; or

(c) inthe case of acompany under administration—the
administrator of the company; or

(d) in the case of acompany that has executed a deed of
company arrangement—the deed’ s administrator; or

(e) ASIC; or
(f) any other interested person.

447B Ordersto protect creditorsduring administration

(1) Onthe application of ASIC, the Court may make such order asit
thinks necessary to protect the interests of a company’s creditors
while the company is under administration.

(2) Onthe application of acreditor of a company, the Court may make
such order asit thinks necessary to protect the creditor’ sinterests
while the company is under administration.

(3) An order may be made subject to conditions.
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447C Court may declare whether administrator validly appointed

(1) If thereisdoubt, on a specific ground, about whether a purported
appointment of a person as administrator of a company, or of a
deed of company arrangement, is valid, the person, the company or
any of the company’s creditors may apply to the Court for an order
under subsection (2).

(2) On an application, the Court may make an order declaring whether
or not the purported appointment was valid on the ground specified
in the application or on some other ground.

447D Administrator may seek directions

(1) Theadministrator of a company under administration, or of a deed
of company arrangement, may apply to the Court for directions
about a matter arising in connection with the performance or
exercise of any of the administrator’ s functions and powers.

(2) The administrator of adeed of company arrangement may apply to
the Court for directions about a matter arising in connection with
the operation of, or giving effect to, the deed.

447E Supervision of administrator of company or deed

(1) Wherethe Court is satisfied that the administrator of a company
under administration, or of a deed of company arrangement:
(@) has managed, or is managing, the company’s business,
property or affairsin away that is prejudicial to the interests
of some or all of the company’s creditors or members; or

(b) has done an act, or made an omission, or proposes to do an
act, or to make an omission, that is or would be prejudicia to
such interests;

the Court may make such order asit thinks just.

(2) Wherethe Court is satisfied that:
(&) acompany isunder administration but:
(i) thereisavacancy in the office of administrator of the
company; or
(ii) no administrator of the company is acting; or
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(b) adeed of company arrangement has not yet terminated but:
(i) thereisavacancy in the office of administrator of the
deed; or
(ii) no administrator of the deed is acting;
the Court may make such order asit thinks just.

(3) Anorder may only be made on the application of ASIC or of a
creditor or member of the company.

447F Effect of Division

Nothing in this Division limits the generality of anything elsein it.
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Division 14—Qualifications of administrators

448A Appointee must consent

A person cannot be appointed as administrator of a company or of
adeed of company arrangement unless:

(a) the person has consented in writing to the appointment; and

(b) asat the time of the appointment, the person has not
withdrawn the consent.

448B Administrator must beregistered liquidator

A person must not consent to be appointed, and must not act, as
administrator of acompany or of a deed of company arrangement
unless he or sheis aregistered liquidator.

448C Disgualification of person connected with company

(1) Subject to this section, a person must not, except with the leave of
the Court, seek or consent to be appointed as, or act as,
administrator of a company or of a deed of company arrangement
if:

(a) the person, or abody corporate in which the person has a
substantial holding, isindebted in an amount exceeding
$5,000 to the company or to a body corporate related to the
company; or

(b) the person is, otherwise than in a capacity as administrator or
liquidator of, or as administrator of a deed of company
arrangement executed by, the company or arelated body
corporate, a creditor of the company or of arelated body
corporate in an amount exceeding $5,000; or

(c) the personisan officer of the company (otherwise than
because of being an administrator or liquidator of, or an
administrator of a deed of company arrangement executed
by, abody corporate related to the company); or

(d) the person isan officer of abody corporate that isa
mortgagee of property of the company; or

(e) the person isan auditor of the company; or
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(f) the person isapartner or employee of an auditor of the
company; or

(g) thepersonisa partner, employer or employee of an officer of
the company; or

(h) the person is apartner or employee of an employee of an
officer of the company.

(2) For the purposes of paragraph (1)(a), disregard a debt owed by a
natural person to a body corporate if:
(a) the body corporateis:
(i) an Australian ADI; or
(if) abody corporate registered under the Life Insurance Act
1995; and
(b) the debt arose because of aloan that the body corporate or
entity made to the person in the ordinary course of its
ordinary business; and
(c) the person used the amount of the loan to pay the whole or
part of the purchase price of premises that the person uses as
their principa place of residence.

(3) For the purposes of subsection (1), aperson is taken to be an
officer or auditor of a company if:

(a) the personisan officer or auditor of the company or of a
related body corporate; or

(b) except where ASIC, if it thinksfit in the circumstances of the
case, directs that this paragraph not apply in relation to the
person—the person has, within the last 2 years, been an
officer, auditor or promoter of the company or of arelated
body corporate.

448D Disgualification of insolvent under administration

A person must not consent to be appointed, and must not act, as
administrator of acompany or of a deed of company arrangement
if he or sheisan insolvent under administration.
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Division 15—Removal, replacement and remuner ation of
administrator

449A Appointment of administrator cannot berevoked

The appointment of a person as administrator of a company or of a
deed of company arrangement cannot be revoked.

449B Court may remove administrator

On the application of ASIC or of a creditor of the company
concerned, the Court may:

(8 remove from office the administrator of a company under
administration or of adeed of company arrangement; and

(b) appoint someone else as administrator of the company or
deed.

449C Vacancy in office of administrator of company

(1) Where the administrator of a company under administration:
(a) dies; or
(b) becomes prohibited from acting as administrator of the
company; or
(c) resigns by notice in writing given to his or her appointer and
to the company;

his or her appointer may appoint someone else as administrator of
the company.

(2) Insubsection (1):

appointer, in relation to the administrator of a company under
administration, means:

(@) if the administrator was appointed by the Court under
section 449B or subsection (6) of this section—the Court; or

(b) otherwise:
(i) if the administration began because of an appointment
under section 436A—the company; or
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(it) if the administration began because of an appointment
under section 436B—a liquidator or provisional
liquidator of the company; or

(iii) if the administration began because of an appointment
under section 436C—a person who is entitled, or would
apart from section 440B or 441D be entitled, to enforce
the charge.

(3) An appointment under subsection (1) by the company under
administration must be made pursuant to a resolution of the board.

(4) Within 5 business days after being appointed under subsection (1)
as administrator of acompany otherwise than by the Court, a
person must convene a meeting of the company’s creditors so that
they may:

(a) determine whether to remove the person from office; and
(b) if so, appoint someone else as administrator of the company.

(5) A person must convene a meeting under subsection (4) by:

(@) giving written notice of the meeting to as many of the
company’s creditors as reasonably practicable; and
(b) causing notice of the meeting to be published:
(i) inanational newspaper; or
(ii) ineach State or Territory in which the company hasits
registered office or carries on business, in adaily
newspaper that circulates generally in that State or
Territory;
at least 2 business days before the meeting.

(6) Where acompany is under administration, but for some reason no
administrator is acting, the Court may appoint a person as
administrator on the application of ASIC or of an officer, member
or creditor of the company.

(7) Subsections (3) and (6) have effect despite section 437C.

449D Vacancy in office of administrator of deed of company
arrangement

(1) Where the administrator of a deed of company arrangement:
(a) dies; or
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(b) becomes prohibited from acting as administrator of the deed;
or

(c) resigns by notice in writing given to the company;
the Court may appoint someone else as administrator of the deed.

(2) Where adeed of company arrangement has not yet terminated, but
for some reason no administrator of the deed is acting, the Court
may appoint a person as administrator of the deed.

(3) An appointment may be made on the application of ASIC or of an
officer, member or creditor of the company.

449E Remuneration of administrator

(1) Theadministrator of a company under administration, or of a deed
of company arrangement, is entitled to:

(a) such remuneration asisfixed by aresolution of the
company’s creditors passed at a meeting convened under
section 439A, or under section 439A or 445F, as the case
may be; or

(b) if no remuneration is so fixed—such remuneration as the
Court fixes on the application of the administrator.

(2) Where remuneration is fixed under paragraph (1)(a), the Court
may, on the application of the administrator or of an officer,
member or creditor of the company:

() review the remuneration; and
(b) confirm, increase or reduceit.

() Subsection (2) has effect despite section 437C.
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Division 16—Notices about stepstaken under Part

450A Appointment of administrator

(1) Where an administrator of a company is appointed under
section 436A, 436B or 436C, the administrator must:
(a) lodge anotice of the appointment before the end of the next
business day after the appointment; and
(b) cause such anoticeto be published, within 3 business days
after the appointment:
(i) inanational newspaper; or
(ii) in each State or Territory in which the company hasits
registered office or carries on business, in adaily
newspaper that circulates generally in that State or
Territory.

(2) Assoon as practicable, and in any event before the end of the next
business day, after appointing an administrator of a company under
section 436C, a person must give to the company a written notice
of the appointment.

(3) Assoon as practicable, and in any event before the end of the next
business day, after an administrator of a company is appointed
under section 436A, 436B or 436C, he or she must give awritten
notice of the appointment to:

(a) each person who holds a charge on the whole, or
substantially the whole, of the company’ s property; and

(b) each person who holds 2 or more charges on property of the
company where the property of the company subject to the
respective charges together constitutes the whole, or
substantially the whole, of the company’s property.

(4) Anadministrator need not give a notice under subsection (3) to the
person who appointed the administrator.

450B Execution of deed of company arrangement

As soon as practicable after a deed of company arrangement is
executed, the deed’ s administrator must:
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(a) send to each creditor of the company awritten notice of the
execution of the deed; and

(b) cause such a notice to be published:
(i) inanational newspaper; or
(ii) ineach State or Territory in which the company hasits
registered office or carries on business, in adaily

newspaper that circulates generaly in that State or
Territory; and

(c) lodge acopy of the deed.

450C Failureto execute deed of company arrangement

As soon as practicable after a company contravenes subsection
444B(2), the deed’ s administrator must:

() lodge a notice that the company has failed to execute the
instrument within the required period; and

(b) cause anotice of the failure to be published as prescribed.

450D Termination of deed of company arrangement

Where a deed of company arrangement terminates because of
paragraph 445C(b), the deed' s administrator must:

(a) lodge anotice of the termination; and
(b) send such a natice to each of the company’s creditors; and
(c) cause such anotice to be published as prescribed.

450E Noticein public documents etc. of company

(1) A company under administration must set out, in every public
document, and in every negotiable instrument, of the company,
after the company’ s name where it first appears, the expression
(“administrator appointed”).

(2) Until adeed of company arrangement terminates, the company
must set out, in every public document, and in every negotiable
instrument, of the company, after the company’ s name where it
first appears, the expression (“subject to deed of company
arrangement”).
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450F Effect of contravention of this Division

A contravention of this Division does not affect the validity of
anything done or omitted under this Part, except so far as the Court
otherwise orders.
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Division 17—M iscellaneous

451A Appointment of 2 or more administrators of company

(1) Where aprovision of this Act provides for an administrator of a
company to be appointed, 2 or more persons may be appointed as
administrators of the company.

(2) Where, because of subsection (1), there are 2 or more
administrators of a company:

(a) afunction or power of an administrator of the company may
be performed or exercised by any one of them, or by any 2 or
more of them together, except so far as the instrument or
resol ution appointing them otherwise provides; and

(b) areferencein thisAct to an administrator, or to the
administrator, of acompany is, in the case of the
first-mentioned company, a reference to whichever one or
more of those administrators the case reguires.

451B Appointment of 2 or more administrators of deed of company
arrangement

(1) Where aprovision of this Act provides for an administrator of a
deed of company arrangement to be appointed, 2 or more persons
may be appointed as administrators of the deed.

(2) Where, because of subsection (1), there are 2 or more
administrators of adeed of company arrangement:

(@) afunction or power of an administrator of the deed may be
performed or exercised by any one of them, or by any 2 or
more of them together, except so far as the deed, or the
resolution or instrument appointing them, otherwise
provides; and

(b) areferencein this Act to an administrator, or to the
administrator, of adeed of company arrangement is, in the
case of the first-mentioned deed, areference to whichever
one or more of those administrators the case requires.
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451C Effect of things done during administration of company

A payment made, transaction entered into, or any other act or thing
done, in good faith, by, or with the consent of, the administrator of
a company under administration:

(a) isvalid and effectual for the purposes of this Act; and

(b) isnot liable to be set aside in awinding up of the company.

451D Timefor doing act does not run while act prevented by this
Part

Where:

(a) for any purpose (for example, the purposes of alaw,
agreement or instrument) an act must or may be done within
aparticular period or before a particular time; and

(b) thisPart prevents the act from being done within that period
or before that time;

the period is extended, or the time is deferred, because of this

section, according to how long this Part prevented the act from
being done.
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Part 5.4—Winding up in insolvency
Division 1—When company to be wound up in insolvency

459A Order that insolvent company be wound up in insolvency

On an application under section 459P, the Court may order that an
insolvent company be wound up in insolvency.

459B Order made on application under section 234, 462 or 464

Where, on an application under section 234, 462 or 464, the Court
is satisfied that the company is insolvent, the Court may order that
the company be wound up in insolvency.

459C Presumptionsto be madein certain proceedings

(1) Thissection has effect for the purposes of:
(a) an application under section 234, 459P, 462 or 464; or

(b) an application for leave to make an application under
section 459P.

(2) The Court must presume that the company isinsolvent if, during or
after the 3 months ending on the day when the application was
made:

(a) the company failed (as defined by section 459F) to comply
with a statutory demand; or

(b) execution or other process issued on ajudgment, decree or
order of an Australian court in favour of a creditor of the
company was returned wholly or partly unsatisfied; or

(c) areceiver, or receiver and manager, of property of the
company was appointed under a power contained in an
instrument relating to a floating charge on such property; or

(d) an order was made for the appointment of such areceiver, or
receiver and manager, for the purpose of enforcing such a
charge; or

(e) aperson entered into possession, or assumed control, of such
property for such a purpose; or
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(f) aperson was appointed so to enter into possession or assume
control (whether as agent for the chargee or for the
company).

(3) A presumption for which this section provides operates except so
far asthe contrary is proved for the purposes of the application.

459D Contingent or prospective liability relevant to whether
company solvent

(1) Indetermining, for the purposes of an application of akind referred
to in subsection 459C(1), whether or not the company is solvent,
the Court may take into account a contingent or prospective
liability of the company.

(2) Subsection (1) does not limit the matters that may be taken into
account in determining, for a particular purpose, whether or not a
company is solvent.
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Division 2—Satutory demand

459E Creditor may serve statutory demand on company

(1) A person may serve on acompany ademand relating to:

(a) asingle debt that the company owes to the person, that is due
and payable and whose amount is at |east the statutory
minimum; or

(b) 2 or more debts that the company owes to the person, that are
due and payable and whose amounts total at least the
statutory minimum.

(2) The demand:

(a) if it relates to a single debt—must specify the debt and its
amount; and

(b) if it relatesto 2 or more debts—must specify the total of the
amounts of the debts; and

(c) must require the company to pay the amount of the debt, or
the total of the amounts of the debts, or to secure or
compound for that amount or total to the creditor’s
reasonabl e satisfaction, within 21 days after the demand is
served on the company; and

(d) must be in writing; and

(e) must bein the prescribed form (if any); and

(f) must be signed by or on behalf of the creditor.

(3) Unlessthe debt, or each of the debts, is ajudgment debt, the
demand must be accompanied by an affidavit that:

(a) verifiesthat the debt, or the total of the amounts of the debts,
is due and payable by the company; and

(b) complieswith the rules.

(4) A person may make a demand under this section relating to a debt
even if the debt is owed to the person as assignee.

(5) A demand under this section may relate to aliability under any of
the following provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936:
(a) section 221F (except subsection 221F(12)), section 221G
(except subsection 221G(4A)) or section 221P;
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(b) subsection 221YHDC(2);
(c) subsection 221YHZD(1) or (1A);
(d) subsection 221Y N(1);
(e) section 222AHA,;
and any of the provisions of Subdivision 16-B in Schedule 1 to the

Taxation Administration Act 1953, even if the liability arose before
1 January 1991.

(6) Subsection (5) isto avoid doubt and is not intended to limit the
generality of areferencein this Act to adebt.

459F When company taken to fail to comply with statutory demand

(1) If, asat the end of the period for compliance with a statutory
demand, the demand is still in effect and the company has not
complied with it, the company istaken to fail to comply with the
demand at the end of that period.

(2) The period for compliance with a statutory demand is:

(a) if the company appliesin accordance with section 459G for
an order setting aside the demand:

(i) if, on hearing the application under section 459G, or on
an application by the company under this paragraph, the
Court makes an order that extends the period for
compliance with the demand—the period specified in
the order, or in the last such order, as the case requires,
as the period for such compliance; or

(i) otherwise—the period beginning on the day when the
demand is served and ending 7 days after the
application under section 459G is finally determined or
otherwise disposed of; or

(b) otherwise—21 days after the demand is served.
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Division 3—Application to set aside statutory demand

459G Company may apply

(1) A company may apply to the Court for an order setting aside a
statutory demand served on the company.

(2) An application may only be made within 21 days after the demand
iS SO served.

(3) An application is made in accordance with this section only if,
within those 21 days:

(@) an affidavit supporting the application is filed with the Court;
and

(b) acopy of the application, and a copy of the supporting
affidavit, are served on the person who served the demand on
the company.

459H Deter mination of application wherethereisa dispute or
offsetting claim

(1) Thissection applies where, on an application under section 459G,
the Court is satisfied of either or both of the following:

(a) that thereis agenuine dispute between the company and the
respondent about the existence or amount of a debt to which
the demand rel ates;

(b) that the company has an offsetting claim.
(2) The Court must cal culate the substantiated amount of the demand

in accordance with the formula:
Admitted total — Offsetting total

where:

admitted total means:

(a) the admitted amount of the debt; or

(b) thetotal of the respective admitted amounts of the debts;
as the case requires, to which the demand relates.

offsetting total means:
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(@) if the Court is satisfied that the company has only one
offsetting claim—the amount of that claim; or

(b) if the Court is satisfied that the company has 2 or more
offsetting claims—the total of the amounts of those claims;
or

(c) otherwise—a nil amount.

(3) If the substantiated amount is less than the statutory minimum, the
Court must, by order, set aside the demand.

(4) If the substantiated amount is at least as great as the statutory
minimum, the Court may make an order:
(a) varying the demand as specified in the order; and
(b) declaring the demand to have had effect, as so varied, as
from when the demand was served on the company.

(5) Inthissection:

admitted amount, in relation to a debt, means:

(a) if the Court is satisfied that there is a genuine dispute
between the company and the respondent about the existence
of the debt—a nil amount; or

(b) if the Court is satisfied that there is a genuine dispute
between the company and the respondent about the amount
of the debt—so much of that amount as the Court is satisfied
is not the subject of such adispute; or

(c) otherwise—the amount of the debt.

offsetting claim means a genuine claim that the company has
against the respondent by way of counterclaim, set-off or
cross-demand (even if it does not arise out of the same transaction
or circumstances as a debt to which the demand relates).

respondent means the person who served the demand on the
company.

(6) This section has effect subject to section 459J.
459J Setting aside demand on other grounds

(1) On an application under section 459G, the Court may by order set
aside the demand if it is satisfied that:
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(a) because of a defect in the demand, substantial injustice will
be caused unless the demand is set aside; or

(b) thereis some other reason why the demand should be set
aside.

(2) Except as provided in subsection (1), the Court must not set aside a
statutory demand merely because of a defect.

459K Effect of order setting aside demand

A statutory demand has no effect while thereisin force under
section 459H or 459J an order setting aside the demand.

459L Dismissal of application
Unless the Court makes, on an application under section 459J, an

order under section 459H or 459, the Court is to dismiss the
application.

459M Order subject to conditions

An order under section 459H or 459J may be made subject to
conditions.

459N Costs where company successful

Where, on an application under section 459G, the Court sets aside
the demand, it may order the person who served the demand to pay
the company’ s costs in relation to the application.
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Division 4—Application for order to wind up company in
insolvency

459P Who may apply for order under section 459A

(1) Any one or more of the following may apply to the Court for a
company to be wound up in insolvency:
(@) the company;
(b) acreditor (even if the creditor is a secured creditor or isonly
acontingent or prospective creditor);
(c) acontributory;
(d) adirector;
(e) aliquidator or provisional liquidator of the company;
(f) ASIC;
(g) aprescribed agency.

(2) An application by any of the following, or by persons including
any of the following, may only be made with the leave of the
Couirt:

(@) aperson who isacreditor only because of a contingent or
prospective debt;

(b) acontributory;
(c) adirector;
(d) ASIC.

(3) The Court may give leaveif satisfied that thereisaprimafacie
case that the company isinsolvent, but not otherwise.

(4) The Court may give leave subject to conditions.

(5) Except as permitted by this section, a person cannot apply for a
company to be wound up in insolvency.
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459Q Application relying on failureto comply with statutory
demand

If an application for a company to be wound up in insolvency relies
on afailure by the company to comply with a statutory demand,
the application:
(&) must set out particulars of service of the demand on the
company and of the failure to comply with the demand; and
(b) must have attached to it:
(i) acopy of the demand; and
(ii) if the demand has been varied by an order under
subsection 459H(4)—a copy of the order; and

(c) unlessthe debt, or each of the debts, to which the demand
relatesis ajudgment debt—must be accompanied by an
affidavit that:

(i) verifiesthat the debt, or the total of the amounts of the
debts, is due and payabl e by the company; and

(ii) complieswith the rules.

459R Period within which application must be deter mined

(1) An application for acompany to be wound up in insolvency isto
be determined within 6 months after it is made.

(2) The Court may by order extend the period within which an
application must be determined, but only if:
(a) the Court is satisfied that specia circumstances justify the
extension; and
(b) the order is made within that period as prescribed by
subsection (1), or as last extended under this subsection, as
the case requires.

(3) An application is, because of this subsection, dismissed if it is not
determined as required by this section.

(4) An order under subsection (2) may be made subject to conditions.
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459S Company may not oppose application on certain grounds

(1) Insofar asan application for a company to be wound up in
insolvency relies on afailure by the company to comply with a
statutory demand, the company may not, without the leave of the
Court, oppose the application on a ground:

(a) that the company relied on for the purposes of an application
by it for the demand to be set aside; or

(b) that the company could have so relied on, but did not so rely
on (whether it made such an application or not).

(2) The Court isnot to grant leave under subsection (1) unlessit is
satisfied that the ground is material to proving that the company is
solvent.

459T Application towind up joint debtorsin insolvency

(1) A single application may be made for 2 or more companies to be
wound up in insolvency if they are joint debtors, whether partners
or not.

(2) On such an application, the Court may order that one or more of
the companies be wound up in insolvency, even if it dismisses the
application in so far asit relates to another or others.
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Part 5.4A—Winding up by the Court on other

grounds

461 General groundson which company may be wound up by Court

(1) The Court may order the winding up of acompany if:

(@) the company has by special resolution resolved that it be

(©

(d)

(€)

(f)

(9

(h)

()

wound up by the Court; or
the company does not commence business within one year
from its incorporation or suspends its business for awhole
year; or
the company has ho members; or
directors have acted in affairs of the company in their own
interests rather than in the interests of the membersas a
whole, or in any other manner whatsoever that appears to be
unfair or unjust to other members; or
affairs of the company are being conducted in a manner that
isoppressive or unfairly prejudicia to, or unfairly
discriminatory against, a member or members or in a manner
that is contrary to the interests of the members asawhole; or
an act or omission, or a proposed act or omission, by or on
behalf of the company, or aresolution, or a proposed
resolution, of a class of members of the company, was or
would be oppressive or unfairly prejudicia to, or unfairly
discriminatory against, a member or members or was or
would be contrary to the interests of the members as awhole;
or
ASIC has stated in areport prepared under Division 1 of
Part 3 of the ASIC Act that, in its opinion:
(i) the company cannot pay its debts and should be wound
up; or
(if) itisintheinterests of the public, of the members, or of
the creditors, that the company should be wound up;
if the application was made by APRA—the Court is of
opinion that it isin the interests of the public, of the members
or of the creditors that the company should be wound up; or
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(k) the Court isof opinion that it isjust and equitable that the
company be wound up.

(2) A company must lodge a copy of a specia resolution referred to in
paragraph (1)(a) with ASIC within 14 days after the resolution is
passed.

462 Standingto apply for winding up

(1) A referencein this section to an order to wind up acompany isa
reference to an order to wind up the company on a ground provided
for by section 461.

(2) Subject to this section, any one or more of the following may apply
for an order to wind up a company:

(a) the company; or

(b) acreditor (including a contingent or prospective creditor) of
the company; or

(c) acontributory; or

(d) theliquidator of the company; or

(e) ASIC pursuant to section 464; or

(f) ASIC (in the circumstances set out in subsection (2A)); or

(h) APRA.

(2A) ASIC may apply for an order to wind up a company under
paragraph (2)(f) only if:
(@) the company has no members; and
(b) ASIC has given the company at least 1 month’ s written
notice of its intention to apply for the order.

(3) A person being, or personsincluding, APRA may only apply for an
order to wind up a company if:
() an inspector has been appointed to make an investigation in
respect of the company under section 52 of the Insurance Act
1973; and
(b) the company’s liabilities within the meaning of Part I11 of

that Act exceed the company’ s assets within the meaning of
that Part.
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(4) The Court must not hear an application by a person being, or
persons including, a contingent or prospective creditor of a
company for an order to wind up the company unless and until:

(a) such security for costs has been given as the Court thinks
reasonable; and

(b) aprimafacie case for winding up the company has been
established to the Court’ s satisfaction.

(5) Except as permitted by this section, a person is not entitled to apply
for an order to wind up a company.

464 Application for winding up in connection with investigation
under ASIC Act

(1) Where ASIC isinvestigating, or has investigated, under Division 1
of Part 3 of the ASIC Act:

(a) matters being, or connected with, affairs of a company; or
(b) mattersincluding such matters;
ASIC may apply to the Court for the winding up of the company.

(2) For the purposes of an application under subsection (1), this Act
applies, with such modifications as the circumstances require, as if
awinding up application had been made by the company.

(3) ASIC must give acopy of an application made under
subsection (1) to the company.
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Part 5.4B—Winding up in insolvency or by the
Court

Divison 1—Gener al

465A Notice of application

A person who applies under section 459P, 462 or 464 for a
company to be wound up must:
(a) lodge notice in the prescribed form that the application has
been made; and
(b) within 14 days after the application is made, serve a copy of
it on the company; and
(c) advertise the application as prescribed by the rules.

465B Substitution of applicants

(1) The Court may by order substitute, as applicant or applicantsin an
application under section 459P, 462 or 464 for a company to be
wound up, a person or persons who might otherwise have so
applied for the company to be wound up.

(2) The Court may only make an order if the Court thinks it
appropriate to do so:
(a) because the application is not being proceeded with diligently
enough; or
(b) for some other reason.

(3) The substituted applicant may be, or the substituted applicants may
be or include, the person who was the applicant, or any of the
persons who were the applicants, before the substitution.

(4) After an order is made, the application may proceed asif the
substituted applicant or applicants had been the origina applicant
or applicants.
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465C Applicant to be given notice of groundsfor opposing
application

On the hearing of an application under section 459P, 462 or 464, a
person may not, without the leave of the Court, oppose the
application unless, within the period prescribed by the rules, the
person has filed, and served on the applicant:
(a) natice of the grounds on which the person opposes the
application; and
(b) an affidavit verifying the matters stated in the notice.

466 Payment of preliminary costs etc.

(1) The persons, other than the company itself or the liquidator of the
company, on whose application any winding up order is made
must, at their own cost, prosecute all proceedingsin the winding up
until aliquidator has been appointed under this Part.

(2) Theliquidator must, unless the Court orders otherwise, reimburse
the applicant out of the property of the company the taxed costs
incurred by the applicant in any such proceedings.

(3) Where the company has no property or does not have sufficient
property and, in the opinion of ASIC, afraud has been committed
by any person in the promotion or formation of the company or by
any officer of the company in relation to the company sinceits
formation, the taxed costs or so much of them asis not reimbursed
under subsection (2) may be reimbursed by ASIC to an amount not
exceeding $1,000.

(4) Where any winding up order is made upon the application of the
company or aliquidator of the company, the costs incurred must,
subject to any order of the Court, be paid out of the property of the
company in like manner asif they were the costs of any other

applicant.
467 Court’s powerson hearing application

(1) Subject to subsection (2) and section 467A, on hearing awinding
up application the Court may:
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(a) dismissthe application with or without costs, even if a
ground has been proved on which the Court may order the
company to be wound up on the application; or

(b) adjourn the hearing conditionally or unconditionally; or
(c) make any interim or other order that it thinksfit.

(2) The Court must not refuse to make awinding up order merely
because:

(a) the property of the company has been mortgaged to an
amount equal to or greater than the value or amount of that
property; or

(b) the company has no property.

(3) The Court may, on the application coming on for hearing or at any
time at the request of the applicant, the company or any person
who has given notice of intention to appear on the hearing of the
application:

(a) direct that any notices be given or any steps be taken before
or after the hearing of the application; and

(b) dispense with any notices being given or steps being taken
that are required by this Act, or by the rules, or by any prior
order of the Court; and

(c) direct that oral evidence be taken on the application or any
matter relating to the application; and

(d) direct aspeedy hearing or trial of the application or of any
issue or matter; and

(e) alow the application to be amended or withdrawn; and

(f) give such directions asto the proceedings as the Court thinks
fit.

(4) Where the application is made by members as contributories on the
ground that it isjust and equitable that the company should be
wound up or that the directors have acted in a manner that appears
to be unfair or unjust to other members, the Court, if it is of the
opinion that:

(a) the applicants are entitled to relief either by winding up the
company or by some other means; and
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©®)

()

(b) in the absence of any other remedy it would be just and
equitable that the company should be wound up;

must make awinding up order unlessit is also of the opinion that
some other remedy is available to the applicants and that they are
acting unreasonably in seeking to have the company wound up
instead of pursuing that other remedy.

Notwithstanding any rule of law to the contrary, the Court must not
refuse to make an order for winding up on the application of a
contributory on the ground that, if the order were made, no
property of the company would be available for distribution among
the contributories.

At any time after the filing of awinding up application and before
awinding up order has been made, the company or any creditor or
contributory may, where any action or other civil proceeding
against the company is pending, apply to the Court to stay or
restrain further proceedings in the action or proceeding, and the
Court may stay or restrain the proceedings accordingly on such
terms asiit thinks fit.

467A Effect of defect or irregularity on application under Part 5.4

or 5.4A

An application under Part 5.4 or 5.4A must not be dismissed
merely because of one or more of the following:
() in any case—adefect or irregularity in connection with the
application;
(b) inthe case of an application for a company to be wound up in
insolvency—a defect in a statutory demand,;
unless the Court is satisfied that substantial injustice has been
caused that cannot otherwise be remedied (for example, by an
adjournment or an order for costs).

467B Court may order winding up of company that is being wound

up voluntarily

The Court may make an order under section 233, 459A, 459B or
461 even if the company is aready being wound up voluntarily.
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468 Avoidance of dispositions of property, attachments etc.

(1) Any disposition of property of the company, other than an exempt
disposition, and any transfer of shares or alteration in the status of
the members of the company made after the commencement of the
winding up by the Court is, unless the Court otherwise orders,
void.

(2) Insubsection (1), exempt disposition, in relation to a company that
has commenced to be wound up by the Court, means:

(a) adisposition made by the liquidator, or by a provisional
liquidator, of the company pursuant to a power conferred on
him or her by:

(i) thisAct; or
(i) rules of the Court that appointed him or her; or
(iii) an order of the Court; or
(@) adisposition made in good faith by, or with the consent of,
an administrator of the company; or
(ab) adisposition under adeed of company arrangement executed
by the company; or

(b) apayment of money by an Australian ADI out of an account
maintained by the company with the Australian ADI, being a
payment made by the Australian ADI:

(i) on or before the day on which the Court makes the order
for the winding up of the company; and

(if) ingood faith and in the ordinary course of the banking
business of the Australian ADI.

(3) Notwithstanding subsection (1), the Court may, where an
application for winding up has been filed but awinding up order
has not been made, by order:

() validate the making, after the filing of the application, of a
disposition of property of the company; or

(b) permit the business of the company or a portion of the
business of the company to be carried on, and such acts as
areincidental to the carrying on of the business or portion of
the business to be done, during the period before awinding
up order (if any) is made;

on such terms as it thinks fit.
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(4) Any attachment, sequestration, distress or execution put in force
against the property of the company after the commencement of
the winding up by the Court isvoid.

469 Application to belispendens

An application for winding up a company constitutes a lis pendens
for the purposes of any law relating to the effect of alis pendens
upon purchasers or mortgagees.

470 Certain noticesto belodged

(1) An applicant (other than ASIC) for the winding up of a company
must:

() lodge, not later than 10.30 am on the next business day after
the filing of the application, notice of the filing of the
application and of the date on which the application was
filed; and

(b) after an order for winding up is made—Ilodge, within 2
business days after the making of the order, notice of the
making of the order, of the date on which the order was made
and of the name and address of the liquidator; and

(c) if the application is withdrawn or dismissed—Iodge, within 2
business days after the withdrawal or dismissal of the
application, notice of the withdrawal or dismissal of the
application and of the date on which the application was
withdrawn or dismissed.

(2) The applicant must, within 7 days after the passing and entering of
awinding up order:
() except where the applicant is ASIC—Ilodge an office copy of
the order; and
(b) serve an office copy of the order on the company or such
other person as the Court directs; and
(c) deliver to theliquidator an office copy of the order together
with a statement that the order has been served as mentioned

in paragraph (b).

(3) Where ASIC appliesfor the winding up of acompany, ASIC must
enter in its records particulars of the application and, after the
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passing and entering of awinding up order, an office copy of the
order, and subsection 1274(2) appliesin relation to the document
containing those particulars and to the office copy asif they were
documents lodged with ASIC.

Corporations Act 2001 205



Chapter 5 External administration
Part 5.4B Winding up in insolvency or by the Court
Division 1A Effect of winding up order

Section 471

Division 1A—Effect of winding up order

471 Effect on creditorsand contributories

An order for winding up a company operates in favour of all the
creditors and contributories of the company asif it had been made
on the joint application of all the creditors and contributories.

471A Powersof other officerssuspended during winding up

(1) While acompany isbeing wound up ininsolvency or by the Court,
a person cannot perform or exercise, and must not purport to
perform or exercise, afunction or power as an officer of the
company, except:

(@) asaliquidator appointed for the purposes of the winding up;
or

(b) asan administrator appointed for the purposes of an
administration of the company beginning after the winding
up order was made; or

(c) with the liquidator’ s written approval; or
(d) with the approval of the Court.

(2) While aprovisiona liquidator of acompany is acting, a person
cannot perform or exercise, and must not purport to perform or
exercise, afunction or power as an officer of the company, except:

(a) asaprovisiona liquidator of the company; or

(b) asan administrator appointed for the purposes of an
administration of the company beginning after the
provisional liquidator was appointed; or

(c) with the provisional liquidator’s written approval; or
(d) with the approva of the Court.

(3) This section does not remove an officer of a company from office.

(4) For the purposes of this section, a person is not an officer of a
company merely because he or sheis:

(a) areceiver and manager, appointed under a power contained
in an instrument, of property of the company; or

(b) an employee of the company.
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471B Stay of proceedings and suspension of enforcement process

While a company is being wound up in insolvency or by the Court,
or aprovisional liquidator of acompany is acting, a person cannot
begin or proceed with:

(@) aproceeding in acourt against the company or in relation to

property of the company; or

(b) enforcement process in relation to such property;
except with the leave of the Court and in accordance with such
terms (if any) as the Court imposes.

471C Secured creditor’srights not affected

Nothing in section 471A or 471B affects a secured creditor’ s right
to realise or otherwise deal with the security.
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Division 2—Court-appointed liquidators

472 Court to appoint official liquidator

(1) On an order being made for the winding up of a company, the
Court may appoint an official liquidator to be liquidator of the
company.

(2) The Court may appoint an official liquidator provisionally at any
time after the filing of awinding up application and before the
making of awinding up order or, if there is an appeal against a
winding up order, before a decision in the appeal is made.

(3) A liquidator appointed provisionally has or may exercise such
functions and powers:

(a) asareconferred on him or her by this Act or by rules of the
Court that appointed him or her; or

(b) asthe Court specifiesin the order appointing him or her.

(4) A liquidator of a company appointed provisionally also has:
(a) power to carry on the company’s business; and

(b) the powersthat aliquidator of the company would have
under paragraph 477(1)(d), subsection 477(2) (except
paragraph 477(2)(m)) and subsection 477(3) if the company
were being wound up in insolvency or by the Court.

(5) Subsections 477(2A) and (2B) apply in relation to a company’s
provisional liquidator, with such modifications (if any) asthe
circumstances require, asif he or she were aliquidator appointed
for the purposes of awinding up in insolvency or by the Court.

(6) The exercise by acompany’s provisional liquidator of the powers
conferred by subsection (4) is subject to the control of the Court,
and a creditor or contributory, or ASIC, may apply to the Court in
relation to the exercise or proposed exercise of any of those
powers.
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473 General provisions about liquidators

(1) A liquidator appointed by the Court may resign or, on cause
shown, be removed by the Court.

(2) A provisiond liquidator is entitled to receive such remuneration by
way of percentage or otherwise as is determined by the Court.

(3) A liquidator isentitled to receive such remuneration by way of
percentage or otherwise as is determined:

(a) if thereisacommittee of inspection—by agreement between
the liquidator and the committee of inspection; or

(b) if thereis no committee of inspection or the liquidator and
the committee of inspection fail to agree:

(i) by resolution of the creditors; or
(i) if no such resolution is passed—Dby the Court.

(4) A meeting of creditors for the purposes of subsection (3) must be
convened by the liquidator by sending to each creditor anoticeto
which is attached a statement of all receipts and expenditure by the
liquidator and of the amount of remuneration sought by him or her.

(5) Where the remuneration of aliquidator is determined in the manner
specified in paragraph (3)(a), the Court may, on the application of:
(@) amember or members whose shareholding or shareholdings
represents or represent in the aggregate at least 10% of the
issued capital of the company; or

(b) acreditor or creditors whose debts against the company that
have been admitted to proof amount in the aggregate to at
least 10% of the total amount of the debts of the creditors of
the company that have been admitted to proof; or

(c) ASIC;
review the liquidator’ s remuneration and may confirm, increase or
reduce that remuneration.

(6) Where the remuneration of aliquidator is determined in the manner
specified in subparagraph (3)(b)(i) the Court may, on the
application of the liquidator or of a member or membersreferred to
in subsection (5), review the liquidator’ s remuneration and may
confirm, increase or reduce that remuneration.
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(7)

(8)

9)

A vacancy in the office of aliquidator appointed by the Court must
be filled by the Court.

If more than one liquidator is appointed by the Court, the Court
must declare whether anything that is required or authorised by this
Act to be done by the liquidator is to be done by all or any one or
more of the persons appointed.

Subject to this Act, the acts of aliquidator are valid
notwithstanding any defects that may afterwards be discovered in
his or her appointment or qualification.

474 Custody and vesting of company’s property

(D

)

©)

If acompany is being wound up in insolvency or by the Court, or a
provisional liquidator of acompany has been appointed, the
liquidator or provisional liquidator must take into his or her
custody or under his or her control all the property to which the
company is or appears to be entitled, and, if thereis no liquidator,
all the property of the company isto be in the custody of the Court.

The Court may, on the application of the liquidator, by order direct
that al or any part of the property of the company vestsin the
liquidator and thereupon the property to which the order relates
vests accordingly and the liquidator may, after giving such
indemnity (if any) asthe Court directs, bring, or may defend, any
action or other legal proceeding that relates to that property or that
it is necessary to bring or defend for the purpose of effectually
winding up the company and recovering its property.

Where an order is made under this section, the liquidator of the
company to which the order relates must, within 14 days after the
making of the order, lodge with ASIC an office copy of the order.

475 Report asto company’s affairsto be submitted to liquidator

(1A)

(D

In this section:
liquidator includes a provisional liquidator.

There must be made out and verified by a statement in writing in
the prescribed form, and submitted to the liquidator, by the persons
who were, at the date of the winding up order or, if the liquidator
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)

©)

(4)

©®)

(6)

specifies an earlier date, that earlier date, the directors and
secretary of the company areport in the prescribed form as to the
affairs of the company as at the date concerned.

The liquidator may, by notice in writing served personally or by
post addressed to the last known address of the person, require one
or more persons included in one or more of the following classes of
persons to make out as required by the notice, verify by a statement
in writing in the prescribed form, and submit to him or her, a
report, containing such information asis specified in the notice as
to the affairs of the company or asto such of those affairs as are
specified in the notice, as at a date specified in the notice:

(a) personswho are or have been officers of the company;

(b) where the company was formed within one year before the
date of the winding up order—persons who have taken part
in the formation of the company;

(c) personswho are employed by the company or have been
employed by the company within one year before the date of
the winding up order and are, in the opinion of the liquidator,
capable of giving the information required;

(d) personswho are, or have been within one year before the
date of the winding up order, officers of, or employed by, a
body corporate that is, or within that year was, an officer of
the company to the affairs of which the report relates;

(e) aperson who was a provisional liquidator of the company.

The liquidator may, in anotice under subsection (2), specify the
information that he or she requires asto affairs of the company by
reference to information required by this Act or the regulations to
be included in any other report, statement or notice under this Act.

A report referred to in subsection (1) must, subject to
subsection (6), be submitted to the liquidator not later than 14 days
after the making of the winding up order.

A person required to submit areport referred to in subsection (2)
must, subject to subsection (6), submit it not later than 14 days
after the liquidator serves notice of the requirement.

Where the liquidator believes there are special reasons for so
doing, he or she may, on an application in writing made to him or
her before the end of the time limited by subsection (4) or (5) for
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the submission by the applicant of areport under subsection (1) or
(2), grant, by notice in writing, an extension of that time.

(7) A liquidator:
(@) must, within 7 days after receiving a report under
subsection (1) or (2), cause a copy of the report to be filed
with the Court and a copy to be lodged; and
(b) must, where he or she gives a notice under subsection (6), as
soon as practicable lodge a copy of the notice.

(8) A person making or concurring in making areport required by this
section and verifying it as required by this section must, subject to
the rules, be allowed, and must be paid by the liquidator out of the
property of the company, such costs and expenses incurred in and
about the preparation and making of the report and the verification
of that report as the liquidator considers reasonable.

(9) A person must not, without reasonable excuse, contravene a
provision of this section other than subsection (7).

(10) A person must not, without reasonable excuse, contravene
subsection (7).

476 Preliminary report by liquidator

A liquidator of acompany must, within 2 months, or such longer
period (if any) as ASIC alows, after receiving areport referred to
in subsection 475(1) or (2), lodge a preliminary report:
(@) inthe case of acompany having a share capital—asto the
amount of capital issued, subscribed and paid up; and
(b) asto the estimated amounts of assets and liabilities of the
company; and
(c) if the company has failed—as to the causes of the failure; and
(d) asto whether, in hisor her opinion, further inquiry is
desirable with respect to a matter relating to the promotion,

formation or insolvency of the company or the conduct of the
business of the company.

477 Powers of liquidator

(1) Subject to this section, aliquidator of acompany may:
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(&) carry on the business of the company so far asis necessary
for the beneficial disposal or winding up of that business; and

(b) subject to the provisions of section 556, pay any class of
creditorsin full; and

(c) make any compromise or arrangement with creditors or
persons claiming to be creditors or having or alleging that
they have any claim (present or future, certain or contingent,
ascertained or sounding only in damages) against the
company or whereby the company may be rendered liable;
and

(d) compromise any calls, liabilities to calls, debts, liahilities
capable of resulting in debts and any claims (present or
future, certain or contingent, ascertained or sounding only in
damages) subsisting or supposed to subsist between the
company and a contributory or other debtor or person
apprehending liability to the company, and all questionsin
any way relating to or affecting the property or the winding
up of the company, on such terms as are agreed, and take any
security for the discharge of, and give a complete discharge
in respect of, any such call, debt, liability or claim.

(2) Subject to this section, aliquidator of a company may:
() bring or defend any legal proceeding in the name and on
behalf of the company; and

(b) appoint asolicitor to assist him or her in his or her duties;
and

(c) sdl or otherwise dispose of, in any manner, al or any part of
the property of the company; and

(ca) exercisethe Court’s powers under subsection 483(3) (except
paragraph 483(3)(b)) in relation to calls on contributories,
and

(d) doall acts and execute in the name and on behalf of the
company all deeds, receipts and other documents and for that
purpose use when necessary a seal of the company; and

(e) subject to the Bankruptcy Act 1966, prove in the bankruptcy
of any contributory or debtor of the company or under any
deed executed under that Act; and

(f) draw, accept, make and indorse any bill of exchange or
promissory note in the name and on behalf of the company;
and

Corporations Act 2001 213



Chapter 5 External administration
Part 5.4B Winding up in insolvency or by the Court
Division 2 Court-appointed liquidators

Section 477

(2A)

(2B)

©)

©)

(g) obtain credit, whether on the security of the property of the
company or otherwise; and

(h) take out letters of administration of the estate of a deceased
contributory or debtor, and do any other act necessary for
obtaining payment of any money due from a contributory or
debtor, or his or her estate, that cannot be conveniently done
in the name of the company; and

(k) appoint an agent to do any business that the liquidator is
unable to do, or that it is unreasonable to expect the
liquidator to do, in person; and

(m) do all such other things as are necessary for winding up the
affairs of the company and distributing its property.

Except with the approval of the Court, of the committee of
inspection or of aresolution of the creditors, aliquidator of a
company must not compromise a debt to the company if the
amount claimed by the company is more than:
(8 if an amount greater than $20,000 is prescribed—the
prescribed amount; or

(b) otherwise—$20,000.

Except with the approval of the Court, of the committee of
inspection or of aresolution of the creditors, aliquidator of a
company must not enter into an agreement on the company’s
behalf (for example, but without limitation, alease or a charge) if:
(a) without limiting paragraph (b), the term of the agreement
may end; or
(b) obligations of a party to the agreement may, according to the
terms of the agreement, be discharged by performance;

more than 3 months after the agreement is entered into, even if the
term may end, or the obligations may be discharged, within those 3
months.

A liquidator of a company is entitled to inspect at any reasonable
time any books of the company and a person who refuses or failsto
alow the liquidator to inspect such books at such atimeis guilty of
an offence.

For the purpose of enabling the liquidator to take out letters of
administration or recover money as mentioned in paragraph (2)(h),
the money due is taken to be due to the liquidator.
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(6) The exercise by the liquidator of the powers conferred by this
section is subject to the control of the Court, and any creditor or
contributory, or ASIC, may apply to the Court with respect to any
exercise or proposed exercise of any of those powers.

(7) Thissection does not apply to cals on sharesin ano liability
company.

478 Application of property; list of contributories

(1) Assoon as practicable after the Court orders that a company be
wound up, the liquidator must:
(a) cause the company’s property to be collected and applied in
discharging the company’ s liabilities; and
(b) consider whether subsection (1A) requires him or her to
settle alist of contributories.

(1A) A liquidator of acompany that is being wound up in insolvency or
by the Court must settle alist of contributoriesif it appearsto him
or her likely that:

(a) either:

(i) there are persons liable as members or past members to
contribute to the company’ s property on the winding up;
or

(ii) therewill be asurplus available for distribution; and
(b) it will be necessary:
(i) to make calls on contributories; or

(ii) to adjust the rights of the contributories among
themselves.

(1B) A liquidator of such acompany may rectify the register of
members so far as required under this Part.

(3) Insettling thelist of contributories the liquidator must distinguish
between persons who are contributoriesin their own right and
persons who are contributories by virtue of representing, or being
liable for the debts of, other persons.

(4) Thelist of contributories, when settled in accordance with the
regulations, is primafacie evidence of the liabilities of the persons
named in the list as contributories.
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®)

Paragraph (1)(b) and subsections (1A), (1B), (3) and (4) do not
apply to ano liability company.

479 Exercise and control of liquidator’s powers

(D

)

©)

(4)

Subject to this Part, the liquidator must, in the administration of the
property of the company and in the distribution of the property
among its creditors, have regard to any directions given by
resolution of the creditors or contributories at any general meeting
or by the committee of inspection, and, in case of conflict, any
directions so given by the creditors or contributories override any
directions given by the committee of inspection.

The liquidator may convene general meetings of the creditors or
contributories for the purpose of ascertaining their wishes, and he
or she must convene meetings at such times as the creditors or
contributories by resolution direct or whenever requested in writing
to do so by at least one-tenth in value of the creditors or
contributories.

The liquidator may apply to the Court for directionsin relation to
any particular matter arising under the winding up.

Subject to this Part, the liquidator must use his or her own
discretion in the management of affairs and property of the
company and the distribution of its property.

480 Release of liquidator and der egistration of company

When the liquidator:

(a) hasrealised al the property of the company or so much of
that property as can in his or her opinion be realised without
needlessly protracting the winding up, and has distributed a
final dividend (if any) to the creditors and adjusted the rights
of the contributories among themselves and made afina
return (if any) to the contributories; or

(b) hasresigned or has been removed from office;

he or she may apply to the Court:

(c) for an order that he or she be released; or

(d) for an order that he or she be released and that ASIC
deregister the company.
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481 Ordersfor release or deregistration

(1) The Court:

)

©)

(4)

©®)

(&) may cause areport on the accounts of the liquidator to be
prepared by the auditor appointed by ASIC under section 539
or by some other registered company auditor appointed by
the Court; and

(b) ontheliquidator complying with al the requirements of the
Court—must take into consideration the report and any
objection against the release of the liquidator that is made by
the auditor or by any creditor, contributory or other person
interested; and

(c) must either grant or withhold the release accordingly.

Where the release of aliquidator is withheld and the Court is
satisfied that the liquidator has been guilty of default, negligence,
breach of trust or breach of duty, the Court may order the
liquidator to make good any loss that the company has sustained by
reason of the default, negligence, breach of trust or breach of duty
and may make such other order asit thinks fit.

An order of the Court releasing the liquidator discharges him or her
from al liability in respect of any act done or default made by him
or her in the administration of the affairs of the company or
otherwise in relation to his or her conduct as liquidator, but any
such order may be revoked on proof that it was obtained by fraud
or by suppression or concealment of any material fact.

Where the liquidator has not previously resigned or been removed,
his or her release operates as aremoval from office.

Where the Court has made:
(a) an order that the liquidator be released; or
(b) an order that the liquidator be released and that ASIC
deregister the company;
the liquidator must, within 14 days after the making of the order,
lodge an office copy of the order.
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Division 3—General powers of Court

482 Power to stay or terminate winding up

(1) At any time during the winding up of a company, the Court may,
on application, make an order staying the winding up either
indefinitely or for alimited time or terminating the winding up on a
day specified in the order.

(1A) An application may be made by:
(a) inany case—the liquidator, or a creditor or contributory, of
the company; or

(b) inthe case of acompany registered under the Life Insurance
Act 1995—APRA.

(2) On such an application, the Court may, before making an order,
direct the liquidator to give areport with respect to arelevant fact
or matter.

(3) Where the Court has made an order terminating the winding up, the
Court may give such directions as it thinks fit for the resumption of
the management and control of the company by its officers,
including directions for the convening of a general meeting of
members of the company to elect directors of the company to take
office upon the termination of the winding up.

(4) The costs of proceedings before the Court under this section and
the costsincurred in convening a meeting of members of the
company in accordance with an order of the Court under this
section, if the Court so directs, forms part of the costs, charges and
expenses of the winding up.

(5) Where an order is made under this section, the company must
lodge an office copy of the order within 14 days after the making
of the order.

483 Delivery of property to liquidator

(1) The Court may require a person who is a contributory, trustee,
receiver, banker, agent or officer of the company to pay, deliver,
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convey, surrender or transfer to the liquidator or provisional
liquidator, as soon as practicable or within a specified period, any
money, property or books in the person’s hands to which the
company is primafacie entitled.

(2) The Court may make an order directing any contributory for the
time being on the list of contributories to pay to the company in the
manner directed by the order any money due from the contributory
or from the estate of the person whom the contributory represents,
exclusive of any money payable by the contributory or the estate
by virtue of any call pursuant to this Act, and may:

(@

(b)

in the case of an unlimited company—allow to the
contributory by way of set-off any money due to the
contributory or to the estate that the contributory represents
from the company on any independent dealing or contract but
not any money due to the contributory as a member of the
company in respect of any dividend or profit; and

in the case of alimited company—make to any director
whose liability is unlimited or to such adirector’ s estate the
like allowance;

and, in the case of any company whether limited or unlimited,
when al the creditors are paid in full, any money due on any
account whatever to a contributory from the company may be
allowed to him, her or it by way of set-off against any subsequent

call.

(3) The Court may, either before or after it has ascertained the
sufficiency of the property of the company:

(@

(b)

make calls on all or any of the contributories for the time
being on thelist of contributories, to the extent of their
liability, for payment of any money that the Court considers
necessary to satisfy the debts and liabilities of the company
and the costs, charges and expenses of winding up and for the
adjustment of the rights of the contributories among
themselves; and

make an order for payment of any calls made by the Court or
the company’ s liquidator;

and, in making a call, may take into consideration the probability
that some of the contributories may partly or wholly fail to pay the

call.
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(3A)
(4)

)

(6)

Subsection (3) does not apply to ano liability company.

The Court may order any contributory, purchaser or other person
from whom money is due to the company to pay the amount due
into a bank named in the order to the account of the liquidator
instead of to the liquidator, and any such order may be enforced in
the same manner asif it had directed payment to the liquidator.

All money and securities paid or delivered into any bank under this
Division are subject in al respects to orders of the Court.

An order made by the Court under this section is, subject to any
right of appeal, conclusive evidence that the money (if any)
thereby appearing to be due or ordered to be paid is due, and all
other pertinent matters stated in the order are taken to be truly
stated as against al personsand in al proceedings.

484 Appointment of special manager

(1)

()

The liquidator may, if satisfied that the nature of the property or
business of the company, or the interests of the creditors or
contributories generally, requires or require the appointment of a
special manager of the property or business of the company other
than himself or herself, apply to the Court, and the Court may
appoint a special manager of the property or businessto act during
such time as the Court directs with such powers, including any of
the powers of areceiver or manager, as are entrusted to him or her
by the Court.

The specia manager:
(&) must give such security and account in such manner asthe
Court directs; and
(b) must receive such remuneration asis fixed by the Court; and
(c) may at any time resign by notice in writing addressed to the
liquidator or may, on cause shown, be removed by the Court.

485 Claimsof creditorsand distribution of property

(D

The Court may fix aday on or before which creditors are to prove
their debts or claims or after which they will be excluded from the
benefit of any distribution made before those debts are proved.
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(2) The Court must adjust the rights of the contributories among
themselves and distribute any surplus among the persons entitled to

it.

(3) The Court may, in the event of the property being insufficient to
satisfy the liabilities, make an order as to the payment out of the
property of the costs, charges and expenses incurred in the winding
up in such order of priority as the Court thinks just.

486 Inspection of books by creditorsand contributories

The Court may make such order for inspection of the books of the
company by creditors and contributories as the Court thinks just,
and any books in the possession of the company may be inspected
by creditors or contributories accordingly, but not further or
otherwise.

486A Court may make order to prevent officer or related entity
from avoiding liability to company

(1) Onthe application of aliquidator or provisional liquidator of a
company, the Court may make one or more of the following:

(@) an order prohibiting, either absolutely or subject to

(b)

(©)

conditions, an officer or related entity of the company from
taking or sending out of thisjurisdiction, or out of Australia,
money or other property of the company or of the officer or
related entity;

an order appointing:

(i) areceiver or trustee, with specified powers, of property
of an officer of the company, or of property of arelated
entity of the company that is a natural person; or

(if) areceiver, or areceiver and manager, with specified
powers, of property of arelated entity of the company
that is not a natural person;

an order requiring an officer of the company, or arelated
entity of the company that is a natural person, to surrender to

the Court his or her passport and any other specified
documents,
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(d) an order prohibiting an officer of the company, or arelated
entity of the company that is a natural person, from leaving
thisjurisdiction, or Australia, without the Court’ s consent.

(2) The Court may only make an order under subsection (1) if:

(a) the company is being wound up in insolvency or by the
Court, or an application has been made for the company to be
so wound up; and

(b) the Court is satisfied that thereis at |east a primafacie case
that the officer or related entity is or will become liable:

(i) to pay money to the company, whether in respect of a
debt, by way of damages or compensation or otherwise;
or

(i) to account for property of the company; and

(c) the Court is also satisfied that there is substantial evidence
that the officer or related entity:

(i) has concealed or removed money or other property, has
tried to do so, or intends to do so; or

(ii) hastried to leavethisjurisdiction or Australia, or
intends to do so;
in order to avoid that liability or its consequences; and

(d) the Court thinks it necessary or desirable to make the order in
order to protect the company’ s rights against the officer or
related entity.

(3) On hearing an application under subsection (1), the Court must
have regard to any relevant application under section 1323.

(4) Before considering an application under subsection (1), the Court
may, if in the Court’sopinion it is desirable to do so, grant an
interim order of the kind applied for that is expressed to have effect
until the application is determined.

(5) The Court must not require an applicant under subsection (1) or
any other person, as a condition of granting an interim order under
subsection (4), to give an undertaking as to damages.

(6) On the application of a person who applied for, or is affected by,
an order under this section, the Court may make afurther order
discharging or varying the first-mentioned order.
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(7) Anorder under subsection (1) may be expressed to operate for a
specified period or until it is discharged by afurther order.

(8) A person must not contravene an order under this section that is
applicable to the person.

(9) Thissection has effect subject to the Bankruptcy Act 1966.

(10) Nothing in this section affects any other powers of the Court.

486B Warrant to arrest person who is absconding, or who has dealt
with property or books, in order to avoid obligationsin
connection with winding up

(1) The Court may issue awarrant for a person to be arrested and
brought before the Court if:

(&) acompany isbeing wound up in insolvency or by the Court,
or an application has been made for a company to be so
wound up; and

(b) the Court is satisfied that the person:

(i) isabout to leave thisjurisdiction, or Australia, in order
to avoid:
(A) paying money payable to the company; or
(B) being examined about the company’ s affairs; or
(C) complying with an order of the Court, or some
other obligation, under this Chapter in
connection with the winding up; or
(ii) has concealed or removed property of the company in
order to prevent or delay the taking of the property into
the liquidator’ s custody or control; or
(iii) has destroyed, concealed or removed books of the
company or is about to do so.

(2) A warrant under subsection (1) may also provide for property or
books of the company in the person’s possession to be seized and
delivered into the custody of a specified person.

(3) A warrant under subsection (1) may only be issued on the
application of:
(@) aliquidator or provisional liquidator of the company; or

(b) ASIC.

Corporations Act 2001 223



Chapter 5 External administration
Part 5.4B Winding up in insolvency or by the Court
Division 3 General powers of Court

Section 487

487 Power to arrest absconding contributory

The Court, at any time before or after making awinding up order,
on proof of probable cause for believing that a contributory is
about to leave thisjurisdiction, or Australia, or otherwiseto
abscond or to remove or conceal any of hisor her property for the
purpose of evading payment of calls or of avoiding examination
respecting affairs of the company, may cause the contributory to be
arrested and held in custody and the books and movable personal
property of the contributory to be seized and safely kept until such
time as the Court orders.

488 Delegation to liquidator of certain powersof Court

(1) Provision may be made by rules or regulations for enabling or
requiring all or any of the powers and duties conferred and
imposed on the Court by this Part in respect of:

(a) the holding and conducting of meetings to ascertain the
wishes of creditors and contributories; and

(b) the paying, delivery, conveyance, surrender or transfer of
money, property or books to the liquidator; and

(c) the adjusting of the rights of contributories among
themselves and the distribution of any surplus among the
persons entitled to it; and

(d) thefixing of atime within which debts and claims must be
proved;

to be exercised or performed by the liquidator as an officer of the
Court and subject to the control of the Court.

(2) Despite anything in rules or regulations made for the purposes of
subsection (1), aliquidator may distribute a surplus only with the
Court’s special leave.

489 Powersof Court cumulative

Any powers conferred on the Court by this Act are in addition to,
and not in derogation of, any existing powers of instituting
proceedings against any contributory or debtor of the company or
the property of any contributory or debtor for the recovery of any
cal or other sums.
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Part 5.5—Voluntary winding up
Divison 1—Resolution for winding up

490 When company cannot wind up voluntarily

Except with the leave of the Court, a company cannot resolve that
it be wound up voluntarily if:
(a) an application for the company to be wound up in insolvency
has been filed; or
(b) the Court has ordered that the company be wound up in
insolvency, whether or not the order was made on such an
application.

491 Circumstancesin which company may be wound up voluntarily

(1) Subject to section 490, a company may be wound up voluntarily if
the company so resolves by special resolution.

(2) A company must:
(a) within 7 days after the passing of aresolution for voluntary
winding up, lodge a printed copy of the resolution; and

(b) within 21 days after the passing of the resolution, cause
notice of the resolution to be published in the Gazette.

493 Effect of voluntary winding up

(1) The company must, from the passing of the resolution, cease to
carry on its business except so far asisin the opinion of the
liquidator required for the beneficial disposal or winding up of that
business, but the corporate state and corporate powers of the
company, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in its
constitution, continue until it is deregistered.

(2) Any transfer of shares, not being a transfer made to or with the
sanction of the liquidator, and any alteration in the status of the
members, made after the passing of the resolution are void.
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494 Declaration of solvency

(1)

)

©)

(4)

Where it is proposed to wind up a company voluntarily, a majority
of the directors may, before the date on which the notices of the
meeting at which the resolution for the winding up of the company
isto be proposed are sent out, make a written declaration to the
effect that they have made an inquiry into the affairs of the
company and that, at a meeting of directors, they have formed the
opinion that the company will be able to pay its debts in full within
aperiod not exceeding 12 months after the commencement of the
winding up.

There must be attached to the declaration a statement of affairs of
the company showing, in the prescribed form:

(a) the property of the company, and the total amount expected

to be realised from that property; and

(b) theliabilities of the company; and

(c) the estimated expenses of winding up;
made up to the latest practicable date before the making of the
declaration.

A declaration so made has no effect for the purposes of this Act
unless:

(a) the declaration is made at the meeting of directorsreferred to
in subsection (1); and

(b) the declaration islodged before the date on which the notices
of the meeting at which the resolution for the winding up of
the company is to be proposed are sent out or such later date
as ASIC, whether before, on or after the first-mentioned date,
alows; and

(c) theresolution for voluntary winding up is passed within the
period of 5 weeks after the making of the declaration or
within such further period after the making of that
declaration as ASIC, whether before or after the end of that
period of 5 weeks, allows.

A director who makes a declaration under this section (including a
declaration that has no effect for the purposes of this Act by reason
of subsection (3)) without having reasonable grounds for his or her
opinion that the company will be ableto pay its debtsin full within
the period stated in the declaration is guilty of an offence.
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(5) If the company iswound up pursuant to aresolution for voluntary
winding up passed within the period of 5 weeks after the making of
the declaration or, if pursuant to paragraph (3)(c) ASIC has
allowed afurther period after the end of that period of 5 weeks,
within that further period, but its debts are not paid or provided for
in full within the period stated in the declaration, it isto be
presumed, unless the contrary is shown, that a director who made
the declaration did not have reasonable grounds for his or her
opinion.
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Division 2—Members voluntary winding up

495 Liquidators

(1) The company in general meeting must appoint aliquidator or

liquidators for the purpose of winding up the affairs and
distributing the property of the company and may fix the
remuneration to be paid to him, her or them.

(2) On the appointment of aliquidator, all the powers of the directors

cease except so far asthe liquidator, or the company in general
meeting with the consent of the liquidator, approves the
continuance of any of those powers.

(3) If avacancy occurs by death, resignation or otherwise in the office

of aliquidator, the company in general meeting may fill the
vacancy by the appointment of aliquidator and fix the
remuneration to be paid to him or her, and for that purpose a
general meeting may be convened by any contributory or, if there
were 2 or more liquidators, by the continuing liquidators.

(4) The meeting must be held in the manner provided by this Act or by

the company’ s constitution or in such manner asis, on application
by any contributory or by the continuing liquidators, determined by
the Court.

496 Duty of liquidator where company turnsout to be insolvent

(1) Where adeclaration has been made under section 494 and the

liquidator is at any time of the opinion that the company will not be
ableto pay or provide for the payment of its debtsin full within the
period stated in the declaration, he or she must do one of the
following as soon as practicable:

(a) apply under section 459P for the company to be wound up in

insolvency;
(b) appoint an administrator of the company under section 436B;
(c) convene ameeting of the company’s creditors;

and if he or she convenes such a mesting, the following
subsections apply.
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)

©)

(4)

©)

(6)

(7)

(8)

The liquidator must send to each creditor with the notice convening
the meeting alist setting out the names of all creditors, the
addresses of those creditors and the estimated amounts of their
claims, as shown in the records of the company.

Unless the Court otherwise orders, nothing in subsection (2)
reguires the liquidator to send, to a creditor whose debt does not
exceed $200, alist of creditors referred to in that subsection, but
the notice convening the meeting that is sent to a creditor to whom
the liquidator is not required to send such alist must specify a
place at which copies of the list referred to in that subsection can
be obtained on request made orally or in writing and, where such a
creditor so requests, the liquidator must as soon as practicable
comply with the reguest.

The liquidator must lay before the meeting a statement of the assets
and liabilities of the company and the notice convening the
meeting must draw the attention of the creditorsto the right
conferred upon them by subsection (5).

The creditors may, at the meeting convened under subsection (1),
appoint some other person to be liquidator for the purpose of
winding up the affairs and distributing the property of the company
instead of the liquidator appointed by the company.

If the creditors appoint some other person under subsection (5), the
winding up must thereafter proceed as if the winding up were a
creditors' voluntary winding up.

The liquidator or, if another person is appointed by the creditors to
be liquidator, the person so appointed must, within 7 days after a
meeting has been held pursuant to subsection (1), lodge anoticein
the prescribed form.

Where the liquidator has convened a meeting under subsection (1)
and the creditors do not appoint aliquidator instead of the
liquidator appointed by the company, the winding up must
thereafter proceed asif the winding up were a creditors’ voluntary
winding up, but the liquidator is not required to convene an annual
meeting of creditors at the end of the first year from the
commencement of the winding up if the meeting held under
subsection (1) was held less than 3 months before the end of that
year.

Corporations Act 2001 229



Chapter 5 External administration
Part 5.5 Voluntary winding up
Division 3 Creditors voluntary winding up

Section 497

Division 3—Creditors voluntary winding up

497 Meeting of creditors

(1) The company must cause a meeting of the creditors of the
company to be convened for the day, or the day next following the
day, on which there isto be held the meeting at which the
resolution for voluntary winding up is to be proposed, and must
cause the notices of the meeting of creditors to be sent by post to
the creditors simultaneously with the sending of the notices of the
meeting of the company.

(2) The company must convene a meeting at a date, time and place
convenient to the majority in value of the creditors and must:

(@) givetothe creditors at least 7 days notice by post of the
meeting; and
(b) send to each creditor with the notice:

(i) asummary of the affairs of the company in the
prescribed form; and

(ii) alist setting out the names of all creditors, the addresses
of those creditors and the estimated amounts of their
claims, as shown in the records of the company;

(c) lodge, not less than 7 days before the day fixed for the
holding of the meeting, a copy of the notice given under
paragraph (&) and of the documents that accompanied that
notice in accordance with paragraph (b); and

(d) publish, not lessthan 7 days, nor more than 14 days, before
the day fixed for the holding of the meeting, a copy of the
notice given or to be given under paragraph (a) in each State,
Territory or externa Territory in which the company carries
on business or has carried on business at any time during the
2 yearsimmediately preceding that day in adaily newspaper
circulating generally in that State, Territory or external
Territory.

(3) Unlessthe Court otherwise orders, nothing in subsection (2)
requires the company to send, to a creditor whose debt does not
exceed $200, alist of creditorsreferred toin
subparagraph (2)(b)(ii), but the notice convening the meeting that
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is sent to a creditor to whom the company is not required to send
such alist must specify a place at which copies of the list referred
to in that subparagraph can be obtained on request made orally or
in writing and, where such a creditor so requests, the company
must as soon as practicable comply with the request.

(4) If the company contravenes subsection (1) or (2):
(a) the company is not guilty of an offence by virtue of this
section or section 1311; and

(b) aperson involved in the contravention contravenes this
subsection.

(5) Thedirectors of the company must:

(a) causeto belaid before the meeting of creditorsareport in the
prescribed form, and verified by all the directors, asto the
affairs of the company, made up to the latest practicable date
before the notices of the meeting were sent; and

(b) appoint one of their number to attend the meeting.

(6) Thedirector so appointed and a secretary (if the company has one)
must attend the meeting and disclose to the meeting the affairs of
the company and the circumstances leading up to the proposed
winding up. If the company has 2 or more directors, the director so
appointed must not also attend in the capacity of a secretary.

(7) Thedirectors of the company must, not later than 7 days after the
report referred to in paragraph (5)(a) is laid before the meeting of
creditors as mentioned in that paragraph, lodge a copy of the report
with ASIC.

(8) The creditors may appoint one of their number or the director
appointed under subsection (5) to preside at the meeting.

(9) The chair must, at the meeting, determine whether the meeting has
been held at a date, time and place convenient to the majority in
value of the creditors and his or her decisionisfinal.

(10) At ameeting of creditors held under this section the creditors may
determine the matters referred to in paragraphs 548(1)(a) and (b)
and, where the creditors so determine those matters, a meeting of
the creditors for the purposes of section 548 is taken to have been
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held and the determinations are taken to have been made under that
section.

498 Power to adjourn meeting

(D

)

©)

(4)

A meeting convened under section 497 may by resolution be
adjourned from time to time to atime and day specified in the
resolution but must not be adjourned to aday later than 21 days
after the day for which the meeting was originally convened.

Where a meeting is adjourned, the adjourned meeting must, unless
it is otherwise provided by the resolution by which it is adjourned,
be held at the same place as the original meeting.

Where a meeting is adjourned to a day more than 8 days after the
passing of the resolution by which it is adjourned, the company
must cause notice of the day, time and place of the resumption of
the meeting to be published, in a daily newspaper circulating
generally in the State or Territory in which the resumed meeting is
to be held, at least 7 days before that day.

If the meeting of the company is adjourned and the resolution for
winding up is passed at an adjourned meeting, any resolution
passed at the meeting of the creditors has effect as if it had been
passed immediately after the passing of the resolution for winding

up.

499 Liquidators

(1)

)

The company must, and the creditors may, at their respective
meetings nominate a person to be liquidator for the purpose of
winding up the affairs and distributing the property of the company
and, if the creditors and the company nominate different persons,
the person nominated by the creditorsis to be liquidator but, if no
person is nominated by the creditors, the person nominated by the
company isto be liquidator.

Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (1), where different
persons are nominated, any director or member may, within 7 days
after the date on which the nomination was made by the creditors,
apply to the Court for an order directing that the person nominated
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©)

(4)

®)

as liquidator by the company isto be liquidator instead of or jointly
with the person nominated by the creditors.

The committee of inspection, or, if there is no such committee, the
creditors, may fix the remuneration to be paid to the liquidator.

On the appointment of aliquidator, the powers of the directors
cease except so far as the committee of inspection, or, if thereisno
such committee, the creditors, approve the continuance of any of
those powers.

If aliquidator, other than aliquidator appointed by or by the
direction of the Court, dies, resigns or otherwise vacates his or her
office, the creditors may fill the vacancy and, for the purpose of so
doing, a meeting of the creditors may be convened by any 2 of
their number.

500 Execution and civil proceedings

(1)

)

©)

Any attachment, sequestration, distress or execution put in force
against the property of the company after the passing of the
resolution for voluntary winding up is void.

After the passing of the resolution for voluntary winding up, no
action or other civil proceeding isto be proceeded with or
commenced against the company except by leave of the Court and
subject to such terms as the Court imposes.

The Court may require any contributory, trustee, receiver, banker,
agent or officer of the company to pay, deliver, convey, surrender
or transfer forthwith or within such time as the Court directs to the
liquidator any money, property or booksin his, her or its handsto
which the company is prima facie entitled.
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Division 4—Voluntary winding up generally

501 Distribution of property of company

Subject to the provisions of this Act as to preferential payments,
the property of a company must, on its winding up, be applied in
satisfaction of itsliabilities equally and, subject to that application,
must, unless the company’ s constitution otherwise provides, be
distributed among the members according to their rights and
interests in the company.

502 Appointment of liquidator

If from any cause there is no liquidator acting, the Court may
appoint aliquidator.

503 Removal of liquidator

The Court may, on cause shown, remove aliquidator and appoint
another liquidator.

504 Review of liquidator’sremuneration

Any member or creditor, or the liquidator, may at any time before
the deregistration of the company apply to the Court to review the
amount of the remuneration of the liquidator, and the decision of
the Court isfinal and conclusive.

505 Actsof liquidator valid etc.

(1) Theactsof aliquidator are valid notwithstanding any defects that
may afterwards be discovered in his or her appointment or
qualification.

(2) A conveyance, assignment, transfer, mortgage, charge or other
disposition of acompany’s property made by aliquidator is,
notwithstanding any defect or irregularity affecting the validity of
the winding up or the appointment of the liquidator, valid in favour
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of any person taking such property in good faith and for value and
without actual knowledge of the defect or irregularity.

(3) A person making or permitting a disposition of property to a
liquidator is to be protected and indemnified in so doing
notwithstanding any defect or irregularity affecting the validity of
the winding up or the appointment of the liquidator that is not then
known to that person.

(4) For the purposes of this section, a disposition of property istaken
to include a payment of money.

506 Powersand duties of liquidator

(1) Theliquidator may:
(b) exercise any of the powersthat this Act conferson a
liquidator in awinding up in insolvency or by the Court; or
(c) exercisethe power under section 478 of aliquidator
appointed by the Court to settle alist of contributors; or

(d) exercisethe Court’s powers under subsection 483(3) (except
paragraph 483(3)(b)) in relation to calls on contributories; or

(e) exercisethe power of the Court of fixing atime within which
debts and claims must be proved; or

(f) convene a general meeting of the company for the purpose of
obtaining the sanction of the company by specia resolution
in respect of any matter or for any other purpose he or she
thinks fit.

(1A) Subsections 477(2A) and (2B) apply in relation to the liquidator as
if:
(@) heor shewere aliquidator in awinding up in insolvency or
by the Court; and

(b) in the case of amembers' voluntary winding up—areference
in those subsections to an approval were areference to the
approval of aspecial resolution of the company.

(1B) The company must lodge a copy of a special resolution referred to
in paragraph (1A)(b) with ASIC within 14 days after the resolution
is passed.
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)

©)

(4)

A list of contributories settled in accordance with paragraph (1)(c)
is prima facie evidence of the liability of the persons named in the
list to be contributories.

The liquidator must pay the debts of the company and adjust the
rights of the contributories among themselves.

When several liquidators are appointed, any power given by this
Act may be exercised by such one or more of them asis
determined at the time of their appointment, or in default of such
determination, by any number not less than 2.

507 Power of liquidator to accept sharesetc. as consideration for

(D

)

©)

(4)

sale of property of company

This section applies where it is proposed to transfer or sell to a
body corporate the whole or a part of the business or property of a
company.

The liquidator of the company may, with the sanction of a special
resolution of the company conferring on the liquidator either a
general authority or an authority in respect of a particular
arrangement, enter into an arrangement under which, in
compensation or part compensation for the transfer or sale;

(a) theligquidator isto receive shares, debentures, policies or
other like interestsin the body corporate for distribution
among the members of the company; or

(b) the members of the company may, instead of, or aswell as,
receiving cash, shares, debentures, policies or other like
interests in the body corporate, participate in the profits of, or
receive any other benefit from, the body corporate.

A transfer, sale or arrangement under this section is binding on the
members of the company.

If amember of the company who did not vote in favour of a special
resol ution expresses dissent from the resolution in writing
addressed to the liquidator and left at the office of the liquidator
within 7 days after the passing of the resolution, the member may
require the liquidator either to abstain from carrying the resolution
into effect or to purchase the member’sinterest at a priceto be
determined by agreement or by arbitration under this section.
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(5) If theliquidator electsto purchase the member’ sinterest, the
purchase money must be paid before the company is deregistered
and be raised by the liquidator in such manner asis determined by
special resolution.

(6) A specia resolution isnot invalid for the purposes of this section
because it is passed before, or concurrently with, aresolution for
voluntary winding up or for appointing liquidators but, if an order
for winding up the company by the Court is made within 1 year
after the passing of the resolution, the resolution is not valid unless
sanctioned by the Court.

(7) For the purposes of an arbitration under this section, the agreed
arbitration law applies asif there were a submission for reference
to 2 arbitrators, one to be appointed by each party.

(7A) Partiesto the arbitration may agree on the State or Territory in this
jurisdiction whose law is to govern the arbitration. The agreed
arbitration law isthe law of that State or Territory relating to
commercia arbitration.

(8) The appointment of an arbitrator may be made in writing signed
by:
(a) if thereisonly one liguidator—the liquidator; or

(b) if thereis more than one liquidator—any 2 or more of the
liquidators.

(9) The Court may give any directions necessary for theinitiation and
conduct of the arbitration and any such direction is binding on the
parties.

(20) In the case of acreditors voluntary winding up, the powers of the
liquidator under this section must not be exercised except with the
approval of the Court or the committee of inspection.

(11) The company must lodge a copy of a special resolution referred to
in subsection (2) or (5) with ASIC within 14 days after the
resolution is passed.

508 Annual meeting of creditors

(1) If the winding up continues for more than 1 year, the liquidator
must:
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)

(@) inthe case of amembers' voluntary winding up—convene a
general meeting of the company; or

(b) inthe case of acreditors voluntary winding up—convene a
general meeting of the company and a meeting of the
creditors,

within 3 months after the end of the first year from the
commencement of the winding up and the end of each succeeding
year, and must lay before the meeting or each meeting an account
of hisor her acts and dealings and of the conduct of the winding up
during that first year or that succeeding year, as the case may be.

The liquidator must cause the notices of the meeting of creditorsto
be sent by post to the creditors simultaneously with the sending of
the notices of the meeting of the company.

509 Final meeting and deregistration

(D

)

©)

(4)

As soon as the affairs of the company are fully wound up, the
liquidator must make up an account showing how the winding up
has been conducted and the property of the company has been
disposed of and, when the account is so made up, he or she must
convene a general meeting of the company, or, in the case of a
creditors voluntary winding up, a meeting of the creditors and
members of the company, for the purpose of laying before it the
account and giving any explanation of the account.

The meeting must be convened by an advertisement published in
the Gazette at least 1 month before the meeting specifying the date,
time, place and purpose of the meeting.

The liquidator must, within 7 days after the meeting, lodge areturn
of the holding of the meeting and of its date with a copy of the
account attached to the return.

At ameeting of the company, 2 members constitute a quorum and,
at a meeting of the creditors and members of the company, 2
creditors and 2 members constitute a quorum and, if aquorumis
not present at the meeting, the liquidator must, in place of the
return mentioned in subsection (3), lodge a return (with account
attached) stating that the meeting was duly convened and that no
guorum was present and, upon such areturn being lodged, the
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®)

(6)

()

provisions of that subsection as to the lodging of the return are
taken to have been complied with.

ASI C must deregister at the end of 3 month period

ASIC must deregister the company at the end of the 3 month
period after the return was lodged.

ASIC must deregister on a day specified by the Court

On application by the liquidator or any other interested party, the
Court may make an order that ASIC deregister the company on a
specified day. The Court must make the order before the end of the
3 month period after the return was lodged.

The person on whose application an order of the Court under this
section is made must, within 14 days after the making of the order,
lodge an office copy of the order.

510 Arrangement: when binding on creditors

(1)

(1A)

)

©)

An arrangement entered into between a company about to be, or in
the course of being, wound up and its creditorsis, subject to
subsection (4):
(@) binding on the company if sanctioned by a special resolution;
and
(b) binding on the creditorsif sanctioned by a resolution of the
creditors.

The company must lodge a copy of a special resolution referred to
in paragraph (1)(a) with ASIC within 14 days after the resolution is
passed.

A creditor must be accounted a creditor for value for such sum as
upon an account fairly stated, after allowing the value of security
or liens held by the creditor and the amount of any debt or set-off
owing by the creditor to the company, appears to be the balance
due to the creditor.

A dispute about the value of any such security or lien or the
amount of any such debt or set-off may be settled by the Court on
the application of the company, the liquidator or the creditor.
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(4) A creditor or contributory may, within 3 weeks after the
completion of the arrangement, appeal to the Court in respect of
the arrangement, and the Court may confirm, set aside or modify
the arrangement and make such further order asit thinks just.

511 Application to Court to have questions determined or powers
exer cised

(1) Theliquidator, or any contributory or creditor, may apply to the
Court:
(a) to determine any question arising in the winding up of a
company; or
(b) to exercisedl or any of the powers that the Court might
exercise if the company were being wound up by the Court.

(1A) APRA may apply to the Court under subsection (1) in relation to a
company that is afriendly society within the meaning of the Life
Insurance Act 1995 and which may be wound up voluntarily under
subsection 180(2) of that Act.

(2) The Court, if satisfied that the determination of the question or the
exercise of power will be just and beneficial, may accede wholly or
partialy to any such application on such terms and conditions asit
thinks fit or may make such other order on the application asit
thinks just.

512 Costs

All proper costs, charges and expenses of and incidental to the
winding up (including the remuneration of the liquidator) are
payable out of the property of the company in priority to all other
claims.
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Part 5.6—Winding up generally
Division 1—Preliminary

513 Application of Part

Except so far as the contrary intention appears, the provisions of
this Act about winding up apply in relation to the winding up of a
company whether in insolvency, by the Court or voluntarily.
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Division IA—When winding up taken to begin

513A Winding up ordered by the Court

If the Court orders under section 233, 459A, 459B or 461 that a
company be wound up, the winding up is taken to have begun or
commenced:

(@) if, when the order was made, awinding up of the company
was already in progress—when the last-mentioned winding
up is taken because of this Division to have begun or
commenced; or

(b) if, immediately before the order was made, the company was
under administration—on the section 513C day in relation to
the administration; or

(o) if:

(i) when the order was made, a provisional liquidator of the
company was acting; and
(if) immediately before the provisiona liquidator was
appointed, the company was under administration;
on the section 513C day in relation to the administration; or

(dy if, immediately before the order was made, a deed of
company arrangement had been executed by the company
and had not yet terminated—on the section 513C day in
relation to the administration that ended when the deed was
executed; or

(e) otherwise—on the day when the order was made.

513B Voluntary winding up

Where a company resolves by special resolution that it be wound
up voluntarily, the winding up is taken to have begun or
commenced:

(@) if, when the resolution was passed, awinding up of the
company was already in progress—when the last-mentioned
winding up istaken because of this Division to have begun or
commenced; or
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(b) if, immediately before the resolution was passed, the
company was under administration—on the section 513C day
in relation to the administration; or

(c) if, immediately before the resolution was passed, a deed of
company arrangement had been executed by the company but
had not yet terminated—on the section 513C day in relation
to the administration that ended when the deed was executed;
or

(d) if the resolution is taken to have been passed because, at a
meeting convened under section 445F, the company’s
creditors:

(i) passed aresolution terminating a deed of company
arrangement executed by the company; and
(ii) aso resolved under section 445E that the company be
wound up;
on the section 513C day in relation to the administration that
ended when the deed was executed;
(e) otherwise—on the day on which the resolution was passed.

513C Section 513C day in relation to an administration under
Part 5.3A

The section 513C day in relation to the administration of a
company is.

(@) if, when the administration began, awinding up of the
company was in progress—the day on which the winding up
is taken because of this Division to have begun; or

(b) otherwise—the day on which the administration began.

513D Validity of proceedingsin earlier winding up

Where, at the time when:
(@) the Court orders under section 233, 459A, 459B or 461 that a
company be wound up; or
(b) acompany resolves by specia resolution that it be wound up
voluntarily;
awinding up of the company is aready in progress, all proceedings
in the last-mentioned winding up are taken to have been valid,
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except so far as the Court otherwise orders because fraud or
mistake has been proved.
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Division 2—Contributories

514 Where Division applies
(1) ThisDivision applies where acompany iswound up.

(2) ThisDivision does not apply to the winding up of ano liability
company.

515 General liability of contributory

Subject to this Division, a present or past member isliable to

contribute to the company’ s property to an amount sufficient:

(a) to pay the company’s debts and liabilities and the costs,
charges and expenses of the winding up; and

(b) to adjust the rights of the contributories among themselves.

516 Company limited by shares

Subject to sections 518 and 519, if the company is a company
limited by shares, a member need not contribute more than the
amount (if any) unpaid on the shares in respect of which the
member isliable as a present or past member.

517 Company limited by guarantee

Subject to sections 518 and 519, if the company is a company
limited by guarantee, a member need not contribute more than the
amount the member has undertaken to contribute to the company’s
property if the company iswound up.

518 Company limited both by sharesand by guarantee

Subject to section 519, if the company is a company limited both
by shares and by guarantee, neither of sections 516 and 517 applies
but the member need not contribute more than the aggregate of the
following:
(@) the amount (if any) unpaid on shares in respect of which the
member is liable as a present or past member;
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(b) the amount that the member has undertaken to contribute to
the company’ s property if the company iswound up.

519 Exceptionsfor former unlimited company

Despite sections 516, 517 and 518, if the company is alimited
company and became a limited company by virtue of a change of
status, the amount that a member at the time of the change of
status, or a person who at that time was a past member, isliable to
contribute in respect of the company’s debts and liabilities
contracted before that time is unlimited.

520 Past member: later debts

A past member need not contribute in respect of a debt or liability
of the company contracted after the past member ceased to be a
member.

521 Person ceasing to be a member ayear or more before winding
up

Subject to section 523, a past member need not contribute if he, she
or it was amember at no time during the year ending on the day of
the commencement of the winding up.

522 Present membersto contribute first

Subject to paragraph 523(b), a past member need not contribute
unlessit appearsto the Court that the existing members are unable
to satisfy the contributions they are liable to make under this Act.

523 Past member of former unlimited company

If an unlimited company changes to alimited company under
section 164, a past member who was a member at the time of the
changeisliable:

() despite section 521; and
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(b) if no person who was a member at that time is a member at
the commencement of the winding up—despite section 522;
to contribute in respect of the company’ s debts and liabilities
contracted before that time.

524 Past member of former limited company

If alimited company changes to an unlimited company under
section 164, a person who, at the time when the company applied
for the change, was a past member and did not again become a
member after that time need not contribute more than they would
have been liable to contribute if the company had not changed

type.

526 Liability on certain contracts

Nothing in this Act invalidates a provision, in apolicy of insurance
or other contract, whereby the liability of individual members on
the policy or contract is restricted or whereby the funds of the
company are alone made liable in respect of the policy or contract.

527 Nature of contributory’sliability

A contributory’s liability is of the nature of a specialty debt
according to the law of the Capital Territory accruing due from the
contributory when the contributory’ s liability commenced but
payable at the times when calls are made for enforcing the liability.

528 Death of contributory

If acontributory dies, whether before or after being placed on the
list of contributories:

(@) hisor her personal representatives are liable in due course of
administration to contribute to the company’s property in
discharge of his or her liability to contribute and are
contributories accordingly; and

(b) if hisor her personal representatives default in paying any
money that they are ordered to pay—jproceedings may be
taken for administering his or her estate and for compelling
payment, out of the assets of that estate, of the money due.
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529 Bankruptcy of contributory

If a contributory becomes an insolvent under administration, or
assigns his or her estate for the benefit of his or her creditors,
whether before or after being placed on the list of contributories:
(@) hisor her trustee is to represent him or her for the purposes
of the winding up and is to be a contributory accordingly;
and
(b) callsaready made, and the estimated value of hisor her
liability to future calls, may be proved against his or her
estate.
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Division 3—Liquidators

530A Officersto help liquidator

(1) Assoon as practicable after the Court orders that a company be
wound up or appoints a provisional liquidator of a company, or a
company resolves that it be wound up, each officer of the company
must:

(a) deliver to the liguidator appointed for the purposes of the
winding up, or to the provisional liquidator, as the case may
be, all booksin the officer’s possession that relate to the
company, other than books possession of which the officer is
entitled, as against the company and the liquidator or
provisional liquidator, to retain; and

(b) if the officer knows where other books relating to the
company are—tell the liquidator or provisional liquidator
where those books are.

(2) Where acompany is being wound up, or a provisional liquidator of
acompany is acting, an officer of the company must:
(a) attend on the liquidator or provisional liquidator at such
times; and
(b) givetheliquidator or provisional liquidator such information
about the company’ s business, property, affairs and financial
circumstances; and
(c) attend such meetings of the company’s creditors or members;
asthe liquidator or provisional liquidator reasonably requires.

(3) Anofficer of acompany that is being wound up must do whatever
the liquidator reasonably requires the officer to do to help in the
winding up.

(4) An officer of acompany must do whatever a provisional liquidator
of the company reasonably requires the officer to do to help in the
performance or exercise of any of the provisional liquidator’s
functions and powers.

(5) Theliquidator or provisional liquidator of a company may require
an officer of the company:
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(a) totell theliquidator the officer’ sresidential address and work
or business address; or

(b) to keep the liquidator informed of any change in either of
those addresses that happens during the winding up.

(6) A person must not, without reasonable excuse, fail to comply with
subsection (1), (2), (3) or (4), or with arequirement under
subsection (5).

(7) Inthissection:

officer, in relation to a company, means a person who is, or has
been but is no longer, an officer (as defined by section 82A) of the
company.

(8) However, aperson isnot an officer of a company for the purposes
of this section merely because he or sheis or has been an employee
of the company.

(9) Nothing in this section limits the generality of anything elseinit.

530B Liquidator’srightsto company’sbooks

(1) A personisnot entitled, as against the liquidator of a company:
(a) toretain possession of books of the company; or
(b) to claim or enforce alien on such books;
but such alien is not otherwise prejudiced.

(2) Paragraph (1)(a) does not apply in relation to books of which a
secured creditor of the company is entitled to possession otherwise
than because of alien, but the liquidator is entitled to inspect, and
make copies of, such books at any reasonable time.

(3) A person must not hinder or obstruct a liquidator of a company in
obtaining possession of books of the company, unless the person is
entitled, as against the company and the liquidator, to retain
possession of the books.

(4) Theliquidator of a company may give to a person awritten notice
requiring the person to deliver to the liquidator, as specified in the
notice, books so specified that are in the person’ s possession.
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(5) A notice under subsection (4) must specify a period of at least 3
days as the period within which the notice must be complied with.

(6) A person must comply with anotice under subsection (4) except so
far asthe person is entitled, as against the company and the
liquidator, to retain possession of the books.

(7) Inthissection:

liguidator includes a provisional liquidator.

530C Warrant to search for, and seize, company’s property or
books

(1) The Court may issue awarrant under subsection (2) if:
(a) acompany isbeing wound up or aprovisional liquidator of a
company is acting; and
(b) on application by the liquidator or provisional liquidator, as
the case may be, or by ASIC, the Court is satisfied that a
person:

(i) has concealed or removed property of the company with
the result that the taking of the property into the custody
or control of the liquidator or provisional liquidator will
be prevented or delayed; or

(ii) has concealed, destroyed or removed books of the
company or is about to do so.

(2) Thewarrant may authorise a specified person, with such help asis
reasonably necessary:

(a) to search for and seize property or books of the company in
the possession of the person referred to in subsection (1); and

(b) to deliver, as specified in the warrant, property or books
seized under it.

(3) Inorder to seize property or books under the warrant, the specified
person may break open a building, room or receptacle where the
property is or the books are, or where the person reasonably
believes the property or booksto be.

(4) A person who has custody of property or a book because of the
execution of the warrant must retain it until the Court makes an
order for its disposal.
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531 Booksto bekept by liquidator

A liquidator or provisional liquidator must keep proper booksin
which he or she must cause to be made entries or minutes of
proceedings at meetings and of such other matters as are
prescribed, and any creditor or contributory may, unless the Court
otherwise orders, personally or by an agent inspect them.

532 Disgualification of liquidator

(1A) Inthissection:
liquidator includes a provisional liquidator.

(1) Subject to this section, a person must not consent to be appointed,
and must not act, as liquidator of a company unless he or sheis:

(a) aregistered liquidator; or
(b) registered as aliquidator of that company under subsection
1282(3).

(2) Subject to this section, a person must not, except with the leave of
the Court, seek to be appointed, or act, as liquidator of a company:

(a) if the person, or abody corporate in which the person has a
substantial holding, isindebted in an amount exceeding
$5,000 to the company or a body corporate related to the
company; or

(b) if the personis, otherwise than in his or her capacity as
liquidator, a creditor of the company or of arelated body
corporate in an amount exceeding $5,000; or

(o) if:

(i) the personisan officer of the company (otherwise than
by reason of being aliquidator of the company or of a
related body corporate); or

(ii) the person isan officer of any body corporate that isa
mortgagee of property of the company; or

(iii) the person isan auditor of the company; or
(iv) the person isa partner or employee of an auditor of the
company; or
(v) theperson isa partner, employer or employee of an
officer of the company; or
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(vi) the person isa partner or employee of an employee of
an officer of the company.

(3) For the purposes of paragraph (2)(a), disregard a debt owed by a
natural person to a body corporate if:
(a) the body corporateis:
(i) an Australian ADI; or

(ii) abody corporate registered under the Life Insurance Act
1995; and

(b) the debt arose because of aloan that the body corporate or
entity made to the person in the ordinary course of its
ordinary business; and

(c) the person used the amount of the loan to pay the whole or
part of the purchase price of premises that the person uses as
their principal place of residence.

(4) Subsection (1) and paragraph (2)(c) do not apply to a members
voluntary winding up of aproprietary company.

(5) Paragraph (2)(c) does not apply to a creditors’ voluntary winding
up if, by aresolution of the creditors passed at a meeting of the
creditors of which 7 days notice has been given to every creditor
stating the purpose of the meeting, it is determined that that
paragraph does not so apply.

(6) For the purposes of subsection (2), aperson istaken to be an
officer or auditor of acompany if:
(a) the personisan officer or auditor of arelated body corporate;
or

(b) except where ASIC, if it thinksfit in the circumstances of the
case, directs that this paragraph does not apply in relation to
the person—the person has, at any time within the
immediately preceding period of 2 years, been an officer,
auditor or promoter of the company or of arelated body
corporate.

(7) A person must not consent to be appointed, and must not act, as
liquidator of a company if he or sheis an insolvent under
administration.
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(8) A person must not consent to be appointed, and must not act, as
liquidator of a company that is being wound up by order of the
Court unless he or sheis an official liquidator.

(9) A person must not be appointed as liquidator of a company unless
the person has, before his or her appointment, consented in writing
to act as liquidator of the company.

533 Reportsby liquidator

(1) If it appearsto the liquidator of a company, in the course of a
winding up of the company, that:

(a) apast or present officer, or amember or contributory, of the
company may have been guilty of an offence under alaw of
the Commonwealth or a State or Territory in relation to the
company; and

(b) aperson who has taken part in the formation, promotion,
administration, management or winding up of the company:

(i) may have misapplied or retained, or may have become
liable or accountable for, any money or property of the
company; or

(ii) may have been guilty of any negligence, default, breach
of duty or breach of trust in relation to the company; or

(c) the company may be unable to pay its unsecured creditors
more than 50 centsin the dollar;

the liquidator must:

(d) assoon as practicable lodge a report with respect to the
matter and state in the report whether he or she proposes to
make an application for an examination or order under
section 597; and

(e) give ASIC such information, and giveto it such accessto and
facilities for inspecting and taking copies of any documents,
as ASIC requires.

(2) Theliquidator may also, if he or she thinksfit, lodge further reports
specifying any other matter that, in his or her opinion, it is
desirable to bring to the notice of ASIC.

(3) If it appearsto the Court, in the course of winding up a company:
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(a) that apast or present officer, or a contributory or member, of
the company has been guilty of an offence under alaw
referred to in paragraph (1)(a) in relation to the company; or

(b) that a person who has taken part in the formation, promotion,
administration, management or winding up of the company
has engaged in conduct referred to in paragraph (1)(b) in
relation to the company;

and that the liquidator has not lodged with ASIC areport with
respect to the matter, the Court may, on the application of a person
interested in the winding up, direct the liquidator so to lodge such a
report.

534 Prosecution by liquidator of delinquent officersand members

(1) Where:
(a) areport has been lodged under section 533; and
(b) it appearsto ASIC that the matter is not one in respect of
which a prosecution ought to be begun;
it must inform the liquidator accordingly, and the liquidator may
begin a prosecution for any offence referred to in the report.

(2) ASIC may direct that the whole or a specified part of the costs and
expenses properly incurred by aliquidator in proceedings under
this section must be paid out of money of ASIC.

(3) Subject to adirection under subsection (2), to any charges on the
property of the company and to any debts to which this Act gives
priority, al such costs and expenses are payable out of that
property as part of the costs of the winding up.

535 When liquidator has qualified privilege

(1) A liquidator has qualified privilege in respect of a statement that he
or she makes, whether orally or in writing, in the course of his or
her duties as liquidator.

(2) Inthissection:

liquidator includes a provisional liquidator.
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536 Supervision of liquidators

(1A) In thissection:
liquidator includes a provisional liquidator.

(1) Where:
(a) it appearsto the Court or to ASIC that aliquidator has not
faithfully performed or is not faithfully performing his or her
duties or has not observed or is not observing:

(i) arequirement of the Court; or

(ii) arequirement of this Act, of the regulations or of the
rules; or

(b) acomplaint is made to the Court or to ASIC by any person
with respect to the conduct of aliquidator in connection with
the performance of his or her duties;

the Court or ASIC, as the case may be, may inquire into the matter
and, where the Court or ASIC so inquires, the Court may take such
action asit thinks fit.

(2) ASIC may report to the Court any matter that inits opinionisa
misfeasance, neglect or omission on the part of the liquidator and
the Court may order the liquidator to make good any loss that the
estate of the company has sustained thereby and may make such
other order or orders asit thinksfit.

(3) The Court may at any time require aliquidator to answer any
inquiry in relation to the winding up and may examine the
liquidator or any other person on oath concerning the winding up
and may direct an investigation to be made of the books of the
liquidator.

537 Notice of appointment and address of liquidator

(1A) Inthissection:
liquidator includes a provisional liquidator.

(1) A liguidator must, within 14 days after his or her appointment,
lodge notice in the prescribed form of his or her appointment and
of the address of his or her office and, in the event of any changein
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the situation of hisor her office, must, within 14 days after the
change, lodge notice in the prescribed form of the change.

(2) A liquidator must, within 14 days after his or her resignation or
removal from office, lodge notice of the resignation or removal in
the prescribed form.

538 Regulationsrelating to money etc. received by liquidator

(1A) Inthissection:
liquidator includes a provisional liquidator.

(1) Theregulations may:
(a) requirealiquidator to pay, into such bank and account, in
such manner and at such times as are prescribed, money
received by him or her; and

(b) prescribe the circumstances and manner in which money paid
into such an account isto be paid out; and

(c) requirealiquidator of a company to deposit, in such bank, in
such manner and at such times as are prescribed, bills, notes
or other securities payable to the company or its liquidator;
and

(d) prescribe the circumstances and manner in which bills, notes
or other securities so deposited are to be delivered out; and

(e) make provision in relation to the giving by the Court of
directions with respect to the payment, deposit or custody of
money payable to or into the possession of aliquidator, or of
bills, notes or other securities so payable; and

(f) providefor:

(i) the payment by aliquidator of interest at such rate, on
such amount and in respect of such period asis
prescribed; and

(ii) disallowance of all or of such part asis prescribed of the
remuneration of aliquidator; and
(iii) theremoval from office of aliquidator by the Court; and
(iv) the payment by aliquidator of any expenses occasioned
by reason of his or her default;
where a liquidator contravenes or fails to comply with
regulations made under this section.
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(2) Regulations made under this section may apply generally or in
relation to a specified class of windings up.

539 Liquidator’saccounts

(1A) Inthissection:
liquidator includes a provisional liquidator.

(1) A liquidator must, within 1 month after the end of the period of 6
months from the date of his or her appointment and of every
subsequent period of 6 months during which he or she acts as
liquidator and within 1 month after he or she ceases to act as
liquidator, lodge:

(a) an account in the prescribed form and verified by a statement
in writing showing:

(i) hisor her receipts and his or her payments during each
such period or, where he or she ceasesto act as
liquidator, during the period from the end of the period
to which the last preceding account related or from the
date of hisor her appointment, as the case requires, up
to the date of his or her so ceasing to act; and

(ii) inthe case of the second account lodged under this
subsection and all subsegquent accounts—the aggregate
amount of receipts and payments during al preceding
periods since his or her appointment; and

(b) inthe case of aliquidator other than a provisional
liquidator—a statement in the prescribed form relating to the
position in the winding up, verified by a statement in writing.

(2) ASIC may cause the account and, where a statement of the position
in the winding up has been lodged, that statement to be audited by
aregistered company auditor, who must prepare areport on the
account and the statement (if any).

(3) For the purposes of the audit under subsection (2) the liquidator
must give the auditor with such books and information as the
auditor requires.

(4) Where ASIC causes an account, or an account and a statement, to
be audited under subsection (2):
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(&) ASIC must giveto the liquidator a copy of the report
prepared by the auditor; and

(b) subsection 1289(2) appliesin relation to the report prepared
by the auditor asif it were a document required to be lodged.

(5) Theliquidator must give notice that the account has been made up
to every creditor and contributory when next forwarding any
report, notice of meeting, notice of call or dividend.

(6) The costs of an audit under this section must be fixed by ASIC and
form part of the expenses of winding up.

540 Liquidator toremedy defaults

(1A) Inthissection:
liquidator includes a provisional liquidator.

(1) If any ligquidator who has made any default in lodging or making
any application, return, account or other document, or in giving
any natice that he or sheisby law required to lodge, make or give,
fails to make good the default within 14 days after the service on
him or her of anotice requiring him or her to do so, the Court may,
on the application of any contributory or creditor of the company
or ASIC, make an order directing the liquidator to make good the
default within such time asis specified in the order.

(2) Any order made under subsection (1) may provide that all costs of
and incidental to the application must be borne by the liquidator.

(3) Nothing in subsection (1) prejudices the operation of any law
imposing penalties on aliquidator in respect of any such default.
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Division 4—General

541 Notification that company isin liquidation

A company that is being wound up must set out, in every public
document, and in every negotiable instrument, of the company,
after the name of the company where it first appears, the
expression in liguidation.

542 Books of company

(1)

)

©)

Where a company is being wound up, al books of the company
and of the liquidator that are relevant to affairs of the company at
or subsequent to the commencement of the winding up of the
company are, as between the contributories of the company, prima
facie evidence of the truth of all matters purporting to be recorded
in those books.

If acompany has been wound up, the liquidator must retain the
books referred to in subsection (1) for a period of 5 years from the
date of deregistration of the company and, subject to section 262A
of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936, may, at the end of that
period, destroy them.

Despite subsection (2) but subject to subsection (4), when a
company has been wound up, the books referred to in

subsection (1) may be destroyed within a period of 5 years after the
deregistration of the company:

(@) in the case of awinding up by the Court—in accordance with
the directions of the Court given pursuant to an application of
which at least 14 days notice has been given to ASIC; and

(b) inthe case of amembers voluntary winding up—asthe
company by resolution directs; and

(c) inthe case of acreditors voluntary winding up—as the
committee of inspection directs, or, if there is no such
committee, as the creditors of the company by resolution
direct.
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(4) Theliquidator is not entitled to destroy books as mentioned in
paragraph (3)(b) or (c) unless ASIC consents to the destruction of
those books.

543 Investment of surplusfundson general account

(1) Whenever the cash balance standing to the credit of a company that
isin the course of being wound up isin excess of the amount that,
in the opinion of the committee of inspection, or, if thereisno
committee of inspection, of the liquidator, is required for the time
being to answer demands in respect of the property of the
company, the liquidator, if so directed in writing by the committee
of inspection, or, if thereis not committee of inspection, the
liguidator himself or herself, may, unless the Court on application
by any creditor thinksfit to order otherwise and so orders, invest
the sum or any part of the sum:

(a) in any manner in which trustees are for the time being
authorised by law to invest trust funds; or

(b) on deposit with an eligible money market dealer; or

(c) ondeposit at interest with any bank;
and any interest received in respect of that money so invested
forms part of the property of the company.

(2) Whenever any part of the money so invested is, in the opinion of
the committee of inspection, or, if thereis no committee of
inspection, of the liquidator, required to answer any demandsin
respect of the property of the company, the committee of
inspection may direct, or, if there is no committee of inspection,
the liquidator may arrange for, the sale or realisation of such part
of the securities asis necessary.

544 Unclaimed money to be paid to ASIC

(1) Where aliquidator of acompany hasin his or her hands or under
his or her control:
(a) any amount being a dividend or other money that has
remained unclaimed for more than 6 months after the day
when the dividend or other money became payable; or

Corporations Act 2001 261



Chapter 5 External administration
Part 5.6 Winding up generally
Division 4 General

Section 545

(b) after making afinal distribution, any unclaimed or
undistributed amount of money arising from the property of
the company;

he or she must forthwith pay that money to ASIC to be dealt with
under Part 9.7.

(1A) If aliquidator has, or has control of, the money of a company that
has no members, the liquidator must pay it to ASIC as soon as
practicable for it to be dealt with under Part 9.7.

(2) The Court may at any time, on the application of ASIC:

(a) order aliquidator of acompany to submit to it an account,
verified by affidavit, of any unclaimed or undistributed
funds, dividends or other money in his or her hands or under
his or her control; and

(b) direct an audit of accounts submitted to it in accordance with
paragraph (a); and

(c) direct aliguidator of a company to pay any money referred to
in paragraph (a) to ASIC to be dealt with under Part 9.7.

(3) Where aliquidator of a company pays money to ASIC pursuant to
subsection (1) or (1A) or an order of the Court made under
paragraph (2)(c), the liquidator is entitled to areceipt for the
money so paid and the giving of that receipt discharges the
liquidator from any liability in respect of the money.

(4) For the purposes of this section the Court may exercise all the
powers conferred by this Act with respect to the discovery and
realisation of the property of a company and the provisions of this
Act with respect to the exercise of those powers apply, with such
adaptations as are prescribed, to proceedings under this section.

(5) The provisions of this section do not, except as expressly declared
in this Act, deprive a person of any other right or remedy to which
the person is entitled against the liquidator or another person.

545 Expenses of winding up where property insufficient
(1) Subject to this section, aliquidator is not liable to incur any

expensein relation to the winding up of a company unlessthereis
sufficient available property.
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)

©)

The Court or ASIC may, on the application of acreditor or a
contributory, direct aliquidator to incur a particular expense on
condition that the creditor or contributory indemnifies the
liquidator in respect of the recovery of the amount expended and, if
the Court or ASIC so directs, gives such security to secure the
amount of the indemnity as the Court or ASIC thinks reasonable.

Nothing in this section is taken to relieve a liquidator of any
obligation to lodge a document (including areport) with ASIC
under any provision of this Act by reason only that he or she would
be required to incur expense in order to perform that obligation.

546 Resolutions passed at adjourned meetings of creditorsand

contributories

Subject to subsection 498(4), where aresolution is passed at an
adjourned meeting of any creditors or contributories of a company,
the resolution is, for all purposes, treated as having been passed on
the date on which it wasin fact passed and not on any earlier date.

547 Meetingsto ascertain wishes of creditorsor contributories

(D

)

©)

The Court may, asto al mattersrelating to the winding up of a
company, have regard to the wishes of the creditors or
contributories as proved to it by any sufficient evidence and may, if
it thinksfit for the purpose of ascertaining those wishes, direct
meetings of the creditors or contributories to be convened, held and
conducted in such manner as the Court directs, and may appoint a
person to act as chair of any such meeting and to report the result
of the meeting to the Court.

In the case of creditors, regard is to be had to the value of each
creditor’ s debt.

In the case of contributories, regard is to be had to the number of
votes conferred on each contributory by this Act or the company’s
constitution.
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Division 5—Committees of inspection

548 Convening of meetings by liquidator for appointment of
committee of inspection

(1) Theliquidator of acompany must, if so requested by a creditor or
contributory, convene separate meetings of the creditors and
contributories for the purpose of determining:

(@) whether a committee of inspection should be appointed; and
(b) where a committee of inspection is to be appointed:
(i) the numbers of membersto represent the creditors and
the contributories, respectively; and
(ii) the persons who are to be members of the committee
representing creditors and contributories, respectively.

(2) If thereisadifference between the determination of the meeting of
creditors and the determination of the meeting of contributories,
the Court may resolve the difference and make such order as it
thinks proper.

(3) A personisnot eligible to be appointed a member of a committee
of inspection unlessthe personis:
(a) inthe case of an appointment by creditors of the company:
(i) acreditor of the company; or
(ii) the attorney of acreditor of the company by virtue of a
general power of attorney given by the creditor; or
(iii) aperson authorised in writing by a creditor of the
company to be a member of the committee of
inspection; or
(b) in the case of an appointment by the contributories of the
company:
(i) acontributory of the company; or
(ii) the attorney of a contributory of the company by virtue
of ageneral power of attorney given by the
contributory; or
(iif) aperson authorised in writing by a contributory of the
company to be a member of the committee of
inspection.
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549 Proceedings of committee of inspection

(1) A committee of inspection must meet at such times and places as
its members from time to time appoint.

(2) Theliquidator or amember of the committee may convene a
meeting of the committee.

(3) A committee may act by amgjority of its members present at a
meeting, but must not act unless a majority of its members are
present.

550 Vacancies on committee of inspection

(1) A member of acommittee may resign by notice in writing signed
by the member and delivered to the liquidator.

(2) If amember of acommittee:
(a) becomes an insolvent under administration; or

(b) isabsent from 5 consecutive meetings of the committee
without the leave of those members who together with
himself or herself represent the creditors or contributories, as
the case may be;

his or her office becomes vacant.

(3) A member of the committee who represents creditors may be
removed by aresolution at a meeting of creditors of which 7 days
notice has been given stating the object of the meeting, and a
member of the committee who represents contributories may be
removed by aresolution at a meeting of contributories of which
such notice has been given.

(4) A meeting referred to in subsection (3) may appoint a person to fill
avacancy caused by the removal of a member of the committee.

(5) A vacancy in the committee may be filled by the appointment of a
person by aresolution at a meeting of the creditors or of the
contributories, as the case may be, of which 7 days notice has
been given.

(6) A vacancy inthe committee that is not filled as provided by
subsection (4) or (5) may befilled by the appointment of a person
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by the committee and a person so appointed represents the
creditors, or the contributories, as the case may be.

(7) Notwithstanding avacancy in the committee, the continuing
members of the committee may act provided they are not less than
2 in number.

551 Member of committee not to accept extra benefit

(1) A member of acommittee of inspection must not, while acting as
such a member, except as provided by this Act or with the leave of
the Court:

(@) make an arrangement for receiving, or accept, from the
company or any other person, in connection with the winding
up, agift, remuneration or pecuniary or other consideration
or benefit; or

(b) directly or indirectly derive any profit or advantage from a
transaction, sale or purchase for or on account of the
company or any gift, profit or advantage from a creditor; or

(c) directly or indirectly become the purchaser of any property of
the company.

(2) A transaction entered into in contravention of subsection (1) may
be set aside by the Court on the application of a creditor or member
of the company.

552 Powers of Court where no committee of inspection

Where there is no committee of inspection, the Court may, on the
application of the liquidator, do any thing and give any direction or
permission that is by this Part authorised or required to be done or
given by the committee.
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Division 6—Proof and ranking of claims

Subdivision A—Admission to proof of debtsand claims

553 Debtsor claimsthat are provablein winding up

(1)

(1A)

(1B)

)

Subject to this Division, in every winding up, al debts payable by,
and all claims against, the company (present or future, certain or
contingent, ascertained or sounding only in damages), being debts
or claims the circumstances giving rise to which occurred before
the relevant date, are admissible to proof against the company.

Even though the circumstances giving rise to a debt payable by the
company, or aclaim against the company, occur on or after the
relevant date, the debt or claim is admissible to proof against the
company in the winding up if:
(8) the circumstances occur at atime when the company is under
adeed of company arrangement; and

(b) the company isunder the deed immediately before the
resolution or court order that the company be wound up.
This subsection has effect subject to the other sectionsin this
Division.
Note 1: See Division 10 of Part 5.3A (sections 444A-444H) for the provisions
dealing with deeds of company arrangement.

Note2:  Seeparagraph 513A(d) for deeds that are followed immediately by
court ordered winding up. See paragraphs 513B(c) and (d) for deeds
that are followed immediately by voluntary winding up. Subsection
446A (2) and section 446B provide that companies are taken in certain
circumstances to have passed resolutions that they be wound up.

For the purpose of applying the other sections of this Division to a
debt or claim that is admissible to proof under subsection (1A), the
relevant date for the debt or claim is the date on which the deed
terminates.

Where, after the relevant date, an order is made under section 91 of
the ASIC Act against a company that is being wound up, the
amount that, pursuant to the order, the company isliableto pay is
admissible to proof against the company.
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553A Member cannot prove debt unless contributions paid

A debt owed by a company to a person in the person’s capacity as
amember of the company, whether by way of dividends, profits or
otherwise, is not admissible to proof against the company unless
the person has paid to the company or the liquidator all amounts
that the person isliable to pay as a member of the company.

553AA Sdlling shareholder cannot prove debt unless documents
given

The selling shareholder in a share buy-back may claimin a
winding up of the company but is not entitled to a distribution of
money or property unless the shareholder has discharged the
shareholder’ s obligations to give documents in connection with the

buy-back.

Note: The selling shareholder’ s claim ranks after those of non-member
creditors and before those of other member creditors (see
section 563AA).

553B Insolvent companies—penalties and fines not generally
provable

(1) Subject to subsection (2), pendlties or finesimposed by acourt in
respect of an offence against alaw are not admissible to proof
against an insolvent company.

(2) Anamount payable under a pecuniary penalty order, or an
interstate pecuniary penalty order, within the meaning of the
Proceeds of Crime Act 1987, is admissible to proof against an
insolvent company.

553C Insolvent companies—mutual credit and set-off

(1) Subject to subsection (2), where there have been mutual credits,
mutual debts or other mutual dealings between an insolvent
company that is being wound up and a person who wantsto have a
debt or claim admitted against the company:

(a) an account isto be taken of what is due from the one party to
the other in respect of those mutual dealings; and

268 Corporations Act 2001



External administration Chapter 5
Winding up generally Part 5.6
Proof and ranking of claims Division 6

Section 553D

(b) the sum due from the one party isto be set off against any
sum due from the other party; and

(c) only the balance of the account is admissible to proof against
the company, or is payable to the company, as the case may
be.

(2) A personisnot entitled under this section to claim the benefit of a
set-off if, at the time of giving credit to the company, or at the time
of receiving credit from the company, the person had notice of the
fact that the company was insolvent.

553D Debtsor claimsmay be proved formally or informally

(1) A debt or claim must be proved formally if the liquidator, in
accordance with the regulations, requiresit to be proved formally.

(2) A debt or claim that is not required to be proved formally:
(&) may be proved formally; or

(b) may be proved in some other way, subject to compliance
with the requirements of the regulations (if any) relating to
the informal proof of debts and claims.

(3) A debt or claim is proved formally if it satisfies the requirements of
the regulations relating to the formal proof of debts and claims.

553E Application of Bankruptcy Act to winding up of insolvent
company

Subject to this Division and to section 279, in the winding up of an
insolvent company the same rules are to prevail and be observed
with regard to debts provable as are in force for the time being
under the Bankruptcy Act 1966 in relation to the estates of
bankrupt persons (except the rulesin sections 82 to 94 (inclusive)
and 96 of that Act), and all personswho in any such case would be
entitled to prove for and receive dividends out of the property of
the company may come in under the winding up and make such
claims against the company as they respectively are entitled to
because of this section.
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Subdivison B—Computation of debts and claims

554 General rule—compute amount as at relevant date

(1) The amount of a debt or claim of acompany (including a debt or
claim that isfor or includes interest) is to be computed for the
purposes of the winding up as at the relevant date.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply to an amount admissible to proof
under subsection 553(2).

554A Deter mination of value of debts and claims of uncertain value

(1) Thissection applies where, in the winding up of a company, the
liquidator admits a debt or claim that, as at the relevant date, did
not bear a certain value.

(2) Theliquidator must:
(@) make an estimate of the value of the debt or claim as at the
relevant date; or

(b) refer the question of the value of the debt or claim to the
Court.

(3) A person who is aggrieved by the liquidator’ s estimate of the value
of the debt or claim may, in accordance with the regulations,
appeal to the Court against the liquidator’ s estimate.

(4) If:

() theligquidator refersthe question of the value of the debt or
claim to the Court; or

(b) aperson appealsto the Court against the liquidator’ s estimate
of the value of the debt or claim;

the Court must:

(c) make an estimate of the value of the debt or claim as at the
relevant date; or

(d) determine a method to be applied by the liquidator in
working out the value of the debt or claim as at the relevant
date.

(5) If the Court determines a method to be applied by the liquidator in
working out the value of the debt or claim, the liquidator must
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(6)

(7)

(8)

work out the value of the debt or claim as at the relevant date in
accordance with that method.

If:

(a) the Court has determined a method to be applied by the
liquidator in working out the value of the debt or claim as at
the relevant date; and

(b) apersonisaggrieved by the way in which that method has
been applied by the liquidator in working out that value;

the person may, in accordance with the regulations, appeal to the
Court against the way in which the method was applied.

If:

(a) aperson appealsto the Court against the way in which the
liquidator, in working out the value of the debt or claim,
applied a method determined by the court; and

(b) the Court is satisfied that the liquidator did not correctly
apply that method;

the Court must work out the value of the debt or claim as at the
relevant date in accordance with that method.

For the purposes of this Division, the amount of the debt or claim
that is admissible to proof is the value as estimated or worked out
under this section.

554B Discounting of debts payable after relevant date

The amount of a debt that is admissible to proof but that, as at the
relevant date, was not payable by the company until an ascertained
or ascertainable date (the future date) after the relevant dateisthe
amount payable on the future date reduced by the amount of the
discount worked out in accordance with the regulations.

554C Conversion into Australian currency of foreign currency

(1)

debtsor claims

This section appliesif the amount of a debt or claim admissible to
proof against a company would, apart from this section, be an
amount of foreign currency.
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)

©)

If the company and the creditor or claimant have, in an instrument

created before the relevant date, agreed on a method to be applied
for the purpose of converting the company’ s liability in respect of
the debt or claim into Australian currency, the amount of the debt

or claim that is admissible to proof isthe equivalent in Australian
currency of the amount of foreign currency, worked out as at the
relevant date and in accordance with the agreed method.

If subsection (2) does not apply, the amount of the debt or claim
that is admissible to proof isthe equivalent in Australian currency
of the amount of foreign currency, worked out by reference to the
opening carded on demand airmail buying rate in relation to the
foreign currency available at the Commonwealth Bank of Austraia
on the relevant date.

Subdivision C—Special provisionsrelating to secured creditors

of insolvent companies

554D Application of Subdivision

(1) ThisSubdivision appliesin relation to the proof of a secured debt

in the winding up of an insolvent company.

(2) For the purposes of the application of this Subdivision in relation

to a secured debt of an insolvent company that is being wound up,
the amount of the debt is taken to be the amount of the debt as at
the relevant date (as worked out in accordance with Subdivision
B).

554E Proof of debt by secured creditor

(1) Inthewinding up of an insolvent company, a secured creditor is

not entitled to prove the whole or a part of the secured debt
otherwise than in accordance with this section and with any other
provisions of this Act or the regulations that are applicable to
proving the debt.

(2) The creditor’s proof of debt must be in writing.

(3) If the creditor surrenders the security to the liquidator for the

benefit of creditors generally, the creditor may prove for the whole
of the amount of the secured debt.
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(4) If the creditor realises the security, the creditor may prove for any
balance due after deducting the net amount realised, unless the
liquidator is not satisfied that the realisation has been effected in
good faith and in a proper manner.

(5) If the creditor has not realised or surrendered the security, the
creditor may:
(a) estimateitsvaue; and
(b) prove for the balance due after deducting the value so
estimated.

(6) If subsection (5) applies, the proof of debt must include particulars
of the security and the creditor’ s estimate of its value.

554F Redemption of security by liquidator

(1) Thissection applies where a secured creditor’s proof of debt isin
respect of the balance due after deducting the creditor’ s estimate of
the value of the security.

(2) Theliquidator may, at any time, redeem the security on payment to
the creditor of the amount of the creditor’ s estimate of its value.

(3) If theliquidator is dissatisfied with the amount of the creditor’s
estimate of the value of the security, the liquidator may require the
property comprised in the security to be offered for sale at such
times and on such terms and conditions as are agreed on by the
creditor and the liquidator or, in default of agreement, as the Court
determines.

(4) If the property is offered for sale by public auction, both the
creditor and the liquidator are entitled to bid for, and purchase, the

property.

(5) The creditor may at any time, by notice in writing, require the
liquidator to elect whether to exercise the power to redeem the
security or to require it to be sold and, if the liquidator does not,
within 3 months after receiving the notice, notify the creditor, in
writing, that the liquidator elects to exercise the power:

(a) theliquidator isnot entitled to exerciseit; and

(b) subject to subsection (6), any equity of redemption or other
interest in the property comprised in the security that is
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vested in the company or the liquidator vestsin the creditor;
and

(c) the amount of the creditor’ sdebt is, for the purposes of this
Division, taken to be reduced by the amount of the creditor’s
estimate of the value of the security.

(6) Thevesting of an equity of redemption or other interest in property

because of paragraph (5)(b) is subject to compliance with any law
requiring the transmission of such interestsin property to be
registered.

554G Amendment of valuation

)

)

©)

If asecured creditor’ s proof of debt isin respect of the balance due
after deducting the creditor’ s estimate of the value of the security,
the creditor may, at any time, apply to the liquidator or the Court
for permission to amend the proof of debt by atering the estimated
value.

If the liquidator or the Court is satisfied:
(a) that the estimate of the value of the security was made in
good faith on a mistaken basis; or
(b) that the value of the security has changed since the estimate
was made;
the liquidator or the Court may permit the creditor to amend the
proof of debt accordingly.

If the Court permits the creditor to amend the proof of debt, it may
do so on such terms as it thinks just and equitable.

554H Repayment of excess

(D

)

Where a creditor who has amended a proof of debt under

section 554G has received, in the winding up of the debtor
company, an amount in excess of the amount to which the creditor
would have been entitled under the amended proof of debt, the
creditor must, without delay, repay the amount of the excessto the
liquidator.

Where a creditor who has so amended a proof of debt has received,
in the winding up of the debtor company, less than the amount to
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which the creditor would have been entitled under the amended
proof of debt, the creditor is entitled to be paid, out of the money
remaining for distribution in the winding up, the amount of the
deficiency before any of that money is applied in the payment of
future distributions, but the creditor is not entitled to affect a
distribution made before the amendment of the proof of debt.

554J Subsequent realisation of security

Where:

(@) asecured creditor’s proof of debt isin respect of the balance
due after deducting the creditor’ s estimate of the value of the
security; and

(b) subsequently:

(i) the creditor realises the security; or
(i) the security isrealised under section 554F;
the net amount realised is to be substituted for the estimated value

of the security and section 554H applies asif the proof of debt had
been amended accordingly under section 554G.

Subdivision D—Priorities

555 Debtsand claimsproved to rank equally except as otherwise
provided

Except as otherwise provided by this Act, all debts and claims
proved in awinding up rank equally and, if the property of the
company isinsufficient to meet them in full, they must be paid
proportionately.

556 Priority payments

(1) Subject to this Division, in the winding up of acompany the
following debts and claims must be paid in priority to all other
unsecured debts and claims:

(a) first, expenses (except deferred expenses) properly incurred
by arelevant authority in preserving, realising or getting in
property of the company, or in carrying on the company’s
business;
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(b) if the Court ordered the winding up—next, the costsin
respect of the application for the order (including the
applicant’ s taxed costs payable under section 466);

(c) next, the debts for which paragraph 443D(a) entitles an
administrator of the company to be indemnified (even if the
administration ended before the relevant date), except
expenses covered by paragraph (a) of this subsection and
deferred expenses;

(dy if the winding up began within 2 months after the end of a
period of official management of the company—next, debts
of the company properly incurred by an official manager in
carrying on the company’ s business during the period of
official management, except expenses covered by
paragraph (a) of this subsection and deferred expenses;

(da) if the Court ordered the winding up—next, costs and
expenses that are payable under subsection 475(8) out of the
company’s property;

(db) next, costs that form part of the expenses of the winding up
because of subsection 539(6);

(dc) if the winding up began within 2 months after the end of a
period of official management of the company—next, the
remuneration, in respect of the period of official
management, of any auditor appointed in accordance with
Part 2M .4,

(dd) next, any other expenses (except deferred expenses) properly
incurred by arelevant authority;

(de) next, the deferred expenses;

(df) if acommittee of ingpection has been appointed for the
purposes of the winding up—next, expenses incurred by a
person as a member of the committee;

(e) subject to subsection (1A)—next, wages and superannuation
contributions payable by the company in respect of services
rendered to the company by employees before the relevant
date;

(f) next, amounts due in respect of injury compensation, being
compensation the liability for which arose before the relevant
date;

(g) subject to subsection (1B)—next, all amounts due:

(i) on or before the relevant date; and
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(ii) because of an industrial instrument; and
(iii) to, or in respect of, employees of the company; and
(iv) in respect of leave of absence;

(h) subject to subsection (1C)—next, retrenchment payments
payable to employees of the company.

(1A) The amount or total paid under paragraph (1)(e) to, or in respect of,
an excluded employee of the company must be such that so much
(if any) of it asis attributable to non-priority days does not exceed
$2,000.

(1B) The amount or total paid under paragraph (1)(g) to, or in respect of,
an excluded employee of the company must be such that so much
(if any) of it asis attributable to non-priority days does not exceed
$1,500.

(1C) A payment under paragraph (1)(h) to an excluded employee of the
company must not include an amount attributable to non-priority

days.
(2) Inthissection:
company means a company that is being wound up.

deferred expenses, in relation to a company, means expenses
properly incurred by arelevant authority, in so far as they consist
of:

(a) remuneration, or feesfor services, payable to the relevant
authority; or

(b) expensesincurred by the relevant authority in respect of the
supply of servicesto the relevant authority by:

(i) apartnership of which the relevant authority isa
member; or

(if) an employee of the relevant authority; or
(iii) amember or employee of such a partnership; or
(c) expensesincurred by the relevant authority in respect of the
supply to the relevant authority of servicesthat it is
reasonabl e to expect could have instead been supplied by:
(i) therelevant authority; or
(ii) apartnership of which the relevant authority isa
member; or
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(iii) an employee of the relevant authority; or
(iv) amember or employee of such a partnership.

employee, in relation to a company, means a person:

(a) who has been or is an employee of the company, whether
remunerated by salary, wages, commission or otherwise; and

(b) whose employment by the company commenced before the
relevant date.

excluded employee, in relation to a company, means:
(a) an employee of the company who has been:

(i) at any time during the period of 12 months ending on
the relevant date; or

(i) at any time since the relevant date;
or who is, adirector of the company;
(b) an employee of the company who has been:

(i) at any time during the period of 12 months ending on
the relevant date; or

(ii) at any time since the relevant date;
or who is, the spouse of an employee of the kind referred to
in paragraph (a); or
(c) an employee of the company who is arelative (other than a
spouse) of an employee of the kind referred to in
paragraph (a).

non-priority day, in relation to an excluded employee of a
company, means aday on which the employee was:
(a) if paragraph (a) of the definition of excluded employee
applies—adirector of the company; or
(b) if paragraph (b) of that definition applies—a spouse of an
employee of the kind referred to in paragraph (@) of that
definition; or
(c) if paragraph (c) of that definition applies—arelative (other
than a spouse) of an employee of the kind referred to in
paragraph (a) of that definition;
even if the day was more than 12 months before the relevant date.

official manager includes a deputy official manager.
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relevant authority, in relation to a company, means any of the
following:

(a) inany case—aliquidator or provisional liquidator of the
company;

(b) if the winding up began within 2 months after the end of a
period of official management of the company—an official
manager appointed for the purposes of the official
management;

(c) in any case—an administrator of the company, even if the
administration ended before the winding up began;

(d) inany case—an administrator of a deed of company
arrangement executed by the company, even if the deed
terminated before the winding up began.

retrenchment payment, in relation to an employee of a company,
means an amount payable by the company to the employee, by
virtue of an industrial instrument, in respect of the termination of
the employee' s employment by the company, whether the amount
becomes payable before, on or after the relevant date.

spouse includes a de facto spouse.

superannuation contribution, in relation to a company, means a
contribution by the company to a fund for the purposes of making
provision for, or obtaining, superannuation benefits for an
employee of the company, or for dependants of such an employee.

558 Debtsdueto employees

(1)

)

Where a contract of employment with a company being wound up
was subsisting immediately before the relevant date, the employee
under the contract is, whether or not he or she is a person referred
to in subsection (2), entitled to payment under section 556 asif his
or her services with the company had been terminated by the
company on the relevant date.

Where, for the purposes of the winding up of acompany, a
liquidator employs a person whose services with the company had
been terminated by reason of the winding up, that person is, for the
purpose of calculating any entitlement to payment for leave of
absence, or any entitlement to a retrenchment amount in respect of
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employment, taken, while the liquidator employs him or her for
those purposes, to be employed by the company.

(3) Subject to subsection (4), where, after the relevant date, an amount
in respect of long service leave or extended leave, or a
retrenchment amount, becomes payabl e to a person referred to in
subsection (2) in respect of the employment so referred to, the
amount is a cost of the winding up.

(4) Where, at the relevant date, the length of qualifying service of a
person employed by a company that is being wound up is
insufficient to entitle him or her to any amount in respect of long
service leave or extended leave, or to any retrenchment amount in
respect of employment by the company, but, by the operation of
subsection (2) he or she becomes entitled to such an amount after
that date, that amount:

(a) isacost of thewinding up to the extent of an amount that
bears to that amount the same proportion as the length of his
or her qualifying service after that relevant date bearsto the
total length of hisor her qualifying service; and

(b) is, to the extent of the balance of that amount, taken, for the
purposes of section 556, to be an amount referred to in
paragraph 556(1)(g), or aretrenchment payment payable to
the person, as the case may be.

(5) Inthissection, retrenchment amount, in relation to employment of
a person, means an amount payable to the person, by virtue of an
industrial instrument, in respect of termination of the employment.

559 Debtsof aclasstorank equally

The debts of a class referred to in each of the paragraphs of
subsection 556(1) rank equally between themselves and must be
paid in full, unless the property of the company isinsufficient to
meet them, in which case they must be paid proportionately.

560 Advancesfor company to make priority paymentsin respect of
employees

Where a payment has been made by a company on account of
wages or of superannuation contributions (within the meaning of
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section 556), or in respect of leave of absence, or termination of
employment, under an industrial instrument, being a payment made
out of money advanced by a person for the purpose of making the
payment, the person by whom the money was advanced has, in the
winding up of the company, the same right of priority of payment
in respect of the money so advanced and paid, but not exceeding
the amount by which the sum in respect of which the person who
received the payment would have been entitled to priority in the
winding up has been diminished by reason of the payment, as the
person who received the payment would have had if the payment
had not been made.

561 Priority of employees claimsover floating charges

So far as the property of acompany available for payment of
creditors other than secured creditorsis insufficient to meet
payment of:
(a) any debt referred to in paragraph 556(1)(€), (g) or (h); and
(b) any amount that pursuant to subsection 558(3) or (4) is a cost
of the winding up, being an amount that, if it had been
payable on or before the relevant date, would have been a
debt referred to in paragraph 556(1)(e), (g) or (h); and
(c) any amount in respect of which aright of priority is given by
section 560;
payment of that debt or amount must be made in priority over the
claims of achargeein relation to afloating charge created by the
company and may be made accordingly out of any property
comprised in or subject to that charge.

562 Application of proceeds of contracts of insurance

(1) Where acompany is, under a contract of insurance (not being a
contract of reinsurance) entered into before the relevant date,
insured against liability to third parties, then, if such aliability is
incurred by the company (whether before or after the relevant date)
and an amount in respect of that liability has been or is received by
the company or the liquidator from the insurer, the amount must,
after deducting any expenses of or incidental to getting in that
amount, be paid by the liquidator to the third party in respect of
whom the liability was incurred to the extent necessary to
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)

©)

discharge that liability, or any part of that liability remaining
undischarged, in priority to all paymentsin respect of the debts
mentioned in section 556.

If the liability of the insurer to the company isless than the liability
of the company to the third party, subsection (1) does not limit the
rights of the third party in respect of the balance.

This section has effect notwithstanding any agreement to the
contrary.

562A Application of proceeds of contracts of reinsurance

)

)

©)

This section applies where:

(a) acompany isinsured, under a contract of reinsurance entered
into before the relevant date, against liability to pay amounts
in respect of arelevant contract of insurance or relevant
contracts of insurance; and

(b) an amount in respect of that liability has been or is received
by the company or the liquidator under the contract of
reinsurance.

Subject to subsection (4), if the amount received, after deducting
expenses of or incidental to getting in that amount, equals or
exceeds the total of all the amounts that are payable by the
company under relevant contracts of insurance, the liquidator must,
out of the amount received and in priority to all paymentsin
respect of the debts mentioned in section 556, pay the amounts that
are so payable under those contracts of insurance.

Subject to subsection (4), if subsection (2) does not apply, the
liguidator must, out of the amount received and in priority to all
payments in respect of the debts mentioned in section 556, pay to
each person to whom an amount is payable by the company under
arelevant contract of insurance an amount calculated in
accordance with the formula:

Particular amount owed
Total amount owed

where:

x Reinsurance payment
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(4)

©)

(6)

(7)

particular amount owed means the amount payable to the person
under the relevant contract of insurance.

reinsurance payment means the amount received under the
contract of reinsurance, less any expenses of or incidental to
getting in that amount.

total amount owed means the total of all the amounts payable by
the company under relevant contracts of insurance.

The Court may, on application by a person to whom an amount is
payable under arelevant contract of insurance, make an order to
the effect that subsections (2) and (3) do not apply to the amount
received under the contract of reinsurance and that that amount
must, instead, be applied by the liquidator in the manner specified
in the order, being a manner that the Court considers just and
equitable in the circumstances.

The matters that the Court may take into account in considering
whether to make an order under subsection (4) include, but are not
limited to:

() whether it is possible to identify particular relevant contracts
of insurance as being the contracts in respect of which the
contract of reinsurance was entered into; and

(b) whether it is possible to identify persons who can be said to
have paid extrain order to have particular relevant contracts
of insurance protected by reinsurance; and

(c) whether particular relevant contracts of insurance include
statements to the effect that the contracts are to be protected
by reinsurance; and

(d) whether a person to whom an amount is payable under a
relevant contract of insurance would be severely prejudiced if
subsections (2) and (3) applied to the amount received under
the contract of reinsurance.

If receipt of a payment under this section only partially discharges
aliability of the company to a person, nothing in this section
affects the rights of the person in respect of the balance of the
liability.

This section has effect despite any agreement to the contrary.
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(8) Inthissection:

relevant contract of insurance means a contract of insurance
entered into by the company, as insurer, before the relevant date.

563 Provisionsrelating to injury compensation

(1) Notwithstanding anything in section 556, paragraph 556(1)(f) does
not apply in relation to the winding up of a company in any case
where;

(a) the company is being wound up voluntarily merely for the
purpose of reconstruction or of amalgamation with another
company and the right to the injury compensation has, on the
reconstruction or amalgamation, been preserved to the person
entitled to it; or

(b) the company has entered into a contract with an insurer in
respect of any liability for injury compensation.

(2) Whereinjury compensation is payable by way of periodical
payments, the amount of that compensation is, for the purposes of
paragraph 556(1)(f), taken to be the lump sum for which those
periodical payments could, if redeemable, be redeemed under the
law under which the periodical payments are made.

563AA Sdller under a buy-back agreement

(1) The sdlling shareholder’s claim under a buy-back agreement is
postponed until all debts owed to people otherwise than as
members of the company have been satisfied.

(2) The shareholder’s claim is not a debt owed by the company to the
seller in the shareholder’ s capacity as a member of the company
for the purposes of section 563A.

563A Member’sdebtsto be postponed until other debtsand claims
satisfied

Payment of a debt owed by a company to a person in the person’s
capacity as amember of the company, whether by way of
dividends, profits or otherwise, is to be postponed until all debts
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owed to, or claims made by, persons otherwise than as members of
the company have been satisfied.

563AAA Redemption of debentures

)

)

Priorities

Debentures of a company under atrust deed that are issued in place
of debentures under that deed that have been redeemed have the
priority that the redeemed debentures would have had if they had
never been redeemed.

Deposit of debentures to secure advance

Debentures of a company are not to be taken to be redeemed
merely because:
(a) the debentures secure advances on current account or
otherwise; and
(b) the company’s account ceases to be in debit while those
debentures remain available.

Subdivision E—M iscellaneous

563B Interest on debts and claims from relevant date to date of

)

)

©)

payment

If, in the winding up of a company, the liquidator pays an amount
in respect of an admitted debt or claim, there is also payable to the
debtor or claimant, as a debt payable in the winding up, interest, at
the prescribed rate, on the amount of the payment in respect of the
period starting on the relevant date and ending on the day on which
the payment is made.

Subject to subsection (3), payment of the interest isto be
postponed until all other debts and claims in the winding up have
been satisfied, other than debts owed to members of the company
as members of the company (whether by way of dividends, profits
or otherwise).

If the admitted debt or claim is a debt to which section 554B
applied, subsection (2) does not apply to postpone payment of so
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much of the interest asis attributable to the period starting at the
relevant date and ending on the earlier of:

(a) the day on which the payment is made; and

(b) the future date, within the meaning of section 554B.

563C Debt subordination

(1) Nothing in this Division renders a debt subordination by a creditor
of acompany unlawful or unenforceable, except so far as the debt
subordination would disadvantage any creditor of the company
who was not a party to, or otherwise concerned in, the debt
subordination.

(2) Inthissection:

debt subordination means an agreement or declaration by a
creditor of a company, however expressed, to the effect that, in
specified circumstances:
(a) aspecified debt that the company owes the creditor; or
(b) aspecified part of such a debt;
will not be repaid until other specified debts that the company
owes are repaid to a specified extent.

564 Power of Court to make ordersin favour of certain creditors

Where in any winding up:

(a) property has been recovered under an indemnity for costs of
litigation given by certain creditors, or has been protected or
preserved by the payment of money or the giving of
indemnity by creditors; or

(b) expensesin relation to which a creditor has indemnified a
liquidator have been recovered;

the Court may make such orders, as it deems just with respect to
the distribution of that property and the amount of those expenses
so recovered with aview to giving those creditors an advantage
over othersin consideration of the risk assumed by them.
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Division 7—Effect on certain transactions

565 Undue preference

(1) A settlement, a conveyance or transfer of property, a charge on
property, a payment made, or an obligation incurred, before
23 June 1993, by a company that, if it had been made or incurred
by anatural person, would, in the event of his or her becoming a
bankrupt, be void as against the trustee in the bankruptcy, is, in the
event of the company being wound up, void as against the
liquidator.

(2) For the purposes of subsection (1), the date that corresponds with
the date of presentation of the petition in bankruptcy in the case of
anatural personis:

(a) if the company was under official management at any time
during the 6 months ending on the relation-back day—the
day on which the official management commenced; or

(b) otherwise—the relation-back day.

(3) For the purposes of this section, the date that corresponds with the
date on which a person becomes a bankrupt is the relation-back

day.

(4) Subject to Part 5.3A, atransfer or assignment by a company of all
its property to trustees for the benefit of all its creditorsis void.

566 Effect of floating charge

A floating charge on the undertaking or property of the company
created before 23 June 1993 and within 6 months before the
relation-back day is, unlessit is proved that the company
immediately after the creation of the charge was solvent, invalid
except to the amount of any money paid to the company at the time
of or subsequently to the creation of and in consideration for the
charge together with interest on that amount at the rate of 8% per
annum or at such other rate asis prescribed.
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567 Liquidator’sright torecover in respect of certain transactions

(1) Where any property, business or undertaking has been acquired by
acompany for a cash consideration before 23 June 1993 and within
4 years before the relation-back day in relation to awinding up of
the company:
(a) from apromoter of the company or a spouse of such a
promoter, or from arelative of such a promoter or spouse; or

(b) from aperson who was, at the time of the acquisition, a
director of the company, from a spouse of such adirector, or
from arelative of such a person or spouse; or

(c) from abody corporate that was, at the time of the acquisition,
related to the company; or

(d) from aperson who was, at the time of the acquisition, a
director of abody corporate that was related to the company,
from a spouse of such a person, or from arelative of such a
]person or Spouse;

the liquidator may recover from the person or body corporate from
which the property, business or undertaking was acquired any
amount by which the cash consideration for the acquisition
exceeded the value of the property, business or undertaking at the
time of its acquisition.

(2) Where any property, business or undertaking has been sold by a
company for a cash consideration before 23 June 1993 and within
4 years before the relation-back day in relation to awinding up of
the company:

(a) toapromoter of the company or a spouse of such a promoter,
or to arelative of such a promoter or spouse; or
(b) to aperson who was, at the time of the sale, adirector of the
company, to a spouse of such adirector, or to arelative of
such a person or spouse; or
(c) toabody corporate that was, at the time of the sale, related to
the company; or
(d) to aperson who was, at the time of the sale, adirector of a
body corporate that was related to the company, to a spouse
of such adirector, or to arelative of such a person or spouse;
the liquidator may recover from the person or body corporate to
which the property, business or undertaking was sold any amount
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by which the value of the property, business or undertaking at the
time of the sale exceeded the cash consideration.

(3) For the purposes of this section, the value of the property, business
or undertaking includes the value of any goodwill, profits or gain
that might have been made from the property, business or
undertaking.

(4) Inthissection, cash consideration means any consideration
payable otherwise than by the issue of sharesin the company.

(5) Where:

() adisposition of property is made by a company before
23 June 1993 and within 6 months before the relation-back
day in relation to awinding up of the company; and

(b) the disposition of property confers a preference upon a
creditor of the company; and

(c) thedisposition of property has the effect of discharging an
officer of the company from aliability (whether under a
guarantee or otherwise and whether contingent or otherwise);

the liquidator:

(d) in acaseto which paragraph (e) does not apply—may
recover from that officer an amount equal to the value of the
relevant property, as the case may be; or

(e) wherethe liquidator has recovered from the creditor in
respect of the disposition of the relevant property:

(i) anamount equal to part of the value of the relevant

property; or

(ii) part of the relevant property;
may recover from that officer an amount equal to the amount
by which the value of the relevant property exceeds the sum
of any amounts recovered as mentioned in subparagraph (i)
and the amount of the value of any property recovered as
mentioned in subparagraph (ii).

(6) Where:
(a) aliquidator recovers an amount of money from an officer of
acompany in respect of a disposition of property to a creditor
as mentioned in subsection (5); and
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(b) theliquidator subsequently recovers from that creditor an
amount equal to the whole or part of the value of the property
disposed of;

the officer may recover from the liquidator an amount equal to the
amount so recovered or the value of the property so recovered.
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Division 7A—Disclaimer of onerous property

568 Disclaimer by liquidator; application to Court by party to
contract

(1) Subject to this section, aliquidator of a company may at any time,
on the company’ s behalf, by signed writing disclaim property of
the company that consists of:

(@) land burdened with onerous covenants; or

(b) shares; or

(c) property that is unsaleable or is not readily saleable; or

(d) property that may giveriseto aliability to pay money or
some other onerous obligation; or

(e) property whereit is reasonable to expect that the costs,
charges and expenses that would be incurred in realising the
property would exceed the proceeds of realising the property;
or

(f) acontract;

whether or not:

(g) except in the case of a contract—the liquidator hastried to
sell the property, has taken possession of it or exercised an
act of ownership inrelation to it; or

(h) inthe case of acontract—the company or the liquidator has
tried to assign, or has exercised rightsin relation to, the
contract or any property to which it relates.

(1AA) This section does not apply to an agreement by the company to buy
back its own shares.

(1A) A liguidator cannot disclaim a contract (other than an unprofitable
contract or alease of land) except with the leave of the Court.

(1B) On an application for leave under subsection (1A), the Court may:
(a) grant leave subject to such conditions; and

(b) make such ordersin connection with matters arising under, or
relating to, the contract;

asthe Court considers just and equitable.

(8) Where:
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(&) an application in writing has been made to the liquidator by a
person interested in property requiring the liquidator to
decide whether he or she will disclaim the property; and

(b) theliquidator has, for the period of 28 days after the receipt
of the application, or for such extended period asis allowed
by the Court, declined or neglected to disclaim the property;

the liquidator is not entitled to disclaim the property under this
section and, in the case of acontract, he or she istaken to have
adopted it.

(9) The Court may, on the application of a person who is, as against
the company, entitled to the benefit or subject to the burden of a
contract made with the company, make an order:

(a) discharging the contract on such terms asto payment by or to
either party of damages for the non-performance of the
contract, or otherwise, as the Court thinks proper; or

(b) rescinding the contract on such terms as to restitution by or to
either party, or otherwise, as the Court thinks proper.

(10) Amounts payable pursuant to an order under subsection (9) may be
proved as a debt in the winding up.

(13) For the purpose of determining whether property of acompany is
of akind to which subsection (1) applies, the liquidator may, by
notice served on a person claiming to have an interest in the
property, require the person to give to the liquidator within such
period, not being lessthan 14 days, asis specified in the notice, a
statement of the interest claimed by the person and the person must
comply with the requirement.

568A Liquidator must give notice of disclaimer

(1) Assoon as practicable after disclaiming property, aliquidator
must:

(a) lodge awritten notice of the disclaimer; and

(b) give written notice of the disclaimer to each person who
appearsto the liquidator to have, or to claim to have, an
interest in the property; and

(c) if theliquidator has reason to suspect that some person or
persons may have, or may claim to have, an interest or
interests in the property, but either does not know who, or
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does not know where, the person is or the persons are—
comply with subsection (2); and

(d) if alaw of the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory
requires the transfer or transmission of the property to be
registered—aqive written notice of the disclaimer to the
registrar or other person who has the function under that law
of registering the transfer or transmission of the property.

(2) If paragraph (1)(c) applies, the liquidator must cause notice of the
disclaimer to be published:

(a) if the property issituated in a State or Territory and adaily
newspaper circulates generally in that State or Territory—in
adaily newspaper that so circulates; and

(b) in each State and Territory in which:

(i) the company has carried on business during or after the
period of 6 months ending when the winding up began;
and

(ii) adaily newspaper circulates generally;
in adaily newspaper that circulates generally in that State or
Territory;
whether on the same or different days.

568B Application to set aside disclaimer beforeit takes effect

(1) A person who has, or claimsto have, an interest in disclaimed
property may apply to the Court for an order setting aside the
disclaimer before it takes effect, but may only do so within 14 days
after:

(a) if theliquidator givesto the person notice of the disclaimer,
because of paragraph 568A(1)(b), before the end of 14 days
after the liquidator lodges such notice—the liquidator gives
such notice to the person; or

(b) if paragraph (a) does not apply but notice of the disclaimer is
published under subsection 568A (2) before the end of the 14
daysreferred to in that paragraph—the last such notice to be
S0 published is so published; or

(c) otherwise—the liquidator lodges notice of the disclaimer.

(2) On an application under subsection (1), the Court:
(&) may by order set aside the disclaimer; and

Corporations Act 2001 293



Chapter 5 External administration
Part 5.6 Winding up generally
Division 7A Disclaimer of onerous property

Section 568C

(b) if it does so—may make such further orders asit thinks
appropriate.

(3) However, the Court may set aside a disclaimer under this section
only if satisfied that the disclaimer would cause, to persons who
have, or claim to have, interestsin the property, prejudice that is
grossly out of proportion to the prejudice that setting aside the
disclaimer would cause to the company’ s creditors.

568C When disclaimer takes effect

(1) A disclaimer takes effect if, and only if:

(a) inacase where only one application under section 568B for
an order setting aside the disclaimer, or each of 2 or more
such applications, is made within the period that that section
prescribes for making the application—the application, or
each of the applications, is unsuccessful; or

(b) no such application is so made.

(2) For the purposes of subsection (1), an application under
section 568B is successful if, and only if, the result of the
application, and all appeals (if any) arising out of the application,
being finally determined or otherwise disposed of is an order
setting aside the disclaimer (whether or not further orders are also
made).

(3) A disclaimer that takes effect because of subsection (1) istaken to
have taken effect on the day after:
(@ if:
(i) theliquidator gave to a person notice of the disclaimer
because of paragraph 568A(1)(b); or
(ii) notice of the disclaimer was published under subsection
568A(2);
before the end of 14 days after the liquidator lodged notice of
the disclaimer—the last day when the liquidator so gave such
notice or such notice was so published; or
(b) otherwise—the day when the liquidator lodged notice of the
disclaimer.
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568D Effect of disclaimer

(1)

)

A disclaimer istaken to have terminated, as from the day on which
it istaken because of subsection 568C(3) to take effect, the
company’ s rights, interests, liabilities and property in or in respect
of the disclaimer property, but does not affect any other person’s
rights or liabilities except so far as necessary in order to release the
company and its property from liability.

A person aggrieved by the operation of adisclaimer istakento bea
creditor of the company to the extent of any loss suffered by the
person because of the disclaimer and may prove such aloss as a
debt in the winding up.

568E Application to set aside disclaimer after it hastaken effect

(1)

)

With the leave of the Court, a person who has, or claimsto have,
an interest in disclaimed property may apply to the Court for an
order setting aside the disclaimer after it has taken effect.

The Court may give leave only if it issatisfied that it is
unreasonablein al the circumstances to expect the person to have
applied for an order setting aside the disclaimer before it took
effect.

(3) The Court may give leave subject to conditions.

(4) On an application under subsection (1), the Court:

(&) may by order set aside the disclaimer; and

(b) if it does so—may make such further orders asit thinks
appropriate, including orders necessary to put the company,
the liquidator or anyone else in the same position, as nearly
as practicable, asif the disclaimer had never taken effect.

(5) However, the Court may set aside adisclaimer only if satisfied that

the disclaimer has caused, or would cause, to persons who have, or
claim to have, interests in the property, prejudice that is grossly out
of proportion to the prejudice that setting aside the disclaimer (and
making any further orders) would cause to:
(a) the company’s creditors; and
(b) personswho have changed their position in reliance on the
disclaimer taking effect.
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568F Court may dispose of disclaimed property

(1) The Court may order that disclaimed property vest in, or be
delivered to:

(a) aperson entitled to the property; or

(b) apersonin or to whom it seems to the Court appropriate that
the property be vested or delivered; or

(c) aperson astrustee for aperson of akind referred toin
paragraph (a) or (b).

(2) The Court may make an order under subsection (1):

(a) onthe application of a person who claims an interest in the
property, or is under aliability in respect of the property that
this Act has not discharged; and

(b) after hearing such persons asit thinks appropriate.

(3) Subject to subsection (4), where an order is made under
subsection (1) vesting property, the property vests immediately, for
the purposes of the order, without any conveyance, transfer or
assignment.

(4) Where:

(a) alaw of the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory
requires the transfer of property vested by an order under
subsection (1) to be registered; and

(b) that law enables the order to be registered;

the property vests in equity because of the order but does not vest
at law until that law has been complied with.
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Division 7B—Effect on enforcement process against

company’s property

569 Executions, attachmentsetc. before winding up

(1) Where:

)

©)

(a) acreditor hasissued execution against property of a
company, or instituted proceedings to attach a debt dueto a
company or to enforce a charge or a charging order against
property of acompany, within 6 monthsimmediately before
the commencement of the winding up; and

(b) the company commences to be wound up;

the creditor must pay to the liquidator an amount equal to the
amount (if any) received by the creditor as aresult of the
execution, attachment or enforcement of the charge or the charging
order, less an amount in respect of the costs of the execution,
attachment or enforcement of the charge or the charging order,
being an amount agreed between the creditor and the liquidator or,
if no agreement is reached, an amount equal to the taxed cost of
that execution, attachment or enforcement.

Where the creditor has paid to the liquidator an amount in
accordance with subsection (1), the creditor may prove in the
winding up for the creditor’ s debt as an unsecured creditor asif the
execution or attachment or the enforcement of the charge or the
charging order, as the case may be, had not taken place.

Subject to subsections (4) and (5), where a creditor of a company
receives:

(a) naticeinwriting of an application to the Court for the
winding up of the company; or
(b) notice in writing of the convening of a meeting of the
company to consider aresolution that the company be wound
up voluntarily;
it is not competent for the creditor to take any action, or any further
action, as the case may be, to attach a debt due to the company or
to enforce a charge or a charging order against property of the
company.
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(4) Subsection (3) does not affect the right of a creditor to take action
or further action if:
(a) inacaseto which paragraph (3)(a) applies—the application
has been withdrawn or dismissed; or
(b) inacaseto which paragraph (3)(b) applies—the meeting of
the company has refused to pass the resolution.

(5) Subsection (3) does not prevent a creditor from performing a
binding contract for the sale of property entered into before the
creditor received a notice referred to in that subsection.

(6) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Division, a person who
purchases property in good faith:
(a) under asale by the sheriff in consequence of the issue of
execution against property of acompany that, after the sale,
commences to be wound up; or

(b) under asale in consequence of the enforcement by a creditor
of acharge or acharging order against property of a
company that, after the sale, commences to be wound up;

acquires agood title to it as against the liquidator and the company.
(7) Inthissection:

charge means a charge created by alaw upon registration of a
judgment in aregistry.

charging order means a charging order made by a court in respect
of ajudgment.

570 Duties of sheriff after receiving notice of application

(1) Subject to this section, where a sheriff:

(a) receives notice in writing of an application to the Court for
the winding up of a company; or

(b) receives notice in writing of the convening of a meeting of a
company to consider aresolution that the company be wound
up voluntarily;

it is not competent for the sheriff to:
(c) takeany action to sell property of the company pursuant to

any process of execution issued by or on behalf of a creditor;
or
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(d) pay to the creditor by whom or on whose behalf the process
of execution was issued or to any person on the creditor’s
behalf the proceeds of the sale of property of the company
that has been sold pursuant to such a process or any money
seized, or paid to avoid seizure or sale of property of the
company, under such a process.

(2) Subsection (1) does not affect the power of the sheriff to take any
action or make any payment if:
(a) inacaseto which paragraph (1)(a) applies—the application
has been withdrawn or dismissed; or
(b) inacaseto which paragraph (1)(b) applies—the meeting of
the company has refused to pass the resol ution.

(3) Subject to this section, where the registrar or other appropriate
officer of a court to which proceeds of the sale of property of a
company or other money has been paid by a sheriff pursuant to a
process of execution issued by or on behalf of a creditor of the
company:

(a) receivesnaticein writing of an application to the Court for
the winding up of the company; or
(b) receives notice in writing of the convening of a meeting of
the company to consider aresolution that the company be
wound up voluntarily;
any of those proceeds or money not paid out of court must not be
paid to the creditor or to any person on behalf of the creditor.

(4) Subsection (3) does not prevent the making of a payment if:
(a) inacaseto which paragraph (3)(a) applies—the application
has been withdrawn or dismissed; or
(b) inacaseto which paragraph (3)(b) applies—the meeting of
the company has refused to pass the resolution.

(5) Where acompany is being wound up, the liquidator may serve
notice in writing of that fact on a sheriff or the registrar or other
appropriate officer of a court.

(6) Upon such a notice being so served:
(a) the sheriff must deliver or pay to the liquidator:
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(7)

(8)

(9)

(i) any property of the company in the sheriff’s possession
under a process of execution issued by or on behalf of a
creditor; and

(ii) any proceeds of the sale of property of the company or
other money in the sheriff’s possession, being proceeds
of the sale of property sold, whether before or after the
commencement of the winding up, pursuant to such a
process or money seized, or paid to avoid seizure or sale
of property of the company, whether before or after the
commencement of the winding up, under such a
process; or

(b) theregistrar or other officer of the court must pay to the
liquidator any proceeds of the sale of property of the
company or other money in court, being proceeds of sale or
other money paid into court, whether before or after the
commencement of the winding up, by a sheriff pursuant to a
process of execution issued by or on behalf of a creditor;

asthe case requires.

Where:

(a) property is, or proceeds of the sale of property or other
money are, required by subsection (6) to be delivered or paid
to aliquidator; or

(b) asheriff has, pursuant to subsection (1), refrained from
taking action to sell property of a company, being land, and
that company is being wound up under an order made on the
application referred to in that subsection;

the costs of the execution are afirst charge on that property or on
those proceeds of sale or other money.

For the purpose of giving effect to the charge referred toin
subsection (7), the sheriff, registrar or other officer may retain, on
behalf of the creditor entitled to the benefit of the charge, such
amount from the proceeds of sale or other money referred to in that
subsection as he or she thinks necessary for the purpose.

The Court may, if in aparticular case it considersit is proper to do
SoX
(a) permit a sheriff to take action to sell property or make a
payment that the sheriff could not, by reason of
subsection (1), otherwise validly take; or
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(b) permit the making of a payment the making of which would,
by reason of subsection (3), otherwise be prohibited.
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Division 9—Co-oper ation between Australian and foreign
courtsin external administration matters

580 Definitions
In this Division:

external administration matter means a matter relating to:
(8 winding up, under this Chapter, a company or a Part 5.7
body; or
(b) winding up, outside Australia, abody corporate or aPart 5.7
body; or
(c) theinsolvency of abody corporate or of aPart 5.7 body.

prescribed country means:
(a) acountry prescribed for the purposes of this definition; or

(b) acolony, overseasterritory or protectorate of a country so
prescribed.

581 Courtsto act in aid of each other

(1) All courts having jurisdiction in matters arising under this Act, the
Judges of those courts and the officers of, or under the control of,
those courts must severally act in aid of, and be auxiliary to, each
other in al externa administration matters.

(2) Inall externa administration matters, the Court:
(@ must act in aid of, and be auxiliary to, the courts of:
(i) externa Territories; and
(ii) Statesthat are not in thisjurisdiction; and
(iii) prescribed countries;
that have jurisdiction in external administration matters; and

(b) may act in aid of, and be auxiliary to, the courts of other
countries that have jurisdiction in external administration
matters.

(3) Where aletter of request from a court of an external Territory, or
of a country other than Australia, requesting aid in an external
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administration matter isfiled in the Court, the Court may exercise
such powers with respect to the matter asit could exerciseif the
matter had arisen in its own jurisdiction.

(4) The Court may request a court of an external Territory, or of a
country other than Australia, that has jurisdiction in external
administration mattersto act in aid of, and be auxiliary to, itin an
external administration matter.
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Part 5.7—Winding up bodies other than companies

582 Application of Part

(D

)

©)

This Part has effect in addition to, and not in derogation of,
sections 601CC and 601CL and any provisions contained in this
Act or any other law with respect to the winding up of bodies, and
the liquidator or Court may exercise any powers or do any act in
the case of Part 5.7 bodies that might be exercised or done by him,
her or it in the winding up of companies.

Nothing in this Part affects the operation of the Bankruptcy Act
1966.

A Part 5.7 body may be wound up under this Part notwithstanding
that it is being wound up or has been dissolved, deregistered or has
otherwise ceased to exist as abody corporate under or by virtue of
the laws of the place under which it was incorporated.

583 Winding up Part 5.7 bodies

Subject to this Part, a Part 5.7 body may be wound up under this
Chapter and this Chapter applies accordingly to a Part 5.7 body
with such adaptations as are necessary, including the following
adaptations:

(@) the principal place of business of aPart 5.7 body in this
jurisdiction istaken, for al the purposes of the winding up, to
be the registered office of the Part 5.7 body;

(b) aPart 5.7 body is not to be wound up voluntarily under this
Chapter;

(c) the circumstancesin which aPart 5.7 body may be wound up
are asfollows:

(i) if the Part 5.7 body is unable to pay its debts, has been
dissolved or deregistered, has ceased to carry on
businessin thisjurisdiction or has a place of businessin
thisjurisdiction only for the purpose of winding up its
affairs;
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(d)

(ii) if the Court is of opinion that it is just and equitable that
the Part 5.7 body should be wound up;
(iii) if ASIC has stated in areport prepared under Division 1
of Part 3 of the ASIC Act that, inits opinion:
(A) thePart 5.7 body cannot pay its debts and
should be wound up; or
(B) itisintheinterestsof the public, of the
members, or of the creditors, that the Part 5.7
body should be wound up;
if the Part 5.7 body is aregistrable Australian body—the
winding up must deal only with the affairs of the body
outside its place of origin.

585 Insolvency of Part 5.7 body

For the purposes of this Part, a Part 5.7 body is taken to be unable
to pay its debtsif:

@

(b)

acreditor, by assignment or otherwise, to whom the Part 5.7
body isindebted in a sum exceeding the statutory minimum
then due has served on the Part 5.7 body, by leaving at its
principal place of businessin thisjurisdiction or by
delivering to the secretary or adirector or executive officer of
the Part 5.7 body or by otherwise serving in such manner as
the Court approves or directs, a demand, signed by or on
behalf of the creditor, requiring the body to pay the sum so
due and the body has, for 3 weeks after the service of the
demand, failed to pay the sum or to secure or compound for
it to the satisfaction of the creditor; or

an action or other proceeding has been instituted against any
member for any debt or demand due or claimed to be due
from the Part 5.7 body or from the member as such and,
notice in writing of the institution of the action or proceeding
having been served on the body by leaving it at its principal
place of businessin this jurisdiction or by delivering it to the
secretary or adirector or executive officer of the Part 5.7
body or by otherwise serving it in such manner as the Court
approves or directs, the Part 5.7 body has not, within 10 days
after service of the notice, paid, secured or compounded for
the debt or demand or procured the action or proceeding to
be stayed or indemnified the defendant to his, her or its
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reasonabl e satisfaction against the action or proceeding and
against all costs, damages and expenses to be incurred by
him, her or it by reason of the action or proceeding; or

(c) execution or other processissued on ajudgment, decree or
order obtained in acourt (whether an Australian court or not)
in favour of acreditor against the Part 5.7 body or a member
of the Part 5.7 body as such, or a person authorised to be
sued as nominal defendant on behalf of the Part 5.7 body, is
returned unsatisfied; or

(d) itisotherwise proved to the satisfaction of the Court that the
Part 5.7 body is unable to pay its debts.

586 Contributoriesin winding up of Part 5.7 body

(D

)

On a Part 5.7 body being wound up, every person who:
(a) inany case—isliableto pay or contribute to the payment of:
(i) adebt or liahility of the Part 5.7 body; or
(if) any sum for the adjustment of the rights of the members
among themselves; or
(iii) the costs and expenses of winding up; or
(b) if the Part 5.7 body has been dissolved or deregistered in its
place of origin—was so liable immediately before the
dissolution or deregistration;
isacontributory and every contributory is liable to contribute to
the property of the Part 5.7 body all sums due from the
contributory in respect of any such liability.

On the death or bankruptcy of a contributory, the provisions of this
Act with respect to the personal representatives of deceased
contributories or the assignees and trustees of bankrupt
contributories, as the case may be, apply.

587 Power of Court to stay or restrain proceedings

(1) The provisions of this Act with respect to staying and restraining

actions and other civil proceedings against a company at any time
after the filing of an application for winding up and before the
making of awinding up order extend, in the case of a Part 5.7 body
where the application to stay or restrain is by a creditor, to actions
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and other civil proceedings against a contributory of the Part 5.7
body.

(2) Where an order has been made for winding up a Part 5.7 body, no
action or other civil proceeding isto be proceeded with or
commenced against a contributory of the Part 5.7 body in respect
of adebt of the Part 5.7 body except by leave of the Court and
subject to such terms as the Court imposes.

588 Outstanding property of defunct registrable body

(1) Thissection appliesif, after the dissolution or deregistration of a
registrable body, outstanding property of the body remains:
(@) inthisjurisdiction; and
(b) outside the body’s place of origin.

(2) The estate and interest in the property, at law or in equity, of the
body or itsliquidator at that time, together with all claims, rights
and remedies that the body or its liquidator then had in respect of
the property, vests by force of this section in:

(a) if the body was incorporated in Australia or an external
Territory—the person entitled to the property under the law
of the body’ s place of origin; or

(b) otherwise—ASIC.

(3) Whereany claim, right or remedy of aliquidator may under this
Act be made, exercised or availed of only with the approval or
concurrence of the Court or some other person, ASIC may, for the
purposes of this section, make, exercise or avail itself of the claim,
right or remedy without such approval or concurrence.

(4) Section 601AE appliesto property that vestsin ASIC under this
section asif the property were vested in ASIC under subsection
601AD(2).
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Part 5.7B—Recovering property or compensation
for the benefit of creditors of insolvent
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Divison 1—Preliminary

588D Secured debt may become unsecured

For the purposes of this Part, a secured debt becomes an unsecured
debt to the extent that the creditor proves for the debt as an
unsecured creditor.

588E Presumptionsto be madein recovery proceedings

(1) Inthissection:

recovery proceeding, in relation to a company, means:

(a) an application under section 588FF by the company’s
liquidator; or

(b) proceedings begun under subsection 588FH(2) by the
company’s liquidator; or

(c) proceedings, in so far asthey relate to the question whether a
charge created by the company isvoid to any extent, as
against the company’ s liquidator, because of subsection
588FJ(2); or

(d) proceedings begun under subsection 588FJ(6) by the
company’s liquidator; or

(e) proceedings for a contravention of subsection 588G(2) in
relation to the incurring of a debt by the company (including
proceedings under section 588M in relation to the incurring
of the debt but not including proceedings for an offence); or

(f) proceedings under section 588W in relation to the incurring
of a debt by the company.

(2) Subsections (3) to (9), inclusive, have effect for the purposes of a
recovery proceeding in relation to a company.
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©)

(4)

©)

(6)

(7)

If:
(@) the company is being wound up; and
(b) itisproved, or because of subsection (4) or (8) it must be
presumed, that the company was insolvent at a particular
time during the 12 months ending on the relation-back day;
it must be presumed that the company was insolvent throughout the
period beginning at that time and ending on that day.

Subject to subsections (5) to (7), if it is proved that the company:
(a) hasfailed to keep financial recordsin relation to a period as
required by subsection 286(1); or
(b) hasfailed toretain financia recordsin relation to a period for
the 7 years required by subsection 286(2);

the company isto be presumed to have been insolvent throughout
the period.

Paragraph (4)(a) does not apply in relation to a contravention of
subsection 286(1) that is only minor or technical.

Subsection (4) does not have effect, in so far asit would prejudice
aright or interest of a person for the company to be presumed
insolvent because of a contravention of subsection 286(2), if itis
proved that:

(a) the contravention was due solely to someone destroying,
concealing or removing financial records of the company;
and

(b) none of those financia records was destroyed, concealed or
removed by the first-mentioned person; and

(c) the person was not in any way, by act or omission, directly or
indirectly, knowingly or recklessly, concerned in, or party to,
destroying, concealing or removing any of those financial
records.

If the recovery proceeding is an application under section 588FF,
subsection (4) of this section does not have effect for the purposes
of proving, for the purposes of the application, that an unfair
preference given by the company to a creditor of the company isan
insolvent transaction, unlessit is proved, for the purposes of the
application, that arelated entity of the company was a party to the
unfair preference.
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(8) If, for the purposes of another recovery proceeding in relation to
the company, there has been proved:
(a) if the other proceeding is of the kind referred to in
paragraph (1)(a) of this section—a matter of the kind referred
to in a paragraph of section 588FC or of subsection
588FG(2); or
(b) if the other proceeding is of the kind referred to in
paragraph (1)(b) of this section—a matter of the kind referred
to in a paragraph of section 588FC or of subsection 588FG(2)
or 588FH(1), or a defence under subsection 588FH(3); or
(c) if the other proceeding is of the kind referred to in
paragraph (1)(c) or (d) of this section—a matter of the kind
referred to in subsection 588FJ(3); or
(d) if the other proceeding is of the kind referred toin
paragraph (1)(e) of this section—a matter of the kind referred
to in a paragraph of section 588G, or a defence under
section 588H; or
(e) if the other proceeding is of the kind referred to in
paragraph (1)(f) of this section—a matter of the kind referred
to in a paragraph of subsection 588V (1), or a defence under
section 588X;
it must be presumed that that matter was the case, or that the
matters constituting that defence were the case.

(9) A presumption for which this section provides operates except so
far asthe contrary is proved for the purposes of the proceeding
concerned.

588F Certain taxation liabilitiestaken to be debts

(1) For the purposes of this Part, acompany’s liability under a
remittance provision to pay to the Commissioner of Taxation an
amount equal to a deduction made by the company, after 1 July
1993, from a payment:

(a) istaken to be adebt; and

(b) istaken to have been incurred when the deduction was made.

(2) Inthissection:
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remittance provision means any of the following provisions of the
Income Tax Assessment Act 1936:

(a) section 221F (except subsection 221F(12)) or section 221G
(except subsection 221G(4A));

(b) subsection 221YHDC(2);
(c) subsection 221YHZD(1) or (1A);
(d) subsection 221Y N(1);

or any of the provisions of Subdivision 16-B in Schedule 1 to the
Taxation Administration Act 1953.

(8) Thissectionisnot intended to limit the generality of areferencein
this Act to a debt or to incurring a debt.
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Division 2—Voidable transactions

588FA Unfair preferences

(1) A transaction isan unfair preference given by a company to a
creditor of the company if, and only if:
(a) the company and the creditor are parties to the transaction
(even if someone elseis also a party); and

(b) the transaction results in the creditor receiving from the
company, in respect of an unsecured debt that the company
owes to the creditor, more than the creditor would receive
from the company in respect of the debt if the transaction
were set aside and the creditor were to prove for the debt in a
winding up of the company;

even if the transaction is entered into, is given effect to, or is
required to be given effect to, because of an order of an Australian
court or adirection by an agency.

(2) For the purposes of subsection (1), a secured debt is taken to be
unsecured to the extent of so much of it (if any) asis not reflected
in the value of the security.

(3) Where:

(a) atransactionis, for commercial purposes, an integral part of
a continuing business relationship (for example, arunning
account) between a company and a creditor of the company
(including such arelationship to which other persons are
parties); and

(b) inthe course of the relationship, the level of the company’s
net indebtedness to the creditor isincreased and reduced
from time to time as the result of a series of transactions
forming part of the relationship;

then:

(c) subsection (1) appliesin relation to all the transactions
forming part of the relationship asif they together constituted
asingle transaction; and

(d) thetransaction referred to in paragraph (a) may only be taken
to be an unfair preference given by the company to the
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creditor if, because of subsection (1) as applying because of
paragraph (c) of this subsection, the single transaction
referred to in the last-mentioned paragraph is taken to be
such an unfair preference.

588FB Uncommercial transactions

(1) A transaction of a company isan uncommercial transaction of the
company if, and only if, it may be expected that a reasonable
person in the company’ s circumstances would not have entered
into the transaction, having regard to:

(a) the benefits (if any) to the company of entering into the
transaction; and

(b) the detriment to the company of entering into the transaction;
and

(c) the respective benefits to other parties to the transaction of
entering into it; and

(d) any other relevant matter.

(2) A transaction may be an uncommercial transaction of a company
because of subsection (1):
() whether or not a creditor of the company is a party to the
transaction; and
(b) evenif thetransaction is given effect to, or isrequired to be
given effect to, because of an order of an Australian court or
adirection by an agency.

588FC Insolvent transactions

A transaction of acompany is an insolvent transaction of the
company if, and only if, it isan unfair preference given by the
company, or an uncommercial transaction of the company, and:
(a) any of the following happens at a time when the company is
insolvent:
(i) thetransaction is entered into; or
(if) an act isdone, or an omission is made, for the purpose
of giving effect to the transaction; or
(b) the company becomes insolvent because of, or because of
matters including:
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(i) entering into the transaction; or
(ii) aperson doing an act, or making an omission, for the
purpose of giving effect to the transaction.

588FD Unfair loansto a company

(1) A loanto acompany isunfair if, and only if:

(a) theinterest on the loan was extortionate when the loan was
made, or has since become extortionate because of a
variation; or

(b) the chargesin relation to the loan were extortionate when the
loan was made, or have since become extortionate because of
avariation;

even if theinterest is, or the charges are, no longer extortionate.

(2) In determining:

() whether interest on aloan was or became extortionate at a
particular time as mentioned in paragraph (1)(a); or

(b) whether chargesin relation to aloan were or became
extortionate at a particular time as mentioned in
paragraph (1)(b);

regard isto be had to the following matters as at that time:

(c) therisk to which the lender was exposed; and

(d) thevaue of any security in respect of the loan; and

(e) theterm of theloan; and

(f) the schedule for payments of interest and charges and for
repayments of principal; and

(g) the amount of the loan; and

(h) any other relevant matter.

588FE Voidabletransactions

(1) Where acompany is being wound up, atransaction of the company
that was entered into on or after 23 June 1993 may be voidable
because of any one or more of the following subsections.

(2) Thetransactionisvoidableif:
(@) itisaninsolvent transaction of the company; and
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(b) it was entered into, or an act was done for the purpose of
giving effect to it:
(i) during the 6 months ending on the relation-back day; or
(ii) after that day but on or before the day when the winding
up began.

(3) Thetransaction isvoidable if:
(a) itisaninsolvent transaction, and also an uncommercial
transaction, of the company; and
(b) it was entered into, or an act was done for the purpose of
giving effect to it, during the 2 years ending on the
relation-back day.

(4) Thetransaction isvoidable if:
(a) itisaninsolvent transaction of the company; and
(b) arelated entity of the company is aparty toit; and
(c) it was entered into, or an act was done for the purpose of
giving effect to it, during the 4 years ending on the
relation-back day.

(5) Thetransaction isvoidableif:

(@) itisaninsolvent transaction of the company; and

(b) the company became a party to the transaction for the
purpose, or for purposes including the purpose, of defeating,
delaying, or interfering with, the rights of any or all of its
creditors on awinding up of the company; and

(c) the transaction was entered into, or an act done was for the
purpose of giving effect to the transaction, during the 10
years ending on the relation-back day.

(6) Thetransactionisvoidableif itisan unfair loan to the company
made at any time on or before the day when the winding up began.

(7) A referencein this section to doing an act includes a reference to
making an omission.

588FF Courtsmay make ordersabout voidable transactions

(1) Where, on the application of acompany’s liquidator, a court is
satisfied that a transaction of the company is voidable because of
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section 588FE, the court may make one or more of the following
orders:

(a) an order directing a person to pay to the company an amount
equal to some or al of the money that the company has paid
under the transaction;

(b) an order directing a person to transfer to the company
property that the company has transferred under the
transaction;

(c) an order requiring a person to pay to the company an amount
that, in the court’ s opinion, fairly represents some or all of
the benefits that the person has received because of the
transaction;

(d) an order requiring a person to transfer to the company
property that, in the court’ s opinion, fairly represents the
application of either or both of the following:

(i) money that the company has paid under the transaction;

(ii) proceeds of property that the company has transferred
under the transaction;

(e) anorder releasing or discharging, wholly or partly, a debt
incurred, or a security or guarantee given, by the company
under or in connection with the transaction;

(f) if thetransaction is an unfair loan and such a debt, security or
guarantee has been assigned—an order directing a person to
indemnify the company in respect of some or al of its
liability to the assignes;

(g) an order providing for the extent to which, and the terms on
which, a debt that arose under, or was released or discharged
to any extent by or under, the transaction may be provedin a
winding up of the company;

(h) an order declaring an agreement constituting, forming part of,
or relating to, the transaction, or specified provisions of such
an agreement, to have been void at and after the time when
the agreement was made, or at and after a specified later
time;

(i) anorder varying such an agreement as specified in the order
and, if the Court thinks fit, declaring the agreement to have
had effect, as so varied, at and after the time when the
agreement was made, or at and after a specified later time;
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(1) an order declaring such an agreement, or specified provisions
of such an agreement, to be unenforceable.

(2) Nothing in subsection (1) limits the generality of anything elsein
it.
(3) An application under subsection (1) may only be made:
(a) within 3 years after the relation-back day; or
(b) within such longer period as the Court orders on an

application under this paragraph made by the liquidator
within those 3 years.

588FG Transaction not voidable as against certain persons

(1) A court isnot to make under section 588FF an order materially
prejudicing aright or interest of a person other than a party to the
transaction if it is proved that:

(a) the person received no benefit because of the transaction; or

(b) inrelation to each benefit that the person received because of
the transaction:
(i) the person received the benefit in good faith; and
(ii) at the time when the person received the benefit:

(A) the person had no reasonable grounds for
suspecting that the company was insolvent at
that time or would become insolvent as
mentioned in paragraph 588FC(b); and

(B) areasonable personin the person’s
circumstances would have had no such grounds
for so suspecting.

(2) A court isnot to make under section 588FF an order materially
prejudicing aright or interest of a person if the transaction is not an
unfair loan to the company and it is proved that:

(a) the person became a party to the transaction in good faith;
and
(b) at the time when the person became such a party:
(i) the person had no reasonable grounds for suspecting
that the company was insolvent at that time or would

become insolvent as mentioned in paragraph 588FC(b);
and
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©)

(4)

)

(6)

(if) areasonable person in the person’s circumstances
would have had no such grounds for so suspecting; and
(c) the person has provided valuable consideration under the
transaction or has changed his, her or its position in reliance
on the transaction.

For the purposes of paragraph (2)(c), if an amount has been paid or
applied towards discharging to a particular extent aliability to pay
tax, the discharge is valuable consideration provided:

(@) by the person to whom the tax is payable; and

(b) under any transaction that consists of, or involves, the
payment or application.

In subsection (3):

tax means tax (however described) payable under alaw of the
Commonwealth or of a State or Territory, and includes, for
example, alevy, acharge, and municipal or other rates.

For the purposes of paragraph (2)(c), if an amount has been paid or
applied towards discharging to a particular extent aliability to the
Commonwealth, or to the Commissioner of Taxation, that arose
under or because of an Act of which the Commissioner has the
general administration, the discharge is valuable consideration
provided by the Commonwealth, or by the Commissioner, asthe
case requires, under any transaction that consists of, or involves,
the payment or application.

Subsections (3) and (5):

(a) areto avoid doubt and are not intended to limit the cases
where a person may be taken to have provided valuable
consideration under atransaction; and

(b) apply to an amount even if it was paid or applied before the
commencement of this Act.

588FGA Directorsto indemnify Commissioner of Taxation if certain

(D

payments set aside

This section appliesif the Court makes an order under
section 588FF against the Commissioner of Taxation because of
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the payment of an amount in respect of aliability under any of the
following provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936:

(a) section 221F (except subsection 221F(12)), section 221G
(except subsection 221G(4A)) or section 221P;

(b) subsection 221YHDC(2);

(c) subsection 221YHZD(1) or (1A);
(d) subsection 221Y N(1);

(e) section 222AHA;

or under a provision of Subdivision 16-B in Schedule 1 to the
Taxation Administration Act 1953.

(2) Each person who was a director of the company when the payment
was made is liable to indemnify the Commissioner in respect of
any loss or damage resulting from the order.

(3) Anamount payable to the Commissioner under subsection (2):
(a) isadebt dueto the Commonwealth and payable to the
Commissioner; and
(b) may be recovered in a court of competent jurisdiction by the
Commissioner, or a Deputy Commissioner of Taxation, suing
in hisor her official name.

(4) The Court may, in the proceedings in which it made the order
against the Commissioner, order a person to pay to the
Commissioner an amount payable by the person under
subsection (2).

(5) A person who pays an amount under subsection (2) has the same
rights:
(&) whether by way of indemnity, subrogation, contribution or
otherwise; and
(b) against the company or anyone else;
asif the payment had been made under a guarantee:
(c) of theliability referred to in subsection (1); and

(d) under which the person and every other person who was a
director of the company as mentioned in subsection (2) were
jointly and severally liable as guarantors.
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588FGB Defencesin proceedings under section 588FGA

(1) Thissection has effect for the purposes of:
(a) proceedings to recover from a person an amount payable
under subsection 588FGA(2); and
(b) proceedings under subsection 588FGA (5) against a person of
the kind referred to in paragraph 588FGA (5)(d).

(2) Thetime when the payment referred to in subsection 588FGA (1)
was made is called the payment time.

(3) Itisadefenceif itisproved that, at the payment time, the person
had reasonable grounds to expect, and did expect, that the company
was solvent at that time and would remain solvent even if it made
the payment.

(4) Without limiting the generality of subsection (3), it isadefenceif
it is proved that, at the payment time, the person:
(a) had reasonable groundsto believe, and did believe:

(i) that a competent and reliable person (the other person)
was responsible for providing to the first-mentioned
person adeguate information about whether the
company was solvent; and

(ii) that the other person was fulfilling that responsibility;
and
(b) expected, on the basis of information provided to the
first-mentioned person by the other person, that the company
was solvent at that time and would remain solvent even if it
made the payment.

(5) Itisadefenceif itis proved that, because of illness or for some
other good reason, the person did not take part in the management
of the company at the payment time.

(6) Itisadefenceif it isproved that:

(a) the persontook all reasonable steps to prevent the company
from making the payment; or

(b) there were no such steps the person could have taken.
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(7) In determining whether a defence under subsection (6) has been
proved, the matters to which regard is to be had include, but are not
limited to:

(a) any action the person took with aview to appointing an
administrator of the company; and

(b) when that action was taken; and

(c) theresults of that action.

588FH Liquidator may recover from related entity benefit resulting
from insolvent transaction

(1) This section applies where a company is being wound up and a
transaction of the company:

(a) isaninsolvent transaction of the company; and

(b) isvoidable under section 588FE; and

(c) has had the effect of discharging, to the extent of a particular
amount, aliability (whether under a guarantee or otherwise
and whether contingent or otherwise) of arelated entity of
the company.

(2) The company’s liquidator may recover from the related entity, as a
debt due to the company, an amount equal to the amount referred

to in paragraph (1)(c).
(3) Indeciding what orders (if any) to make under section 588FF on an

application relating to the transaction, a court must take into
account any amount recovered under subsection (2) of this section.

(4) If theliquidator recovers an amount under subsection (2) from the
related entity, the related entity has the same rights:

(&) whether by way of indemnity, subrogation, contribution or
otherwise; and
(b) against the company or anyone else;

asif the related entity had paid the amount in discharging, to the
extent of that amount, the liability referred to in paragraph (1)(c).

588F| Creditor who gives up benefit of unfair preference may prove
for preferred debt

(1) Thissection applies where:
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(a) atransaction isan unfair preference given by a company to a
creditor of the company after 23 June 1993; and

(b) at the request of the company’ s liquidator, because of an
order under section 588FF, or for any other reason, the
creditor has put the company in the same position asiif the
transaction had not been entered into.

(2) A court must not make under section 588FF, on an application
relating to the transaction, an order prejudicing aright or interest of
the creditor.

(3) The creditor may prove in the winding up as if the transaction had
not been entered into.

588FJ Floating charge created within 6 months befor e relation-back
day

(1) Thissection appliesif:
() acompany isbeing wound up in insolvency; and
(b) the company created afloating charge on property of the

company at a particular timethat is at or after 23 June 1993
and:

(i) during the 6 months ending on the relation-back day; or

(i) after that day but on or before the day when the winding
up began.

(2) Thechargeisvoid, as against the company’s liquidator, except so
far asit secures:

(@) an advance paid to the company, or at its direction, at or after
that time and as consideration for the charge; or

(b) interest on such an advance; or

(c) the amount of aliability under a guarantee or other obligation
undertaken at or after that time on behalf of, or for the benefit
of, the company; or

(d) an amount payable for property or services supplied to the
company at or after that time; or

(e) interest on an amount so payable.

() Subsection (2) does not apply if it is proved that the company was
solvent immediately after that time.
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(4)

©)

(6)

Paragraphs (2)(a) and (b) do not apply in relation to an advance so
far asit was applied to discharge, directly or indirectly, an
unsecured debt, whether contingent or otherwise, that the company
owed to:

(a) the chargee; or
(b) if the chargee was a body corporate—arelated entity of the
body.

Paragraphs (2)(d) and (€) do not apply in relation to an amount
payable as mentioned in paragraph (2)(d) in so far as the amount
exceeds the market value of the property or services when supplied
to the company.

If, during the 6 months ending on the relation-back day, or after
that day but on or before the day when the winding up began, a
debt secured by the charge was discharged, out of the company’s
money or property, to the extent of a particular amount (in this
subsection called the realised amount), the liquidator may, by
proceedingsin a court of competent jurisdiction, recover from the
chargee, as a debt due to the company, the amount worked out in
accordance with the formula:

Unsecured amount — Realisation costs
where:

realisation costs means so much (if any) of the costs and expenses
of enforcing the charge as is attributabl e to realising the realised
amount.

unsecured amount means so much of the realised amount as does
not exceed so much of the debt as would, if the debt had not been
so discharged, have been unsecured, as against the liquidator,
because of subsection (2).
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Division 3—Director’sduty to prevent insolvent trading

588G Director’sduty to prevent insolvent trading by company

(1) Thissection appliesif:
(@) apersonisadirector of acompany at the time when the
company incurs a debt; and

(b) the company isinsolvent at that time, or becomes insolvent
by incurring that debt, or by incurring at that time debts
including that debt; and

(c) at that time, there are reasonable grounds for suspecting that
the company isinsolvent, or would so become insolvent, as
the case may be; and

(d) that timeisat or after the commencement of this Act.

(1A) For the purposes of this section, if a company takes action set out
in column 2 of the following table, it incurs a debt at the time set
out in column 3.

When debtsareincurred [operative table]
Action of company When debt isincurred
1 paying adividend when the dividend is paid or, if the

company has a constitution that provides
for the declaration of dividends, when the
dividend is declared

2 making areduction of share when the reduction takes effect
capital to which Division 1 of
Part 2J.1 applies (other than a
reduction that consists only of the
cancellation of a share or shares
for no consideration)

3 buying back shares (even if the when the buy-back agreement is entered
consideration isnot asum certain ~ into
in money)

4 redeeming redeemable preference  when the company exercises the option
sharesthat are redeemable at its
option
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When debtsareincurred [operative table]
Action of company When debt isincurred
5  issuing redeemable preference when the shares are issued
shares that are redeemable
otherwise than at its option
6 financially assisting a person to when the agreement to provide the
acquire shares (or units of shares)  assistanceis entered into or, if thereisno
in itself or a holding company agreement, when the assistance is
provided
7  entering into an uncommercial when the transaction is entered into

transaction (within the meaning of
section 588FB) other than one that
acourt orders, or a prescribed
agency directs, the company to
enter into

(2) By failing to prevent the company from incurring the debt, the
person contravenes this section if:
(a) the personisaware at that time that there are such grounds
for so suspecting; or
(b) areasonable personin alike position in acompany in the
company’ s circumstances would be so aware.

Note: This subsection is acivil penalty provision (see subsection 1317E(1)).

(3) A person commits an offenceif:

(a) the personisadirector of the company when it incurs a debt;
and

(b) the company isinsolvent at that time, or becomes insolvent
by incurring that debt, or by incurring at that time debts
including that debt; and

(c) the person suspected at the time when the company incurred
the debt that the company was insolvent or would become
insolvent as aresult of incurring that debt or other debts (as
in paragraph (1)(b)); and

(d) the person’sfailure to prevent the company incurring the
debt was dishonest.

(4) The provisions of Division 4 of this Part are additional to, and do
not derogate from, Part 9.4B asit appliesinrelation to a
contravention of this section.
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588H Defences

(1)

)

©)

(4)

)

(6)

This section has effect for the purposes of proceedingsfor a
contravention of subsection 588G(2) in relation to the incurring of
adebt (including proceedings under section 588M in relation to the
incurring of the debt).

Itisadefenceif it is proved that, at the time when the debt was
incurred, the person had reasonable grounds to expect, and did
expect, that the company was solvent at that time and would
remain solvent even if it incurred that debt and any other debts that
it incurred at that time.

Without limiting the generality of subsection (2), it isadefenceif
it is proved that, at the time when the debt was incurred, the
person:

(a) had reasonable groundsto believe, and did believe:

(i) that acompetent and reliable person (the other person)
was responsible for providing to the first-mentioned
person adequate information about whether the
company was solvent; and

(ii) that the other person was fulfilling that responsibility;
and

(b) expected, on the basis of information provided to the
first-mentioned person by the other person, that the company
was solvent at that time and would remain solvent even if it
incurred that debt and any other debts that it incurred at that
time.

If the person was a director of the company at the time when the
debt wasincurred, it isadefenceif it is proved that, because of
illness or for some other good reason, he or she did not take part at
that time in the management of the company.

Itisadefenceif it is proved that the person took all reasonable
steps to prevent the company from incurring the debt.

In determining whether a defence under subsection (5) has been
proved, the matters to which regard is to be had include, but are not
limited to:
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(a) any action the person took with aview to appointing an
administrator of the company; and

(b) when that action was taken; and

(c) theresults of that action.
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Division 4—Director liableto compensate company

Subdivision A—Proceedings against director

588J On application for civil penalty order, Court may order
compensation

(1) Where, on an application for acivil penalty order against a person
in relation to a contravention of subsection 588G(2), the Court is
satisfied that:

(a) the person committed the contravention in relation to the
incurring of a debt by a company; and
(b) the debt iswholly or partly unsecured; and
(c) the person to whom the debt is owed has suffered loss or
damage in relation to the debt because of the company’s
insolvency;
the Court may (whether or not it makes a pecuniary penalty order
under section 1317G or an order under section 206C disqualifying
a person from managing corporations) order the first-mentioned
person to pay to the company compensation equal to the amount of
that loss or damage.

(2) A company’sliquidator may intervene in an application for a civil
penalty order against a person in relation to a contravention of
subsection 588G(2).

(3) A company’s liquidator who so intervenesis entitled to be heard:
(a) only if the Court is satisfied that the person committed the
contravention in relation to the incurring of a debt by that
company; and
(b) only on the question whether the Court should order the
person to pay compensation to the company.

588K Criminal court may order compensation

If:
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(a) acourt finds a person guilty of an offence under subsection
588G(3) in relation to the incurring of a debt by a company;
and

(b) thecourt is satisfied that:

(i) the debt iswholly or partly unsecured; and
(i) the person to whom the debt is owed has suffered loss
or damage in relation to the debt because of the
company’ s insolvency;
the court may (whether or not it imposes a penalty) order the
first-mentioned person to pay to the company compensation equal
to the amount of that loss or damage.

Note: Section 73A defines when a court istaken to find a person guilty of an
offence.

588L Enforcement of order under section 588J or 588K

An order to pay compensation that a court makes under
section 588J or 588K may be enforced asif it were a judgment of
the court.

588M Recovery of compensation for loss resulting from insolvent
trading

(1) Thissection applies where:

(a) aperson (in this section called the director) has contravened
subsection 588G(2) or (3) in relation to the incurring of a
debt by a company; and

(b) the person (in this section called the creditor) to whom the
debt is owed has suffered loss or damage in relation to the
debt because of the company’ sinsolvency; and

(c) the debt was whoally or partly unsecured when the loss or
damage was suffered; and

(d) the company is being wound up;

whether or not:

(e) thedirector has been convicted of an offencein relation to

the contravention; or
(f) acivil penalty order has been made against the director in
relation to the contravention.
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(2) The company’s liquidator may recover from the director, as a debt
due to the company, an amount equal to the amount of the loss or
damage.

(3) The creditor may, as provided in Subdivision B but not otherwise,
recover from the director, as a debt due to the creditor, an amount
equal to the amount of the loss or damage.

(4) Proceedings under this section may only be begun within 6 years
after the beginning of the winding up.

588N Avoiding double recovery

An amount recovered in proceedings under section 588M in
relation to the incurring of a debt by a company isto be taken into
account in working out the amount (if any) recoverable in:

(a) any other proceedings under that section in relation to the
incurring of the debt; and

(b) proceedings under section 596AC in relationto a
contravention of section 596AB that is linked to the incurring
of the debt.

588P Effect of sections 588J, 588K and 588M

Sections 588J, 588K and 588M:

(@) have effect in addition to, and not in derogation of, any rule
of law about the duty or liability of a person because of the
person’s office or employment in relation to a company; and

(b) do not prevent proceedings from being instituted in respect of
a breach of such aduty or in respect of such aliability.

588Q Certificates evidencing contravention

For the purposes of this Part, a certificate that:
(a) purportsto be signed by the Registrar or other proper officer
of an Australian court; and
(b) states:
(i) that that court has declared that a specified person has,
by failing to prevent a specified company from
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incurring a specified debt, contravened subsection
588G(3) in relation to the company; or
(ii) that a specified person was convicted by that court for
an offence constituted by a contravention of
section 588G in relation to the incurring of a specified
debt by a specified company; or
(iii) that a specified person charged before that court with
such an offence was found in that court to have
committed the offence but that the court did not proceed
to convict the person of the offence;
is, unlessit is proved that the declaration, conviction or finding
was set aside, quashed or reversed, conclusive evidence:

(c) that the declaration was made, that the person was convicted
of the offence, or that the person was so found, as the case
may be; and

(d) that the person committed the contravention.

Subdivision B—Proceedings by creditor

588R Creditor may suefor compensation with liquidator’s consent

(1) A creditor of acompany that is being wound up may, with the
written consent of the company’ s liquidator, begin proceedings
under section 588M in relation to the incurring by the company of
adebt that is owed to the creditor.

(2) Subsection (1) has effect despite section 588T, but subject to
section 588U.

588S Creditor may give liquidator notice of intention to sue for
compensation

After the end of 6 months beginning when a company begins to be
wound up, a creditor of the company may give to the company’s
liquidator a written notice:
(a) stating that the creditor intends to begin proceedings under
section 588M in relation to the incurring by the company of a
specified debt that is owed to the creditor; and
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(b) asking the liquidator to give to the creditor, within 3 months
after receiving the notice:

(i) awritten consent to the creditor beginning the
proceedings; or

(ii) awritten statement of the reasons why the liquidator
thinks that proceedings under section 588M in relation
to the incurring of that debt should not be begun.

588T When creditor may sue for compensation without liquidator’s
consent

(1) This section applies where anoticeis given under section 588S.

(2) The creditor may begin proceedingsin a court under section 588M
in relation to the incurring by the company of the debt specified in
the notice if:

(a) asat the end of 3 months after the liquidator receives the
notice, he or she has not consented to the creditor beginning
such proceedings; and

(b) on an application made after those 3 months, the court has
given leave for the proceedings to begin.

3 If:

(a) during those 3 months, the liquidator givesto the creditor a
written statement of the reasons why the liquidator thinks
that such proceedings should not be begun; and

(b) the creditor appliesfor leave under paragraph (2)(b);

then:

(c) the creditor must file the statement with the court when so
applying; and

(d) indetermining the application, the court isto have regard to
the reasons set out in the statement.

588U Eventspreventing creditor from suing

(1) A creditor of acompany that is being wound up cannot begin
proceedings under section 588M in relation to the incurring of a
debt by the company if:
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(a) the company’s liquidator has applied under section 588FF in
relation to the debt, or in relation to a transaction under
which the debt was incurred; or

(b) the company’sliquidator has begun proceedings under
section 588M in relation to the incurring of the debt; or

(c) the company’sliquidator has intervened in an application for
acivil penalty order against apersonin relation to a
contravention of subsection 588G(2) in relation to the
incurring of the debt.

(2) Subsection (1) has effect despite sections 588R and 588T.
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Division 5—Liability of holding company for insolvent
trading by subsidiary

588V When holding company liable

(1) A corporation contravenes this section if:

(a) the corporation is the holding company of a company at the
time when the company incurs a debt; and

(b) the company isinsolvent at that time, or becomes insolvent
by incurring that debt, or by incurring at that time debts
including that debt; and

(c) at that time, there are reasonable grounds for suspecting that
the company isinsolvent, or would so become insolvent, as
the case may be; and

(d) one or both of the following subparagraphs applies:

(i) the corporation, or one or more of its directors, is or are
aware at that time that there are such grounds for so
suspecting;

(ii) having regard to the nature and extent of the
corporation’s control over the company’s affairs and to
any other relevant circumstances, it is reasonable to
expect that:

(A) aholding company in the corporation’s
circumstances would be so aware; or

(B) one or more of such aholding company’s
directors would be so aware; and

(e) that timeisat or after the commencement of this Act.

(2) A corporation that contravenes this section is not guilty of an
offence.

588W Recovery of compensation for lossresulting from insolvent
trading

(1) Where:

() acorporation has contravened section 588V in relation to the
incurring of adebt by acompany; and
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(b) the person to whom the debt is owed has suffered loss or
damage in relation to the debt because of the company’s
insolvency; and

(c) the debt waswhoally or partly unsecured when the loss or
damage was suffered; and

(d) the company is being wound up;

the company’ s liquidator may recover from the corporation, as a
debt due to the company, an amount egual to the amount of the loss
or damage.

(2) Proceedings under this section may only be begun within 6 years
after the beginning of the winding up.

588X Defences

(1) Thissection has effect for the purposes of proceedings under
section 588W.

(2) Itisadefenceif itisproved that, at the time when the debt was
incurred, the corporation, and each relevant director (if any), had
reasonable grounds to expect, and did expect, that the company
was solvent at that time and would remain solvent even if it
incurred that debt and any other debts that it incurred at that time.

(3) Without limiting the generality of subsection (2), it is a defence if
it is proved that, at the time when the debt was incurred, the
corporation, and each relevant director (if any):

(a) had reasonable groundsto believe, and did believe:

(i) that a competent and reliable person was responsible for
providing to the corporation adequate information about
whether the company was solvent; and

(ii) that the person was fulfilling that responsibility; and
(b) expected, on the basis of the information provided to the
corporation by the person, that the company was solvent at
that time and would remain solvent even if it incurred that
debt and any other debts that it incurred at that time.

(4) If itisproved that, because of illness or for some other good
reason, a particular relevant director did not take part in the
management of the corporation at the time when the company
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incurred the debt, the fact that the director was aware as mentioned
in subparagraph 588V (1)(d)(i) is to be disregarded.

(5) Itisadefenceif itisproved that the corporation took al
reasonable steps to prevent the company from incurring the debt.

(6) Insubsections (2), (3) and (4):

relevant director means a director of the corporation who was
aware as mentioned in subparagraph 588V (1)(d)(i).
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Division 6—Application of compensation under Division 4

or5

588Y Application of amount paid as compensation

(D)

)

©)

(4)

An amount paid to acompany under section 588J, 588K, 588M or
588W is not available to pay a secured debt of the company unless
al the company’ s unsecured debts have been paid in full.

Where:

(a) under section 588J or 588K, or in proceedings under
section 588M or 588W, a court orders a person to pay to the
company compensation, or an amount, equal to the amount
of loss or damage suffered by a personin relation to a debt
because of the company’ sinsolvency; and

(b) the court is satisfied that, at the time when the company
incurred the debt, the person who suffered the loss or damage
knew that the company was insolvent at that time or would
become insolvent by incurring the debt, or by incurring at
that time debts including the debt, as the case requires;

the court may order that the compensation or amount paid to the
company is not available to pay that debt unless all the company’s
unsecured debts (other than debts to which orders under this
subsection relate) have been paid in full.

Subsection (2) does not apply in relation to proceedings under
section 588M in relation to the incurring of a debt by a company if
the proceedings are begun by a creditor of the company (as
provided for in Subdivision B of Division 4).

Subsection (2) does not apply in relation to aliability that is taken
to be a debt because of section 588F.
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Division 7—Per son managing a cor por ation while
disqualified may becomeliablefor corporation’s
debts

5887 Court may make order imposing liability

Where:
() acompany isbeing wound up; and
(b) on or after 23 June 1993 and within 4 years before the
relation-back day, a person contravened section 206A by
managing the company;
the Court may, on the application of the company’s liquidator,
order that the person is personally liable for so much of the
company’s debts and liabilities as does not exceed an amount
specified in the order.
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589 Interpretation and application

(1) Sections 590 to 593 (inclusive) apply to a company:
(a) that has been wound up or isin the course of being wound
up; or
(b) that has been in the course of being wound up, where the
winding up has been stayed or terminated by an order under
section 482; or

(ba) of which aprovisional liquidator has been appointed; or
(c) that isor has been under administration; or
(ca) that has executed a deed of company arrangement, even if the
deed has since terminated; or
(d) affairs of which are or have been under investigation; or
(e) in respect of property of which areceiver, or areceiver and
manager, has at any time been appointed, whether by the
Court or under a power contained in an instrument, whether
or not the appointment has been terminated; or

(f) that has ceased to carry on business or is unable to pay its
debts; or

(g) that has entered into a compromise or arrangement with its
creditors.

(2) For the purposes of this Part, affairs of acompany are or have been
under investigation if, and only if:
(8) ASICisinvestigating, or has at any time investigated, under
Division 1 of Part 3 of the ASIC Act:
(i) matters being, or connected with, affairs of the
company; or
(if) mattersincluding such matters; or
(b) affairs of the company have at any time been under
investigation under:
(i) Part VII of the Companies Act 1981, or

(ii) the provisions of a previouslaw of a State or Territory
that correspond to that Part.
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(3) For the purposes of this Part, acompany istaken to have ceased to
carry on business only if:

(&) ASIC has published in the Gazette a notice of the proposed
deregistration of the company under subsection 601AA(4) or
601AB(3); and

(b) if the notice was published under subsection 601AA(4) or
under subsection 601AB(3) because of a decision under
subsection 601AB(1)—2 months have passed since the
notice was published and ASIC has not been informed that
the company is carrying on business.

(4) For the purposes of this Part, acompany is taken to be unable to
pay its debtsif, and only if, execution or other processissued on a
judgment, decree or order of acourt (whether or not an Australian
court) in favour of acreditor of the company is returned unsatisfied
in whole or in part.

(5) InthisPart:

appropriate officer means:

(a) in relation to a company that has been, has been being or is

being wound up—the liquidator; and
(a@) in relation to a company of which aprovisional liquidator has

been appointed—the provisional liquidator; and

(b) inrelation to acompany that is or has been under
admini stration—the administrator; and

(ba) inrelation to a company that has executed a deed of company

arrangement—the deed’ s administrator; and

(c) inrelation to a company affairs of which are or have been
under investigation—ASIC or the NCSC, as the case
requires; and

(d) inrelation to a company in respect of property of which a
receiver, or areceiver and manager, has been appointed—the
receiver or the receiver and manager; and

(e) inrelation to a company that has ceased to carry on business
or isunable to pay its debts—ASIC or the NCSC, as the case
requires; and

(f) inrelation to acompany that has entered into a compromise
or arrangement with its creditors—the person appointed by
the Court to administer the compromise or arrangement.
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relevant day means the day on which:

(a) inrelation to a company that has been wound up, has been in
the course of being wound up, or is being wound up:

(i) if, because of Division 1A of Part 5.6, thewinding up is
taken to have begun on the day when an order that the
company be wound up was made—the application for
the order wasfiled; or

(ii) otherwise—the winding up is taken because of
Division 1A of Part 5.6 to have begun;

(a@) in relation to a company of which aprovisional liquidator has

been appointed—the provisional liquidator was appointed;
(b) inrelation to acompany that is or has been under

administration—the administration began;

(ba) inrelation to acompany that has executed a deed of company
arrangement—the deed was executed;

(c) inrelation to acompany affairs of which are or have been
under investigation:

(i) if paragraph (2)(a) applies—the investigation began; or
(ii) if paragraph (2)(b) applies—a direction was given to the
NCSC to arrange for the investigation;

(d) inrelation to a company in respect of property of which a
receiver, or areceiver and manager, has been appointed—the
receiver, or the receiver and manager, was appointed;

(e) inrelation to acompany that is unable to pay its debts—the
execution or other process was returned unsatisfied in whole
or in part;

(f) inrelation to acompany that has ceased to carry on
business—a notice was first published in relation to the
company under subsection 601AA (4) or 601AB(3);

(g) inrelation to a company that has entered into a compromise
or arrangement with its creditors—the compromise or
arrangement was approved by the Court.

(6) ThisPart appliesin relation to a company that was first
incorporated other than under this Act:

(8 asif, inthisPart (other than section 595) as so applying:

(i) areference to the company included areference to the
company asit existed at atime before its registration
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day (including atime before the commencement of this
Act); and

(iii) areference, inrelation to aprovision of this Act, to
ASIC included areference to the NCSC (if relevant);
and

(b) with such other modifications as the circumstances require.

590 Offences by officers of certain companies

(1) A person who, being a past or present officer of a company to
which this section applies:

(a) doesnot, so far as the person is capable of doing so, disclose
to the appropriate officer al the property of the company,
and how and to whom and for what consideration and when
any part of the property of the company was disposed of
within 10 years next before the relevant day, except such part
as has been disposed of in the ordinary course of the business
of the company; or

(b) doesnot deliver up to, or in accordance with the directions
of, the appropriate officer:

(i) al the property of the company in the person’s
jpossession; or

(ii) al booksin the person’s possession belonging to the
company (except books of which the person is entitled,
as against the company and the appropriate officer, to
retain possession);

(c) has, within 10 years next before the relevant day or at atime
on or after that day:

(i) fraudulently concealed or removed any part of the
property of the company to the value of $100 or more;
or

(ii) concealed any debt due to or by the company; or

(iii) fraudulently parted with, altered or made any omission
in, or been privy to fraudulent parting with, altering or
making any omission in, any book affecting or relating
to affairs of the company; or

(iv) by any false representation or other fraud, obtained on
credit, for or on behalf of the company, any property
that the company has not subsequently paid for; or
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(v) fraudulently pawned, pledged or disposed of, otherwise
than in the ordinary course of the business of the
company, property of the company that has been
obtained on credit and has not been paid for;

(d) fraudulently makes any material omission in any statement or
report relating to affairs of the company; or

(e) knowing or believing that afalse debt has been proved by a
person, fails for a period of one month to inform the
appropriate officer of his or her knowledge or belief; or

(f) preventsthe production to the appropriate officer of any book
affecting or relating to affairs of the company; or

(g) has, within 10 years next before the relevant day or at atime
on or after that day, attempted to account for any part of the
property of the company by making entries in the books of
the company showing fictitious transactions, losses or
expenses; or

(h) has, within 10 years next before the relevant day or at atime
on or after that day, been guilty of any false representation or
other fraud for the purpose of obtaining the consent of the
creditors of the company or any of them to an agreement
with reference to affairs of the company or to the winding up;

contravenes this subsection.

(5) Where aperson pawns, pledges or disposes of any property in

(6)

(7)

circumstances that amount to a contravention by virtue of
subparagraph (1)(c)(v), a person who takes in pawn or pledge or
otherwise receives the property knowing it to be pawned, pledged
or disposed of in those circumstances contravenes this subsection.

A person who takes in pawn or pledge or otherwise receives
property in circumstances mentioned in subsection (5) and with the
knowledge mentioned in that subsection is taken to hold the
property astrustee for the company concerned and isliable to
account to the company for the property.

Where, in proceedings under subsection (6), it is necessary to
establish that a person has taken property in pawn or pledge, or
otherwise received property:

(a) in circumstances mentioned in subsection (5); and
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(b) with the knowledge mentioned in that subsection;

the matter referred to in paragraph (b) of this subsection may be
established on the balance of probabilities.

592 Incurring of certain debts; fraudulent conduct

(1) Where:
(&) acompany hasincurred a debt before 23 June 1993; and
(b) immediately before the time when the debt was incurred:

(i) there were reasonable grounds to expect that the
company will not be able to pay dl its debts as and
when they become due; or

(ii) there were reasonable grounds to expect that, if the
company incurs the debt, it will not be able to pay al its
debts as and when they become due; and

(c) the company was, at the time when the debt was incurred, or

becomes at alater time, a company to which this section
applies;

any person who was a director of the company, or took part in the

management of the company, at the time when the debt was

incurred contravenes this subsection and the company and that

person or, if there are 2 or more such persons, those persons are

jointly and severaly liable for the payment of the debt.

(2) Inany proceedings against a person under subsection (1), itisa
defenceif it is proved:
(a) that the debt was incurred without the person’s express or
implied authority or consent; or
(b) that at the time when the debt was incurred, the person did
not have reasonabl e cause to expect:
(i) that the company would not be able to pay all its debts
as and when they became due; or
(i) that, if the company incurred that debt, it would not be
ableto pay all its debts as and when they became due.

(3) Proceedings may be brought under subsection (1) for the recovery
of a debt whether or not the person against whom the proceedings
are brought, or any other person, has been convicted of an offence
under subsection (1) in respect of the incurring of that debt.
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(4)

©)

(6)

()

(8

In proceedings brought under subsection (1) for the recovery of a
debt, the liability of a person under that subsection in respect of the
debt may be established on the balance of probabilities.

Where subsection (1) renders a person or persons liable to pay a
debt incurred by a company, the payment by that person or either
or any of those persons of the whole or any part of that debt does
not render the company liable to the person concerned in respect of
the amount so paid.

Where:

() acompany has done an act (including the making of a
contract or the entering into of atransaction) with intent to
defraud creditors of the company or of any other person or
for any other fraudulent purpose; and

(b) the company was at the time when it does the act, or becomes
at alater time, a company to which this section applies;

any person who was knowingly concerned in the doing of the act
with that intent or for that purpose contravenes this subsection.

A certificate issued by the proper officer of an Australian court
stating that a person specified in the certificate:

(a) was convicted of an offence under subsection (1) in relation
to adebt specified in the certificate incurred by a company so
specified; or

(b) was convicted of an offence under subsection (6) in relation
to acompany specified in the certificate;

is, in any proceedings, primafacie evidence of the matters stated in
the certificate.

A document purporting to be a certificate issued under
subsection (7) is, unless the contrary is established, taken to be
such acertificate and to have been duly issued.

593 Powersof Court

(D

Where a person has been convicted of an offence under subsection
592(1) in respect of the incurring of a debt, the Court, on the
application of ASIC or the person to whom the debt is payable,
may, if it thinksit proper to do so, declare that the first-mentioned
person is personally responsible without any limitation of liability
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for the payment to the person to whom the debt is payable of an
amount equal to the whole of the debt or such part of it asthe
Court thinks proper.

(2) Where a person has been convicted of an offence under subsection
592(6), the Court, on the application of ASIC or of a prescribed
person, may, if it thinksit proper to do so, declare that the
first-mentioned person is personally responsible without any
limitation of liability for the payment to the company of the
amount required to satisfy so much of the debts of the company as
the Court thinks proper.

(3) Inrelation to acompany in respect of which a conviction referred
to in subsection (2) relates:
(@) the appropriate officer; and
(b) acreditor or contributory of the company authorised by
ASIC to make an application under that subsection; and
(c) if the company was a company to which section 592 applied
by reason of paragraph 589(1)(c)—a member of the
company;
are prescribed persons for the purposes of that subsection.

(4) Where the Court makes a declaration under subsection (1) in
relation to a person, it may give such further directions asit thinks
proper for the purpose of giving effect to that declaration.

(5) Inparticular, the Court may order that the liability of the person
under the declaration is a charge:
(a) onadebt or obligation due from the company to the person;
or

(b) onaright or interest under a charge on any property of the
company held by or vested in the person or a person on the
person’s behalf, or a person claiming as assignee from or
through the person liable or a person acting on the person’s
behalf.

(6) The Court may, from time to time, make such further order asit
thinks proper for the purpose of enforcing a charge imposed under
subsection (5).

(7) For the purpose of subsection (5), assignee includes a person to
whom or in whose favour, by the directions of the person liable,
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the debt, obligation or charge was created, issued or transferred or
the interest created, but does not include an assignee for valuable
consideration, not including consideration by way of marriage,
given in good faith and without actual knowledge of any of the
matters upon which the conviction or declaration was made.

(8) On the hearing of an application under subsection (1) or (2), the
appropriate officer or other applicant may give evidence or call
witnesses.

594 Certain rightsnot affected

Except as provided by subsection 592(4) nothing in subsection
592(1) or 593(1) or (2) affects any rights of a person to indemnity,
subrogation or contribution.

595 Inducement to be appointed liquidator etc. of company

A person must not give, or agree or offer to give, to amember or
creditor of acompany any valuable consideration with aview to
securing the person’s own appointment or nomination, or to
securing or preventing the appointment or nomination of some
other person, as:

(@) aliquidator or provisional liquidator of the company; or
(b) an administrator of the company; or

(c) an administrator of a deed of company arrangement
executed, or to be executed, by the company; or

(d) areceiver, or areceiver and manager, of property of the
company; or

(e) atrustee or other person to administer a compromise or
arrangement made between the company and any other
pperson or persons.

596 Fraudsby officers

A person who, while an officer of a company:

() by false pretences or by means of any other fraud, induces a
person to give credit to the company or to arelated body
corporate; or
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(b)

(©)

with intent to defraud the company or arelated body
corporate, or members or creditors of the company or of a
related body corporate, makes or purports to make, or causes
to be made or to be purported to be made, any gift or transfer
of, or charge on, or causes or connives at the levying of any
execution against, property of the company or of arelated
body corporate; or

with intent to defraud the company or arelated body
corporate, or members or creditors of the company or of a
related body corporate, conceals or removes any part of the
property of the company or of arelated body corporate after,
or within 2 months before, the date of any unsatisfied
judgment or order for payment of money obtained against the
company or arelated body corporate;

contravenes this section.
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Part 5.8A—Employee entitlements

596AA Object and coverage of Part

(1)

)

©)

Object

The object of this Part isto protect the entitlements of a company’s
employees from agreements and transactions that are entered into
with the intention of defeating the recovery of those entitlements.

Empl oyee entitlements

The entitlements of an employee of a company that are protected
under this Part are:

(a) wages payable by the company for services rendered to the
company by the employee; and

(b) superannuation contributions (that is, contributions by the
company to afund for the purposes of making provision for,
or obtaining, superannuation benefits for the employee, or for
dependants of the employee) payable by the company in
respect of services rendered to the company by the employee;
and

(c) amounts due in respect of injury compensation in relation to
the employee; and
(d) amounts due under an industrial instrument in respect of the
employee's leave of absence; and
(e) retrenchment payments for the employee (that is, amounts
payable by the company to the employee, under an industrial
instrument, in respect of the termination of the employee’s
employment by the company).
An entitlement of an employee need not be owed to the employee.
It might, for example, be an amount owed to the employee’s
dependants or a superannuation contribution payable to afund in
respect of services rendered by the employee.

The entitlements of an excluded employee (within the meaning of
section 556) are protected under this Part only to the extent to
which they have priority under paragraph 556(1)(e), (f), (g) or (h).
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Employees

(4) For the purposes of this Part, a person is an employee of a company
if the personis, or has been, an employee of the company (whether
remunerated by salary, wages, commission or otherwise).

(5) If an entitlement of an employee of a company is owed to a person
other than the employee, this Part applies to the entitlement asiif a
reference to the employee included areference to the person to
whom the entitlement is owed.

596AB Entering into agreementsor transactionsto avoid employee
entitlements

(1) A person must not enter into arelevant agreement or a transaction
with the intention of, or with intentions that include the intention
of:

(a) preventing the recovery of the entitlements of employees of a
company; or

(b) significantly reducing the amount of the entitlements of
employees of acompany that can be recovered.

(2) Subsection (1) applies evenif:
(a) the company is not a party to the agreement or transaction; or
(b) the agreement or transaction is approved by a court.

(3) A referencein thissection to arelevant agreement or a
transaction includes a reference to:

(a) arelevant agreement and a transaction; and
(b) aseriesor combination of:
(i) relevant agreements or transactions; or
(ii) relevant agreements; or
(iii) transactions.
(4) If aperson contravenes this section by incurring a debt (within the

meaning of section 588G), the incurring of the debt and the
contravention are linked for the purposes of this Act.
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596AC Person who contravenes section 596AB liable to compensate

for loss

(1) A personisliableto pay compensation under subsection (2) or (3)

)

©)

(4)

if:

(a) the person contravenes section 596AB in relation to the

entitlements of employees of a company; and
(b) the company is being wound up; and
(c) the employees suffer loss or damage because of :
(i) the contravention; or
(i) action taken to give effect to an agreement or
transaction involved in the contravention.

The person is liable whether or not the person has been convicted
of an offence in relation to the contravention.

The company’ s liquidator may recover from the person an amount

egual to the loss or damage as a debt due to the company.

Note: Because employee entitlements are priority payments under
paragraphs 556(1)(e) to (h), employees have priority to any
compensation recovered by the liquidator in proceedings brought
under this section.

If an employee of the company has suffered loss or damage
because of:

(a) the contravention; or

(b) action taken to give effect to an agreement or transaction
involved in the contravention;

the employee may, as provided in section 596AF to 596A1 (but not
otherwise), recover from the person, as a debt due to the employee,
an amount equal to the amount of the loss or damage. Any amount
recovered by the employee under this subsection isto be taken into
account in working out the amount for which the employee may
prove in the liquidation of the company.

Proceedings under this section may only be begun within 6 years
after the beginning of the winding up.

Corporations Act 2001 351



Chapter 5 External administration
Part 5.8A Employee entitlements

Section 596AD

596AD Avoiding doublerecovery

An amount recovered in proceedings under section 596AC in
relation to a contravention of section 596AB isto be taken into
account in working out the amount (if any) recoverablein:
(@) any other proceedings under that section in relation to the
contravention; and
(b) proceedings under section 588M in relation to the incurring
of adebt that islinked to the contravention.

596AE Effect of section 596AC

Section 596AC:

(a) has effect in addition to, and not in derogation of, any rule of
law about the duty or liability of a person because of the
person’s office or employment in relation to a company; and

(b) does not prevent proceedings from being instituted in respect
of abreach of such aduty or in respect of such aliability.

596AF Employee may suefor compensation with liquidator’s
consent

(1) If acompany isbeing wound up, an employee of the company
may, with the written consent of the company’s liquidator, begin
proceedings under section 596AC in relation to a contravention of
section 596AB in relation to an entitlement of the employee.

(2) Subsection (1) has effect despite section 596AH, but subject to
section 596Al.

596AG Employee may give liquidator notice of intention to suefor
compensation

An employee of acompany that is being wound up may give the
company’s liquidator a written notice:
(a) stating that the employee intends to begin proceedings under
section 596AC in relation to a contravention of
section 596AB in relation to an entitlement of the employee;
and
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(b) specifying the contravention of section 596AB and the
entitlement to which the proposed proceedings relate; and
(c) asking the liquidator to give the employee, within 3 months
after receiving the notice:
(i) awritten consent to the employee beginning the
proceedings; or
(ii) awritten statement of the reasons why the liquidator
thinks that proceedings under section 596AC in relation
to the contravention should not be begun.
The notice may be given only after the end of 6 months beginning
when the company beginsto be wound up.

596AH When employee may sue for compensation without
liquidator’s consent

(1) Thissection appliesif an employee of acompany gives a notice
under section 596AG in relation to a contravention of
section 569AB and to an entitlement.

(2) The employee may begin proceedingsin a court under
section 596AC in relation to the contravention and the entitlement
if:

(@) asat the end of 3 months after the liquidator receives the
notice, he or she has not consented to the employee
beginning such proceedings; and

(b) on an application made after those 3 months, the court has
given leave for the proceedings to begin.

3 If:
(a) during those 3 months, the liquidator gives to the employee a
written statement of the reasons why the liquidator thinks
that such proceedings should not be begun; and

(b) the employee appliesfor leave under paragraph (2)(b);
then:
(c) the employee must file the statement with the court when so
applying; and
(d) in determining the application, the court isto have regard to
the reasons set out in the statement.
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596AI1 Events preventing employee from suing

(1) Anemployee of acompany that is being wound up cannot begin
proceedings under section 596AC in relation to a contravention in
relation to an entitlement of the employeeiif:

(@) the company’sliquidator has applied under section 588FF in
relation to a transaction that constituted, or was part of, the
contravention; or

(b) the company’sliquidator has begun proceedings under
section 596AC in relation to the contravention; or

(c) the company’s liquidator has begun proceedings under
section 588M in relation to the incurring of the debt that is
linked to the contravention; or

(d) the company’sliquidator has intervened in an application for
acivil penalty order against a personinrelation to a
contravention of section 588G in relation to the incurring of
the debt that islinked to the contravention.

(2) Subsection (1) has effect despite sections 596AF and 596AH.
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Part 5.9—Miscellaneous
Division 1—Examining a person about a cor poration

596A Mandatory examination

The Court isto summon a person for examination about a
corporation’ s examinable affairsif:
(a) an €eligible applicant applies for the summons; and
(b) the Court is satisfied that the person is an examinable officer
of the corporation or was such an officer during or after the 2
years ending:
(i) if the corporation is under administration—on the
section 513C day in relation to the administration; or

(ii) if the corporation has executed a deed of company
arrangement that has not yet terminated—on the
section 513C day in relation to the administration that
ended when the deed was executed; or

(iii) if the corporation is being, or has been, wound up—
when the winding up began; or

(iv) otherwise—when the application is made.

596B Discretionary examination

(1) The Court may summon a person for examination about a
corporation’s examinable affairsif:
(a) an eligible applicant applies for the summons; and
(b) the Court is satisfied that the person:

(i) hastaken part or been concerned in examinable affairs
of the corporation and has been, or may have been,
guilty of misconduct in relation to the corporation; or

(i) may be able to give information about examinable
affairs of the corporation.

(2) Thissection has effect subject to section 596A.
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596C Affidavit in support of application under section 596B

(1) A person who applies under section 596B must file an affidavit
that supports the application and complies with the rules.

(2) The affidavit isnot available for inspection except so far asthe
Court orders.

596D Content of summons

(1) A summons to a person under section 596A or 596B isto require
the person to attend before the Court:
(a) at aspecified place and at a specified time on a specified day,
being a place, time and day that are reasonable in the
circumstances; and

(b) to be examined on oath about the corporation’s examinable
affairs.

(2) A summonsto a person under section 596A or 596B may require
the person to produce at the examination specified books that:

(a) areinthe person’s possession; and
(b) relateto the corporation or to any of its examinable affairs.

(3) A summons under section 596A isto require under subsection (2)
of this section the production of such of the books requested in the
application for the summons as the summons may so require.

596E Notice of examination

If the Court summons a person for examination, the person who
applied for the summons must give written notice of the
examination to:

(a) as many of the corporation’s creditors as reasonably

practicable; and
(b) each eligible applicant in relation to the corporation, except:
(i) the person who applied for the examination; and
(ii) if aperson authorised by ASIC applied for the
examination—ASIC; and

(iif) aperson who is such an eligible applicant only because
the person is authorised by ASIC.
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596F Court may give directions about examination

(1) Subject to section 597, the Court may at any time give one or more
of the following:

(a) adirection about the mattersto be inquired into at an
examination;

(b) adirection about the procedure to be followed at an
examination;

(c) adirection about who may be present at an examination
whileit isbeing held in private;

(d) adirection that a person be excluded from an examination,
even whileit isbeing held in public;

(e) adirection about accessto records of the examination;

(f) adirection prohibiting publication or communication of
information about the examination (including questions
asked, and answers given, at the examination);

(g) adirection that a document that relates to the examination
and was created at the examination be destroyed.

(2) The Court may give adirection under paragraph (1)(e), (f) or (g) in
relation to al or part of an examination even if the examination, or
that part, was held in public.

(3) A person must not contravene a direction under subsection (1).

597 Conduct of examination

(4) Anexamination isto be held in public except to such extent (if
any) as the Court considers that, by reason of special
circumstances, it is desirable to hold the examination in private.

(5A) Any of the following may take part in an examination:
(@ ASIC;
(b) any other eligible applicant in relation to the corporation;

and for that purpose may be represented by alawyer or by an agent
authorised in writing for the purpose.

(5B) The Court may put, or allow to be put, to a person being examined
such questions about the corporation or any of its examinable
affairs as the Court thinks appropriate.
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(6) A person who is summoned under section 596A or 596B to attend
before the Court must not, without reasonable excuse:

(a) fail to attend as required by the summons; or

(b) fail to attend from day to day until the conclusion of the
examination.

(7) A person who attends before the Court for examination must not:

(a) without reasonable excuse, refuse or fail to take an oath or
make an affirmation; or

(b) without reasonable excuse, refuse or fail to answer a question
that the Court directs him or her to answer; or

(c) make a statement that is false or mideading in a material
particular; or

(d) without reasonable excuse, refuse or fail to produce books
that the summons requires him or her to produce.

(9) The Court may direct a person to produce, at an examination of
that or any other person, books that are in the first-mentioned
person’ s possession and are relevant to matters to which the
examination relates or will relate.

(9A) A person may comply with a direction under subsection (9) by
causing the books to be produced at the examination.

(10) Where the Court so directs a person to produce any books and the
person has alien on the books, the production of the books does
not prejudice the lien.

(10A) A person must not, without reasonable excuse, refuse or fail to
comply with adirection under subsection (9).

(12) A person is not excused from answering a question put to the
person at an examination on the ground that the answer might tend
to incriminate the person or make the person liable to a penalty.

(12A) Where:

(a) before answering a question put to a person (other than a
body corporate) at an examination, the person claims that the
answer might tend to incriminate the person or make the
person liable to a penalty; and
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(b) the answer might in fact tend to incriminate the person or
make the person so liable;

the answer is not admissible in evidence against the personin:

(c) acriminal proceeding; or

(d) aproceeding for the imposition of a penalty;
other than a proceeding under this section, or any other proceeding
in respect of the falsity of the answer.

(13) The Court may order the questions put to a person and the answers
given by him or her at an examination to be recorded in writing
and may require him or her to sign that written record.

(14) Subject to subsection (12A), any written record of an examination
so signed by a person, or any transcript of an examination of a
person that is authenticated as provided by the rules, may be used
in evidence in any legal proceedings against the person.

(14A) A written record made under subsection (13):
(a) isto be open for inspection, without fee, by:
(i) the person who applied for the examination; or
(ii) an officer of the corporation; or
(iii) acreditor of the corporation; and
(b) isto be open for inspection by anyone else on paying the
prescribed fee.

(15) An examination under this Division may, if the Court so directs
and subject to the rules, be held before such other court asis
specified by the Court and the powers of the Court under this
Division may be exercised by that other court.

(16) A person ordered to attend before the Court or another court for
examination under this Division may, at his or her own expense,
employ asolicitor, or asolicitor and counsel, and the solicitor or
counsel, as the case may be, may put to the person such questions
asthe Court, or the other court, as the case may be, considers just
for the purpose of enabling the person to explain or qualify any
answers or evidence given by the person.

(17) The Court or another court before which an examination under this
Division takes place may, if it thinksfit, adjourn the examination
from time to time.
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597A When Court isto require affidavit about corporation’s
examinable affairs

(1) The Court isto require aperson to file an affidavit about a
corporation’ s examinable affairsif:
(a) an eligible applicant applies for the requirement to be made;
and
(b) the Court is satisfied that the person is an examinable officer
of the corporation or was such an officer during or after the 2
years ending:
(i) if the corporation is under administration—on the
section 513C day in relation to the administration; or
(it) if the corporation has executed a deed of company
arrangement that has not yet terminated—on the
section 513C day in relation to the administration that
ended when the deed was executed; or
(iii) if the corporation is being, or has been, wound up—
when the winding up began; or
(iv) otherwise—when the application is made;
even if the person has been summoned under section 596A or
596B for examination about those affairs.

(2) Therequirement isto:

() specify such of the information requested in the application
as relates to examinable affairs of the corporation; and

(b) require the affidavit to set out the specified information; and

(c) requirethe affidavit to be filed on or before a specified day
that is reasonable in the circumstances.

(3) A person must not, without reasonable excuse, refuse or fail to
comply with a requirement made of the person under
subsection (1).

(4) The Court may excuse a person from answering a question at an
examination about a corporation’s examinable affairsif the person
has already filed an affidavit under this section about that
corporation’ s examinable affairs that sets out information that
answers the question.
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597B Costs of unnecessary examination or affidavit

Where the Court is satisfied that a summons to a person under
section 596A or 596B, or arequirement made of a person under
section 597A, was obtained without reasonable cause, the Court
may order some or all of the costsincurred by the person because
of the summons or requirement to be paid by:
(a) inany case—the applicant for the summons or requirement;
or

(b) inthe case of a summons—any person who took part in the
examination.
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Division 2—Ordersagainst a person in relation to a
cor poration

598 Order against person concer ned with corporation

(2) Subject to subsection (3), where, on application by an eligible
applicant, the Court is satisfied that:
(a) apersonisguilty of fraud, negligence, default, breach of trust
or breach of duty in relation to a corporation; and
(b) the corporation has suffered, or is likely to suffer, loss or
damage as aresult of the fraud, negligence, default, breach of
trust or breach of duty;

the Court may make such order or orders as it thinks appropriate
against or in relation to the person (including either or both of the
orders specified in subsection (4)) and may so make an order
against or in relation to a person even though the person may have
committed an offence in respect of the matter to which the order
relates.

(3) The Court must not make an order against a person under
subsection (2) unless the Court has given the person the
opportunity:

(a) togiveevidence; and
(b) to call witnessesto give evidence; and

(c) tobring other evidence in relation to the matters to which the
application relates; and

(d) toemploy, at the person’s own expense, a solicitor, or a
solicitor and counsel, to put to the person, or to any other
witness, such questions as the Court considers just for the
purpose of enabling the person to explain or qualify any
answers or evidence given by the person.

(4) The ordersthat may be made under subsection (2) against a person
include:
(@) an order directing the person to pay money or transfer
property to the corporation; and
(b) an order directing the person to pay to the corporation the
amount of the loss or damage.
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(5) Nothing in this section prevents any person from instituting any
other proceedings in relation to matters in respect of which an
application may be made under this section.
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Division 3—Provisions applying to various kinds of

external administration

600A Powersof Court where outcome of voting at creditors

meeting deter mined by related entity

(1) Subsection (2) applies where, on the application of a creditor of a

company or Part 5.1 body, the Court is satisfied:
(a) that a proposed resolution has been voted on at:

(i) inthe case of a company—a meeting of creditors of the
company held:

(A) under Part 5.3A or adeed of company
arrangement executed by the company; or
(B) in connection with winding up the company; or

(i) inthe case of a Part 5.1 body—a meeting of creditors,
or of aclass of creditors, of the body held under
Part 5.1; and

(b) that, if the vote or votes that a particular related creditor, or
particular related creditors, of the company or body cast on
the proposed resolution had been disregarded for the
purposes of determining whether or not the proposed
resolution was passed, the proposed resol ution:

(i) if it wasin fact passed—would not have been passed; or

(i) if infact it was not passed—would have been passed;
or the question would have had to be decided on a casting
vote; and

(c) that the passing of the proposed resolution, or the failure to
passit, as the case requires:

(i) iscontrary to the interests of the creditors as awhole or
of that class of creditors as awhole, as the case may be;
or

(if) has prejudiced, or is reasonably likely to prejudice, the
interests of the creditors who voted against the proposed
resolution, or for it, as the case may be, to an extent that
is unreasonable having regard to:

(A) the benefits resulting to the related creditor, or
to some or al of the related creditors, from the
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resolution, or from the failure to pass the
proposed resolution, as the case may be; and
(B) the nature of the relationship between the
related creditor and the company or body, or of
the respective relationships between the related
creditors and the company or body; and
(C) any other relevant matter.

(2) The Court may make one or more of the following:

(a) if the proposed resolution was passed—an order setting aside
the resolution;

(b) an order that the proposed resolution be considered and voted
on at ameeting of the creditors of the company or body, or of
that class of creditors, as the case may be, convened and held
as specified in the order;

(c) an order directing that the related creditor is not, or such of
the related creditors as the order specifies are not, entitled to
vote on:

(i) the proposed resolution; or
(ii) aresolution to amend or vary the proposed resolution;
(d) such other orders as the Court thinks necessary.

(3) Inthissection:

related creditor, in relation to a company or Part 5.1 body, in
relation to avote, means a person who, when the vote was cast,
was arelated entity, and a creditor, of the company or body.

600B Review by Court of resolution of creditors passed on casting
vote of person presiding at meeting

(1) Thissection appliesif, because the person presiding at the meeting
exercises a casting vote, aresolution is passed at a meeting of
creditors of acompany held:

(@) under Part 5.3A or adeed of company arrangement executed
by the company; or
(b) in connection with winding up the company.

(2) A person may apply to the Court for an order setting aside or
varying the resolution, but only if:
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(a) the person voted against the resolution in some capacity
(even if the person voted for the resolution in another
capacity); or

(b) aperson voted against the resolution on the first-mentioned
person’s behalf.

(3) On an application, the Court may:
(@) by order set aside or vary the resolution; and

(b) if it does so—make such further orders, and give such
directions, asit thinks necessary.

(4) On and after the making of an order varying the resolution, the
resolution has effect as varied by the order.

600C Court’spowerswhere proposed resolution of creditorslost as
casting vote of person presiding at meeting

(1) Thissection appliesif, because the person presiding at the meeting
exercises a casting vote, or refuses or failsto exercise such avote,
a proposed resolution is not passed at a meeting of creditors of a
company held:
() under Part 5.3A or adeed of company arrangement executed
by the company; or
(b) in connection with winding up the company.

(2) A person may apply to the Court for an order under subsection (3),
but only if:

(a) the person voted for the proposed resolution in some capacity
(even if the person voted against the proposed resolution in
another capacity); or

(b) aperson voted for the proposed resol ution on the
first-mentioned person’ s behalf.

(3) On an application, the Court may:

(a) order that the proposed resolution is taken to have been
passed at the meeting; and

(b) if it does so—make such further orders, and give such
directions, as it thinks necessary.

(4) If an order is made under paragraph (3)(a), the proposed resol ution:

366 Corporations Act 2001



External administration Chapter 5
Miscellaneous Part 5.9
Provisions applying to various kinds of external administration Division 3

Section 600D

(a) istaken for al purposes (other than those of subsection (1))
to have been passed at the meeting; and

(b) istaken to have taken effect:

(i) if the order specifies atime when the proposed
resolution is taken to have taken effect—at that time,
evenif it is earlier than the making of the order; or

(ii) otherwise—on the making of the order.

600D Interim order on application under section 600A, 600B or
600C

(1) Where:
(a) an application under subsection 600A (1), 600B(2) or
600C(2) has not yet been determined; and

(b) the Court is of the opinion that it is desirable to do so;
the Court may make such interim orders as it thinks appropriate.

(2) Aninterim order must be expressed to apply until the applicationis
determined, but may be varied or discharged.

600E Order under section 600A or 600B does not affect act alr eady
done pursuant to resolution

An act done pursuant to aresolution asin force before the making
under section 600A or 600B of an order setting aside or varying the
resolution is as valid and binding on and after the making of the
order asif the order had not been made.

600F Limitation on right of suppliers of essential servicestoinsist on
payment as condition of supply

Q) If:

(a) arelevant authority of an eligible company requests, or
authorises someone el se to request, a person or authority (the
supplier) to supply an essential service to the company in
Australia; and

(b) the company owes an amount to the supplier in respect of the
supply of the essential service before the effective day;

the supplier must not:

Corporations Act 2001 367



Chapter 5 External administration
Part 5.9 Miscellaneous
Division 3 Provisions applying to various kinds of external administration

Section 600F

(c) refuseto comply with the request for the reason only that the
amount is owing; or

(d) makeit a condition of the supply of the essential service
pursuant to the request that the amount is to be paid.

(2) Inthissection:

effective day, in relation to arelevant authority of an eligible
company, means the day when the relevant authority became a
relevant authority of the company, even if that day began before
this Act commenced.

eligible company means a company:
(a) that is being wound up; or
(b) aprovisiona liquidator of which is acting; or
(c) that isunder administration; or

(d) that has executed a deed of company arrangement that has
not yet terminated; or

(e) areceiver, or receiver and manager, of property of whichis
acting.

essential service means:
() electricity; or
(b) gas; or
(c) water; or
(d) acarriage service (within the meaning of the
Telecommunications Act 1997).

relevant authority, in relation to an eligible company, means:
(a) theliquidator; or
(b) the provisional liquidator; or
(c) the administrator of the company; or
(d) the administrator of the deed of company arrangement; or
(e) thereceiver, or receiver and manager;

asthe caserequires.
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Chapter 5A—Deregistration, and transfer of
registration, of companies

Part 5A.1—Deregistration

601AA Deregistration—voluntary

Who may apply for deregistration

(1) An application to deregister acompany may be lodged with ASIC
by:
(a) the company; or
(b) adirector or member of the company; or
(c) aliquidator of the company.

If the company lodges the application, it must nominate a person to
be given notice of the deregistration.

Circumstances in which application can be made

(2) A person may apply only if:

(@) al the members of the company agree to the deregistration;
and

(b) the company is not carrying on business; and

(c) the company’s assets are worth |less than $1,000; and

(d) the company has paid all fees and penalties payable under
this Act; and

(e) the company has no outstanding liabilities; and

(f) the company is not a party to any legal proceedings.

AS C may ask for information about officers

(3) The applicant must give ASIC any information that ASIC requests
about the current and former officers of the company.
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Deregistration procedure

(4) If ASICisnot aware of any failure to comply with subsections (1)
to (3), it must give notice of the proposed deregistration:
(@) on ASIC database; and
(b) inthe Gazette.
When 2 months have passed since the Gazette notice, ASIC may
deregister the company.

(5) ASIC must give notice of the deregistration to:
(a) the applicant; or
(b) the person nominated in the application to be given the
notice.

601AB Deregistration—ASIC initiated

Circumstances in which the AS C may deregister

(1) ASIC may decide to deregister acompany if:
(&) the company’sannual return is at least 6 months late; and
(b) the company has not lodged any other documents under this
Act in the last 18 months; and
(c) ASIC has no reason to believe that the company is carrying
on business.

(2) ASIC may aso decide to deregister acompany if the company is
being wound up and ASIC has reason to believe that:

(a) theliquidator isno longer acting; or

(b) the company’s affairs have been fully wound up and areturn
that the liquidator should have lodged is at |east 6 months
|ate; or

(c) the company’s affairs have been fully wound up under
Part 5.4 and the company has no property or not enough
property to cover the costs of obtaining a Court order for the
company’s deregistration.

Deregistration procedure

(3) If ASIC decidesto deregister acompany under this section, it must
give notice of the proposed deregistration:
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(a) tothe company; and

(b) to the company’sliquidator (if any); and

(c) tothe company’s directors; and

(d) on ASIC database; and

(e) inthe Gazette.
When 2 months have passed since the Gazette notice, ASIC may
deregister the company.

(4) ASIC does not have to give a person notice under subsection (3) if
ASIC does not have the necessary information about the person’s
identity or address.

(5) ASIC must give notice of the deregistration to everyone who was
notified of the proposed deregistration under paragraph (3)(b) or
(©).

601AC Deregistration—following amalgamation or winding up

(1) ASIC must deregister acompany if the Court orders the
deregistration of the company under:
(@) paragraph 413(1)(d) (reconstruction and amalgamation of
Part 5.1 bodies); or
(b) paragraph 481(5)(b) (release of liquidator); or
(c) subsection 509(6) (liquidator’s return following winding up).

(2) ASIC must deregister acompany if:
(8 3 months have passed since the company’ s liquidator lodged
areturn under section 509; and
(b) no order under subsection 509(6) has been made during that
period.

601AD Effect of deregistration

Company ceases to exist

(1) A company ceasesto exist on deregistration.

Note: Despite the deregistration, officers of the company may till be liable
for things done before the company was deregistered.
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Company’ s property vestsin ASC

(2) On deregistration, al the company’s property vestsin ASIC. If
company property isvested in aliquidator immediately before
deregistration, that property vestsin ASIC. This subsection extends
to property situated outside this jurisdiction.

(3) Under subsection (2), ASIC takes only the same property rights
that the company itself held. If the company held particular
property subject to a security or other interest or claim, ASIC takes
the property subject to that interest or claim.

Note: See also subsection 601AE(3)—which deals with liabilities that alaw
imposes on the property (particularly liabilities such asrates, taxes
and other charges).

(4) ASIC hasall the powers of an owner over property vested in it
under subsection (2).

Note: Section 601AF confers additional powers on ASIC to fulfil
outstanding obligations of the deregistered company.

Company books to be kept by former directors

(5) Thedirectors of the company immediately before deregistration
must keep the company’ s books for 3 years after the deregistration.
This does not apply to books that a liquidator has to keep under
subsection 542(2).

601AE What ASIC doeswith the property

(1) If property vested in ASIC under subsection 601AD(2) was held by
the company on trust, ASIC may:

(@) continueto act astrustee; or
(b) apply to acourt for the appointment of a new trustee.
Note: Under paragraph (a), ASIC may be able to transfer the property to a
new trustee chosen in accordance with the trust instrument.
(2) If the company did not hold the property on trust, ASIC may:
(a) dispose of or deal with the property asit seesfit; and
(b) apply any money it receives to:
(i) defray expensesincurred by ASIC in exercising its

powersin relation to the company under this Chapter;
and
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(ii) make payments authorised by subsection (3).
ASIC must deal with therest (if any) under Part 9.7.

Obligations attaching to property

(3) The property remains subject to al liabilities imposed on the
property under alaw and does not have the benefit of any
exemption that the property might otherwise have becauseit is
vested in ASIC. These liabilitiesinclude aliability that:

(a) isacharge or claim on the property; and

(b) arises under alaw that imposes rates, taxes or other charges.

(4) ASIC sobligation under subsection (3) islimited to satisfying the
liabilities out of the company’s property to the extent that the
property is properly available to satisfy those liabilities.

Accounts

(5) ASIC must keep:
(a) arecord of property that it knowsisvested in it under this
Chapter; and
(b) arecord of its dealings with that property; and
(c) accounts of all money received from those dealings,; and

(d) all accounts, vouchers, receipts and papers relating to the
property and that money.

601AF ASIC’spower to fulfil outstanding obligations of
deregistered company

ASIC may do an act on behalf of the company or its liquidator if
ASIC is satisfied that the company or liquidator would be bound to
do the act if the company still existed.

Note: This power is ageneral one and is not limited to actsin relation to
property vested in ASIC under subsection 601AD(2). ASIC has dll the
powers that automatically flow from the vesting of property in ASIC
under that subsection (see subsection 601AD(4)) and may exercise
those powers whether or not the company was bound to do so.
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601AG Claimsagainst insurersof deregistered company

A person may recover from the insurer of a company that is
deregistered an amount that was payabl e to the company under the
insurance contract if:

(@) the company had aliahility to the person; and
(b) theinsurance contract covered that liability immediately
before deregistration.

601AH Reinstatement

Reinstatement by ASIC

(1) ASIC may reinstate the registration of acompany if ASIC is
satisfied that the company should not have been deregistered.

Reinstatement by Court

(2) The Court may make an order that ASIC reinstate the registration
of acompany if:
(a) an application for reinstatement is made to the Court by:
(i) aperson aggrieved by the deregistration; or
(it) aformer liquidator of the company; and

(b) the Court is satisfied that it is just that the company’s
registration be reinstated.

(3) If the Court makes an order under subsection (2), it may:

(a) validate anything done between the deregistration of the
company and its reinstatement; and

(b) make any other order it considers appropriate.

Note: For example, the Court may direct ASIC to transfer to another person
property vested in ASIC under subsection 601AD(2).

ASC to give notice of reinstatement

(4) ASIC must give notice of areinstatement in the Gazette. If ASIC
exercises its power under subsection (1) in response to an
application by a person, ASIC must also give natice of the
reinstatement to the applicant.
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Effect of reinstatement

(5) If acompany isreinstated, the company istaken to have continued
in existence asif it had not been deregistered. A person who was a
director of the company immediately before deregistration
becomes a director again as from the time when ASIC or the Court
reinstates the company. Any property of the company that is still
vested in ASIC revestsin the company. If the company held
particular property subject to a security or other interest or claim,
the company takes the property subject to that interest or claim.
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Part 5A.2—Transfer of registration

601Al1 Transferring registration

A company may transfer its registration to registration under a law
of a State or Territory by:
(a) passing a special resolution resolving to transfer its
registration to registration under that law; and
(b) complying with sections 601AJ and 601AK.
The company may transfer its registration only if the State or
Territory isthe one in which it istaken to be registered.

Notel:  Section 119A tellsyou which State or Territory the company is taken
to beregistered in.

Note 2: In order to be registered under the State or Territory law, the company
may need to amend its constitution, or adopt a new one, and the
provisions of this Act (including the class rights provisionsin
Part 2F.2) will apply to the amendment or adoption.

601AJ Applyingto transfer registration

(1) Totransfer itsregistration, acompany must lodge an application
with ASIC together with:

() acopy of the special resolution that resolves to change the
company’s registration to aregistration under the law of the
State or Territory; and

(b) astatement signed by the directors of the company that in
their opinion the company’s creditors are not likely to be
materially prejudiced by the change and sets out their reasons
for that opinion.

(2) The application must be in the prescribed form.

601AK ASIC makestransfer of registration declaration

ASIC may make atransfer of registration declaration in relation to
the company under this section if ASIC is satisfied that:

(a) the application complies with section 601AJ; and
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(b) the company’s creditors are not likely to be materially
prejudiced by the transfer of the company’ s registration; and

(c) thelaw of the State or Territory concerned adequately
providesfor:
(i) the continuation of the company’slegal personality after
the transfer; and

(ii) the preservation of any rights or claims against the
company (other than the right of a member asa
member) that accrued while the company was registered
under this Act.

601AL ASIC to deregister company

(1) ASIC must deregister the company if:

(@) ASIC makes atransfer of registration declaration in relation
to the company; and

(b) the company is registered under the law of the State or
Territory.

Note: Despite the deregistration, officers of the company may still be liable
for things done before the company was deregistered.

(2) Sections 601AD, 601AE, 601AF and 601AG do not apply to the
deregistration of acompany under this section.
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Chapter 5B—Bodies corporateregistered as
companies, and registrable bodies

Part 5B.1—Registering a body corporate asa
company

Division 1—Registration

601BA Bodies corporate may beregistered as certain types of
companies

(1) A body corporate that is not acompany or corporation sole may be
registered under this Act as a company of one of the following

types:
(@) aproprietary company limited by shares,
(b) an unlimited proprietary company with share capital;
(c) apublic company limited by shares,
(d) acompany limited by guarantee;
(e) an unlimited public company with share capital;
(f) anoliability company.

(2) A body corporate may be registered as ano liability company only
if:

() the body has a share capital; and

(b) the body’s constitution states that its sole objects are mining
purposes; and

(c) under the constitution the body has no contractual right to
recover calls made on its shares from a member who fails to
pay them.

Note: Section 9 defines mining purposes and minerals.

601BB Bodiesregistered as proprietary companies

(1) The body must have no more than 50 non-employee shareholders if
it isto be registered as a proprietary company under this Part.
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(2) In applying subsection (1):
(a) count joint holders of aparticular parcel of shares as
1 person; and
(b) an employee shareholder is:

(i) ashareholder who is an employee of the body or of a
subsidiary of the body; or

(ii) ashareholder who was an employee of the body, or of a
subsidiary of the body, when they became a
shareholder.

601BC Applying for registration under this Part

(1) Toregister the body as a company under this Part, a person must
lodge an application with ASIC.

Note 1: For the types of companies that can be registered under this Part, see
section 601BA.

Note2: A name may be reserved for acompany to be registered under this
Part before the application is lodged (see Part 2B.6).

(2) The application must state the following:

(a) thetype of company that the body is proposed to be
registered as under this Act;

(b) the name of the body;

(c) if the body is aregistered body—its ARBN;

(d) the proposed name under which the body is to be registered
(unlessthe ACN isto be used);

(e) the name and address of each member of the body;

(f) the present given and family name, all former given and
family names and the date and place of birth of each person
who consents in writing to become a director;

(g) the present given and family name, all former given and
family names and the date and place of birth of each person
who consents in writing to become a company secretary;

(h) the address of each person who consents in writing to
become a director or company secretary;

() the address of the body’ s proposed registered office;

(j) for abody proposed to be registered as a public company—
the proposed opening hours of its registered office (if they
are not the standard opening hours);
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©)

(4)
)

(K) the address of the body’ s proposed principal place of
business (if it is not the address of the proposed registered
office);

() for abody proposed to be registered as a company limited by
shares or an unlimited company—the following:

(i) the number and class of shares each member already
holds or has agreed, in writing, to take up;

(ii) the amount each member has already paid or agreed, in
writing, to pay for each share;
(iii) the amount unpaid on each share;

(m) for abody proposed to be registered as a public company, if
shares have been issued for non-cash consideration—the
prescribed particulars about the issue of the shares, unless the
shares were issued under awritten contract and a copy of the
contract is lodged with the application;

(n) for abody proposed to be registered as a company limited by
guarantee—the amount of the guarantee that each member
has agreed to in writing;

(o) the State or Territory in thisjurisdiction in which the
company isto be taken to be registered.

Note 1: Paragraph (h)—the address that must be stated is usually the

residential address, although an alternative address can sometimes be
stated instead (see section 205D).

Note 2: Paragraph (i)—if the body when it isregistered under this Part is not
to be the occupier of premises at the address of its registered office,
the application must state that the occupier has consented to the
address being specified in the application and has not withdrawn that
consent (see section 100).

If the body is proposed to be registered as a public company, the
application must be accompanied by a copy of each document
(including an agreement or consent) or resolution that is necessary
to ascertain the rights attached to issued or unissued shares of the

body.
The application must be in the prescribed form.

An applicant must have the consents and agreementsreferred to in
subsection (2) when the application islodged. After the body is
registered as a company, the applicant must give the consents and
agreements to the company. The company must keep the consents
and agreements.
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(6) Thefollowing documents must be lodged with the application:

(a) acertified copy of acurrent certificate of the body’s
incorporation in its place of origin, or of a document that has
asimilar effect;

(b) acertified printed copy of the body’ s constitution (if any);

(c) for abody that is not aregistered body—the documents
required by subsection 263(3) in relation to existing charges
on the property of the body;

(d) any other documents that are prescribed;

(e) any other documents that ASIC requires by written notice
given to the body.

A document need not be lodged if ASIC already has the document
and agrees not to require its lodgment.

Note: Subsection 263(3) requires documents relating to charges on the
property of the body to be lodged with the application.

(7) The application must be accompanied by evidence that:

(a) the body is not an externally-administered body corporate;
and

(b) no application to wind up the body has been made to a court
(in Australia or elsewhere) that has not been dealt with; and
(c) no application to approve a compromise or arrangement

between the body and another person has been made to a
court (in Australia or elsewhere) that has not been dealt with.

(8) The application must be accompanied by evidence that under the
law of the body’ s place of origin:

(a) the body’stypeisthe same or substantially the same as the
proposed type specified in the application; and

(b) if the members of the body have limited liability—the body’ s
constitution defines how and to what extent that liability is
limited; and

(d) thetransfer of the body’sincorporation is authorised; and

(e) the body has complied with the requirements (if any) of that
law for the transfer of itsincorporation; and

(f) if those requirements do not include consent to the transfer
by the members of the body—the members:
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(i) have consented to the transfer by aresolution that has
been passed at a meeting by at least 75% of the votes
cast by members entitled to vote on the resolution; and

(if) were given at least 21 days notice of the meeting and
the proposed resol ution.

(9) The evidence lodged in accordance with subsections (7) and (8)
must be satisfactory proof to ASIC of the matters referred to in
those subsections.

Note: Section 1304 requires documents that are not in English to be
trandated into English.

601BD ASIC givesbody ACN, registersascompany and issues
certificate

Registration

(1) If an application islodged under section 601BC, ASIC may:
() givethe body an ACN; and
(b) register the body as a company of the proposed type specified
in the application; and
(c) issue acertificate that states:
(i) the company’sname; and
(ii) the company’s ACN; and
(iii) the company’stype; and
(iv) that the company isregistered as a company under this
Act; and
(v) the State or Territory in which the company is taken to
be registered; and
(vi) the date of registration.

Note: For the evidentiary value of a certificate of registration, see subsection
1274(7A).

ASC must keep record of registration

(2) ASIC must keep arecord of the registration. Subsections 1274(2)
and (5) apply to the record asiif it were a document lodged with
ASIC.
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601BE Registered office

The address specified in the application as the body’ s proposed
registered office becomes the address of itsregistered officeasa
company on registration.

601BF Name

A company registered under this Part has a name on registration
that is:

(a) an available name; or

(b) the expression “ Australian Company Number” followed by
the company’s ACN.

The name must also include the words required by subsection
148(2) or 148(3).

601BG Constitution

(1) The constitution on registration (if any) of a company registered
under this Part is the constitution lodged with the application.

(2) If any text in a constitution lodged with the application isnot in
English, the English trandlation of that text lodged with the
application for registration is taken to be the relevant text in the
constitution on registration.

601BH M odifications of constitution

(1) A company registered under this Part must modify its constitution
within 3 months after registration to give effect to this Part.

(2) If the constitution specifies amounts of money expressed in foreign
currency, the company must:

(a) fix asinglerate of conversion by resolution; and

(b) modify its constitution by special resolution to convert those
amounts into Australian currency using that rate.

The modification must be made within 3 months after registration.

(3) Anamendment of acompany’s constitution under this section does
not affect the number and class of shares held by each member.
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601BJ ASIC may direct company to apply for Court approval for
modifications of constitution

(1) ASIC may give the company awritten direction to apply to the
Court within a specified period for an order approving the modified
constitution.

(2) The Court may make an order:

(a) declaring that the company has complied with
section 601BH; or

(b) declaring that the company will comply with section 601BH
if it makes further modifications of its constitution as
specified in the order.

(3) The company must lodge a copy of the order with ASIC within 14
days after the order is made.

601BK Establishing registersand minute books

(1) A company registered under this Part must, within 14 days after
registration:
(a) set up theregistersrequired by sections 168 and 271; and

(b) includein those registers the information that is required to
be included in those registers and that is available to the
company on registration; and

(c) set up the minute books required by section 251A.

(2) During the 14 days the company need not comply with aperson’s
reguest to inspect or obtain a copy of:
(a) information in aregister; or
(b) aminute of ageneral meeting.

However, the period within which the company must comply with
the request begins at the end of the 14 days.

601BL Registration of registered bodies

(1) If aregistered body becomes registered as a company under this
Part, it ceases to be aregistered body. ASIC must remove the
body’ s name from the appropriate register kept for the purposes of
Division 1 or 2 of Part 5B.2.
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(2) ASIC may keep any of the documents relating to the company that
were lodged because the company used to be a registered body.

Corporations Act 2001 385



Chapter 5B Bodies corporate registered as companies, and registrable bodies
Part 5B.1 Registering abody corporate as a company
Division 2 Operation of this Act

Section 601BM

Division 2—Operation of thisAct

601BM Effect of registration under thisPart

(1) Registration under this Part does not:
(a) create anew legal entity; or
(b) affect the body’s existing property, rights or obligations
(except as against the members of the body in their capacity
as members); or

(c) render defective any legal proceedings by or against the body
or its members.

(2) ThisPart and sections 263, 266 and 276 set out specia provisions
for companies registered under this Part.

601BN Liability of memberson winding up

A person who stopped being a member of the body before it was
registered as a company under this Part isto be treated as a past
member of the company in applying Division 2 of Part 5.6 to a
winding up of the company. However, the person’sliability to
contribute to the company’ s property is further limited by this
section to an amount sufficient for the following:

(&) payment of debts and liabilities contracted by the company
before the day on which the company was registered under
this Part;

(b) payment of the costs, charges and expenses of winding up the
company, so far asthose costs, charges and expenses relate to
those debts and liabilities;

(c) the adjustment of the rights between the contributories, so far
as the adjustment relates to those debts and liabilities.

601BP Bearer shares

(1) A bearer of abearer sharein acompany registered under this Part
may surrender the share to the company. The company must:

(a) cancd the share; and
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(b) include the bearer’ s name in the company’ s register of
members.

(2) The company isliable to compensate anyone who suffers aloss
because the company includes the bearer’ s name in the company’s
register of members despite the fact that:

(a) the share was not surrendered to the company; or
(b) the company failed to cancel the share.

(3) Subject to this section, the constitution of a company registered
under this Part may provide that the bearer of a bearer sharein the
company is taken to be amember of the company for al purposes
or for specified purposes.

Note: A body must not issue bearer shares after it is registered as a company
under this Part (see paragraph 254F(a)).

601BQ Referencesin pre-registration contracts and other
documentsto par valuein existing contracts and
documents

(1) Thissection appliesin relation to a company registered under this
Part for the purpose of interpreting and applying after registration:
(a) acontract entered into before the registration; or

(b) atrust deed or other document executed before the
registration.

(2) A referenceto the par value of ashareistaken to be areference to
the par value of the share immediately before the registration, or
the par value that the share would have had if it had been issued
then.

(3) A referenceto aright to areturn of capital on ashareis taken to be
areference to aright to areturn of capital of avalue equal to the
amount paid before the registration in respect of the share's par
value, or the par value that the share would have had if it had been
issued then.

(4) A reference to the aggregate par value of the company’ s issued
share capital istaken to be areference to that aggregate as it
existed immediately before the registration.
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601BR First AGM
Despite subsection 250N(1), a public company registered under

this Part must hold itsfirst AGM after registration in the calendar
year of its registration.

601BS Modification by regulations

The regulations may modify the operation of this Part in relation to
acompany registered under this Part.
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601CA When aregistrable Australian body may carry on business
in thisjurisdiction and outsideits place of origin

A registrable Australian body must not carry on businessin a State
or Territory in thisjurisdiction unless:
(a) that State or Territory isits place of origin; or
(b) it hasits head office or principal place of businessin that
State or Territory; or
(c) itisregistered under this Division; or
(d) it has applied to be so registered and the application has not
been dealt with.

601CB Application for registration

Subject to this Part, where aregistrable Australian body lodges an
application for registration under this Division that isin the
prescribed form and is accompanied by:

(@) acertified copy of acurrent certificate of itsincorporation or
registration in its place of origin, or adocument of similar
effect; and

(b) acertified copy of its constitution; and

(c) alist of its directors containing personal details of those
directors that are equivalent to the personal details of
directors referred to in subsection 242(2); and

(d) inrelation to each existing charge on property of the body
that would be a registrable charge within the meaning of
Chapter 2K if the body were aregistered Australian body, the
documents that subsection 263(3) requires to be lodged; and

(e) notice of the address of:

(i) if it hasinits place of origin aregistered office for the
purposes of alaw (other than this Act) there in force—
that office; or
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(ii) otherwise—its principal place of businessin its place of
origin; and

(f) notice of the address of its registered office under
section 601CT;

ASIC must:

(g) grant the application and register the body under this
Division by entering the body’ s name in aregister kept for
the purposes of this Division; and

(h) alot to the body an ARBN distinct from the ARBN or ACN
of each body corporate (other than the body) already
registered as a company or registered body under this Act.

601CC Cessation of business etc.

(D)

(1A)

)

©)

(4)

Within 7 days after ceasing to carry on business interstate, a
registered Australian body must lodge written notice that it has so
ceased.

For the purposes of this section, a body carries on business
interstate if, and only if, the body carries on business at a place
that isin thisjurisdiction and outside the body’ s place of origin.

Where ASIC has reasonable cause to believe that a registered
Australian body does not carry on business interstate, ASIC may
send to the body in the prescribed manner aletter to that effect and
stating that, if no answer showing cause to the contrary is received
within one month from the date of the letter, a notice will be
published in the Gazette with a view to striking the body’ s name
off the register.

Unless ASIC receives, within one month after the date of the letter,
an answer to the effect that the body is till carrying on business
interstate, it may publish in the Gazette, and send to the body in the
prescribed manner, a notice that, at the end of 3 months after the
date of the notice, the body’ s name will, unless cause to the
contrary is shown, be struck off the register.

At the end of the period specified in a notice sent under
subsection (3), ASIC may, unless cause to the contrary has been
shown, strike the body’ s name off the register and must publishin
the Gazette notice of the striking off.
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(5) Nothing in subsection (4) affects the power of the Court to wind up
a body whose name has been struck off the register.

(6) Where abody’snameis struck off the register under
subsection (4), the body ceases to be registered under this Division.

(7) If ASIC issatisfied that a body’ s name was struck off the register
asaresult of an error on ASIC’ s part, ASIC may restore the body’s
name to the register, and thereupon the body’ s name is taken never
to have been struck off and the body is taken never to have ceased
to be registered under this Division.

(8) A person who is aggrieved by a body’s name having been struck
off the register may, within 15 years after the striking off, apply to
the Court for the body’ s name to be restored to the register.

(9) If, on an application under subsection (8), the Court is satisfied
that:
(a) at thetime of the striking off, the body was carrying on
business interstate; or
(b) it isotherwise just for the body’ s name to be restored to the
register;
the Court may, by order:
(c) direct the body’ s name to be restored to the register; and
(d) give such directions, and make such provisions, asit thinks
just for placing the body and all other personsin the same
position, as nearly as practicable, asif the body’ s name had
never been struck off.

(10) On thelodging of an office copy of an order under subsection (9),
the body’ s name is taken never to have been struck off.

(11) Where abody’s name isrestored to the register under
subsection (7) or (9), ASIC must cause notice of that fact to be
published in the Gazette.

(12) Where abody ceases to be registered under this Division, an
obligation to lodge a document that this Act imposes on the body
by virtue of the doing of an act or thing, or the occurrence of an
event, at or before the time when the body so ceased, being an
obligation not discharged at or before that time, continues to apply
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(13)

(14)

(15

in relation to the body even if the period prescribed for lodging the
document has not ended at or before that time.

Where aregistered Australian body commences to be wound up, or
isdissolved or deregistered, in its place of origin, the Court must,
on application by the person who is the liquidator for the body’s
place of origin, or by ASIC, appoint aliquidator of the body.

A liquidator of aregistered Australian body who is appointed by
the Court:

() must, before any distribution of the body’ s property is made,
by advertisement in a daily newspaper circulating generally
in each State or Territory where the body carried on business
at any time during the 6 years before the liquidation, invite
al creditors to make their claims against the body within a
reasonabl e time before the distribution; and

(b) must not, without obtaining an order of the Court, pay out a
creditor of the body to the exclusion of another creditor of
the body; and

(c) must, unless the Court otherwise orders, recover and realise
the property of the body that is located:

(i) inthisjurisdiction; and

(ii) outside the body’s place of origin;
and must pay the net amount so recovered and realised to the
liquidator of the body for its place of origin.

If aregistered Australian body has been wound up so far asits
property located:

(@) inthisjurisdiction; and

(b) outsideits place of origin;
is concerned and there is no liquidator for its place of origin, the

liquidator may apply to the Court for directions about the disposal
of the net amount recovered under subsection (14).
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Division 2—Foreign companies

601CD When aforeign company may carry on businessin this
jurisdiction
(1) A foreign company must not carry on businessin thisjurisdiction
unless:
(a) itisregistered under this Division; or

(b) it has applied to be so registered and the application has not
been dealt with.

(2) For the purposes of this Division, aforeign company carries on
businessin thisjurisdiction if it:
(a) offersdebenturesin thisjurisdiction; or
(b) isaqguarantor body for debentures offered in this jurisdiction;
and Part 2L.1 applies to the debentures.

601CE Application for registration

Subject to this Part, where aforeign company lodges an application
for registration under this Division that isin the prescribed form
and is accompanied by:

(a) acertified copy of acurrent certificate of itsincorporation or
registration in its place of origin, or adocument of similar
effect; and

(b) acertified copy of its constitution; and

(c) alist of itsdirectors containing personal details of those
directorsthat are equivalent to the personal details of
directors referred to in subsection 205B(3); and

(d) if that list includes directors who are:

(i) residentin Australia; and

(ii) members of alocal board of directors;
amemorandum that is duly executed by or on behalf of the
foreign company and states the powers of those directors;
and

(e) inrelation to each existing charge on property of the foreign
company that would be a registrable charge within the
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meaning of Chapter 2K if the foreign company were a
registered foreign company, the documents that subsection
263(3) requiresto be lodged; and

(f) notice of the address of:

(i) if it hasinits place of origin aregistered office for the
purposes of alaw therein force—that office; or

(ii) otherwise—its principal place of businessin its place of
origin; and

(g) notice of the address of its registered office under
section 601CT;

ASIC must:

(h) grant the application and register the foreign company under
this Division by entering the foreign company’shamein a
register kept for the purposes of this Division; and

() alot totheforeign company an ARBN distinct from the
ARBN or ACN of each body corporate (other than the
foreign company) already registered as a company or
registered body under this Act.

601CF Appointment of local agent

(1) A foreign company may at any time appoint a person as alocal
agent.

(2) ASIC must not register aforeign company under this Division
unless the foreign company has at least one local agent in relation
to whom the foreign company has complied with section 601CG.

(3) Where:

(a) because a person ceased on a particular day to be alocal
agent of the foreign company, a registered foreign company
has no local agent; and

(b) theforeign company carries on business, or has a place of
business, in this jurisdiction;

the foreign company must, within 21 days after that day, appoint a
person as alocal agent.
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601CG L ocal agent: how appointed

(1) A foreign company that lodges a memorandum of appointment, or
apower of attorney, that is duly executed by or on behalf of the
foreign company and states the name and address of a person who
is.

(a) anatural person or acompany; and

(b) resident in thisjurisdiction; and

(c) authorised to accept on the foreign company’ s behalf service
of process and notices;

istaken to appoint that person as alocal agent.

(2) Where amemorandum of appointment, or a power of attorney,
lodged under subsection (1) is executed on the foreign company’s
behalf, the foreign company must, unless it has already done so,
lodge a copy, verified in writing in the prescribed form to be atrue
copy, of the document authorising the execution.

(3) A copy lodged under subsection (2) istaken for all purposesto be
the original of the document.

(4) A foreign company that appoints alocal agent must lodge awritten
statement that isin the prescribed form and is made by the local
agent.

(5) A person whom aforeign company appointsasalocal agentisa
local agent of the foreign company until the person:

(a) ceases by virtue of section 601CH to be such alocal agent; or
(b) diesor ceasesto exist.

601CH L ocal agent: how removed

(1) Whereapersonisalocal agent of aforeign company, the foreign
company or the person may lodge a written notice stating that the
person’ s appointment as alocal agent has terminated, or will
terminate, on a specified day.

(2) Whereanoticeislodged under subsection (1), the person ceasesto
be aloca agent of the foreign company at the end of:

(a) the period of 21 days beginning on the day of lodgment; or
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(b) the day specified in the notice;
whichever isthe later.

601CJ Liability of local agent

A local agent of aregistered foreign company:

(a) isanswerable for the doing of al acts, matters and things that
the foreign company is required by or under this Act to do;
and

(b) ispersondly liable to a penalty imposed on the foreign
company for a contravention of this Act if the court or
tribunal hearing the matter is satisfied that the local agent
should be so liable.

601CK Balance-sheets and other documents

(1) Subject to this section, aregistered foreign company must, at least
oncein every calendar year and at intervals of not more than 15
months, lodge a copy of its balance-sheet made up to the end of its
last financial year, a copy of its cash flow statement for its last
financial year and a copy of its profit and loss statement for its last
financial year, in such form and containing such particulars and
including copies of such documents as the company isrequired to
prepare by the law for the time being applicable to that company in
its place of origin, together with a statement in writing in the
prescribed form verifying that the copies are true copies of the
documents so required.

(2) ASIC may extend the period within which subsection (1) requires a
balance-sheet, profit and loss statement, cash flow statement or
other document to be lodged.

(3) ASIC may, if it isof the opinion that the balance-sheet, the profit
and loss statement and the other documents referred to in
subsection (1) do not sufficiently disclose the company’ s financia
position:

(a) require the company to lodge a bal ance-sheet; or
(b) require the company to lodge an audited balance-sheet; or
(ba) require the company to lodge a cash flow statement; or
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(4)

©)

(5A)

(6)

(bb) require the company to lodge an audited cash flow statement;
or

(c) require the company to lodge a profit and | oss statement; or

(d) require the company to lodge an audited profit and loss
Statement;

within such period, in such form, containing such particulars and
including such documents as ASIC by notice in writing to the
company requires, but this subsection does not authorise ASIC to
reguire a balance-sheet or a profit and loss statement to contain any
particulars or include any documents that would not be required to
be given if the company were a public company within the
meaning of this Act.

The registered foreign company must comply with the
reguirements set out in the notice.

Where aregistered foreign company is not required by the law of
the place of itsincorporation or formation to prepare a
balance-sheet, the company must prepare and lodge a
balance-sheet, or, if ASIC so requires, an audited balance-sheet,
within such period, in such form and containing such particulars
and including such documents as the company would have been
required to prepare if the company were a public company
incorporated under this Act.

If aregistered foreign company is not required by the law of the
place of itsincorporation or formation to prepare a cash flow
statement, the company must prepare and lodge a cash flow
statement, or, if ASIC so requires, an audited cash flow statement,
within the period, in the form, containing the particulars and
including the documents that the company would have been
required to prepare if the company were a public company
registered under this Act.

Where aregistered foreign company is not required by the law of
its place of origin to prepare a profit and loss statement, the
company must prepare and lodge a profit and loss statement or, if
ASIC so requires, an audited profit and loss statement, within such
period, in such form, containing such particulars and including
such documents as the company would have been required to
prepare if the company were a public company incorporated under
this Act.
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(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

ASIC may, by Gazette notice, declare that this section does not
apply to specified foreign companies.

Subsections (1) to (6), inclusive, do not apply in relation to a
foreign company in relation to which anotice isin force under
subsection (7).

A registered foreign company in relation to which anoticeisin
force under subsection (7) must, at least once in every calendar
year, lodge with ASIC areturn in the prescribed form made up to
the date of its annual general meeting.

The return must be lodged within 1 month after the date to which it
is made up, or within such further period as ASIC, in specia
circumstances, alows.

601CL Cessation of business etc.

(D

)

©)

(4)

Within 7 days after ceasing to carry on businessin this jurisdiction,
aregistered foreign company must lodge written notice that it has
SO ceased.

Where ASIC receives notice from alocal agent of aregistered
foreign company that the foreign company has been dissolved or
deregistered, ASIC must remove the foreign company’ s name from
the register.

Where ASIC has reasonable cause to believe that a registered
foreign company does not carry on businessin this jurisdiction,
ASIC may send to the foreign company in the prescribed manner a
letter to that effect and stating that, if no answer showing cause to
the contrary is received within one month from the date of the
letter, anotice will be published in the Gazette with aview to
striking the foreign company’ s name off the register.

Unless ASIC receives, within one month after the date of the letter,
an answer to the effect that the foreign company is still carrying on
businessin thisjurisdiction, it may publish in the Gazette, and send
to the foreign company in the prescribed manner, a notice that, at
the end of 3 months after the date of the notice, the foreign
company’s name will, unless cause to the contrary is shown, be
struck off the register.
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(5) At the end of the period specified in a notice sent under
subsection (4), ASIC may, unless cause to the contrary has been
shown, strike the foreign company’ s name off the register and must
publish in the Gazette notice of the striking off.

(6) Nothing in subsection (5) affects the power of the Court to wind up
aforeign company whose name has been struck off the register.

(7) Where aforeign company’s nameis struck off the register under
subsection (5), the foreign company ceases to be registered under
this Division.

(8) If ASIC issatisfied that aforeign company’s name was struck off
the register as aresult of an error on ASIC' s part, ASIC may
restore the foreign company’ s name to the register, and thereupon
the foreign company’ s name is taken never to have been struck off
and the foreign company is taken never to have ceased to be
registered under this Division.

(9) A personwho is aggrieved by aforeign company’s name having
been struck off the register may, within 15 years after the striking
off, apply to the Court for the foreign company’ s name to be
restored to the register.

(10) If, on an application under subsection (9), the Court is satisfied
that:

(a) at thetime of the striking off, the foreign company was
carrying on businessin thisjurisdiction; or

(b) itisotherwisejust for the foreign company’s name to be
restored to the register;

the Court may, by order:

(c) direct the foreign company’s name to be restored to the
register; and

(d) give such directions, and make such provision, asit thinks
just for placing the foreign company and all other personsin
the same position, as nearly as practicable, asif the foreign
company’ s name had never been struck off.

(11) On thelodging of an office copy of an order under subsection (10),
the foreign company’s name is taken never to have been struck off.

Corporations Act 2001 399



Chapter 5B Bodies corporate registered as companies, and registrable bodies
Part 5B.2 Registrable bodies
Division 2 Foreign companies

Section 601CL

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

Where aforeign company’ s name is restored to the register under
subsection (8) or (10), ASIC must cause notice of that fact to be
published in the Gazette.

Where aforeign company ceasesto be registered under this
Division, an obligation to lodge a document that this Act imposes
on the foreign company by virtue of the doing of an act or thing, or
the occurrence of an event, at or before the time when the foreign
company so ceased, being an obligation not discharged at or before
that time, continues to apply in relation to the foreign company
even if the period prescribed for lodging the document has not
ended at or before that time.

Where aregistered foreign company commences to be wound up,
or is dissolved or deregistered, in its place of origin:

(a) each person who, on the day when the winding up
proceedings began, was alocal agent of the foreign company
must, within the period of 1 month after that day or within
that period as extended by ASIC in specia circumstances,
lodge or cause to be lodged notice of that fact and, when a
liquidator is appointed, notice of the appointment; and

(b) the Court must, on application by the person who isthe
liquidator for the foreign company’s place of origin, or by
ASIC, appoint aliquidator of the foreign company.

A liquidator of aregistered foreign company who is appointed by
the Court:

() must, before any distribution of the foreign company’s
property is made, by advertisement in a daily newspaper
circulating generally in each State or Territory where the
foreign company carried on business at any time during the 6
years before the liquidation, invite all creditors to make their
claims against the foreign company within a reasonable time
before the distribution; and

(b) must not, without obtaining an order of the Court, pay out a
creditor of the foreign company to the exclusion of another
creditor of the foreign company; and

(c) must, unless the Court otherwise orders, recover and realise
the property of the foreign company in this jurisdiction and
must pay the net amount so recovered and realised to the
liquidator of the foreign company for its place of origin.
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(16) Where aregistered foreign company has been wound up so far as
its property in thisjurisdiction is concerned and thereis no
liquidator for its place of origin, the liquidator may apply to the
Court for directions about the disposal of the net amount recovered
under subsection (15).

601CM Register of membersof foreign company

(1) A registered foreign company that has a share capital may cause a
branch register of membersto be kept in thisjurisdiction.

(2) If amember of aregistered foreign company isresident in this
jurisdiction and reguests the foreign company in writing to register
in abranch register kept under subsection (1) shares held by the
member, then:

(a) if theforeign company aready keeps a register under
subsection (1)—the foreign company must register in that
register the shares held by the member; or

(b) otherwise—the foreign company must, within 1 month after
receiving the request:

(i) keep at itsregistered office or at some other place in this
jurisdiction a branch register of members; and
(ii) register in that register the shares held by the member.

(3) Subsection (2) does not apply in relation to aforeign company
whose constitution prohibits any invitation to the public to
subscribe for, and any offer to the public to accept subscriptions
for, sharesin the foreign company.

(4) Subject to this section, aregistered foreign company may
discontinue aregister kept under subsection (1) and must, if it does
so, transfer al entriesin that register to aregister of members kept
outside Australia.

(5) If shares held by amember of aregistered foreign company who is
resident in thisjurisdiction are registered in aregister kept by the
foreign company under subsection (1), the foreign company must
not discontinue that register without that member’ s written
consent.
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601CN Register kept under section 601CM

(1) Thissection has effect where aregistered foreign company keeps a
register under section 601CM.

(2) Theforeign company must keep the register in the same manner as
this Act requires a company to keep itsregister of members.

(3) Subject to subsection (2), the foreign company must register a
transaction in the register in the same way, and at the same charge,
as it would have registered the transaction in the register of
members that the foreign company keepsin its place of origin.

(4) A transfer of sharesin the foreign company that islodged at the
foreign company’ sregistered office, or at the place where the
register is kept, is binding on the foreign company.

(5) The Court has the same powersin relation to correction of the
register asit hasin relation to correction of a company’s register of
members.

(6) Theregister istaken to be part of the foreign company’s register of
members.

(7) At the written request of a member who holds shares registered in
the register, the foreign company must remove the shares from the
register and register them in such other register asis specified in
the request.

(8) Theregister is primafacie evidence of matters that this Act
requires or authorises to be entered in the register.

601CP Notifying ASIC about register kept under section 601CM

Within 14 days after:
() beginning to keep aregister under section 601CM; or
(b) changing the place where aregister is so kept; or
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(c) discontinuing aregister under section 601CM;
aregistered foreign company must lodge a written notice of that
fact specifying, if paragraph (a) or (b) applies, the address or new
address, as the case may be, where the register is kept.

601CQ Effect of right to acquire shares compulsorily

Where:

(@) alaw of the place of origin of aforeign company that
corresponds to section 414, 661A or 664A entitles a person
to give notice to another person that the first-mentioned
person wishes to acquire sharesin the foreign company that
the other person holds; and

(b) some or all of those shares are registered in aregister kept
under section 601CM;

sections 601CM, 601CN and 601CP cease to apply in relation to
the foreign company until the first-mentioned person acquires, or
ceases to be entitled to acquire, the shares so registered.

601CR Index of membersand inspection of registers

Subsection 169(2) and sections 173, 174 and 177 apply in relation
to aregister kept under section 601CM.

601CS Certificate asto shareholding

A certificate under the seal of aforeign company specifying shares
held by a member of that company and registered in aregister kept
under section 601CM is primafacie evidence of thetitle of the
member to the shares and of the fact that the shares are registered
in the register.
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Division 3—Bodiesregistered under this Part

601CT Registered office

(1) A registered body must have aregistered office in thisjurisdiction
to which all communications and notices may be addressed and
that must be open:

(a) if the body has:
(i) lodged anaotice under subsection (2); or
(if) lodged a notice under subsection (2) and a notice or
notices under subsection (4);
for such hours (being not fewer than 3) between 9 am and 5
pm on each business day as are specified in that notice, or in
the later or last of those notices, as the case may be; or
(b) otherwise—each business day from at least 10 am to 12 noon
and from at least 2 pm to 4 pm;
and at which a representative of the body is present at al times
when the office is open.

(2) A registered body may lodge written notice of the hours (being not
fewer than 3) between 9 am and 5 pm on each business day during
which the body’ s registered office is open.

(3) Within 7 days after a change in the situation of its registered office,
aregistered body must lodge a written notice of the change and of
the new address of that office.

(4) A registered body that has lodged a notice under subsection (2)
must, within 7 days after a change in the hours during which its
registered office is open, lodge a natice, in the prescribed form, of
the change.

601CU Certificate of registration

(1) Onregistering abody corporate under Division 1 or 2 or
registering under section 601DH or 601DJ a change in a registered
body’ s name, ASIC must issue to the body a certificate, under
ASIC’ s common seal and in the prescribed form, of the body’s
registration under that Division.
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(2) A certificate under subsection (1) is prima facie evidence of the
matters stated in it.

601CV Notice of certain changes

(1) A registered body must, within 1 month after a change in:

(b) its constitution or any other document lodged in relation to
the body; or

(c) itsdirectors; or
(d) if the body isaforeign company;
(i) the powers of any directors who are resident in

Australia and members of an Australian board of
directors of the foreign company; or

(ii) alocal agent or local agents; or
(iif) the name or address of alocal agent; or
(e) thesituation of:
(i) if it hasinits place of origin aregistered office for the

purposes of alaw (other than this Act) there in force—
that office; or

(ii) otherwise—its principal place of businessin its place of
origin;
lodge awritten notice of particulars of the change, together with
such documents (if any) as the regulations require.

(2) ASIC may in special circumstances extend the period within which
subsection (1) requires a notice or document to be lodged.

601CW Body’s name etc. must be displayed at office and place of
business

(1) Subject to subsection (2), this section applies to aregistrable body.

(2) If theregistrable body is aregistrable Australian body, this section
does not apply to a place at which the body carries on business if
the place isin the body’ s place of origin.

(9) Unlessthe body isan Australian ADI, it must paint or affix and
keep painted or affixed, in a conspicuous position and in letters
easily legible, on the outside of every office and place (including
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its registered office) that isin thisjurisdiction, at which its business
is carried on and that is open and accessible to the public:
(a) its name and the name of its place of origin; and
(b) if theliability of its membersis limited and the last word of
its name is neither the word “Limited” nor the abbreviation
“Ltd.”—notice of the fact that the liability of its membersis
l[imited; and
(c) inthe case of its registered office—the expression
“Registered Office”.

(20) If the body isan Australian ADI, it must paint or affix its name,
and must keep its name painted or affixed, in a conspicuous
position and in |etters easily legible, on the outside of every office
or place (including its registered office) that isin thisjurisdiction,
at whichitsbusinessis carried on and that is open and accessible to
the public.

601CX Service of documentson registered body

(1) A document may be served on aregistered body:
(@) by leaving it at, or by sending it by post to, the registered
office of the body; or
(b) inthe case of aregistered foreign company—by leaving it at,
or by sending it by post to, the address of alocal agent of the
foreign company, being:

(i) inacaseto which subparagraph (ii) does not apply—an
address notice of which has been lodged under
subsection 601CG(1); or

(ii) if anotice or notices of a change or alteration in that
address has or have been lodged under subsection
601CV (1)—the address shown in that last-mentioned
notice or the later or latest of those last-mentioned
notices.

(2) For the purposes of subsection (1), the situation of the registered
office of aregistered body:

(a) inacaseto which neither paragraph (b) nor paragraph (c)
applies—is taken to be the place notice of the address of
which has been lodged under paragraph 601CB(e) or
601CE(g); or
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(b) if only one notice of a change in the situation of the
registered office has been lodged with ASIC under
subsection 601CT(3)—is, on and from:

(i) theday that is 7 days after the day on which the notice
was lodged; or
(ii) the day that is specified in the notice as the day from
which the change is to take effect;

whichever islater, taken to be the place the address of which
is specified in the notice; or

(c) if 2 or more notices of achange in the situation of the
registered office have been lodged under subsection
601CT(3)—is, on and from:

(i) theday that is 7 days after the day on which the later or
latest of those notices was lodged; or

(ii) the day that is specified in the later or latest of those
notices as the day from which the change isto take
effect;

whichever islater, taken to be the place the address of which
is specified in the relevant notice;

and is so taken to be that place irrespective of whether the address
of adifferent place is shown as the address of the registered office
of the registered body in areturn or other document (not being a
notice under subsection 601CT(3)) lodged after the notice referred
to in paragraph (a) or (b), or the later or latest of the notices
referred to in paragraph (c), was lodged.

(3) Without limiting the operation of subsection (1), if 2 or more
directors of aregistered body reside in Australia or an externa
Territory, a document may be served on the body by delivering a
copy of the document personally to each of 2 of those directors.

(3A) Without limiting the operation of subsection (1), a document may
be served on aregistered body that isregistered as a proprietary
company and has only one director by delivering a copy personally
to that director.

(4) Where aliquidator of aregistered body has been appointed, a
document may be served on the body by leaving it at, or by
sending it by post to, the last address of the office of the liquidator
notice of which has been lodged.
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(5) Nothing in this section affects the power of the Court to authorise a
document to be served on aregistered body in a manner not
provided for by this section.

(6) Subject to subsection 8(4), subsection 8(3) appliesin relation to a
reference in this section.

601CY Power to hold land

A registered body has power to hold land in this jurisdiction.
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Division 4—Register of debenture holdersfor
non-companies

601CZA Certain documents ar e debentures

For the purposes of this Division, chosesin action (including an
undertaking) that fall into one of the exceptionsin paragraphs (a),
(b), (e) and (f) of the definition of debenture in section 9 must also
be entered into the register of debenture holders.

601CZB Register of debenture holdersto be maintained by
non-companies

(1) A body that is not acompany must set up and maintain aregister of
debenture holdersiif it issues debentures covered by Chapter 2L.

Note 1: Companies have to keep aregister of debenture holders under
sections 168 and 171.

Note2:  Theregister may be kept on computer (see section 1306).
(2) The register must contain the following information about each
debenture holder:

(a) their name and address;
(b) the amount of the debentures held.

(3) A body’sfailure to comply with this section in relation to a
debenture does not affect the debenture itself.

601CZC Location of register

(1) Theregister must be kept at:
(a) the body’sregistered office; or
(b) the body’sprincipal place of businessin this jurisdiction; or
(c) aplaceinthisjurisdiction (whether of the body or of

someone el se) where the work involved in maintaining the
register is done; or

(d) another place approved by ASIC.

(2) The body must lodge with ASIC anotice of the address at which
the register is kept within 7 days after the register is:
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(a) established at an office that is neither the body’ s registered
office nor at its principal place of business; or
(b) moved from one office to another.

Notice is not required for moving the register between the
registered office and an office at the principal place of business.

601CZD Application of sections173to 177

Sections 173 to 177 apply to aregister kept under this Division as
if it were kept under Chapter 2C.

Note: Sections 173 to 177 deal with rights to inspect the register and get
copies, the obligations of agents who maintain the register, correction
of the register, the evidentia value of the register and the use of
information on the register.
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Part 5B.3—Names of registrable Australian bodies
and foreign companies

601DA Reserving a name

(1) A person may lodge an application in the prescribed form with
ASIC to reserve aname for aregistrable Australian body or a
foreign company. If the nameis available, ASIC must reserveit.

Note: For available names, see section 601DC.

(2) Thereservation lastsfor 2 months from the date when the
application was lodged. An applicant may ask ASIC in writing for
an extension of the reservation during a period that the nameis
reserved, and ASIC may extend the reservation for 2 months.

(3) ASIC must cancel areservation if the applicant asks ASIC in
writing to do so.

601DB Acceptable abbreviations

(1) The abbreviations set out in the following table may be used:

(a) instead of words that this Act requires to be part of a
registrable Australian body’ s or foreign company’ s name or
to be included in a document; and

(b) instead of wordsthat are part of aregistrable Australian
body’ s or foreign company’ s name; and

(c) with or without full stops.

Acceptable abbreviations [operative table]
Word Abbreviation

1 Company Coor Coy

2 Proprietary Pty

3  Limited Ltd

4  Austrdian Aust

5 Number No

6 and &
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Acceptable abbreviations [operative table]
Word Abbreviation
7  Australian Registered Body ARBN
Number
8 Registered Regd

(2) If aregistrable Australian body’s or foreign company’s name
includes any of these abbreviations, the word corresponding to the
abbreviation may be used instead.

601DC When anameisavailable

Name is available unless identical or unacceptable

(1) A nameisavailableto aregistrable Australian body or aforeign
company unless the nameis:

(a) identical (under rules set out in the regulations) to a name
that is reserved or registered under this Act for another body;
or

(b) identical (under rules set out in the regulations) to a name
that is included on the national business names register in
respect of another individual or body who is not the person
applying to have the name; or

(c) unacceptable for registration under the regulations.

Minister may consent to a name being available

(2) The Minister may consent in writing to a name being available to a
registrable Australian body or foreign company even if the name
is:

(a) identical to anamethat isreserved or registered under this
Act for another body; or

(b) unacceptable for registration under the regulations.

(3) The Minister's consent may be given subject to conditions.

Note: If the body or company breaches a condition, ASIC may direct it to
change its name under section 601DJ.

(4) Theregulations may specify that a particular unacceptable nameis
available to aregistrable Australian body or foreign company if:
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(a) aspecified public authority, or an instrumentality or agency
of the Crown in right of the Commonwealth, a State or an
internal Territory has consented to the body or company
using or assuming the name; or

(b) the body or company is otherwise permitted to use or assume
the name by or under a specified provision of an Act of the
Commonwealth, a State or an internal Territory.

The consent of the authority, instrumentality or agency may be
given subject to conditions.
Note: If the consent is withdrawn, the body or company ceasesto be

permitted or it breaches a condition, ASIC may direct it to change its
name under section 601DJ.

601DD Registered Australian bodies and registered foreign
companies can carry on business with some names only

(1) A registered Australian body or registered foreign company must
not carry on business under aname in this jurisdiction unless
subsection (2) or (3) authorises the body or company to use the
name.

(2) The body or company may use the name if the company or body is
registered under that name under Part 5B.2.

(3) A registered Australian body may use a name in the State or
Territory that isits place of origin if the use of that nameis
authorised by alaw of that State or Territory that deals with
business names.

601DE Using a name and ARBN

Requirements for bodies that are not Australian ADIs

(1) Subject to sections 601DF and 601DG, aregistered Australian
body or registered foreign company must set out the following on
all its public documents and negotiabl e instruments published or
signed in this jurisdiction:

(@) itsname;

(b) the expression “Australian Registered Body Number”
followed by its ARBN;

(c) itsplace of origin;
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)

(dy if the liability of its membersislimited and thisis not
apparent from its name—notice of the limited liability of its
members.

Paragraphs (c) and (d) do not apply to an Australian ADI.

Wher e information to be set out

Subject to sections 601DF and 601DG, the information required by
paragraph (1)(b) must be set out with the company’s or body’ s
name, or 1 of the references to its name in the document or
instrument. If the name appears on 2 or more pages of the
document or instrument, this must be done on the first of those

Pages.

601DF Exception to requirement to have ARBN on receipts

A registered Australian body or a registered foreign company does
not have to set out the expression “ Australian Registered Body
Number” followed by its ARBN on areceipt (for example, acash
register receipt) that sets out information recorded in the machine
that produced the receipt.

601DG Regulations may exempt from requirement to set out

information on documents

The regulations may exempt a specified registered Australian body
or registered foreign company, or a class of those bodies or
companies, from the requirement in paragraphs 601DE(1)(b), (c)
and (d) to set out information on its public documents and
negotiable instruments. The exemption may relate to specified
documents or instruments, or a class of documents or instruments.

601DH Notice of name change must be given to ASIC

(1)

)

A registered Australian body or a registered foreign company must
give ASIC written notice of a change to its name within 14 days
after the date the change occurred.

If the proposed nameis available, ASIC must alter the details of
the body’ s or foreign company’ s registration to reflect the change.
For the purposes of this Act (other than subsection (1)), the change
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of name takes effect when ASIC alters the details of the body’s or
foreign company’ s registration.

Note 1: For the reservation of names, see section 601DA.
Note 2: For available names, see section 601DC.

Note3:  ASIC must issue a new certificate reflecting the name change (see
section 601CU).

601DJ ASIC’spower todirect aregistered name be changed

(1) ASIC may direct aregistered Australian body or registered foreign

(2

©)

(4)

company in writing to change the name under which the body or
company isregistered within 2 monthsif:

(@) the name should not have been registered; or

(b) the body or company has breached a condition under
subsection 601DC(3) on the availability of the name; or

(c) aconsent given under subsection 601DC(4) to use or assume
the name has been withdrawn; or

(d) the body or company has breached a condition on a consent
given under subsection 601DC(4); or

(e) the body or company ceases to be permitted to use or assume
the name (as referred to in paragraph 601DC(4)(b)).

The body or company must comply with the direction within 2
months after being given it by doing everything necessary to
change its name for the purposes of this Act under section 601DH.

If the body or company does not comply with subsection (2), ASIC
may change the body’ s or company’ s name to a name that includes
its ARBN by altering the details of the body’s or company’s
registration to reflect the change.

For the purposes of this Act, a change of name under
subsection (3) takes effect when ASIC alters the details of the
body’ s or foreign company’ s registration.

Note: ASIC must issue a new certificate reflecting the name change (see
section 601CU).
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